# INBORN ERRORS OF SYNTHESIS AND SENSITIVITY TO THYROID HORMONE

EDITED BY: Juan Pablo Nicola, Ari J. Wassner and Cintia E. Citterio PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Endocrinology







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-371-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-371-1

### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

1

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# INBORN ERRORS OF SYNTHESIS AND SENSITIVITY TO THYROID HORMONE

**Topic Editors:** 

Juan Pablo Nicola, National University of Cordoba, Argentina Ari J. Wassner, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, United States Cintia E. Citterio, CONICET Institute of Immunology, Genetics and Metabolism (INIGEM), Argentina

**Citation:** Nicola, J. P., Wassner, A. J., Citterio, C. E., eds. (2022). Inborn Errors of Synthesis and Sensitivity to Thyroid Hormone. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-371-1

# Table of Contents

- 04 Novel Compound Heterozygous Pathogenic Mutations of SLC5A5 in a Chinese Patient With Congenital Hypothyroidism
  Cao-Xu Zhang, Jun-Xiu Zhang, Liu Yang, Chang-Run Zhang, Feng Cheng, Rui-Jia Zhang, Ya Fang, Zheng Wang, Feng-Yao Wu, Pei-Zhang Li, Jun Liang, Rui Li and Huai-Dong Song
  13 Resistance to Thyroid Hormone Beta: A Focused Review
- Theodora Pappa and Samuel Refetoff
- 21 Screening for Mutations in Isolated Central Hypothyroidism Reveals a Novel Mutation in Insulin Receptor Substrate 4 Konrad Patyra, Kristiina Makkonen, Maria Haanpää, Sinikka Karppinen, Liisa Viikari, Jorma Toppari, Mary Pat Reeve and Jukka Kero
- 28 Thyroid Function in Preterm/Low Birth Weight Infants: Impact on Diagnosis and Management of Thyroid Dysfunction Stephen H. LaFranchi
- 37 Case Report: Functional Analysis and Neuropsychological Evaluation of Dyshormonogenetic Fetal Goiter in Siblings Caused by Novel Compound Hyterozygous TPO Gene Mutations

Tania Maria Barreto Rodrigues, Marlon Messias da Conceição Silva, Magali Maciel Freitas, Zélia Maria Costa Duarte, Vitória Sousa Frutuoso, Mariana Teixeira Rodrigues and Ileana Gabriela Sanchez Rubio

- **45** Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Reveals Frequent Familial Origin and Oligogenism in Congenital Hypothyroidism With Dyshormonogenesis Isabelle Oliver-Petit, Thomas Edouard, Virginie Jacques, Marie Bournez, Audrey Cartault, Solange Grunenwald and Frédérique Savagner
- 53 Congenital Hypothyroidism and the Deleterious Effects on Auditory Function and Language Skills: A Narrative Review Caio Leônidas Oliveira Andrade, Crésio de Aragão Dantas Alves and Helton Estrela Ramos
- 59 Update on Neonatal Isolated Hyperthyrotropinemia: A Systematic Review Ana E. Chiesa and Mariana L. Tellechea
- 73 Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Deficiency: From Pathophysiological Understanding to Therapy Development Ferdy S. van Geest, Nilhan Gunhanlar, Stefan Groeneweg and

W. Edward Visser

3

- 85 Diagnosis and Management of Central Congenital Hypothyroidism Peter Lauffer, Nitash Zwaveling-Soonawala, Jolanda C. Naafs, Anita Boelen and A. S. Paul van Trotsenburg
- 101 Thyroid Gene Mutations in Pregnant and Breastfeeding Women Diagnosed With Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism: Implications for the Offspring's Health

Maria C. Opazo, Juan Carlos Rivera, Pablo A. Gonzalez, Susan M. Bueno, Alexis M. Kalergis and Claudia A. Riedel





# Novel Compound Heterozygous Pathogenic Mutations of *SLC5A5* in a Chinese Patient With Congenital Hypothyroidism

### OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

Juan Pablo Nicola, National University of Cordoba, Argentina

### Reviewed by:

Antonio De La Vieja, Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII), Spain Yiping Shen, Harvard Medical School, United States Orsolya Dohan, Semmelweis University, Hungary

\*Correspondence:

Huai-Dong Song huaidong\_s1966@163.com Rui Li rui\_li2020@163.com Jun Liang mwlj521@163.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors share first authorship

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 22 October 2020 Accepted: 05 February 2021 Published: 19 March 2021

### Citation:

Zhang C-X, Zhang J-X, Yang L, Zhang C-R, Cheng F, Zhang R-J, Fang Y, Wang Z, Wu F-Y, Li P-Z, Liang J, Li R and Song H-D (2021) Novel Compound Heterozygous Pathogenic Mutations of SLC5A5 in a Chinese Patient With Congenital Hypothyroidism. Front. Endocrinol. 12:620117. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.620117 Cao-Xu Zhang<sup>1†</sup>, Jun-Xiu Zhang<sup>2†</sup>, Liu Yang<sup>1</sup>, Chang-Run Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Feng Cheng<sup>3</sup>, Rui-Jia Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Ya Fang<sup>1</sup>, Zheng Wang<sup>1</sup>, Feng-Yao Wu<sup>1</sup>, Pei-Zhang Li<sup>1</sup>, Jun Liang<sup>4\*</sup>, Rui Li<sup>1\*</sup> and Huai-Dong Song<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The Core Laboratory in Medical Center of Clinical Research, Department of Molecular Diagnostics and Endocrinology, Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Endocrinology, Maternal and Child Health Institute of Bozhou, Bozhou, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of Laboratory Medicine, Fujian Children's Hospital, Fujian Provincial Maternity and Children's Hospital, Fuzhou, China, <sup>4</sup> Department of Endocrinology, The Central Hospital of Xuzhou Affiliated to Xuzhou Medical College, Xuzhou, China

**Background and Objectives:** Defects in the human sodium/iodide symporter (*SLC5A5*) gene have been reported to be one of the causes of congenital hypothyroidism (CH). We aimed to identify *SLC5A5* mutations in Chinese patients with CH and to evaluate the function of the mutation.

**Methods:** Two hundred and seventy-three patients with primary CH were screened for mutations in *SLC5A5* using next-generation sequencing. We investigated the expression and cellular localization of the novel compound heterozygous mutation in *SLC5A5*. The functional activity of the mutants was further examined *in vitro*.

**Results:** In 273 patients with CH, two previously undescribed pathogenic mutations p.Gly51AlafsTer45 (G51fs) and p.Gly421Arg (G421R) in a compound heterozygous state in *SLC5A5* were identified in a pediatric patient. G51fs was located in the first intercellular loop connecting transmembrane segment I and II, whereas G421R was in the transmembrane segment (TMS) XI. G51fs and G421R resulted in a truncated NIS and reduced protein expression, respectively. *In vitro* experiments further showed that the normal function of iodine transport of sodium-iodide symporter (NIS) mutants was markedly impaired.

**Conclusion:** The undescribed compound heterozygous mutation of *SLC5A5* was discovered in a Chinese CH patient. The mutation led to significantly reduced NIS expression and impaired iodide transport function accompanied by the impaired location of the NIS on the plasma membrane. Our study thus provides further insights into the roles of *SLC5A5* in CH pathogenesis.

Keywords: iodine transport, mutation, SLC5A5, next-generation sequencing, congenital hypothyroidism

# INTRODUCTION

Congenital hypothyroidism (CH), which is defined by inadequate thyroid hormone production in newborn infants, is a common neonatal endocrine disorder with the incidence at about 1:2,000– 4,000 worldwide (1). Thyroid hormones are critical for neurodevelopment; severe congenital hypothyroidism can lead to growth retardation and permanent intellectual disability (1, 2).

The human *SLC5A5* (GenBank reference sequence: NM\_000453.3) gene, encoding the sodium-iodide symporter (NIS), a 643 amino acid protein, is located on chromosome 19 and consists of 15 exons (3). The NIS protein is composed of 13 transmembrane segments (TMS), an extracellular amino terminus, an intracellular carboxy terminus and three asparagine-linked glycosylation sites. Previous research showed that glycosylation was not critical for NIS targeting to the plasma membrane or normal function (4).

NIS mediates the active transport of iodide from the bloodstream into the tissues, particularly in the thyroid grand, by coupling the inward translocation of Na<sup>+</sup> down its electrochemical gradient to the inward movement of I against its electrochemical gradient. The driving force for this process is the electrochemical sodium gradient generated by Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> ATPase (2, 5-9). Sufficient dietary iodine intake is essential for the production of the thyroid hormones. In thyroid tissue, iodide uptake is typically the first step in thyroid hormone synthesis. The SLC5A5 is responsible for the transport of iodide mainly in the thyroid gland (2, 10). The mutation of SLC5A5 is a cause of thyroid dyshormonogenesis, which leads to CH in patients. Currently, several iodine transport defect-related mutations of SLC5A5 have been identified, including G18R, V59E, G93R, R124H, Q267E, V270E, C272X, D331N, Y348D, T354P, G395R, R516X, G543E, and S547R, which have provided valuable structural evidence about the symporter and helped us to understand the pathogenesis of this disease (11-24).

The reported mutations of *SLC5A5* almost all affect its normal functional activity, leading to thyroid dyshormonogenesis (5, 10, 25). Our study, therefore, aimed to identify additional mutations in *SLC5A5* from the Chinese patients with CH and analyzed the function of the mutations *in vitro*, to evaluate the roles of *SLC5A5* in the pathogenesis of CH in the Chinese patients.

Herein, we report a novel compound heterozygous missense mutation G51fs/G421R of *SLC5A5* gene in a pediatric patient diagnosed as congenital hypothyroidism from newborn screening. Our results showed that G51fs and G421R markedly affected the function of iodine intake accompanied by impairment of the location of NIS on the plasma membrane. Our study provided further insights into the roles of *SLC5A5* in CH pathogenesis.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Clinical Subjects**

All subjects were recruited from the Chinese Han population in Jiangsu province, Fujian province, Anhui province, and Shanghai

through collaboration with multiple hospitals in China. A total of 273 CH patients (141 females and 132 males) identified through newborn screening were enrolled in this study. The diagnosis of permanent CH was confirmed in infants based on the following criteria: CH patients with elevated TSH (thyrotropin) levels, with or without T4 (thyroxine) or FT4 (free thyroxine) levels less than the normal range, and the restoration of normal thyroid parameters after receiving replacement therapy with L-thyroxine; however, after stopping treatment, a rise in TSH and a drop in FT4 were observed again (26–28). Written consent was obtained from the parents of the CH patients, and the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital affiliated with the Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine.

# Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS) and Bioinformatics Analysis

The sequencing methods and analysis pipelines used were previously reported (28). Genomic DNA was extracted from the whole blood of the probands and family members if available according to standard extraction procedures. All the exons and exon-intron boundaries of *SLC5A5* were amplified by performing multiplex polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using a  $48 \times 48$  Access Array<sup>TM</sup> microfluidic platform (Fluidigm) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The primers were designed using iPLEX Assay Design software (Sequenom). The HiSeq3000 platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA) was used to perform deep sequencing of these amplicon libraries.

The target sequences were amplified and deep sequenced in duplicate for each sample to avoid base pair variants caused by multiplex PCR. Descriptions of the *SLC5A5* mutations were based on NM\_000453.3. We analyzed the raw sequence data in fastq format and obtained the quality scores by following the method indicated by previous studies (28). We filtered out the variants with frequencies >1% in the dbSNP 135 and ESP6500 v2 databases and focused on the functional (protein altering) variants (removal of intergenic and 3'/5'UTR (untranslated region) variants, non-splice-related intronic variants, and synonymous variants) identified in duplicate samples (https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.13134824.v1). Then, the two remaining variants were selected for validation by Sanger sequencing.

# **Construction of NIS Plasmids**

The ORF (open reading frame, nucleotide 1 to 1932) of human *wild-type* (WT) *SLC5A5* was amplified by PCR from genomic DNA using primers containing the EcoRI and XbaI restriction sites. The amplified PCR fragment was inserted into a p3xFLAG-CMV-10 expression vector and the FLAG tag was inserted upstream to the NIS coding region. Similarly, a WT NIS-EGFP fusion protein was expressed in a pEGFP-N2 expression vector (TransGen Biotech) using EcoRI and BamHI restriction sites, and the GFP was tagged downstream to the NIS coding region. The missense mutations were generated by site-directed mutagenesis using the Fast Mutagenesis System kit (TransGen Biotech). Due to premature termination of NIS, p.Gly51AlafsTer45 (G51fs) containing the EcoRI and BamHI restriction sites was cloned into the pEGFP-

N2 vector to generate the fusion plasmid. All the plasmid constructs were verified by Sanger sequencing. The primers used are listed in **Supplemental Table 3**.

### **Cell Culture and Transient Transfection**

The human embryonic kidney 293T cell line was cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM)/high-glucose medium (Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma Aldrich) at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Transfections were performed on cells by Lipofectamine 2000 Transfection Reagent (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's guides. Cells were plated in a 20 mm glass bottom cell culture dish (NEST) and transiently transfected with 1 µg plasmid DNA to detect the cell localization of the WT or mutants of SLC5A5-pEGFP-N2 plasmids. Iodide uptake assays were performed on the 293T cells. The cells were cultured in 12well plates, transfected with 1 µg WT or mutant 3xFLAG-NIS plasmids (cotransfection with 0.5 µg WT and 0.5 µg mutant plasmids to simulate the heterozygous state), and the treated cells were then kept in a humidified incubator at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 48 h.

# Total RNA Extraction and qPCR (Quantitative PCR)

RNA extraction was performed as described previously (27). RNA was prepared using Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, H10522) and the total RNA (1  $\mu$ g) was reverse transcribed using the cDNA synthesis kit (Takara). Quantitative PCR (qPCR) was performed using TB Green<sup>®</sup> Premix Ex Taq<sup>TM</sup> II (Tli RNaseH Plus), ROX plus (Takara), and the ABI QuantStudio 12K Flex Real-time PCR System (Life Technologies). The primers used are described in **Supplemental Table 3**.

## **Iodide Transport Functional Studies**

The iodide uptake assay was performed as described previously (29). In brief, 293T cells were seeded in 12-well plates, which contained sterilized cover slips (WHB Biotech), incubated at 37°C for 24 h, and transiently transfected alone or co-transfected with WT or mutant pEGFP-N2 plasmids. 48 h after transfection, the 293T cells were washed once in serum-free DMEM medium and incubated for 1 h in 1 ml serum-free medium containing <sup>131</sup>I at 5 KBq/ml as the only source of iodide. For the inhibition of NIS-mediated uptake, NaClO<sub>4</sub> (final concentration 1 mM) was included in parallel incubations (30). The cells were washed briefly in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) buffer and then incubated with 1 ml HBSS for 5 min. The cells were solubilized by the addition of 1 ml 1 M NaOH, and the radioactivity was measured using a y counter (GC1200, Anhui, China). DNA was determined by the Qubit Fluorometer using ssDNA Assay Kit (Q10212, Thermofisher). Each value represents the mean  $\pm$  SD of picomoles <sup>131</sup>I per microgram of DNA of three independent experiments done in triplicate.

## Western Blot Analysis

Representative Western blot analysis of whole cell lysates from transiently transfected 293T cells was probed with anti-FLAG antibodies (AE063, ABclonal) and anti-GAPDH (AM4300, Thermo Fisher Scientific) antibodies. Proteins were visualized by the Odyssey CLx Infra-Red Imaging system.

### Immunofluorescence Analysis of Protein Localization

The 293T cells were seeded in 12-well plates, which contained sterilized cover slips (WHB Biotech), incubated at 37 °C for 24 h, and transiently transfected with WT or mutant pEGFP-N2 plasmids. One day later, the cells were washed twice with PBS (phosphate buffer saline), fixed with 4% PBS-buffered formaldehyde (PFA) for 30 min at room temperature, washed twice with PBS, and then incubated with fluorescent probe Dil (Beyotime Biotech) targeted to the cell membrane for 5 min at 37°C. After washing with PBS, the nuclei were stained with DAPI (Beyotime Biotech) at room temperature for 5 min. Cover slips were mounted, and the plates were examined using a confocal microscope (Nikon A1 Microsystems).

# Molecular Modeling and Electrostatic Surface

The sequence of *SLC5A5* was analyzed using the SWISS-MODEL (31). The 3D structure of the Vibrio parahaemolyticus sodium/ galactose symporter (vSGLT) was chosen as the modeling template. Theoretical modeling of the protein structure was performed using PyMOL 2.4 (https://pymol.org/2/).

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 8.0 software (GraphPad Software) from more than three independent experiments. Data were presented as the mean  $\pm$  SD. Comparisons between two groups were analyzed using unpaired two-tailed Student's t test (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, and \*\*\*p < 0.001). Differences were considered statistically significant at values of p < 0.05.

# RESULTS

### Patient

In our study, mutations in *SLC5A5* for congenital hypothyroidism were screened for in the cohort of 273 CH patients. Only one patient was found to carry the mutations in *SLC5A5* with no other mutations in the reported candidate genes. The proband was a full-term girl, born from healthy non-consanguineous Chinese parents. Newborn screening found an abnormally high TSH level (specific value unknown). At 18 days after birth, diagnostic confirmation of congenital hypothyroidism was achieved by measuring the serum TSH at >100 uIU/ml (normal range 0.34–5.6 uIU/ml), free T4 0.45 ng/dl (normal range 0.58-1.64ng/dL), and free T3 0.85 pg/ml (free triiodothyronine normal range 2.5–3.9pg/ml) (**Table 1**). Her height was 54.5 cm, and her weight was 3.3 kg.

Thyroid hormone supplementation was started immediately after diagnosis, with a daily dose of 28 µg levothyroxine. However, 17 days after initial treatment, thyroid function was still abnormal (TSH level >100 uIU/ml; FT4:1.41 ng/dl; FT3:3.83 pg/ml)

TABLE 1   Thyroid function tests during follow-up before and after thyroid
hormone replacement therapy.

	Before therapy	After therapy			Normal Range	
		17 d	4 m	1.25 y		
FT3 (pg/ml)	0.85	3.83	4.56	4.32	2.5–3.9	
FT4 (ng/dl)	0.45	1.41	1.30	2.74	0.58-1.64	
TSH (ulU/ml)	>100	>100	33.43	0.94	0.34–5.6	

At 18 days after birth (before therapy), diagnostic confirmation of congenital hypothyroidism was achieved by measuring the serum TSH, FT3, and FT4. The regular thyroid status was monitored at 17 days, 4 months, and 1.25 years after the initial treatment. Abbreviations: d, day; m, month; y, year; FT3, free triiodothyronine; FT4, free thyroxine; and TSH, thyrotropin.

(**Table 1**), and the local pediatrician adjusted the daily dose of levothyroxine to 40  $\mu$ g. Four months after treatment, her height was 75 cm, and weight was 10 kg. Her thyroid function was slightly improved but still abnormal (TSH:33.43 uIU/ml; FT4:1.3 ng/dL; FT3:4.56 pg/ml) (**Table 1**). At the age of 1 years and 3 months, the proband was recruited to our study. Her height was 81.5 cm, and her weight was 11 kg.

The TSH level returned to the normal range during thyroid hormone replacement therapy (TSH:0.94 uIU/ml; FT4:2.74 ng/dL; FT3:4.32 pg/ml) (**Table 1**). Due to poor compliance, the results of thyroid scintigraphy and the concentration of serum thyroglobulin and autoantibody were unavailable. Normal growth was observed during the first years of life. Of note, the patient's hypothyroidism did not appear to affect her intellectual development. Thyroid ultrasonography showed a normal size and well-located gland. No other members of the family had a known history of hypothyroidism. The proband's parents were euthyroid with no autoantibodies and normal thyroid volume by ultrasound.

### Identification of the Novel Compound Heterozygous NIS Mutation

Further molecular analysis of the whole blood of the proband and family members revealed the presence of an undescribed compound heterozygous mutation G51fs/G421R. Based on the current secondary structure model for NIS, G51fs is located in the first intercellular loop connecting transmembrane segment I and II, whereas G421R is in the TMS XI (**Figure 1**). Sequencing of the patient's *SLC5A5* gene revealed a G deletion at nucleotide +152 in exon 1, resulting in a frameshift mutation and, thus, premature termination of NIS and a loss of about 85% of the amino acids of the protein (**Figure 2A**, **Supplemental Table 1**). The patient also had a novel heterozygous G>A transversion at nucleotide +1261 in exon 11, which leads to the substitution of Gly by Arg at residue 421 (**Figure 2A**).

The mutations contribute to a compound heterozygous mutation G51fs/G421R in NIS (Figure 2B). On the other hand, analysis of the euthyroid parents of the proband showed that the father was heterozygous for G51fs NIS, and the mother was heterozygous for G421R NIS, suggesting recessive inheritance of the mutation (Figures 2A, B). This information is summarized in a pedigree diagram (Figure 2B). Multiple amino acid sequence alignment of NIS orthologs from different species revealed that two glycine residues at position 51 and 421 were highly conserved (Figure 2C).

We next used the Vibrio parahaemolyticus sodium/galactose symporter (vSGLT) as a template to model the 3D structure of G421R. The substitution of the neutral side chain of Gly by the basic amino acid arginine residue at position 421 changed the net surface positive charges and distorted its surface structure (**Figure 3A**). We observed that the interatomic distance between G421 and T354 was changed from 15.0 Å to 8.7 Å (**Figure 3B**). Substituting gly with a bulkier arginine destabilized



A Phe Thr Gly Gly// P M M M	Ala Arg/Gly Val		
F MMM	$\sim \sim $		$\sim \sim $
c	;		
B p.Gly51fs p.Gly421Arg p.Gly51fs/p.Gly421Arg	Homo sapiens Pan troglodytes Cavia porcellus Sus scrofa Rattus norvegicus Mus musculus Gallus gallus Danio rerio Xenopus laevis	FFTGGRRL FFTGGRRL FFTGGRRL FFTGGRQL FFTGGRQL FFTGGRQL FFTGGRGF FFTGGRGF FFTGGRSM	FTVMGVIS FTVMGVIS FTVMGVIS FTVMGVIS FTVMGVIS FTVMGVIS FTVMGVIG FTVMGVVN FTVMGVIS

region of the variants in exon 1 (c.152del, p.G51fs) and 11 (c.1261G>A, p.G421R) of *SLC5A5* gene. The nucleotide and corresponding amino acid sequences using the three-letter code are indicated. The proband was compound heterozygous for the mutant alleles p.G51fs and p.G421R NIS. Arrowheads denote the mutated sites. P, proband; F, father; M, mother. (B) Pedigree analysis of the members of the proband's family. The mutated alleles for p.G51fs and p.G421R NIS are noted below. (C) Amino acid sequences of NIS from other metazoan species were aligned with those of humans by PSI/TM-Coffee (http://tcoffee.crg.cat/apps/tcoffee/ index.html). The mutated amino acids in all NIS homologs are indicated by dotted boxes.





the helix by causing steric hindrance between the arginine side chain and the nearby amino acid side chains. We further utilized bioinformatic tools to predict the effects of G421R. G421R was categorized by PolyPhen-2 as being "Probably Damaging" with a score of 0.999, and by SIFT as "Damaging" with a score of 0.001 (**Supplemental Table 2**).

# Iodide Transport Activity of G421R and G51fs NIS Mutants

To assess the effect of mutations on the activity of iodide transport, we expressed wild-type or mutant 3xFLAG-NIS plasmids in 293T cells. A p3xFLAG-CMV-10 empty vector was employed as a negative control, and a reported D331N mutation construct was used as the positive control. Quantitative PCR analysis was performed to ensure effective transcription (Supplemental Figure 1A). Western Blot analysis was done to investigate the effect of G51fs and G421R on protein expression. No band was detected in 293T cells transfected with empty vector (Supplementary Figure 1B), while truncated NIS with a molecular weight of 13 kDa (monomer) and 26 kDa (dimer) were observed after G51fs transfection (Figure 4A). Moreover, protein expression was decreased in 293T cells transfected with the G421R mutant plasmid compared to those transfected with wild-type (immature unglycosylated NIS ~ 55kDa, mature glycosylated NIS~ 100 kDa) (Figure 4A).

The iodide transport activity assay demonstrated that 293T cells transfected with WT NIS showed a marked accumulation of radioiodide in the cells, while addition of the competitive inhibitor perchlorate significantly inhibited NIS-mediated iodide transport (**Figure 4B**). Consistent with the previous study, cells carrying the expression vector encoding D331 NIS exhibited partially reduced, although still detectable, <sup>131</sup>I uptake, compared with the iodide uptake levels in *wild-type* NIS-expressing cells. G421R and G51fs NIS-expressing cells showed almost no iodide transport activity, with similar radio-iodide levels to cells transfected with a p3xFLAG-CMV-10 empty vector (**Figure 4B**). In addition, substituting of G421 with other amino acids, aspartic acid and phenylalanine), showed the same results (**Supplemental Figure 2**). Further, co-transfection of WT and mutant plasmids to mimic the heterozygous state, no dominant negative effect was observed (**Figure 4B**). Our data showed that G421R and G51fs mutations markedly impaired iodide transport activity of the cells, which was consistent with the impaired membrane patterns.

## **Cellular Localization of SLC5A5 Mutants**

The sodium/iodide symporter has been shown by immunofluorescence analysis to be located at the basolateral side of thyroid follicular cells and to mediate active iodide trapping. To perform its physiological function, this transporter must be properly localized at the plasma membrane. To assess the effect of SLC5A5 mutations on the membrane localization, we expressed wild-type and G421R or G51fs mutants of the SLC5A5-pEGFP-N2 plasmid in 293T cells and examined the cellular localization using a confocal fluorescence microscope. A pEGFP-N2 empty vector was employed as a negative control. As we can see from **Figure 5**, NIS was clearly present at the cell membrane in WT cells, while in D331N transfected cells, normal plasma membrane trafficking of NIS was partially affected. In cells transfected with G51fs and G421R mutants, the NIS expressions on the cell membranes were decreased in varying degrees and appeared to localize in the cytoplasm (Figure 5), suggesting impaired plasma membrane localization of the mutated NIS proteins.

## DISCUSSION

In the present study, the undescribed compound heterozygous mutation of G51fs/G421R in *SLC5A5* was discovered in a







Chinese pediatric patient with CH. The mutations significantly reduced the NIS expression and impaired iodide transport function accompanied by impairing the location of NIS on the plasma membrane. Our study, thus, provided further insights into the roles of *SLC5A5* in CH pathogenesis.

Clinical heterogeneity in patients with different *SLC5A5* mutations was reported (10). In our patient, hypothyroidism was discovered by neonatal screening. After the diagnosis of CH, the patient was treated with L-thyroxine replacement immediately. However, in many other cases, the onset age of hypothyroidism was variable, ranging from the neonatal period to childhood, and even adulthood (32). Due to delayed treatments, patients presented irreversible intellectual disabilities. Research stated that less than 10% of iodine transport defect patients detected by neonatal screening showed clinical features of congenital hypothyroidism.

In addition, the occurrence of goiters varies between individuals. Because the formation of goiters depends on the level and the duration of TSH overstimulation, as well as on the iodide availability. The patients carrying the same described mutation did not develop goiters. Researchers speculated that early diagnosis and treatment with hormone replacement therapy during the neonatal period might prevent the development of goiters (33). However, even if these patients without goiters at birth are treated and maintain euthyroid, diffuse goiters will still occur after, which indicates that other factors besides TSH stimulation could also cause goiters. Notably, patients carrying the mutation G395R developed goiters has not been reported so far. The majority of these patients were severely hypothyroid, which was detected during the neonatal period (16). The molecular studies of G395R mutation indicated that G395R NIS was synthesized and properly targeted to the plasma membrane but intrinsically inactive (2, 34). It was highly possible that a "milder" pathogenic variant causing a partial loss-of-function might exist and could allow for a lower risk of goiters. Hence, regular long-term follow-up is necessary, and more comprehensive research is required to explore the mechanisms in detail.

In our study, we screened for mutations in *SLC5A5* in a cohort of the 273 CH patients. The frequency of *SLC5A5* mutation in the Chinese patients with CH was about 0.37% (1/273) in our study. However, according to the allele frequency of *SLC5A5* in the Chinese Millionome Database (CMBD), we speculated that the frequency of *SLC5A5* deficiency in CH in Chinese population was about 0.036%, which is significantly lower than what was found in our study. The relatively small

cohort size may be a plausible reason for this discrepancy. The G51fs/G421R compound heterozygous mutation in *SLC5A5* in a pediatric patient diagnosed with congenital hypothyroidism has not been reported before. Analysis of the proband's family showed that the father and mother were heterozygous for G51fs and G421R NIS, respectively (**Figures 2A, B**).

Along with the clinical manifestations of the proband, we proposed that the two novel mutation sites were crucial for normal functional activity of NIS. As expected, cells transfected with the G51fs NIS construct showed no iodide uptake and impaired membrane location due to the loss of most of the functional domains (Figures 4B, 5). Additionally, our studies revealed that the G421R mutation located in the TMS XI was associated with diminished iodide uptake activity (Figure 4B). The mutated NIS proteins could not correctly target the plasma membrane (Figure 5). In vitro experiments in 293T cells transiently co-transfected with WT and mutant plasmids, mimicking the parental heterozygous state, indicated that the mutated allele did not interrupt the activity of WT NIS (Figure 4B). This observation was in accordance with the clinical observation that the parents who showed the same mutant allele in the heterozygous state (Figure 2B) were euthyroid.

Multiple lines of computational evidence supported a deleterious effect on NIS due to G421R missense mutation (Supplemental Table 2). As previously described, the structure of vSGLT, comprised of a central group of seven helices (TMS II-IV, TMS VII-IX, and TMS XI), can form a large cavity participating in the transport of galactose (35). We speculated that the arginine residue may occupy a comparably larger conformational space than glycine in the cavity, thereby, blocking the entry of ions. Previous studies on T354P mutation located in TMS IX revealed that the hydroxyl group at the  $\beta$ carbon of the residue at position 354 was essential for its function in Na<sup>+</sup> binding and translocation (23, 24). In addition, the architecture of the Na<sup>+</sup> binding site was conserved among other transport proteins, such as bacterial leucine transporter (LeuT) and vSGLT (36, 37). We found that the interatomic distance between G421 and T354 was changed from 15.0 Å to 8.7 Å. Replacement of the hydrophobic neutral glycine residue with the hydrophilic and positively charged amino acid changed the net surface positive charges and distorted the structure of the surface, which may disturb the required rigidity of the protein and affect the trafficking of NIS (Figure 3). To perform its physiological function of maintaining an active iodide concentration from the blood using the positive sodium gradient, NIS is required to be properly localized at the plasma membrane (30).

In summary, we identified an undescribed compound heterozygous mutation of G51fs/G421R in *SLC5A5* from 273 Chinese patients with CH. These variants were associated with a significant reduction in NIS protein expression and subsequently impaired the membrane localization, resulting in a dramatic reduction in iodide transport and thyroid hormone biosynthesis. Our data demonstrated that these mutations were the direct cause of the observed CH phenotype. This study advanced our understanding of the possible mechanisms of NIS in CH pathogenesis.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data presented in the study are deposited in the FigShare repository (https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.13134824.v1).

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) and minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin, for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

C-XZ: writing-original draft and data curation. J-XZ: supervision. LY: project administration. C-RZ: methodology. FC: funding acquisition. R-JZ: resources. YF: resources. ZW: software. F-YW: visualization. P-ZL: validation. JL: funding acquisition. RL: funding acquisition, review, and editing. H-DS: funding acquisition, conceptualization, and investigation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by the Chinese National Key Research Program (2017YFC1001801) and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82070816, 81770786, 81661168016, 81870537, 81670717 and 81870540), and the Shanghai Municipal Education Commission-Gao feng Clinical Medicine Grant Support (20161318).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all patients and their families for the participation in our study and for allowing us to publish their cases.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021. 620117/full#supplementary-material

### REFERENCES

- Wassner AJ. Congenital Hypothyroidism. Clinics Perinatol (2018) 45:1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2017.10.004
- Ravera S, Reyna-Neyra A, Ferrandino G, Amzel LM, Carrasco N. The Sodium/Iodide Symporter (NIS): Molecular Physiology and Preclinical and Clinical Applications. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2017) 79:261–89. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-physiol-022516-034125
- Smanik PA, Liu Q, Furminger TL, Ryu K, Xing S, Mazzaferri EL, et al. Cloning of the human sodium lodide symporter. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1996) 226:339–45. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1996.1358
- Levy O, De la Vieja A, Ginter CS, Riedel C, Dai G, Carrasco N. N-linked glycosylation of the thyroid Na+/I- symporter (NIS). Implications for its secondary structure model. J Biol Chem (1998) 273:22657–63. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.35.22657
- Nilsson M. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of transpithelial iodide transport in the thyroid. *BioFactors (Oxford England)* (1999) 10:277–85. doi: 10.1002/biof.5520100228
- Dai G, Levy O, Carrasco N. Cloning and characterization of the thyroid iodide transporter. *Nature* (1996) 379:458–60. doi: 10.1038/379458a0
- Levy O, Dai G, Riedel C, Ginter CS, Paul EM, Lebowitz AN, et al. Characterization of the thyroid Na+/I- symporter with an anti-COOH terminus antibody. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U States America* (1997) 94:5568–73. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.11.5568
- Dohán O, De la Vieja A, Paroder V, Riedel C, Artani M, Reed M, et al. The sodium/iodide Symporter (NIS): characterization, regulation, and medical significance. *Endocr Rev* (2003) 24:48–77. doi: 10.1210/er.2001-0029
- Portulano C, Paroder-Belenitsky M, Carrasco N. The Na+/I- symporter (NIS): mechanism and medical impact. *Endocr Rev* (2014) 35:106–49. doi: 10.1210/er.2012-1036
- Spitzweg C, Morris JC. Genetics and phenomics of hypothyroidism and goiter due to NIS mutations. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) 322:56–63. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2010.02.007
- Martin M, Bernal Barquero CE, Geysels RC, Papendieck P, Peyret V, Masini-Repiso AM, et al. Novel Sodium/Iodide Symporter Compound Heterozygous Pathogenic Variants Causing Dyshormonogenic Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Thyroid* (2019) 29:1023–6. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0046
- Watanabe Y, Ebrhim RS, Abdullah MA, Weiss RE. A Novel Missense Mutation in the SLC5A5 Gene in a Sudanese Family with Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Thyroid* (2018) 28:1068–70. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0137
- Fujiwara H, Tatsumi K, Tanaka S, Kimura M, Nose O, Amino N. A novel V59E missense mutation in the sodium iodide symporter gene in a family with iodide transport defect. *Thyroid* (2000) 10:471–4. doi: 10.1089/thy.2000.10.471
- Stoupa A, Al Hage Chehade G, Kariyawasam D, Tohier C, Bole-Feysot C, Nitschke P, et al. First case of fetal goitrous hypothyroidism due to SLC5A5/ NIS mutations. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183:K1–k5. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0255
- Kosugi S, Inoue S, Matsuda A, Jhiang SM. Novel, missense and loss-offunction mutations in the sodium/iodide symporter gene causing iodide transport defect in three Japanese patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1998) 83:3373–6. doi: 10.1210/jcem.83.9.5243
- Kosugi S, Bhayana S, Dean HJ. A novel mutation in the sodium/iodide symporter gene in the largest family with iodide transport defect. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1999) 84:3248–53. doi: 10.1210/jc.84.9.3248
- Pohlenz J, Medeiros-Neto G, Gross JL, Silveiro SP, Knobel M, Refetoff S. Hypothyroidism in a Brazilian kindred due to iodide trapping defect caused by a homozygous mutation in the sodium/iodide symporter gene. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1997) 240:488–91. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1997.7594
- Reed-Tsur MD, De la Vieja A, Ginter CS, Carrasco N. Molecular characterization of V59E NIS, a Na+/I- symporter mutant that causes congenital I- transport defect. *Endocrinology* (2008) 149:3077–84. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-0027
- Paroder-Belenitsky M, Maestas MJ, Dohán O, Nicola JP, Reyna-Neyra A, Follenzi A, et al. Mechanism of anion selectivity and stoichiometry of the Na+/I- symporter (NIS). Proc Natl Acad Sci U States America (2011) 108:17933–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1108278108
- Paroder V, Nicola JP, Ginter CS, Carrasco N. The iodide-transport-defectcausing mutation R124H: a δ-amino group at position 124 is critical for maturation and trafficking of the Na+/I- symporter. J Cell Sci (2013) 126:3305–13. doi: 10.1242/jcs.120246
- De La Vieja A, Ginter CS, Carrasco N. The Q267E mutation in the sodium/iodide symporter (NIS) causes congenital iodide transport defect (ITD) by decreasing the NIS turnover number. J Cell Sci (2004) 117:677–87. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00898

- Nicola JP, Reyna-Neyra A, Saenger P, Rodriguez-Buritica DF, Gamez Godoy JD, Muzumdar R, et al. Sodium/Iodide Symporter Mutant V270E Causes Stunted Growth but No Cognitive Deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100:E1353–61. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-1824
- 23. Levy O, Ginter CS, De la Vieja A, Levy D, Carrasco N. Identification of a structural requirement for thyroid Na+/I- symporter (NIS) function from analysis of a mutation that causes human congenital hypothyroidism. *FEBS Lett* (1998) 429:36–40. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(98)00522-5
- De la Vieja A, Reed MD, Ginter CS, Carrasco N. Amino acid residues in transmembrane segment IX of the Na+/I- symporter play a role in its Na+ dependence and are critical for transport activity. J Biol Chem (2007) 282:25290–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M700147200
- Targovnik HM, Citterio CE, Rivolta CM. Iodide handling disorders (NIS, TPO, TG, IYD). Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 31:195–212. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2017.03.006
- Fang Y, Sun F, Zhang RJ, Zhang CR, Yan CY, Zhou Z, et al. Mutation screening of the TSHR gene in 220 Chinese patients with congenital hypothyroidism. *Clinica chimica acta; Int J Clin Chem* (2019) 497:147–52. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2019.07.031
- Zhang RJ, Sun F, Chen F, Fang Y, Yan CY, Zhang CR, et al. The TPO mutation screening and genotype-phenotype analysis in 230 Chinese patients with congenital hypothyroidism. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2020) 506:110761. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2020.110761
- Sun F, Zhang JX, Yang CY, Gao GQ, Zhu WB, Han B, et al. The genetic characteristics of congenital hypothyroidism in China by comprehensive screening of 21 candidate genes. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2018) 178:623–33. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-1017
- Taylor JP, Metcalfe RA, Watson PF, Weetman AP, Trembath RC. Mutations of the PDS gene, encoding pendrin, are associated with protein mislocalization and loss of iodide efflux: implications for thyroid dysfunction in Pendred syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2002) 87:1778–84. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.4.8435
- Tonacchera M, Agretti P, de Marco G, Elisei R, Perri A, Ambrogini E, et al. Congenital hypothyroidism due to a new deletion in the sodium/iodide symporter protein. *Clin Endocrinol* (2003) 59:500–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2003.01877.x
- Arnold K, Bordoli L, Kopp J, Schwede T. The SWISS-MODEL workspace: a web-based environment for protein structure homology modelling. *Bioinf* (Oxford England) (2006) 22:195–201. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bti770
- 32. Szinnai G, Kosugi S, Derrien C, Lucidarme N, David V, Czernichow P, et al. Extending the clinical heterogeneity of iodide transport defect (ITD): a novel mutation R124H of the sodium/iodide symporter gene and review of genotype-phenotype correlations in ITD. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91:1199–204. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-1832
- 33. Nicola JP, Nazar M, Serrano-Nascimento C, Goulart-Silva F, Sobrero G, Testa G, et al. Iodide transport defect: functional characterization of a novel mutation in the Na+/I- symporter 5'-untranslated region in a patient with congenital hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96:E1100–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0349
- Dohán O, Gavrielides MV, Ginter C, Amzel LM, Carrasco N. Na(+)/I(-) symporter activity requires a small and uncharged amino acid residue at position 395. *Mol Endocrinol (Baltimore Md)* (2002) 16:1893–902. doi: 10.1210/me.2002-0071
- Faham S, Watanabe A, Besserer GM, Cascio D, Specht A, Hirayama BA, et al. The crystal structure of a sodium galactose transporter reveals mechanistic insights into Na+/sugar symport. *Science* (2008) 321:810–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1160406
- 36. Yamashita A, Singh SK, Kawate T, Jin Y, Gouaux E. Crystal structure of a bacterial homologue of Na+/Cl-dependent neurotransmitter transporters. *Nature* (2005) 437:215–23. doi: 10.1038/nature03978
- Watanabe A, Choe S, Chaptal V, Rosenberg JM, Wright EM, Grabe M, et al. The mechanism of sodium and substrate release from the binding pocket of vSGLT. *Nature* (2010) 468:988–91. doi: 10.1038/nature09580

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Zhang, Zhang, Yang, Zhang, Cheng, Zhang, Fang, Wang, Wu, Li, Liang, Li and Song. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Resistance to Thyroid Hormone Beta: A Focused Review**

Theodora Pappa<sup>1</sup> and Samuel Refetoff<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Hypertension, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Departments of Medicine, Pediatrics and Committee on Genetics, The University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

Resistance to thyroid hormone (RTH) is a clinical syndrome defined by impaired sensitivity to thyroid hormone (TH) and its more common form is caused by mutations in the thyroid hormone receptor beta (THRB) gene, termed RTHB. The characteristic biochemical profile is that of elevated serum TH levels in absence of thyrotropin suppression. Although most individuals are considered clinically euthyroid, there is variability in phenotypic manifestation among individuals harboring different THRB mutations and among tissue types in the same individual due in part to differential expression of the mutant TRB protein. As a result, management is tailored to the specific symptoms of TH excess or deprivation encountered in the affected individual as currently there is no available therapy to fully correct the TR $\beta$  defect. This focused review aims to provide a concise update on RTH $\beta$ , discuss less well recognized associations with other thyroid disorders, such as thyroid dysgenesis and autoimmune thyroid disease, and summarize existing evidence and controversies regarding the phenotypic variability of the syndrome. Review of management addresses goiter, attention deficit disorder and "foggy brain". Lastly, this work covers emerging areas of interest, such as the relevance of variants of unknown significance and novel data on the epigenetic effect resulting from intrauterine exposure to high TH levels and its transgenerational inheritance.

Keywords: resistance to thyroid hormone, thyroid hormone receptor, variant of unknown significance, autoimmune thyroid disease, thyroid dysgenesis, epigenetic effect

## INTRODUCTION

The term resistance to thyroid hormones (RTH) refers to the clinical syndrome of reduced sensitivity to thyroid hormones (TH) first described in 1967 (1) and until recently it was synonymous with mutations in the *thyroid hormone receptor beta* (*THRB*) gene. In the past decade, mutations in the *THRA* gene, as well as genetic defects involving TH cell transport and metabolism were added to those of defects of TH action, broadening our understanding of impaired TH sensitivity (2–4).

This mini-review is dedicated to RTH due to mutations in *THRB* gene producing RTH $\beta$ , having as a signature elevated serum free iodothyronines levels but non-suppressed thyrotropin (TSH) in the absence of other conditions that may produce some of the characteristic test abnormalities. It focuses on emerging concepts, unusual associations and controversies involving diagnosis and management, while providing a succinct overview of RTH $\beta$  covered in most medicine and specialty textbooks (5, 6).

### OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

Ari J. Wassner, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

### Reviewed by:

Luca Persani, Istituto Auxologico Italiano (IRCCS), Italy Krishna Chatterjee, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

### \*Correspondence:

Samuel Refetoff refetoff@uchicago.edu

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 21 January 2021 Accepted: 15 March 2021 Published: 31 March 2021

### Citation:

Pappa T and Refetoff S (2021) Resistance to Thyroid Hormone Beta: A Focused Review. Front. Endocrinol. 12:656551. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.656555

13

## **OVERVIEW OF RTH**β

As most neonatal screening programs are based on TSH measured in dry blood spots, the precise incidence of  $RTH\beta$  is unknown. Surveys of 80,884 and 74,992 newborns using TSH and T<sub>4</sub> measurements identified 2 and 4 infants with THRB gene mutations indicating a prevalence of 1 in 40,000 and 1 in 19,000 live births respectively (7, 8). Frequency among sexes is equal, whereas prevalence may vary somewhat among ethnic groups. The inheritance of RTH $\beta$  is typically autosomal dominant. This is explained by the formation of dimers between the mutant and normal (wild-type; WT) TH receptor (TR) interfering with the function of the WT TR $\beta$ . Since the first description of a *THRB* gene missense mutation causing RTHB (9), 236 different mutations in 805 families have been identified. They are located in the functional areas of the ligand (T<sub>3</sub>)-binding domain and adjacent hinge region (10). In 14% of individuals manifesting the RTHβ phenotype no THRB mutations were identified. Rarely familial, they may be caused by mosaicism (11), whereas it has been postulated that mutations in enhancers, repressors or cofactors may be responsible for this subgroup of RTH $\beta$  (12).

The distinctive biochemical feature of RTH $\beta$  is high serum free iodothyronine levels (principally free T<sub>4</sub>) with normal or high TSH concentration. This discrepant correlation has brought the term "inappropriate TSH secretion". Its wide use is deplorable as in fact the degree of TSH secretion is appropriate for the reduced sensitivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary axis to TH. Individuals with  $RTH\beta$  maintain a nearly euthyroid state compensated by the high TH level in concert with the tissue expression level of the mutant receptor. Thus, features of TH deficiency and excess may co-exist, producing sinus tachycardia in the heart expressing mainly the WT TR $\alpha$  and goiter by TSH stimulation, as the pituitary expresses mainly TRβ including the mutant form. Visual disorders may also be present due to retinal photoreceptor dysfunction (13). Serum TSH determination remains the most sensitive test to determine reduced sensitivity to TH. In contrast, serum markers of TH action on peripheral tissues, such as cholesterol, creatine kinase, alkaline phosphatase, osteocalcin and sex hormone-binding globulin are less reliable, unless they are measured before and after administration of T<sub>3</sub> (14).

After excluding assay interference as a cause of discrepant thyroid function tests (15), the principal other condition to be considered in the differential diagnosis of RTH $\beta$  is TSH secreting pituitary adenoma (TSH-oma), particularly in the absence of family history. Thus, testing of first-degree relatives is helpful and cost effective. Characteristics of a TSH-oma include failure to suppress TSH after the administration of supra-physiologic doses of T<sub>3</sub>, failure to normally stimulate TSH with TSH releasing hormone (TRH) (although exceptions of TSH-omas with TSH response to TRH have been reported), elevated sex hormone binding globulin levels and increased ratio of pituitary  $\alpha$  glycoprotein relative to TSH (16). Co-secretion of growth hormone and prolactin and abnormal pituitary imaging on computerized tomography or magnetic resonance imaging are important diagnostic findings. However, incidental pituitary lesions may be found in up to 24% of patients with RTH $\beta$  (15), thus increasing the complexity in differential diagnosis and the value of hormonal investigation and dynamic testing. Conditions that increase the serum iodothyronine levels in the absence of thyrotoxicosis must be considered, including familial dysalbuminemic hyperthyroxinemia (FDH). In a recent study of Khoo et al., the presence of the albumin mutation R218H in FDH interfered with the measurements of free  $T_4$  and  $T_3$  by automated immunometric assays leading to misdiagnosis of FDH as RTH $\beta$  or TSH secreting tumor (17). The diagnosis of RTH $\beta$  becomes quite challenging in the presence of concomitant thyroid pathology, a subject addressed in greater detail below. Caution should be exercised in the reduction of TH levels with antithyroid medication and ablative therapies (radioactive iodine or surgery) as it leads to difficulty in the subsequent treatment of hypothyroidism.

# COMBINED RTH $\beta$ AND THYROID DYSGENESIS

The diagnosis of RTH $\beta$  is challenging and its management complicated when it co-exists with other disorders, such as congenital hypothyroidism (CH) and thyroid dysgenesis. Children with RTH $\beta$  commonly have short stature, goiter and learning difficulties (14) and in association with CH will present high serum TSH and may exhibit hypothyroid symptoms when treated with standard levothyroxine doses. Five reports of RTH $\beta$ with CH due to ectopic thyroid tissue have been reported (18– 22). Of note, the case reported by Guo et al., had a lingual thyroid with a typical RTH $\beta$  phenotype but no detectable mutations in the *THRB* gene (21).

Persistent serum TSH elevation is frequently encountered during the early treatment of CH despite reaching serum T<sub>4</sub> level in the upper limit of normal. This has been attributed to a delayed maturation of the T<sub>4</sub> mediated feedback control of TSH (23). Defining the cause of persistent TSH elevation and addressing it appropriately is of paramount importance, as undertreatment may adversely impact growth and mental development. When non-compliance and suboptimal treatment are excluded by measurement of serum T<sub>4</sub> and T<sub>3</sub>, suspicion for coexistence of RTH $\beta$  should be raised and, when confirmed, treatment with supraphysiologic doses of levothyroxine aims to bring the serum TSH to near normal while following growth, bone maturation and cognitive development. When  $RTH\beta$  and ectopic thyroid tissue co-exist, another reason to aim at TSH suppression is to prevent thyroid tissue expansion in anatomic locations, such as the base of the tongue, that may cause dysphonia and hemoptysis.

# AUTOIMMUNE THYROID DISEASE AND RTH $\beta$

Autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD) is a common thyroid condition affecting the general population and its coexistence with RTH $\beta$  has been considered incidental (24, 25). However, in a study of 330 individuals with RTH $\beta$  and 92 unaffected first-degree relatives, subjects with RTH $\beta$  had an over 2-fold higher frequency of positive thyroid auto-antibodies (26), suggesting

that this association is not coincidental. A proposed pathophysiologic mechanism by the group of Gavin et al. invoked chronic stimulation of intrathyroidal lymphocytes by elevated TSH in RTH $\beta$  leading to pro-inflammatory cytokine production and thyrocyte destruction (27). Yet, in the study of Barkoff et al., the prevalence of AITD by age group was not influenced by the TR $\beta$  genotype which argues against high TSH being the cause of AITD (26).

Previous studies have shown that TH activates the immune system by acting on thymic epithelial cells and by direct effect on neutrophils, natural killer cells, macrophages and dendritic cells (28, 29). TH augments dendritic cell maturation and induces pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic responses. Given that dendritic cells are involved in the pathogenesis of AITD (30, 31), this might be a pathway mediating the association between RTH $\beta$  and AITD.

## VARIABILITY IN RTH $\beta$ MANIFESTATION

RTH $\beta$  manifestations can be variable in tissue expression and in severity. The terms "generalized", "isolated pituitary" and "peripheral tissue" resistance have been used to describe different clinical manifestations of RTHB suggesting tissue variability in the resistance to TH. The term generalized resistance to TH (GRTH) was applied to most patients with RTH $\beta$  that appear to maintain a euthyroid state whereas pituitary resistance to TH (PRTH) referred to patients with RTHB that have symptoms of thyroid excess in peripheral tissues or demonstrate changes in peripheral tissue markers compatible to TH action without significant suppression of TSH (32). A single patient with presumed isolated peripheral RTH (PRTH) was reported, in whom administration of high dose of liothyronine (L-T<sub>3</sub>) suppressed serum TSH but elicited no clinical signs of TH excess (33). Subsequently shown not to have a THRB gene mutation, this case likely represents acquired reduced sensitivity to TH through deiodinase-3 induced hormone inactivation. The clinical spectrum in RTH $\beta$  is quite broad and overlapping, even among carriers of the same THRB mutation and within the same family, suggesting that the classifications of generalized and pituitary RTHB are rather semantics to describe a varying range of clinical signs and symptoms resulting from altered sensitivity to TH (34-36).

In some instances, the variability in the severity of the resistance to TH is readily explained on the basis of the character and position of the genetic defect. Homozygous *THRB* mutations are clinically more severe as they lack a WT TR $\beta$  and they interfere with the function of the WT TR $\alpha$  through heterodimerization (37, 38). Frame-shift mutations, producing a nonsense extension of the TR $\beta$ carboxyl terminus, interfere not only with ligand binding but also with interaction of the cofactors (39). Similarly, mutations with near normal ligand-biding can interfere with function through impaired binding to DNA (R243Q/W) (40, 41) and others (L454V and R383H) have altered binding to coactivators or corepressors (32, 42, 43) leading as in the case of R429Q (44) to more prominent suppression of TSH through predominant effect on genes negatively regulated by TH. Alberobello et al. (45) showed that when a single nucleotide polymorphism located in an intronic enhancer was associated with R338W, it produced pituitary specific over-expression of the mutant TR $\beta$ 2 receptor illustrating the role of regulatory regions in tissue specific manifestation of RTH $\beta$ .

Differences in the level of expression of the mutant *THRB* allele relative to the WT in germline transmitted RTH $\beta$  have been shown in fibroblasts (46), but this was not found in another study (47). However, variable tissue expression of a mutant TR $\beta$  does occur in *de-novo* mutations resulting in mosaicism (11). The latter can also explain the failure to identify a *THRB* gene mutation in individuals with classical presentation of RTH $\beta$  when the only DNA source was circulating leukocytes. Finally, dramatic differences in phenotype observed among members of a family with the same *THRB* gene mutation have remained unexplained despite extensive genetic *in vivo* and *in vitro* functional studies (48).

## CURRENT AND FUTURE TREATMENT APPROACHES

No specific therapy to fully correct the TR $\beta$  defect is currently available. Based on the mechanism producing the defect, it is clear that developing mutation-specific ligands would abrogate the dominant negative effect of the mutant  $TR\beta s$ , allowing the WT TR $\beta$  to elicit T<sub>3</sub> mediated thyroid hormone action. In 2005, the laboratory of the chemist John Kho synthesized TH analogues able to abrogate the dominant negative effect of the TRB mutants R2320C, R230H and R316H when tested in vitro (49). More recently Yao et al. (50) showed that roxadustat, a drug used to treat anemia of renal failure, had 3- to 5-fold higher binding to the TRβ mutants V264D, H435L and R438H than T<sub>3</sub>. However, none of these agonists have been tested in vivo. Similarly, the development of cell and tissue-specific TH antagonists could reduce the cardiotoxic effects of high serum TH levels acting on the WT TR $\alpha$  predominantly expressed in the heart. Therefore, as of this writing, management of TR $\beta$  is tailored to the individuals' symptoms resulting either from tissue TH excess or deprivation. Goiter, hyperactivity and mental "clouding" are clinical features that benefit from judicious treatment with L-T<sub>3</sub> without inducing side effects from TH excess.

Goiter is frequently observed in individuals with RTH $\beta$  but is usually of little consequence. However, in the occasion of larger symptomatic goiter, a surgical approach is usually ineffective, as goiter tends to re-occur. Therefore, it is logical to target TSH suppression to inhibit thyroid gland growth (51). An approach of administering supraphysiologic doses of T<sub>3</sub> every other day (250 µg in the case of TR $\beta$  R243Q) was successful in drastically reducing goiter size in a young patient without inducing thyrotoxic symptoms, as serum T<sub>3</sub> rapidly declined reaching levels lower than baseline before the ingestion of the next L-T<sub>3</sub> dose (52). The rationale is to deliver a large dose of the short lived L-T<sub>3</sub> to achieve very high peak serum level suppressing the TSH below 0.1 mIU/L to inhibit thyrocyte growth without sustaining elevated TH levels long enough to cause thyrotoxic symptoms (52). Thyroid nodules are quite prevalent in the general population and thus may occasionally co-exist with RTHB. Although the majority of thyroid nodules are benign and do not require surgical management, there are few reported cases of papillary thyroid carcinoma in patients with RTHB. In these cases, thyroidectomy and radioactive iodine ablation to prevent disease recurrence result in lifelong levothyroxine replacement therapy, and in RTH $\beta$  persistently high serum TSH. Although the outcomes in the reported cases were fortunately not unfavorable, levothyroxine therapy is challenging and supraphysiologic doses are often needed to maintain serum TSH in lowest tolerable level (53). Alternative options to consider include 3,3,5-triiodothyroacetic acid (Triac), a thyroid hormone analogue with thyromimetic effects on pituitary and liver tissue that may be used to suppress TSH, combination of levothyroxine with beta-blocker to alleviate tachycardia along with calcium and vitamin D supplementation to prevent bone loss acceleration. Lastly, surveillance strategy may be considered for occult, micro-papillary thyroid carcinomas with low potential for aggressive progression.

Attention deficit disorder (ADHD), reported in 48-83% of individuals with RTH $\beta$ , is treated using conventional drugs. When such medications are ineffective, treatment with L-T<sub>3</sub> was found beneficial in reducing impulsivity in 5 of 8 and hyperactivity in 4 of 7 individuals with RTH $\beta$  and ADHD but not in individuals with ADHD only (54). Every-other-day L-T<sub>3</sub> therapy was also effective to improve the insomnia and hyperactivity in a young child with severe RTH $\beta$  phenotype intolerant to daily L-T<sub>4</sub> therapy (55).

The success of treatment with intermittent high dose L-T<sub>3</sub> in improving brain function seems to be linked to the reduction of serum T<sub>4</sub>, a hormone more readily available to the brain which expresses predominantly TR $\alpha$ , providing a thyrotoxic local environment. This would be the rationale to consider blockand-replace strategy, proposed by Dr. Alexandra Dumitrescu, and used by the senior author to ameliorate "foggy brain" and anxiety occasionally reported by RTH $\beta$  patients, whereas beta blockade may be employed to help with tachycardia.

Lastly, Triac with higher affinity than  $T_3$  for several TR $\beta$ mutants may be used to diminish the dominant negative effect of a TR $\beta$  mutation. Further, though its short half-life, Triac can effectively reduce TSH with lesser thyromimetic effect on peripheral tissues (56). Triac therapy has been used in few RTHβ cases and was found beneficial in partially alleviating thyrotoxic symptoms including tachycardia, excessive perspiration, attention deficit disorders, as well as goiter. This was the case in patients harboring mutations in the ligand binding domain (residues 310-353 and 429-460), whereas two cases with mutations in the hinge region were refractory to Triac (56, 57). Notably, in a pediatric case of a homozygous R243Q mutation with features of thyrotoxicosis and early dilated cardiomyopathy, combination of Triac with methimazole resulted in reduction of thyroid hormones levels and normal TSH accompanied by lower basal metabolic rate and improved growth and cardiac function (58).

A summary of recommendations to guide clinical management of subjects with RTH $\beta$  is presented in **Figure 1**.

# THE IMPACT OF $TR\beta$ VARIANTS OF UNKNOWN SIGNIFICANCE

The development of next generation sequencing (NGS) and its increased availability in clinical practice leads to identification of variants of unknown significance (VUS). These include variants of the *THRB* gene not previously reported to be associated with RTH $\beta$ . The interpretation of such genetic reports, particularly missense mutations, poses a problem to the practicing physicians; how to explain the findings to the patient and how to proceed with future care. *In vitro* functional analyses of VUS are not commercially available and results cannot be deduced with certainty even when they are.

THRB gene mutations are clustered in three regions of the ligand-binding domain of the TRB. Yet a major region devoid of mutation ("cold area") contains CG-dinucleotides which are mutagenic hot spots. Artificial mutations created in these CGs produced TRBs weak in dominant negative effect explaining the failure to identify mutations in this region of the receptor (59). This is explained by the fact that the same region is included in the dimerization domain. This region originally encompassed codons 348-437. Later, with the identification of THRB gene mutations causing RTHB, the "cold region" was narrowed down to encompass codons 384-425 (32, 60). Within this region, 12 variants (P384L, G385R, L386V, E390D, R391K, D397G, S398G, N408S, H413D, V414M, K420R, and V425L) were reported in the gnomAD database without information regarding clinical phenotype (61). Although most variants are considered benign based on in silico prediction algorithms, conflicting predictions were made for the P384L, D397G and K420R variants and the G385R variant was considered damaging (62). Recently, a 48 year-old patient with AITD, treated with levothyroxine, was found to have high free T<sub>4</sub> with non-suppressed TSH. A mutant TRB G385E was identified and reported as VUS. Family screening uncovered the same mutation in relatives with normal thyroid function, suggesting that this mutation may not be responsible for the abnormal thyroid pattern (63). Similarly, the G339S variant was identified in a family with AITD after an individual was misdiagnosed with RTH $\beta$ , but the same variant was then found in several family members with normal thyroid function, making it unlikely for the G339S variant to be causally related to a RTH $\beta$  phenotype (24).

The above paradigms illustrate that *in silico* prediction algorithms may not always be reliable when studying the functional relevance of VUS. Genotype-phenotype co-segregation among family members is useful in characterizing the functional impact of *THRB* mutations. Computational resources that factor in protein specific functional domains may have some predictive functional relevance of VUS but should not be the basis guiding clinical decision making.

# EPIGENETIC EFFECT OF RTH $\beta$ AND ITS TRANSGENERATIONAL INHERITANCE

The first body of evidence on fertility and pregnancy outcome in RTH $\beta$  came from studies in a large Azorean kindred harboring the



R243Q mutation. Fertility was not affected and, contrary to women with thyrotoxicosis, RTH $\beta$  did not produce an increase in premature labor, stillbirth or pre-eclampsia, in agreement with the women's euthyroid state despite elevated TH levels (64). However, a significantly higher rate of early miscarriages was observed in women with RTHB compared to spouses of males with RTHB or unaffected first-degree relatives independent of maternal age and parity. Furthermore, a tendency was seen for these women to miscarry unaffected fetuses rather than fetuses with RTHB, suggesting that the miscarriages occurred due to fetal exposure to incongruent high TH levels. In addition, unaffected newborns of mothers with RTH $\beta$  had significantly lower birth weight and suppressed TSH at birth compared to offspring of unaffected mothers, arguing that they were exposed in a hypercatabolic intrauterine environment of high TH concentration, whereas infants with RTH $\beta$  were protected from the toxic effect of TH excess. Of note, when women with RTHB carrying unaffected fetuses were given antithyroid medication to avoid free T<sub>4</sub> levels 20% higher than the upper limit of normal, the birth weight and TSH levels at birth of their offspring was similar to infants with RTH $\beta$  (65).

In a subsequent study, the long-term effect of intrauterine exposure to high TH levels was examined in WT members of the Azorean kindred. Specifically, the study involved unaffected offspring of mothers with RTH $\beta$  and offspring of unaffected mothers, whose fathers had RTH $\beta$ , as well as mice mimicking the human phenotype. Unaffected humans and WT mice born to mothers with RTH $\beta$  and exposed to high TH levels *in utero* developed reduced central sensitivity to thyroid hormone (RSTH), that persisted during adulthood (66) (**Figure 2**). Increased expression of deiodinase 3,

the enzyme that inactivates TH, was found in the pituitaries of the WT mice born to dams with RTH $\beta$  (66). This effect was found to be transmitted by male descendants but not in female with likewise RSTH (67). Although the exact mechanism of this transgenerational epigenetic inheritance is not fully characterized, it is thought to involve possible modulation of the imprinted deiodinase 3 gene that regulates local TH availability at a tissue specific level. It remains unclear whether prolonged exposure to high TH levels could have similar implications in adult life. This deserves further investigation as such a finding would have implications in the management of larger populations, such as individuals on long term TSH suppressive levothyroxine therapy for differentiated thyroid cancer.

# DISCUSSION-CONCLUSIONS

The diagnosis of RTH $\beta$  is challenging and the main condition in the differential diagnosis is TSH-oma. Diagnosis and management of RTH $\beta$  are more challenging when other thyroid disorders co-exist, such as CH and ectopic thyroid tissue. More recently, an association has been described between RTH $\beta$  and AITD. Although the causal relation remains unclear, proposed pathophysiologic mechanisms include TSH or TH induced stimulation of pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic responses. The observed variability in clinical manifestation of RTH $\beta$  can be explained by the type of genetic defect, e.g. homo- *vs* hetero-zygosity, frameshift *vs* insertion/ deletion, mutations with predominantly TR $\beta$ 2 mediated action, mosaicism, and the tissue specific variability in TR $\beta$  expression, e.g. heart and brain *vs* pituitary and liver. Management is tailored to



were then injected intravenously with 200 µg of thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH) and samples of blood were obtained at the indicated times for the measurement of serum TSH. Plotted on the graphs are results from female (circles) and males (squares). Increased peak responses in (**A**, **C**, **D**), as compared to those of (**B**, **E**) indicate reduced sensitivity to thyroid hormone (RSTH). While this epigenetic effect of exposure to high TH levels during fetal life (**A**) is transmitted to both sexes, it is inherited along male line only (**C**, **D**) but not the female line (**E**).

control symptoms arising from tissue specific excess or lack of TH. In small case series treatment with every-other-day L-T<sub>3</sub> was beneficial in improvement of goiter and ADHD symptoms. When RTH $\beta$  co-exists with CH, supraphysiologic doses of L-T<sub>4</sub> are needed to achieve normal bone and cognitive development. The advances in NGS have led to increasing frequency of VUS identification, where there may be limited data on their functional relevance beyond in silico prediction models. Caution should be exercised as to not guide clinical decision making based on computational resources and utilize information from genotypephenotype co-segregation in family members. Transgenerational studies in humans and mice provide evidence of an epigenetic effect induced by RTH $\beta$ , by *in utero* exposure of WT fetuses to high TH concentration. The resulting reduced sensitivity to TH shows transgenerational inheritance across the male but not the female line and is thought to be mediated via modulation of deiodinase 3, that regulates local TH availability.

The advances in our knowledge on RTH $\beta$  raise novel questions about TH action outside the hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid axis and the emerging concepts on epigenetic effect of

 $\label{eq:RTH} RTH\beta need to be explored further, as they may have implications in larger populations, such as patients with thyroid cancer on long term TSH suppression therapy with TH.$ 

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TP and SR designed and wrote this manuscript and both conceptually contributed to this work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported in part by grant DK15070 from the National Institutes of Health. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases or the National Institutes of Health. TP is supported by the NIH T32 grant 5T32HL007609-33.

## REFERENCES

- Refetoff S, DeWind LT, DeGroot LJ. Familial syndrome combining deafmutism, stuppled epiphyses, goiter and abnormally high PBI: possible target organ refractoriness to thyroid hormone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1967) 99:768–70. doi: 10.1210/jcem-27-2-279
- Refetoff S, Bassett JH, Beck-Peccoz P, Bernal J, Brent G, Chatterjee K, et al. Classification and proposed nomenclature for inherited defects of thyroid hormone action, cell transport, and metabolism. *Thyroid* (2014) 3:7–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2013.3393.nomen
- Refetoff S, Bassett JH, Beck-Peccoz P, Bernal J, Brent G, Chatterjee K, et al. Classification and proposed nomenclature for inherited defects of thyroid hormone action, cell transport, and metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2014) 99:768–70. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-3393
- Refetoff S, Bassett JH, Beck-Peccoz P, Bernal J, Brent G, Chatterjee K, et al. Classification and proposed nomenclature for inherited defects of thyroid hormone action, cell transport, and metabolism. *Eur Thyroid J* (2014) 3:7–9. doi: 10.1159/000358180
- Dumitrescu AM, Korwutthikulrangsri M, Refetoff S. Impaired Sensituvito to ThyrHormaone: Defects of Transport, Metabolism and Action (Capter 64). In: LE Braverman, DS Cooper, PA Kopp, editors. Werner & Ingbar's The Thyroid: A Fundamental and Clinical Text. PA, USA: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins Philadelphia (2021). p. 868–907.
- Gurnell M, Visser TJ, Beck-Peccoz P, Chatterjee VK. Resistance to Thyroid Hormone. In: JL Jameson, LJ DeGroot, editors. *Endocrinology Adult and Pediatric*. Philadelphia: Endocrinology Adult and Pediatric Elsevier Saunders (2016). p. 1648–65.
- Lafranchi SH, Snyder DB, Sesser DE, Skeels MR, Singh N, Brent GA, et al. Follow-up of newborns with elevated screening T4 concentrations. *J Pediatr* (2003) 143:296–301. doi: 10.1067/S0022-3476(03)00184-7
- Vela A, Perez-Nanclares G, Rios I, Rica I, Portillo N, Castano L, et al. Spanish Group for the Study of, Thyroid hormone resistance from newborns to adults: a Spanish experience. J Endocrinol Invest (2019) 42:941–9. doi: 10.1007/ s40618-019-1007-4
- Sakurai A, Takeda K, Ain K, Ceccarelli P, Nakai A, Seino S, et al. Generalized resistance to thyroid hormone associated with a mutation in the ligandbinding domain of the human thyroid hormone receptor beta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1989) 86:8977–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.22.8977
- Pappa T, Refetoff S. Human Genetics of Thyroid Hormone Receptor Beta: Resistance to Thyroid Hormone Beta (RTHbeta). *Methods Mol Biol* (2018) 1801:225–40. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7902-8\_18
- Mamanasiri S, Yesil S, Dumitrescu AM, Liao XH, Demir T, Weiss RE, et al. Mosaicism of a thyroid hormone receptor-beta gene mutation in resistance to thyroid hormone. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91:3471–7. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2006-0727
- 12. Reutrakul S, Sadow PM, Pannain S, Pohlenz J, Carvalho GA, Macchia PE, et al. Search for abnormalities of nuclear corepressors, coactivators, and a coregulator in families with resistance to thyroid hormone without mutations in thyroid hormone receptor beta or alpha genes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2000) 85:3609–17. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.10.6873
- Campi I, Cammarata G, Bianchi Marzoli S, Beck-Peccoz P, Santarsiero D, Dazzi D, et al. Retinal Photoreceptor Functions Are Compromised in Patients With Resistance to Thyroid Hormone Syndrome (RTHbeta). J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 102:2620–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-3671
- 14. Refetoff S, Weiss RE, Usala SJ. The syndromes of resistance to thyroid hormone. *Endocr Rev* (1993) 14:348–99. doi: 10.1210/edrv-14-3-348
- Campi I, Covelli D, Moran C, Fugazzola L, Cacciatore C, Orlandi F, et al. The Differential Diagnosis of Discrepant Thyroid Function Tests: Insistent Pitfalls and Updated Flow-Chart Based on a Long-Standing Experience. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2020) 11:432. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00432
- 16. Macchia E, Lombardi M, Raffaelli V, Piaggi P, Macchia L, Scattina I, et al. Clinical and genetic characteristics of a large monocentric series of patients affected by thyroid hormone (Th) resistance and suggestions for differential diagnosis in patients without mutation of Th receptor beta. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2014) 81:921–8. doi: 10.1111/cen.12556
- 17. Khoo S, Lyons G, Solomon A, Oddy S, Halsall D, Chatterjee K, et al. Familial dysalbuminemic hyperthyroxinemia confounding management of coexistent

autoimmune thyroid disease. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab Case Rep (2020) 2020. doi: 10.1530/EDM-19-0161

- Grasberger H, Ringkananont U, Croxson M, Refetoff S. Resistance to thyroid hormone in a patient with thyroid dysgenesis. *Thyroid* (2005) 15:730–3. doi: 10.1089/thy.2005.15.730
- Nakajima Y, Yamada M, Horiguchi K, Satoh T, Hashimoto K, Tokuhiro E, et al. Resistance to thyroid hormone due to a novel thyroid hormone receptor mutant in a patient with hypothyroidism secondary to lingual thyroid and functional characterization of the mutant receptor. *Thyroid* (2010) 20:917–26. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2009.0389
- Heather N, Hall K, Neas K, Potter H, Wiltshire E. Growth and development in a child with resistance to thyroid hormone and ectopic thyroid gland. *Pediatrics* (2012) 129:e817–20. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-0634
- Guo ML, Zheng X, Yang LX, Qiu YL, Cheng L, Ma SG. Coexistence of resistance to thyroid hormone and ectopic thyroid: ten-year follow-up. Arch Endocrinol Metab (2016) 60:601–4. doi: 10.1590/2359-3997000000214
- Zhou Z, Yang C, Lv F, Liu W, Yan S, Zang H, et al. Novel THRB mutation analysis in congenital hypothyroidism with thyroid dysgenesis. *J Cell Biochem* (2018) 119:9474–82. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27264
- Fisher DA, Schoen EJ, La Franchi S, Mandel SH, Nelson JC, Carlton EI, et al. The hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid negative feedback control axis in children with treated congenital hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2000) 85:2722–7. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.8.6718
- Larsen CC, Dumitrescu A, Guerra-Arguero LM, Gallego-Suarez C, Vazquez-Mellado A, Vinogradova M, et al. Incidental identification of a thyroid hormone receptor beta (THRB) gene variant in a family with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroid* (2013) 23:1638–43. doi: 10.1089/thy.2013.0174
- Shiwa T, Oki K, Awaya T, Nakanishi S, Yamane K. Resistance to thyroid hormone accompanied by Graves' disease. *Intern Med* (2011) 50:1977–80. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.50.4904
- Barkoff MS, Kocherginsky M, Anselmo J, Weiss RE, Refetoff S. Autoimmunity in patients with resistance to thyroid hormone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95:3189–93. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-2179
- Gavin C, Meggison H, Ooi TC. Proposing a causal link between thyroid hormone resistance and primary autoimmune hypothyroidism. *Med Hypotheses* (2008) 70:1024–8. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2007.08.015
- Fabris N, Mocchegiani E, Mariotti S, Pacini F, Pinchera A. Thyroid function modulates thymic endocrine activity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1986) 62:474– 8. doi: 10.1210/jcem-62-3-474
- Villa-Verde DM, Defresne MP, Vannier-dos-Santos MA, Dussault JH, Boniver J, Savino W. Identification of nuclear triiodothyronine receptors in the thymic epithelium. *Endocrinology* (1992) 131:1313–20. doi: 10.1210/ endo.131.3.1505466
- Ganesh BB, Cheatem DM, Sheng JR, Vasu C, Prabhakar BS. GM-CSF-induced CD11c+CD8a-dendritic cells facilitate Foxp3+ and IL-10+ regulatory T cell expansion resulting in suppression of autoimmune thyroiditis. *Int Immunol* (2009) 21:269–82. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxn147
- Montesinos MDM, Pellizas CG. Thyroid Hormone Action on Innate Immunity. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2019) 10:350. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00350
- Safer JD, O'Connor MG, Colan SD, Srinivasan S, Tollin SR, Wondisford FE. The thyroid hormone receptor-beta gene mutation R383H is associated with isolated central resistance to thyroid hormone. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1999) 84:3099–109. doi: 10.1210/jc.84.9.3099
- Kaplan MM, Swartz SL, Larsen PR. Partial peripheral resistance to thyroid hormone. Am J Med (1981) 70:1115–21. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(81)90885-8
- Pohlenz J, Wirth S, Winterpacht A, Wemme H, Zabel B, Schonberger W. Phenotypic variability in patients with generalised resistance to thyroid hormone. J Med Genet (1995) 32:393–5. doi: 10.1136/jmg.32.5.393
- Beck-Peccoz P, Chatterjee VK. The variable clinical phenotype in thyroid hormone resistance syndrome. *Thyroid* (1994) 4:225–32. doi: 10.1089/ thy.1994.4.225
- 36. Toumba M, Neocleous V, Fanis P, Tanteles GA, Kyriakidou-Himonas M, Picolos M. Phenotype variability and different genotype of four patients with thyroid hormone resistance syndrome due to variants in the THRB gene. *Hippokratia* (2019) 23:135–9.
- 37. Ferrara AM, Onigata K, Ercan O, Woodhead H, Weiss RE, Refetoff S. Homozygous thyroid hormone receptor beta gene mutations in resistance

to thyroid hormone: Three new cases and review of the literature. J Clin Endocrinol Matab (2012) 97:1328–36. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-2642

- Yen PM, Sugawara A, Refetoff S, Chin WW. New insights on the mechanism (s) of the dominant negative effect of mutant thyroid hormone receptor in generalized resistance to thyroid hormone. *J Clin Invest* (1992) 90:1825–31. doi: 10.1172/JCI116058
- 39. Wu SY, Cohen RN, Simsek E, Senses DA, Yar NE, Grasberger H, et al. A novel thyroid Hormone receptor-beta mutation that fails to bind nuclear receptor corepressor in a patient as an apparent cause of severe, predominantly pituitary resistance to thyroid hormone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91:1887–95. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-2428
- 40. Yagi H, Pohlenz J, Hayashi Y, Sakurai A, Refetoff S. Resistance to thyroid hormone caused by two mutant thyroid hormone receptor ß, R243Q and R243W, with marked impairment of function that cannot be explained by altered in-vitro 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine binding affinity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82:1608–14. doi: 10.1210/jc.82.5.1608
- Safer JD, Cohen RN, Hollenberg AN, Wondisford FE. Defective release of corepressor by hinge mutants of the thyroid hormone receptor found in patients with resistance to thyroid hormone. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 273:30175– 82. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.46.30175
- 42. Collingwood TN, Rajanayagam O, Adams M, Wagner R, Cavaillès V, Kalkhoven E, et al. A natural transactivation mutation in the thyroid hormone ß receptor: Impaired interaction with putative transcriptional mediators. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1997) 94:248–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.1.248
- 43. Clifton-Bligh RJ, de Zegher F, Wagner RL, Collingwood TN, François I, Van Helvoirt M, et al. A novel mutation (R383H) in resistance to thyroid hormone syndrome predominantly impairs corepressor release and negative transcriptional regulation. *Mol Endocrinol* (1998) 12:609–21. doi: 10.1210/mend.12.5.0113
- 44. Machado DS, Sabet A, Santiago LA, Sidhaye AR, Chiamolera MI, Ortiga-Carvalho TM, et al. A thyroid hormone receptor mutation that dissociates thyroid hormone regulation of gene expression *in vivo*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2009) 106:9441–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903227106
- 45. Alberobello AT, Congedo V, Liu H, Cochran C, Skarulis MC, Forrest D, et al. An intronic SNP in the thyroid hormone receptor beta gene is associated with pituitary cell-specific over-expression of a mutant thyroid hormone receptor beta2 (R338W) in the index case of pituitary-selective resistance to thyroid hormone. J Transl Med (2011) 9:144. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-9-144
- 46. Mixson AJ, Hauser P, Tennyson G, Renault JC, Bodenner DL, Weintraub BD. Differential expression of mutant and normal beta T3 receptor alleles in kindreds with generalized resistance to thyroid hormone. *J Clin Invest* (1993) 91:2296–300. doi: 10.1172/JCI116458
- 47. Hayashi Y, Janssen OE, Weiss RE, Murata Y, Seo H, Refetoff S. The relative expression of mutant and normal thyroid hormone receptor genes in patients with generalized resistance to thyroid hormone determined by estimation of their specific messenger ribonucleic acid products. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1993) 76:64–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem.76.1.8421105
- Fujisawa H, Gagne J, Dumitrescu AM, Refetoff S. Very Severe Resistance to Thyroid Hormone beta in One of Three Affected Members of a Family with a Novel Mutation in the THRB Gene. *Thyroid* (2019) 29:1518–20. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2019.0095
- Shi Y, Ye H, Link KH, Putnam MC, Hubner I, Dowdell S, et al. Mutantselective thyromimetics for the chemical rescue of thyroid hormone receptor mutants associated with resistance to thyroid hormone. *Biochemistry* (2005) 44:4612–26. doi: 10.1021/bi0482349
- Yao B, Wei Y, Zhang S, Tian S, Xu S, Wang R, et al. Revealing a Mutant-Induced Receptor Allosteric Mechanism for the Thyroid Hormone Resistance. *iScience* (2019) 20:489–96. doi: 10.1016/j.isci.2019.10.002
- Weiss RE, Dumitrescu A, Refetoff S. Approach to the patient with resistance to thyroid hormone and pregnancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95:3094– 102. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0409
- Anselmo J, Refetoff S. Regression of a large goiter in a patient with resistance to thyroid hormone by every other day treatment with triiodothyronine. *Thyroid* (2004) 14:71–4. doi: 10.1089/105072504322783876
- 53. Unluturk U, Sriphrapradang C, Erdogan MF, Emral R, Guldiken S, Refetoff S, et al. Management of differentiated thyroid cancer in the presence of resistance to thyroid hormone and TSH-secreting adenomas: a report of four cases and review of the literature. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98:2210–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-4142

- 54. Weiss RE, Stein MA, Refetoff S. Behavioral effects of liothyronine (L-T3) in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in the presence and absence of resistance to thyroid hormone. *Thyroid* (1997) 7:389–93. doi: 10.1089/thy.1997.7.389
- 55. Maruo Y, Mori A, Morioka Y, Sawai C, Mimura Y, Matui K, et al. Successful every-other-day liothyronine therapy for severe resistance to thyroid hormone beta with a novel THRB mutation; case report. *BMC Endocr Disord* (2016) 16:1. doi: 10.1186/s12902-015-0081-7
- Groeneweg S, Peeters RP, Visser TJ, Visser WE. Therapeutic applications of thyroid hormone analogues in resistance to thyroid hormone (RTH) syndromes. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2017) 458:82–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.mce.2017.02.029
- 57. Anzai R, Adachi M, Sho N, Muroya K, Asakura Y, Onigata K. Long-term 3,5,3'-triiodothyroacetic acid therapy in a child with hyperthyroidism caused by thyroid hormone resistance: pharmacological study and therapeutic recommendations. *Thyroid* (2012) 22:1069–75. doi: 10.1089/thy.2011.0450
- Moran C, Habeb AM, Kahaly GJ, Kampmann C, Hughes M, Marek J, et al. Homozygous Resistance to Thyroid Hormone beta: Can Combined Antithyroid Drug and Triiodothyroacetic Acid Treatment Prevent Cardiac Failure? J Endocr Soc (2017) 1:1203–12. doi: 10.1210/js.2017-00204
- 59. Hayashi Y, Sunthornthepvarakul T, Refetoff S. Mutations of CpG dinucleotides located in the triiodothyronine (T3)-binding domain of the thyroid hormone receptor (TR) beta gene that appears to be devoid of natural mutations may not be detected because they are unlikely to produce the clinical phenotype of resistance to thyroid hormone. *J Clin Invest* (1994) 94:607–15. doi: 10.1172/JCI117376
- 60. Menzaghi C, Di Paola R, Corrias A, Einaudi S, Trischitta V, De Sanctis C, et al. T426I a new mutation in the thyroid hormone receptor beta gene in a sporadic patient with resistance to thyroid hormone and dysmorphism. Mutations Brief no. 192. Online Hum Mutat (1998) 12:289.
- Lek M, Karczewski KJ, Minikel EV, Samocha KE, Banks E, Fennell T, et al. Analysis of protein-coding genetic variation in 60,706 humans. *Nature* (2016) 536:285–91. doi: 10.1038/nature19057
- Concolino P, Costella A, Paragliola RM. Mutational Landscape of Resistance to Thyroid Hormone Beta (RTHbeta). *Mol Diagn Ther* (2019) 23:353–68. doi: 10.1007/s40291-019-00399-w
- 63. Korwutthikulrangsri M, Dosiou C, Dumitrescu AM, Refetoff S. A Novel G385E Variant in the Cold Region of the T3-Binding Domain of Thyroid Hormone Receptor Beta Gene and Investigations to Assess Its Clinical Significance. *Eur Thyroid J* (2019) 8:293–7. doi: 10.1159/000503860
- Anselmo J, Cao D, Karrison T, Weiss RE, Refetoff S. Fetal loss associated with excess thyroid hormone exposure. JAMA (2004) 292:691–5. doi: 10.1001/ jama.292.6.691
- Pappa T, Anselmo J, Mamanasiri S, Dumitrescu AM, Weiss RE, Refetoff S. Prenatal Diagnosis of Resistance to Thyroid Hormone and Its Clinical Implications. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 102:3775–82. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2017-01251
- 66. Srichomkwun P, Anselmo J, Liao XH, Hones GS, Moeller LC, Alonso-Sampedro M, et al. Fetal Exposure to High Maternal Thyroid Hormone Levels Causes Central Resistance to Thyroid Hormone in Adult Humans and Mice. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 102:3234–40. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-00019
- Anselmo J, Scherberg NH, Dumitrescu AM, Refetoff S. Reduced Sensitivity to Thyroid Hormone as a Transgenerational Epigenetic Marker Transmitted Along the Human Male Line. *Thyroid* (2019) 29:778–82. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2019.0080

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Pappa and Refetoff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Screening for Mutations in Isolated Central Hypothyroidism Reveals a Novel Mutation in Insulin Receptor Substrate 4

Konrad Patyra<sup>1,2†</sup>, Kristiina Makkonen<sup>1,2†</sup>, Maria Haanpää<sup>3,4</sup>, Sinikka Karppinen<sup>5</sup>, Liisa Viikari<sup>5</sup>, Jorma Toppari<sup>1,2,5</sup>, Mary Pat Reeve<sup>6</sup> and Jukka Kero<sup>1,2,5\*</sup>

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Cintia E. Citterio, CONICET Institute of Immunology, Genetics and Metabolism (INIGEM), Argentina

### Reviewed by:

Arturo Hernandez, Maine Medical Center, United States Paul Van Trotsenburg, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Netherlands Hector Manuel Targovnik, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina

### \*Correspondence:

Jukka Kero jukka.kero@utu.fi

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 25 January 2021 Accepted: 31 March 2021 Published: 21 May 2021

### Citation:

Patyra K, Makkonen K, Haanpää M, Karppinen S, Viikari L, Toppari J, Reeve MP and Kero J (2021) Screening for Mutations in Isolated Central Hypothyroidism Reveals a Novel Mutation in Insulin Receptor Substrate 4. Front. Endocrinol. 12:658137. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.658137 <sup>1</sup> Research Centre for Integrative Physiology and Pharmacology, Institute of Biomedicine, University of Turku, Turku, Finland, <sup>2</sup> Turku Center for Disease Modeling, University of Turku, Turku, Finland, <sup>3</sup> Department of Genomics and Clinical Genetics, Turku University Hospital, Turku, Finland, <sup>4</sup> Department of Genetics, University of Turku, Turku, Finland, <sup>5</sup> Department of Pediatrics, Turku University Hospital, Turku, Finland, <sup>6</sup> Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland, HiLIFE, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

**Background:** Central hypothyroidism (CeH) is a rare condition affecting approximately 1:16 000- 100 000 individuals. Congenital forms can harm normal development if not detected and treated promptly. Clinical and biochemical diagnosis, especially of isolated CeH, can be challenging. Cases are not usually detected in neonatal screening, which, in most countries, is focused on detection of the more prevalent primary hypothyroidism. Until now, five genetic causes for isolated CeH have been identified. Here we aimed to identify the genetic cause in two brothers with impaired growth diagnosed with CeH at the age of 5 years. We further evaluated the candidate gene variants in a large genetic database.

**Methods:** Clinical and biochemical characterization together with targeted nextgeneration sequencing (NGS) was used to identify the genetic cause in a family of two brothers presenting with CeH. Screening of *insulin receptor substrate 4 (IRS4*) variants was carried out in the FinnGen database.

**Results:** A novel monoallelic frameshift mutation c.1712\_1713insT, p.Gly572Trp fs\*32 in the X-linked *IRS4* gene was identified by NGS analysis in both affected males and confirmed using Sanger sequencing. Their mother was an unaffected carrier. In addition to the declined growth at presentation, central hypothyroidism and blunted TRH test, no other phenotypic alterations were found. Diagnostic tests included head MRI, thyroid imaging, bone age, and laboratory tests for thyroid autoantibodies, glucose, insulin and glycosylated hemoglobin levels. Examination of the *IRS4* locus in FinnGen (R5) database revealed the strongest associations to a rare Finnish haplotype associated with thyroid disorders (p = 1.3e-7) and hypothyroidism (p = 8.3e-7).

**Conclusions:** Here, we identified a novel frameshift mutation in an X-linked *IRS4* gene in two brothers with isolated CeH. Furthermore, we demonstrate an association of *IRS4* 

21

gene locus to a general thyroid disease risk in the FinnGen database. Our findings confirm the role of *IRS4* in isolated central hypothyroidism.

Keywords: insulin receptor substrate 4, IRS4, central hypothyroidism, thyroid disorders, genetic screening, FinnGen, congenital hypothyroidism

### INTRODUCTION

Central hypothyroidism (CeH) is defined as a reduced thyroid hormone secretion from an otherwise functional thyroid gland due to diminished stimulation of the gland. Reduced stimulation can result either from an impaired secretion of thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) from the anterior pituitary, defective secretion or action of hypothalamic thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH), or both (1).

Central hypothyroidism is rarely an isolated defect, but most often appears congenitally as a part of panhypopituitarism affecting also gonadotropin, adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) or growth hormone secretion. Panhypopituitarism can be potentially life-threatening, primarily because of severe hypoglycemia. The exact prevalence of CeH is unknown, but the presentation of genetic forms shows a peak in childhood, whereas other forms due to pituitary lesions are typical later in adulthood (2). Estimations of CeH prevalence vary between 1:16 000-100 000 individuals (3, 4). Overall, CeH has been reported to be equally distributed in both sexes. However, known X-linked forms suggest a male predominance (2). In addition to the genetic etiology of isolated central hypothyroidism, impairing only TSH secretion, CeH has been described in patients with pituitary tumors, trauma, radiation therapy, diabetes mellitus or it may be idiopathic (5). Genetic defects in pituitary transcription factors can lead to CeH, but are usually associated also with other hormonal defects (1). Isolated TSH deficiency covers approximately 20% of all CeH cases (2). Inherited isolated CeH has been demonstrated to be caused by mutations in thyroid releasing hormone receptor (TRHR), thyroid stimulating hormone beta subunit (TSHB), immunoglobulin superfamily member 1 (IGSF1), transducin (beta)-like 1X-linked (TBL1X) and more recently, in insulin receptor substrate 4 (IRS4) genes (6). Among these genes TRHR mutations has been shown to lead to blunted TSH response to TRH, growth retardation and obesity during childhood (7). Furthermore, TSHB mutations are characterized by neonatal onset of low TSH, high glycoprotein hormone alpha-subunit levels and pituitary hyperplasia, which is reversible with thyroxine treatment (8). Mutations in both IGSF1 and TBL1X can lead to X-linked isolated CeH, but IGSF1 mutations are also associated with low PRL, variable GH deficiency, metabolic syndrome, and postpubertal macroorchidism (9). In addition, the mutations in the TBL1X can also lead to impaired hearing (10).

Here we describe a genetic, biochemical and clinical characterization of a family with two brothers diagnosed with CeH at the age of 5 years and shown to carry a novel frameshift mutation in the *IRS4* gene. Furthermore, we evaluate the overall occurrence of *IRS4* variants and their association to other clinical phenotypes in a large national genetic database.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Study Participants**

The study participants were recruited to the study by a pediatric endocrinologist, and they and their parents signed a written consent. The Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Southwest Finland approved the study (108/180/2010).

The clinical examinations were performed by a pediatrician (SK) and thyroid ultrasound, head MRI and bone age by the pediatric radiologists. Laboratory tests were done at the Turku University Hospital Laboratory, except for the IGF-1 test, which was performed in the Islab-laboratory (Kuopio, Finland). Umbilical serum TSH (uS-TSH), serum TSH, free T4 (fT4), insulin and cortisol concentrations were determined with the Cobas e801 immunoassay analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Rotkreuz, Switzerland). Serum cholesterol (HDL cholesterol, LDL cholesterol and triglycerides) were determined with the Cobas c702 chemistry analyzer (Roche Diagnostics). Serum glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) was determined with the Cobas c501 immunoturbidimetric assay (Roche Diagnostics). Serum IGF-1 concentrations were determined with the Liaison XL chemiluminescence analyzer (DiaSorin S.p.A, Saluggia, Italy). Growth data were collected from the hospital records based on measurements performed at the visits using stabilized and calibrated scale and wall mounted Harpenden Stadiometer (Holtain Limited, Crosswell, Crymych, Pembs., UK) with ±0.1 cm precision.

### **TRH Stimulation Test**

At the start of the TRH stimulation test, non-fasting serum TSH concentrations were measured. A bolus of 7  $\mu$ g/kg of TRH (Ferring Pharmaceuticals, Saint-Prex, Switzerland) was given intravenously, and subsequently the serum TSH concentrations were measured at 20 and 60 minutes.

### **Genetic Analysis**

Genetic analyses were performed on DNA extracted from peripheral blood. Amplification of target region was performed with PCR using AmpliTaq Gold 360 (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol in the Veriti 96-Well Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Primers used are listed in the **Supplemental Table 2**. For the index patient an NGS-based targeted panel was performed with Sophia Genetics custom clinical exome solution (Sophia Genetics, Boston, MA, USA) and Illumina sequencing (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA), including 4400 known disease-causing genes. NGS libraries were prepared using a hybrid capture method according to the manufacturer's protocol (Sophia Genetics CCE\_A\_v1). DNA was sequenced with NextSeq sequencer (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) using 2x151bp paired-end technique. The identified variation was visually inspected using the Integrative Genomics Viewer (11). Bioinformatic analysis and annotation was focused on the following candidate gene panel for CeH: *HESX1*, *IGSF1*, *IRS4*, *LEPR*, *LHX3*, *LHX4*, *OTX2*, *POU1F1*, *PROP1*, *SOX3*, *TBL1X*, *TRHR* and *TSHB*.

Confirmation of the IRS4 mutation and its segregation was tested with PCR and Sanger sequencing. The primer sequences and PCR conditions are listed in the **Supplementary Materials**. Sequencing reactions were performed by using BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems). Sequencing was performed with the ABI3500xl Dx (Applied Biosystems) and chromatograms were analyzed using Sequencher v5. (Gene Codes Corporation, MI, USA). The alignment of WT and mutated IRS4 sequences was performed using the Clustal O (1.2.4) multiple sequence alignment tool (12).

### IRS4 Variant Analysis in the FinnGen Database

The FinnGen project has been approved by the Ethical Review Board of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa with the protocol Nr. HUS/990/2017. The FinnGen data release 5 was used. Detailed information about of the different releases is described on the FinnGen's website<sup>1</sup>. Release 5 comprises of data from 218 792 Finnish participants with disease endpoints<sup>2</sup> constructed from national registries using International Classification of Diseases (ICD), Social Insurance Institute (KELA) drug reimbursement and ATC codes linked with DNA data.

## RESULTS

### **Clinical Characteristics**

The two male subjects were referred to the endocrinologist due to mild growth retardation and normal TSH, but low serum fT4 concentrations. They were both diagnosed with CeH between the age of 5 - 6 years. The index case (patient #1) and his brother (patient #2) had normal serum TSH and low fT4 values prior the diagnosis (Figures 1A, B). Both cases had blunted TSH response  $(\Delta TSH, <1.6)$  to TRH stimulation (Figure 1D), no interfering antibodies in TSH or TH assays, and the TG or TPO antibody tests were negative (Figure 1A, table). Secretion defects or dysfunction of other pituitary hormones were excluded (Supplemental Table 1). Both MRI of the head and ultrasound evaluation of the thyroid were normal in both cases at the time of diagnosis. Patient #1 had linear growth until the age of 2 years, after which his height standard deviation scores (SDS) decreased from -1 to -2.4 SD between the age 2 and 5 years (Figure 1E). His brother (#2) had similar growth retardation prior to the CeH diagnosis. Both had delayed bone age (2.0 - 2.3 and 0.7 years behind the calendar age) at the time of diagnosis. There were no significant alterations in other biochemical or metabolic variables measured including glucose,

glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c), insulin, insulin-like growth factor-1, cholesterol or cortisol levels (**Supplemental Table 1**). The thyroxine replacement was started promptly after CeH diagnosis and fT4 levels returned to normal. Furthermore, the serum TSH concentrations, although within the normal range at diagnosis, decreased significantly in both cases after thyroxine supplementation. A small increase in growth velocity was also noted after the initiation of thyroxine treatment (**Figure 1E**).

Both brothers were born at term after a normal pregnancy and uncomplicated birth with >9 APGAR-scores. However, patient #1 received phototherapy for prolonged jaundice as a newborn. The birth weight, height and head circumferences were within average Finnish standards. Patients #1 and #2 had normal umbilical serum TSH levels (patient #1: 11 mU/l and patient #2: 6.6 mU/l) measured at birth as a part of the CH screening program. Both brothers reached all developmental milestones, had normal weight gain and head growth pattern during the first two years (**Figures 1F, G**), normal weight gain and development and no further diagnoses. Both parents were healthy, had thyroid function tests (TSH, fT4, fT3) in normal range, and negative TPO and Tg antibody tests, when measured at the recruitment visit. There was no positive family history for thyroid disease.

### **Genetic Findings**

A novel frameshift variant was detected in hemizygous state in exon 1 of the *IRS4* gene located on the X chromosome (X:107977861; NM\_003604.2) of the affected male proband (**Figure 1H**). The detected variant had a 1bp insertion (c.1712\_1713insT), which leads to a frameshift mutation (p.Gly572Trp fs\*32, amino acid sequence listed in **Supplemental Figure 1**), premature stop codon and strongly truncated protein (**Figure 1H**). This variant most likely degrades through nonsense-mediated decay and is not present in the gnomAD and dbSNP databases. Confirmation and co-segregation of the mutant in the family was performed using Sanger sequencing. The same variant was also found in the DNA of the affected brother and the mother, who was a healthy carrier (**Figures 1A, C**). No other pathogenic variants associated with CeH were detected in the clinical exome.

# Exploring IRS4 Mutations in the FinnGen Study

To explore the role of IRS4 in both hypothyroidism and across the medical spectrum, we used the large FinnGen population study which in release 5 had integrated genome-wide genotyping and extensive medical history data from 218 792 Finns. We searched for any rare loss-of-function (LoF) or damaging missense mutations (**Table 1**) and found no LoFs. Of note, the only rare predicted damaging missense variant observed (rs766893547, p.Arg8His) was carried by two female congenital hypothyroidism cases (an enrichment odds ratio of 6.7 compared to all females, p = 0.03). Furthermore, another variant (rs1801164) had significant association to renal failure (**Supplemental Figure 2**).

We then surveyed the IRS4 locus to see if any medical phenotypes might be associated to this genomic region. This was done by evaluating the DNA variants at the IRS4 locus in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://finngen.gitbook.io/documentation/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.finngen.fi/en/researchers/clinical-endpoints



FIGURE 1 | Pedigree, thyroid function tests, growth charts and chromatograms of the family with two brothers diagnosed with isolated central hypothyroidism (CeH). (A) Pedigree, serum TSH, fT4, fT3 and TPO antibody (S-TPOAb) concentrations in parents and their offspring. Bolded values indicate concentration below the reference range. (B) Follow-up graph of the serum TSH and fT4 concentrations in the affected cases before and after the thyroxin replacement therapy. Blue and orange rectangles show fT4 and TSH reference ranges, respectively. (C) Chromatograms of the IRS4 sequence flanking the mutation in mother (1A), father (1B), and the two patients #1 and #2 presenting CeH. Black arrows show the position of thymidine insertion. (D) TSH response in TRH stimulation test of the affected cases, gray area indicates a range of normal TSH response. (E) Growth (height SD) and (F) weight (%) curves of the affected siblings: #1 (red) and #2 (blue). Arrows indicate the time of CeH diagnosis and the start of thyroxine treatment. The green dots and lines show bone age determined at the indicated calendar age using the Tanner-Whitehouse method, and dotted line shows the expected length calculated from the parents' heights. (G) Head circumference in affected siblings carrying IRS4 mutation during the first 2 years. Light blue lines show SD values. (H) Location of the IRS4 frameshift mutation detected in this study (marked with red triangle), premature stop codon (indicated with star) previously published (6) *IRS4* mutations (marked with red lines). The location of IRS4 gene shown is based on the GRCh37.p13 primary assembly.

Location	source	rsid	HGVSp	poly-phen	N(m/f)	fin.AF	nfsee.AF
23:108733710:G:C	I	rs1801164	p.His879Tyr	U	ND	0.14554	0.2104144
23:108734099:C:T	С	rs774511400	p.Arg749Lys	U	32/124	0.00049966	0
23:108735030:T:A	I.	rs137853896	p.Ser439Cys	В	ND	0.0063782	0.00043206
23:108735113:C:T	I.	rs41307415	p.Arg411Gln	В	ND	0.030372	0.05821377
23:108736245:G:A	I.	rs1801162	p.Leu34Phe	В	ND	0.030347	0.05845302
23:108736257:C:A	С	rs769861641	p.Val30Leu	В	12/75	0.00025102	0
23:108736322:C:T	С	rs766893547	p.Arg8His	PB	25/110	0.00031291	0

IRS4 Missense variants in the FinnGen-database. Variant source; I (imputed) or C (variant detected from chip); rsid. rs number; HGVSp, the HGVS protein sequence name (genome build 38); Polyphen: U, unknown, B, benign; PB, probably damaging; N, number of males (m) and females (f); ND, not detected; fin.AF, allelic frequency in Finnish; nfsee, non-Finnish-non-Swedish-non-Estonian European.

FinnGen participants and comparing those to disease phenotypes<sup>2</sup> obtained from national registries linked with the DNA data. Across all 2925 phenotypes studied in the FinnGen project, the strongest associations discovered were with thyroid disorders (p = 1.3x10-7) and hypothyroidism (p = 8.3x10-7), which were associated to a rare Finnish-enriched haplotype (tagged by SNP rs1452561670 20 kb downstream of IRS4) (**Supplemental Figure 2**). This haplotype spans a roughly 500 kb interval within which IRS4 is the only documented protein-coding gene.

### DISCUSSION

Isolated central hypothyroidism (CeH) in children is rare and challenging to diagnose clinically. It has a multifactorial etiology and a small proportion of cases that are due to gene mutations. Therefore, the etiology for several cases remains unsolved. Currently, mutations in five different genes have been shown to associate with CeH. In this study, we describe a genetic, clinical and biochemical characterization of a family with two brothers presenting CeH at the age of 5 years. Furthermore, an evaluation of candidate gene variants for isolated CeH and their putative association to other phenotypes in a national genetic database was performed. In the present study, both affected cases with a novel frameshift mutation in an X-linked IRS4 gene were shown to have normal umbilical TSH measured at newborn screening and normal psychomotor development. However, their growth started to slowly decline 2-3 years prior to the diagnosis of CeH, which prompted the investigations. The TSH response was blunted in the TRH-test and TSH levels declined from mid-normal to low- normal after start of the thyroxine replacement. The mother was a healthy carrier with normal TSH and also fT4 concentrations at the upper normal range. The data from this family supports the pathogenic role of IRS4 in isolated central hypothyroidism and the cases showed no obvious additional phenotypes. Furthermore, the candidate gene analysis using the FinnGen database showed an association between the IRS4 locus and thyroxine purchases.

So far, only one study has reported the association of CeH with pathogenic mutations in *IRS4* (6). Heinen et al. described five families and seven affected male patients with four different mutations in the *IRS4* gene. Most of those patients were detected at birth *via* neonatal screening which can identify both primary and CeH (13). Unfortunately, CeH is not usually detected in congenital

hypothyroidism (CH) screening programmes, which are generally targeted to detect the more prevalent primary CH using TSH-based screening (4, 14). However, in some countries with T4-based screening programmes CeH can be detected at birth and potential neurodevelopmental disabilities can be therefore prevented. The importance of such screening was recently demonstrated in a study by Lanting et al. (15), which showed a relatively high (1 in 16 404) occurrence of CeH. Moreover, this finding is also supported by the fact that the clinical recognition of isolated CeH can be challenging without the classic symptoms, such as hypoglycemia, jaundice and micropenis observed typically in panhypothyroidism (2). Thus the debate continues whether the screening should also detect central CH continues (15, 16). In Finland, TSH-based screening is used and the CeH cases have not been routinely detected (17). The two cases described in our study, show that the impaired IRS4 function does not necessary lead to severe CH, as the boys' development, growth and head growth for the first 2 years was normal. Similarly, in the study from Heinen et al. (6) they report a male case diagnosed with CeH at the age of 12, originally evaluated because of short stature and delayed tooth eruption but otherwise normal development. This suggests that a significant degree of compensation can occur either in the regulation of the growth during the infancy and childhood phase or at the thyroid axis level. In fact, the fT3 levels in our patients were normal or only slightly below the reference range, and normal among the patients described in the previous study (6). In the previously described IRS4 mutation cases the TSH response to the TRH-test was blunted in six of seven male IRS4 mutation carriers, similar to that seen in our patients. The value of the TRH-test in the diagnosis of CeH with multiple etiologies has been shown to be controversial (18, 19), and the response can be affected by multiple factors such as initial TSH level, age, weight or nutritional state (20-22). However, the blunted TSH response seen in our CeH cases and the previously described IRS4 mutation carriers suggest that the IRS4 is needed for the proper signaling of the TRH. The IRS4 gene codes for a cytoplasmic protein which interacts with tyrosine kinase receptors and mediates their signaling (23). It has been shown to be expressed in the hypothalamus, but also has been found in several other tissues including the pituitary, thyroid and ovaries (10). IRS4 knock-out mice exhibit mild metabolic differences including lower blood glucose levels, impaired glucose tolerance and decreased fertility (24). Additionally, IRS4 female knockout mice have decreased Tshb mRNA expression in the pituitary, but no altered serum TSH or thyroid hormone concentrations. In contrast, the lack of IRS4

function in humans impairs TSH pulsatile secretion but the detailed mechanisms remain unclear. Impaired TSH pulsatile secretion may be linked to leptin action (6) that has been shown to participate in TRH response (25) and its action is partially mediated *via* IRS proteins.

A limitation of our study is the lack of functional test of the mutation pathogenicity. However, *IRS4* mutation segregation in the family, the frameshift alteration leading to premature stop codon strongly support the pathogenicity of the mutation. Since the fine regulation of thyroid function *via* hypothalamus and pituitary seems to differ between human and mice (6) further functional studies, for example using induced human pluripotent pituitary cell lines, are warranted to elucidate the detailed mechanisms.

Using FinnGen data we could not identify new LoF mutations. However, one rare predicted damaging missense variant (rs766893547, p.Arg8His) was present in two females with a congenital hypothyroidism diagnosis. Furthermore, an association of the variant rs1452561670 to the thyroid endpoint category was observed. Although these associations include cases with central isolated hypothyroidism (ICD code E23.05), they may also indicate primary thyroid diseases.

To our knowledge, general association of the *IRS4* variants to thyroid diseases has not been previously described in GWAS studies or genetic databases. However, our observation of a Finnish-enriched haplotype spanning IRS4 would not be detectable outside of a large Finnish study. This haplotype spans a roughly 500 kb interval within which IRS4 is the only documented protein-coding gene.

In addition to the association to thyroid endpoint category in FinnGen one IRS4 missense variant (rs1801164) had a significant association to renal failure. However, no renal phenotypes were described in humans with *IRS4* frameshift mutations in the previous publication (6). Furthermore, in our study the creatinine values were normal and there was no sign of kidney dysfunction in the individuals with IRS4 mutation and the family history was negative for any kidney diseases. Therefore, the present clinical findings do not support this database association at least in young individuals.

In summary, our data from patients with a novel frameshift mutation in *IRS4* gene together with the observed association between the rare *IRS4* haplotype and thyroid disease risk supports the pathogenic role of IRS4 in isolated central hypothyroidism.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are publicly available. This data can be found here: https://www.ebi.ac.uk/ eva/, PRJEB45041.

### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of

Southwest Finland (108/180/2010). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

### FUNDING

The study was supported by the Finnish Cultural and Sigrid Juselius (JK) Foundation (KP), Finnish Pediatric Foundation (JK) and a grant from Turku University graduate school (KM).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Minna Toivonen, Pia Pohjola and Matilda Kuusi for the help with laboratory and genetic analysis, and Andreina Kero for the proofreading this manuscript and comments on its content. Furthermore, we want to acknowledge the participants and investigators of FinnGen study. Following biobanks are acknowledged for collecting the FinnGen project samples: Auria Biobank (https://www.auria.fi/biopankki), THL Biobank (https://thl.fi/fi/web/thl-biopankki), Helsinki Biobank (https:// www.helsinginbiopankki.fi/fi/etusivu), Biobank Borealis of Northern Finland (https://www.oulu.fi/university/node/38474), Finnish Clinical Biobank Tampere (https://www.tays.fi/en-US/ Research\_and\_development/Finnish\_Clinical\_Biobank\_ Tampere), Biobank of Eastern Finland (https://itasuomen biopankki.fi), Central Finland Biobank (https://www.ksshp.fi/fi-FI/Potilaalle/Biopankki), Finnish Red Cross Blood Service Biobank (https://www.veripalvelu.fi/verenluovutus/biopank kitoiminta) and Terveystalo Biobank (https://www.terveystalo. com/fi/Yritystietoa/Terveystalo-Biopankki/Biopankki/). All Finnish Biobanks are members of BBMRI.fi infrastructure (www.bbmri.fi). The FinnGen project is funded by two grants from Business Finland (HUS 4685/31/2016 and UH 4386/31/2016) and by twelve industry partners (AbbVie Inc, AstraZeneca UK Ltd, Biogen MA Inc, Celgene Corporation, Celgene International II Sàrl, Genentech Inc, Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp, Pfizer Inc., GlaxoSmithKline, Sanofi, Maze Therapeutics Inc., Janssen Biotech Inc, Novartis AG).

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021. 658137/full#supplementary-material

### REFERENCES

- Persani L, Cangiano B, Bonomi M. The Diagnosis and Management of Central Hypothyroidism in 2018. *Endocr Connect* (2019) 8:R44–54. doi: 10.1530/EC-18-0515
- Naafs JC, Verkerk PH, Fliers E, van Trotsenburg ASP, Zwaveling-Soonawala N. Clinical and Genetic Characteristics of Dutch Children With Central Congenital Hypothyroidism, Early Detected by Neonatal Screening. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183:627–36. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0833
- Hanna CE, Krainz PL, Skeels MR, Miyahira RS, Sesser DE, LaFranchi SH. Detection of Congenital Hypopituitary Hypothyroidism: Ten-Year Experience in the Northwest Regional Screening Program. J Pediatr (1986) 109:959–64. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(86)80276-1
- Ford G, Lafranchi SH. Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism: A Worldwide View of Strategies. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 28:175–87. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2013.05.008
- Beck-Peccoz P, Rodari G, Giavoli C, Lania A. Central Hypothyroidism a Neglected Thyroid Disorder. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2017) 13:588–98. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2017.47
- Heinen CA, De Vries EM, Alders M, Bikker H, Zwaveling-Soonawala N, Van Den Akker ELT, et al. Mutations in IRS4 are Associated With Central Hypothyroidism. J Med Genet (2018) 55:693–700. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2017-105113
- Collu R, Tang J, Castagné J, Lagacé G, Masson N, Huot C, et al. A Novel Mechanism for Isolated Central Hypothyroidism: Inactivating Mutations in the Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Receptor Gene. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82:1561–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.82.5.1561
- 8. Hayashizaki Y, Hiraoka Y, Endo Y, Matsubara K. Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone (TSH) Deficiency Caused by a Single Base Substitution in the CAGYC Region of the  $\beta$ -Subunit. *EMBO J* (1989) 8:2291–6. doi: 10.1002/ j.1460-2075.1989.tb08355.x
- Sun Y, Bak B, Schoenmakers N, Van Trotsenburg ASP, Oostdijk W, Voshol P, et al. Loss-of-Function Mutations in IGSF1 Cause an X-Linked Syndrome of Central Hypothyroidism and Testicular Enlargement. *Nat Genet* (2012) 44:1375–81. doi: 10.1038/ng.2453
- Heinen CA, Losekoot M, Sun Y, Watson PJ, Fairall L, Joustra SD, et al. Mutations in TBL1X are Associated With Central Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101:4564–73. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-2531
- Thorvaldsdóttir H, Robinson JT, Mesirov JP. Integrative Genomics Viewer (IGV): High-Performance Genomics Data Visualization and Exploration. *Brief Bioinform* (2013) 14:178–92. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbs017
- Sievers F, Wilm A, Dineen D, Gibson TJ, Karplus K, Li W, et al. Fast, Scalable Generation of High-Quality Protein Multiple Sequence Alignments Using Clustal Omega. *Mol Syst Biol* (2011) 7(539):1–6. doi: 10.1038/msb.2011.75
- Kempers MJE, Van Der Sluijs Veer L, Nijhuis-van Der Sanden MWG, Kooistra L, Wiedijk BM, Faber I, et al. Intellectual and Motor Development of Young Adults With Congenital Hypothyroidism Diagnosed by Neonatal Screening. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91:418–24. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-1209
- Cherella CE, Wassner AJ. Update on Congenital Hypothyroidism. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes (2020) 27:63–9. doi: 10.1097/MED.000000000000520

- Lanting CI, Van Tijn DA, Loeber JG, Vulsma T, De Vijlder JJM, Verkerk PH. Clinical Effectiveness and Cost-Effectiveness of the Use of the Thyroxine/ Thyroxine-Binding Globulin Ratio to Detect Congenital Hypothyroidism of Thyroidal and Central Origin in a Neonatal Screening Program. *Pediatrics* (2005) 116:168–73. doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-2162
- Price A, Weetman AP. Screening for Central Hypothyroidism is Unjustified. Br Med J (2001) 322:798. doi: 10.1136/bmj.322.7289.798
- Virtanen M, Perheentupa J, Mäenpää J, Pitänen L, Pikkarainen J. Finnish National Screening for Hypothyroidism. *Eur J Pediatr* (1984) 143:2–5. doi: 10.1007/bf00442737
- Mehta A, Hindmarsh PC, Stanhope RG, Brain CE, Preece MA, Dattani MT. Is the Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Test Necessary in the Diagnosis of Central Hypothyroidism in Children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2003) 88:5696–703. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030943
- Van Tijn DA, De Vijlder JJM, Vulsma T. Role of the Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Stimulation Test in Diagnosis of Congenital Central Hypothyroidism in Infants. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93:410–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-2656
- Aizawa T, Koizumi Y, Yamada T, Tawata M, Nagata H, Izumiyama T, et al. Difference in Pituitary-Thyroid Feedback Regulation in Hypothyroid Patients, Depending on the Severity of Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1978) 47:560–5. doi: 10.1210/jcem-47-3-560
- Leslie RDG, Isaacs AJ, Gomez J, Raggatt PR, Bayliss R. Hypothalamo-Pituitary-Thyroid Function in Anorexia Nervosa: Influence of Weight Gain. *Br Med J* (1978) 2:526–8. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.6136.526
- Rijks J, Penders B, Dorenbos E, Straetemans S, Gerver WJ, Vreugdenhil A. Pituitary Response to Thyrotropin Releasing Hormone in Children With Overweight and Obesity. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:1–6. doi: 10.1038/srep31032
- Wauman J, De Smet AS, Dominiek Catteeuw DB, Tavernier J. Insulin Receptor Substrate 4 Couples the Leptin Receptor to Multiple Signaling Pathways. *Mol Endocrinol* (2008) 22:965–77. doi: 10.1210/me.2007-0414
- 24. Fantin VR, Wang Q, Lienhard GE, Keller SR. Mice Lacking Insulin Receptor Substrate 4 Exhibit Mild Defects in Growth, Reproduction, and Glucose Homeostasis. Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab (2000) 278:127–33. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.2000.278.1.e127
- Guo F, Bakal K, Minokoshi Y, Hollenberg AN. Leptin Signaling Targets the Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Gene Promoter in Vivo. *Endocrinology* (2004) 145:2221–7. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-1312

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Patyra, Makkonen, Haanpää, Karppinen, Viikari, Toppari, Reeve and Kero. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Thyroid Function in Preterm/Low Birth Weight Infants: Impact on Diagnosis and Management of Thyroid Dysfunction

### Stephen H. LaFranchi\*

Department of Pediatrics, Doernbecher Children's Hospital, Oregon Health & Sciences University, Portland, OR, United States

Maternal thyroid hormone crosses the placenta to the fetus beginning in the first trimester, likely playing an important role in fetal development. The fetal thyroid gland begins to produce thyroid hormone in the second trimester, with fetal serum T4 levels gradually rising to term. Full maturation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis does not occur until term gestation or the early neonatal period. Postnatal thyroid function in preterm babies is qualitatively similar to term infants, but the TSH surge is reduced, with a corresponding decrease in the rise in T4 and T3 levels. Serum T4 levels are reduced in proportion to the degree of prematurity, representing both loss of the maternal contribution and immaturity of the HPT axis. Other factors, such as neonatal drugs, e.g., dopamine, and non-thyroidal illness syndrome (NTIS) related to co-morbidities contribute to the "hypothyroxinemia of prematurity". lodine, both deficiency and excess, may impact thyroid function in infants born preterm. Overall, the incidence of permanent congenital hypothyroidism in preterm infants appears to be similar to term infants. However, in newborn screening (NBS) that employ a total T4-reflex TSH test approach, a higher proportion of preterm babies will have a T4 below the cutoff, associated with a non-elevated TSH level. In NBS programs with a primary TSH test combined with serial testing, there is a relatively high incidence of "delayed TSH elevation" in preterm neonates. On follow-up, the majority of these cases have transient hypothyroidism. Preterm/LBW infants have many clinical manifestations that might be ascribed to hypothyroidism. The question then arises whether the hypothyroxinemia of prematurity, with thyroid function tests compatible with either non-thyroidal illness syndrome or central hypothyroidism, is a physiologic or pathologic process. In particular, does hypothyroxinemia contribute to the neurodevelopmental impairment common to preterm infants? Results from multiple studies are mixed, with some randomized controlled trials in the most preterm infants born <28 weeks gestation appearing to show benefit. This review will summarize fetal and neonatal thyroid physiology, thyroid disorders specific to preterm/LBW infants and their impact on NBS for congenital hypothyroidism, examine treatment studies, and finish with comments on unresolved questions and areas of controversy.

**OPEN ACCESS** 

### Edited by:

Douglas Forrest, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

### Reviewed by:

David B. Allen, University of Wisconsin-Madison, United States Samantha Lain, The University of Sydney, Australia

> \*Correspondence: Stephen H. LaFranchi lafrancs@ohsu.edu

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 09 February 2021 Accepted: 24 March 2021 Published: 15 June 2021

### Citation:

LaFranchi SH (2021) Thyroid Function in Preterm/Low Birth Weight Infants: Impact on Diagnosis and Management of Thyroid Dysfunction. Front. Endocrinol. 12:666207. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.666207

Keywords: thyroid function, preterm, low birth weight, newborn screening, congenital hypothyroidism, iodine

# INTRODUCTION

Thyroid hormone plays a significant role in development and function of every organ system in the body. The presence of triiodothyronine (T3) occupied nuclear receptors in the fetal brain demonstrated by 10 weeks of gestation provides evidence that thyroid hormone has a critical role in brain development (1). Infants born preterm have lower serum thyroid hormone levels as compared to term infants, a reflection of reduced thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) surge following birth, immature postnatal pituitary-thyroid function, and loss of the maternal contribution. Preterm/low birth weight (LBW) infants are at increased risk for co-morbidities, leading to changes in serum thyroid hormone levels typical of non-thyroidal illness syndrome (NTIS), but which may be difficult to separate from central hypothyroidism. To properly interpret thyroid function tests, newborn screening programs need to be cognizant of these perturbations in T4 and TSH levels in preterm/LBW infants. Clinicians who are consulted for evaluation of potential thyroid dysfunction need to be aware of these dynamic changes to make appropriate management decisions. This review will describe fetal and neonatal thyroid physiology, thyroid dysfunction specific to preterm/LBW infants and their impact on newborn screening (NBS) for congenital hypothyroidism, examine treatment studies, and finish with comments on unresolved questions and areas of controversy.

## MATERNAL-FETAL THYROID RELATIONSHIPS

Evidence supports the notion that thyroid hormone present in the fetus in the first trimester is the result of transplacental transfer of maternal hormone (2). This is primarily T4; fetal T3 levels are low as a result of increased placental deiodinase type 3 activity which converts T4 to reverse T3 (RT3). At term, approximately one-third to one-half of cord blood T4 levels are of maternal origin (3). Increased maternal iodine intake during pregnancy is required to keep both mother and fetus iodine sufficient. The recommended dietary allowance (RDA) increases from 150 mcg daily to 250-300 mcg daily with pregnancy (4). As a subgroup, women of reproductive age in the U.S. are borderline iodine deficient (5). Insufficient maternal iodine intake may be a significant factor contributing to lower serum thyroid hormone levels in preterm infants. Maternal hypothyroidism (and maternal iodine deficiency) also are risk factors for preterm birth (6). In addition, excess iodine exposure during pregnancy may also be associated with neonatal hypothyroidism (the Wolff-Chaikoff effect, resulting in temporary decreased production of thyroid hormone). This is a particular problem for preterm/LBW infants, as they are slow

to "escape" from this down regulation and may not recover to normal thyroid hormone production for several weeks. Other drug treatment during pregnancy may also affect neonatal thyroid hormone levels. Treatment with steroids or dopaminergic drugs may decrease TSH secretion, resulting in lower neonatal T4 levels.

# MATURATION OF FETAL THYROID FUNCTION

The thyroid gland starts development at the foramen cecum, migrating to its normal location over the thyroid cartilage. The bilobed thyroid shape is evident by 7 weeks gestation, and thyroid follicles containing colloid are seen histologically by 10 weeks. Thyroglobulin synthesis is detected by 4 weeks, iodine trapping by 8 to 10 weeks, and T4 production by 12 weeks. Significant production of thyroid hormone does not begin until the second trimester (7). Fetal serum T4 concentrations rise from approximately 2 ug/dl (26 nmol/L) at 12 weeks to 10 ug/dL (128 nmol/L) at term (8, 9). Parallel changes are seen in fetal serum free T4 concentrations, rising from approximately 0.1 ng/dL (1.3 pmol/L) at 12 weeks to 2 ng/dL (25.7 pmol/L) at term. As noted above, fetal serum T3 concentrations are low as compared to infant levels, rising from approximately 6 ng/dL (0.09 nmol/L) at 12 weeks to 45 ng/dL (0.68 nmol/L) at term. Thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH) is present in hypothalamic neurons by 6-8 weeks gestation, and TSH secretion can be detected by 12 weeks. Fetal serum TSH concentrations rise from approximately 4 mIU/L at 12 weeks gestation to 8 mIU/L at term (8, 9). Maturation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis occurs in the second half of gestation, but normal feedback relationships are not mature until term gestation.

## POSTNATAL THYROID FUNCTION IN PRETERM/LOW BIRTH WEIGHT INFANTS

The dramatic rise in serum TSH 30 to 60 minutes following delivery is reduced in preterm infants as compared to term infants, generally in proportion to their degree of prematurity (10). The peak approximates 30 to 50 mIU/L in preterm infants vs. 60 to 80 mIU/mL in term infants (Figure 1). Cord blood T4 levels are lower in infants born preterm, again generally in proportion to the degree of prematurity (Table 1). In response to the dramatic TSH rise, serum T4 and T3 levels are elevated at 24 hours following birth in term infants, gradually falling back to "normal" infant ranges around 5 to 7 days of age. In contrast, in the most preterm infants born at 23 to 27 weeks gestation, serum total T4 levels actually decrease in the first week of life, are "level" in infants born at 28 to 30 weeks gestation, while only those babies born >30 weeks gestation show a rise in total T4 in the first week (Figure 2). The differences in total T4 concentrations in term vs. preterm babies is explained by a combination of immature thyroid hormone production from the thyroid gland, decreased binding proteins (primarily thyroxine binding globulin [TBG]) by the liver,

Abbreviations: LBW, low birth weight; VLBW, very low birth weight; L-T4, levothyroxine; NBS, newborn screening; NTIS, non-thyroidal illness syndrome; RDA, recommended daily allowance; RT3, reverse T3; TBG, thyroxine binding globulin; T3, triiodothyronine; T4, thyroxine; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone.



and the effects of NTIS. Postnatal serum free T4 levels are also lower in the first weeks of life, though proportionally not as low as total T4 levels (**Table 1**, **Figure 3**). Serum total T3 levels follow a pattern similar to total T4, though the levels are proportionally even lower in the most preterm babies, likely a reflection of the impact of NTIS (sometimes referred to as the "low T3 syndrome") (**Table 1**). Administration of certain drugs used to manage co-morbidities in preterm infants may affect thyroid hormone levels; glucocorticoids and dopaminergic agents may inhibit TSH secretion, while excess iodine may inhibit thyroid hormone production.

## UNIQUE PATTERNS OF THYROID DYSFUNCTION IN PRETERM/LOW BIRTH WEIGHT INFANTS

### Hypothyroxinemia of Prematurity

Serum total T4, and to a lesser extent free T4 concentrations are decreased in proportion to the degree of prematurity, generally without elevation of serum TSH levels, findings described as "hypothyroxinemia of prematurity". In otherwise healthy preterm infants, serum T4 levels gradually rise, such that by 37

TABLE 1 | Concentrations of free T4, T4, T3, and TSH in preterm and term infants in cord blood at birth, and at 7, 14, and 28 days of age (mean +/- 1 SD).

Gestation (weeks)	Age of Infant	Free T4 (ng/dL)	T4 (μg/dL)	T3 (ng/dL)	TSH (mU/L)
23-27 weeks	Cord	1.28 ± 0.4	5.4 ± 2.0	20 ± 15	6.8 ± 2.9
	7d	$1.47 \pm 0.6$	$4.0 \pm 1.8$	33 ± 20	$3.5 \pm 2.6$
	14d	$1.45 \pm 0.5$	$4.7 \pm 2.6$	41 ± 25	$3.9 \pm 2.7$
	28d	$1.50 \pm 0.4$	$6.1 \pm 2.3$	63 ± 27	$3.8 \pm 4.7$
28-30 weeks	Cord	$1.45 \pm 0.4$	$6.3 \pm 2.0$	29 ± 21	$7.0 \pm 3.7$
	7d	$1.82 \pm 0.7$	$6.3 \pm 2.1$	56 ± 24	$3.6 \pm 2.5$
	14d	$1.65 \pm 0.4$	$6.6 \pm 2.3$	72 ± 28	4.9 ± 11.2
	28d	$1.71 \pm 0.4$	$7.5 \pm 2.3$	87 ± 31	$3.6 \pm 2.5$
31-34 weeks	Cord	$1.49 \pm 0.3$	$7.6 \pm 2.3$	$35 \pm 23$	$7.9 \pm 5.2$
	7d	$2.14 \pm 0.6$	$9.4 \pm 3.4$	92 ± 36	$3.6 \pm 4.8$
	14d	$1.98 \pm 0.4$	$9.1 \pm 3.6$	$110 \pm 41$	$3.8 \pm 9.3$
	28d	$1.88 \pm 0.5$	$8.9 \pm 3.0$	$120 \pm 40$	$3.5 \pm 3.4$
≥37 weeks	Cord	1.41 ± 0.3	$9.2 \pm 1.9$	$60 \pm 35$	$6.7 \pm 4.8$
	7d	$2.70 \pm 0.6$	12.7 ± 2.9	$148 \pm 50$	2.6 ± 1.8
	14d	$2.03 \pm 0.3$	$10.7 \pm 1.4$	167 ± 31	$2.5 \pm 2.0$
	28d	$1.65 \pm 0.3$	9.7 ± 2.2	176 ± 32	1.8 ± 0.9

T4, thyroxine; T3, triiodothyronine; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone.

Adapted with permission from: Williams FL, Simpson J, Delahunty C, et al. Developmental trends in cord and postpartum serum thyroid hormones in preterm infants. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89:5314-20 (9).



weeks gestation they overlap levels seen in term infants (9). In preterm infants born <28 weeks gestation, serum TSH may rise into the 6 to 15 mIU/L range around 2 to 3 weeks of age (11) (**Figure 4**), a transient elevation speculated to play a role in stimulating the immature thyroid gland to normal T4 production, so compensating for the loss of maternal T4 contribution. Common co-morbidities associated with preterm birth, such as respiratory distress syndrome, sepsis, intraventricular hemorrhage, etc. are associated with thyroid function tests typical of NTIS: normal or low total T4, low total T3, elevated reverse T3, and normal to low serum TSH (12). Serum free T4 concentrations measured by the more common analog assay method may be low in this setting, while free T4 measured by the more accurate equilibrium dialysis method tends to be in the normal range (13).

### **Delayed TSH Elevation**

Some preterm/LBW infants manifest serum TSH concentrations greater than the 15 mIU/L "compensatory" rise described above. The New England NBS program reported an incidence of delayed TSH elevation >20 mUI/mL on the dried blood spot of 1:294 VLBW infants (1000-1500 g) and 1:1878 LBW infants (1501-2500 g), as compared to 1:77,280 in term babies (>2500 g) (14). The delayed TSH elevation occurred at a peak age of 58 days of life (range 11 to 176 days). In even lower birth weight infants, the Wisconsin NBS program reported an incidence of





delayed TSH elevation in 1:13 in babies <500 g, 1:28.5 in babies 500 – 1000 g, 1:330 babies 1000-1500 g, and 1:737 babies 1500-2500 g (15). In infants with higher TSH elevation >100 mIU/L, the TSH elevation occurred earlier, ~3 weeks, while those with milder TSH elevation >20 mIU/L occurred later, ~8 weeks of age. Follow-up serum testing has shown that most cases of delayed TSH elevation are transient, particularly if the TSH elevation is mild. In a report from the Rhode Island NBS program, of 19 preterm babies with delayed TSH elevation, three with TSH >50 mIU/L were treated with 1-thyroxine, while the other 16 infants monitored without treatment recovered to normal thyroid function between 8 and 58 days of life (16).

### Role of Iodine: Too Little, Too Much

Although universal salt iodization has greatly improved the status of iodine sufficiency (17), worldwide iodine deficiency remains one of the most common preventable causes of intellectual disability (18). Preterm infants are particularly vulnerable to iodine deficiency, a result of a combination of loss of the maternal contribution, relatively low levels of iodine in preterm formulas, and near absence of iodine in most parenteral nutritional preparations (19). A study of iodine balance in 27 to 30 week gestational age infants showed that they were in negative iodine balance for the first two weeks of life, and they did not reach the RDA of 30 mcg/kg/day until 120 days of age (20). Lower iodine intake was correlated with lower serum free T4 and T3 and higher TSH levels. If present, iodine deficiency would be a significant factor contributing to slow recovery from hypothyroxinemia of prematurity.

Exposure to excess iodine has also been demonstrated to cause thyroid dysfunction in preterm infants. Excess iodine results in down regulation of thyroid hormone production (the Wolff-Chaikoff effect), thought to be a mechanism to protect against development of hyperthyroidism. Normal thyroid function is maintained by "escape" from this down regulation; however, preterm infants are slow to escape and so may become hypothyroid. Common sources of iodine exposure include iodinated contrast agents and topical iodine antiseptics. Infants with congenital heart disease (CHD) are frequently exposed to such sources; in a study of 183 infants with CHD, one-quarter manifested elevation of serum TSH levels, ranging from 9 to >100 mIU/mL (21). About half were treated with thyroid hormone, while others recovered to euthyroidism after discontinuation of excess iodine exposure. This study involved primarily term infants; likely the effect of excess iodine would apply to preterm/LBW infants.

### Impact of Preterm Birth/Low Birth Weight on Newborn Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism

Several NBS programs from Europe and North America report that the incidence of congenital hypothyroidism is higher in preterm infants. As compared to an incidence of approximately 1:1,500 to 1:2,000 in term infants (22, 23), the incidence in preterm infants approximates 1:900 (24). The incidence is even higher in NBS programs that undertake repeat screening in preterm babies, from 1:300 in LBW to 1:50 in VLBW babies (14, 16).

In NBS programs that employ a primary T4-reflex TSH test strategy, preterm/LBW infants make up a higher percentage of cases that fall below the T4 cutoff (typically the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile), while the screening TSH is not elevated. These NBS programs must then decide whether to follow-up cases with low T4-non-elevated TSH levels. In some programs, lack of an abnormal TSH

elevation is the end of screening. However, most NBS programs now collect a 2nd dried blood specimen at 2 to 4 weeks of life in infants born <32 weeks gestation or <1500 g birth weight (25). In the very preterm babies <28 weeks gestation, several NBS programs collect a 3<sup>rd</sup> dried blood specimen at 6 to 8 weeks of life, which is typically around 37 weeks or term gestation. In the majority of preterm/LBW babies, the screening T4 will reach the range seen in term infants by the 2<sup>nd</sup> or 3<sup>rd</sup> specimen (5). Collection of the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> specimens allows detection of preterm babies with delayed TSH elevation, described above.

A few preterm infants will not normalize total T4 by term gestation; such results could be explained by low binding protein levels or NTIS, although central hypothyroidism cannot be ruled out. In these cases, NBS programs recommend serum thyroid function tests, including TSH, total and free T4. In the presence of low binding proteins or NTIS, serum free T4 is most accurately measured by equilibrium dialysis. A normal free T4 and TSH rule out hypothyroidism, while a low free T4 and low or normal range TSH is compatible with central hypothyroidism, leading to evaluation for other pituitary hormone deficiencies. Such cases in preterm infants are rare, likely with an incidence matching term infants:!:25,000 (26).

In NBS programs that employ a primary TSH test approach, otherwise healthy preterm babies will fall below the dried blood TSH cutoff, typically <25 mIU/L (serum units). As described for T4-reflex TSH test programs, most primary TSH test programs collect a 2nd dried blood specimen at 2 to 4 weeks of life in infants born <32 weeks gestation or <1500 g birth weight, and many collect a  $3^{rd}$  dried blood specimen at 6 to 8 weeks of life in preterm babies born <28 weeks gestation. Collection of the  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd}$  specimens allows detection of preterm babies with delayed TSH elevation, whereas stopping screening with a normal TSH on the  $1^{st}$  test risks missing infants with delayed TSH elevation. Re-evaluation after age 2 to 3 years of age shows that many have transient hypothyroidism (27–29).

### Unique patterns of Thyroid Dysfunction in Preterm/Low Birth Weight Infants: Physiologic or Pathologic?

Preterm/LBW infants manifest clinical features that might be ascribed to thyroid dysfunction, such as temperature instability, apnea with immature pulmonary function and low surfactant levels, bradycardia, slow to feed with sluggish gut motility, edema, hypotonia, and slow growth and development. Several observational studies demonstrate a correlation between low serum T4 levels and these clinical manifestations (30, 31). As these babies typically have low serum T4-non-elevated TSH levels, clinicians face the dilemma as to whether these features are caused by central hypothyroidism and so might improve with thyroid hormone treatment. However, randomized, placebocontrolled trials using either T4 or a combination of T4 and T3 generally do not show an effect on objective measures, such as O2 requirements, incidence of respiratory distress syndrome, requirement for inotropic agents, progression from parenteral to oral feedings, weight gain, length, or head circumference measurements, or on mortality (32–34). A Cochrane Database Review in 2007 also found no benefit of thyroid hormone treatment in this situation (35).

A more compelling question asks whether deficits in neurodevelopment in preterm infants are a consequence of the hypothyroxinemia. Several studies report an increased odds ratio for endpoints such as disabling cerebral palsy (36), reduced attention span (37), vision disturbances (38), and overall lower IQ (39). However, owing to "confounding variables" common to preterm infants, it is difficult to establish a causal relationship with the hypothyroxinemia alone. In a study of preterm infants <1500 g, a comparison of outcome in infants with and without hypothyroxinemia did not find any significant differences in neurodevelopmental, vision or hearing impairment at 5 years of age (40).

What about treatment trials? A randomized, placebocontrolled trial of T4 treatment in 200 infants less than 30 weeks gestational age with multiple assessments of neurodevelopment over time was carried out by the Dutch. Half were treated with 1-T4 8 mcg/kg/d, half with placebo for the first 6 weeks of life. In the first assessment at 24 months of age, there were no differences in the Bayley Infant Scales of Mental and Motor Development (41). However, subgroup analysis showed that the Bayley Mental Developmental Index (MDI) score was 18 points higher in the T4-treated group  $\leq 27$ weeks gestation, (p<.05), but 10 points lower in the T4-treated group  $\geq 27$  weeks gestation (42) (Table 2). Re-evaluation at school age (5.7 years) showed that the MDI score had narrowed to 10 points, now not statistically significant (43). Survey of study families at 10 years of age showed that in subjects  $\leq$ 27 weeks gestation treated with T4, there was a trend toward a lower percentage needing special education, whereas in subjects at 29 weeks gestation, the opposite was true, though only the latter reached statistical significance (Table 2). In subjects  $\leq 28$ weeks gestation treated with T4, again there was a trend toward better motor outcome as compared to control subjects, but this difference did not reach statistical significance (44). To try and resolve the question of potential benefit in infants born <28 weeks, a more recent trial of thyroid supplementation was undertaken in Amsterdam, Madrid and New York (45). This trial included six treatment arms to investigate different modalities of thyroid hormone administration, combination T4 and T3 treatment, one iodine treatment arm, and one placebo arm. Testing at 36 months of age did not find any differences in neurodevelopmental index scores among the eight groups (Table 2). Finally, in a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled trial in preterm babies <28 weeks gestation from the United Kingdom, evaluation at 42 months by the Bayley III Mental and Psychomotor Developmental Indices showed statistically better motor, language, and cognitive domains in the group treated with thyroid hormone (46). In summary, the randomized, placebo-controlled trials show mixed results, with potentially some benefit of T4 treatment in infants <28 weeks but potential harm in infants >28 weeks gestation.

Study (Ref)	Age at Evaluation	Total Group T4 Rx v Placebo	25/26 weeks T4 Rx v Placebo	27 weeks T4 Rx v Placebo	28 weeks T4 Rx v Placebo	29 weeks T4 Rx v Placebo	>27 weeks T4 Rx v Placebo
van Wassenaer	24 mo	92 v 95	93 v 75	90 v 100	97 v 102	92 v 102	92 v 102
(41, 42)	Bayley Mental	P = 0.62	P= 0.01	P = 0.37	P = 0.49	P = 0.36	P = 0.08
	Bayley	92 v 88	80 v 70	81 v 84	98 v 90	86 v 91	90 v 90
	Psychomotor	P = 0.39	P = 0.11	P = 0.35	P = 0.29	P = 0.90	P = 0.90
Briet et al. (43)	5.7 years	93.6 ± 16.2 v 95.7 ± 20.4	94.2v 84.7	90 v 92	98 v 96	90.6 v 105.2	
. ,		P = NS	P = 0.11	P = 0.77	P = 0.58	P = 0.01	
van Wassenaer	10.5 years	School outcome, motor	Percent in Special Ed	Motor Im-pairment T4		Percent in Special	
[Questionaire		function, behavior:	T4 Rx =10%	Rx=12%		Ed	
only] (44)		T4 Rx v placebo	placebo=28%	placebo=28%		T4 Rx=30%	
		P = NS	P=0.07	P = 0.23		placebo=5%	
						P = 0.05	
van Wassenaer	36 months	Bayley III		Bayley III		Bayley III	
(45)		Cognitive		Gross Motor		Fine Motor	
. ,		T4 Rx v placebo		T4 Rx v placebo		T4 Rx v placebo	
		99.2 11.3 v 105.5 ± 12.3		9.3 ± 2.8 v 11.0 ± 2.8		11.1 ± 2.2 v 11.8 ±	2.4
		P= NS		P=NS		P=NS	
Ng et al. (46)	42 months	Bayley III		Bayley III		Bayley III	
J ( )		Cognitive		Motor		Language	
		T4 Rx v placebo		T4 Rx v placebo		T4 Rx v placebo	
		91 ± 10 v 85 ± 13		84 ± 12 v 77 ± 13		92 ± 13 v 83 ± 20	
		P = .045		P = .034		P = .041	

TABLE 2 | Summary of studies investigating I-T4 treatment v placebo on neurocognitive outcome in preterm infants.

T4 Rx, I-thyroxine treated group.

NS, non-significant.

## CONCLUSION: UNRESOLVED QUESTIONS AND AREAS OF CONTROVERSY

Much has been learned over the last few decades about fetal and neonatal thyroid physiology; thyroid function is different in babies born preterm/LBW as compared to term infants. As such, there remain unresolved questions and areas of controversy regarding management of thyroid issues in preterm infants. The following section highlights a few of these areas.

### At What Gestational Age Can the Postnatal HPT Axis Compensate for Loss of Maternal T4 Quickly Enough to Avert Untoward Effects of Thyroid Hormone Deficiency?

A reasonable goal for serum T4 or free T4 levels after birth in preterm babies might be to either match *in utero* concentrations present at a similar gestational age or levels in term infants by 1-2 weeks after birth. Evidence suggests that infants born <28 weeks gestation have serum T4 (and to a lesser extent free T4) concentrations that take up to 4 to 6 weeks to overlap the range seen in term infants. The transient rise in serum T5H to the 6-15 mU/L range between 2 and 4 weeks of age in babies born <28 weeks gestation (but not in babies  $\geq$ 28 weeks gestation) supports the notion that the thyroid gland in babies born <28 weeks gestation requires increased TSH stimulation to normalize thyroid hormone production. Slow recovery of normal thyroid physiology might impact any organ system, e.g., maturation of lung function, but most importantly it could impact neurodevelopment.

# Should Iodine Supplementation Be Routine in Preterm Infants?

Most preterm infant formulas do not contain enough iodine to allow these babies to meet the RDA of 30 mcg I/kg/d, and many parenteral nutritional preparations lack iodine completely. A recent Cochrane database review did not show benefit of iodine supplementation in preterm infants on morbidity, mortality, or neurodevelopmental outcome (47). Despite this report, given the known effect of iodine to prevent "endemic cretinism", routine supplementation of preterm formulas and parenteral nutritional preparations would seem important to achieve T4 production matching term infants. Sufficient iodine intake is equally important for nursing mothers. At the same time, care should be taken to avoid exposure to excess iodine.

### Do Infants With "Delayed TSH Elevation" Benefit From Detection and Treatment?

Studies show that the majority of preterm babies with delayed TSH elevation will recover to normal TSH levels without treatment. However, the average age at peak TSH elevation is approximately 8 weeks, with a range from 11 to 176 days of life (14). The TSH elevation likely reflects inadequate thyroid hormone production. Although babies recover to normal thyroid function, are there consequences from low T4 levels, present over several weeks? Few studies have been carried out to address this issue. The study from Rhode Island showed

developmental scores were similar to control infants, although the incidence of infants with head circumference  $<10^{\text{th}}$  percentile was higher in the delayed TSH elevation group (16). It would seem prudent to treat infants with elevated serum TSH and low free T4 levels until recovery to normal thyroid function; since this is difficult to judge without stopping l-thyroxine, most babies are treated until age 2-3 years and then re-evaluated.

### Does T4 Treatment Improve Morbidity/ Mortality and Neurodevelopmental Outcome in Preterm Infants <28 Weeks Gestation?

While it is difficult to separate out the effects of co-morbidities from hypothyroxinemia on neurodevelopmental outcome, there are now two randomized, placebo controlled trials in preterm infants <28 weeks gestation that report higher scores in the T4treated group (42, 46). As noted above, there may be some "physiological" support for this finding, as thyroid function in

### REFERENCES

- Bernal J, Pekonen F. Ontogenesis of the Nuclear 3,5,3'-Triiodothyronine Receptor in the Human Fetal Brain. *Endocrinology* (1984) 114:677–9. doi: 10.1210/endo-114-2-677
- Obregon MJ, Calvo RM, Del Rey FE, de Escobar GM. Ontogenesis of Thyroid Function and Interactions With Maternal Function. *Endocr Dev* (2007) 10:86. doi: 10.1159/000106821
- Vulsma T, Gons MH, de Vijlder JJ. Maternal-Fetal Transfer of Thyroxine in Congenital Hypothyroidism Due to A Total Organification Defect or Thyroid Agenesis. N Engl J Med (1989) 321:13. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198907063210103
- Alexander EK, Pearce EN, Brent GA, Brown RS, Chen H, Dosiou C, et al. 2017 Guidelines of the American Thyroid Association for the Diagnosis and Management of Thyroid Disease During Pregnancy and the Postpartum. *Thyroid* (2017) 27:315. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0457
- Herrick KA, Perrine CG, Aoki Y, Caldwell KL. Iodine Status and Consumption of Key Iodine Sources in the U.S. Population With Special Attention to Reproductive Age Women. *Nutrients* (2018) 10:874. doi: 10.3390/nu10070874
- Sheehan PM, Nankervis A, Araujo Júnior E, Da Silva Costa F. Maternal Thyroid Disease and Preterm Birth: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100:4325–31. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-3074
- Thorpe-Beeston JG, Nicolaides KH, McGregor AM. Fetal Thyroid Function. Thyroid (1992) 2:207. doi: 10.1089/thy.1992.2.207
- Thorpe-Beeston JG, Nicolaides KH, Felton CV, Butler J, McGregor AM. Maturation of the Secretion of Thyroid Hormone and Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone in the Fetus. N Engl J Med (1991) 324:532. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM199102213240805
- Williams FL, Simpson J, Delahunty C, Ogston SA, Bongers-Schokking JJ, Murphy N, et al. Developmental Trends in Cord and Postpartum Serum Thyroid Hormones in Preterm Infants. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2004) 89:5314. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0869
- Murphy N, Hume R, van Toor H, Matthews TG, Ogston SA, Wu S-Y, et al. The Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Thyroid Axis in Preterm Infants; Changes in the First 24 Hours of Postnatal Life. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2004) 89:2824. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030317
- Van Wassenaer AG, Kok JH, Dekker FW, de Vijlder JJ. Thyroid Function in Very Preterm Infants: Influences of Gestational Age and Disease. *Pediatr Res* (1997) 42:604–9. doi: 10.1203/00006450-199711000-00009
- Simpson J, Williams FL, Delahunty C, van Toor H, Wu S-Y, Ogston SA, et al. Serum Thyroid Hormones in Preterm Infants and Relationships to Indices of

infants born <28 weeks gestation may be too immature to quickly replace the lost maternal thyroid hormone contribution. That said, the follow-up studies by the Dutch showed that the higher neurodevelopmental scores in the treated group tended to approach the placebo group over time (44). While the more recent trial from Amsterdam, Madrid, and New York did not show benefit of thyroid hormone treatment, the investigators cautioned that "power was insufficient to detect any but very large differences". With these mixed results, as the saying goes, more randomized controlled trials are needed before such treatment becomes standard of care.

### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SL undertook focused literature review and writing of the manuscript.

Severity of Intercurrent Illness. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90:1271. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-2091

- Deming DD, Rabin CW, Hopper AO, Peverini RL, Vyhmeister NR, Nelson JC. Direct Equilibrium Dialysis Compared With Two Non-Dialysis Free T4 Methods in Premature Infants. J Pediatr (2007) 151:404. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpeds.2007.03.046
- Mandel SJ, Hermos RJ, Larson CA, Prigozhin AB, Rojas DA, Mitchell ML. Atypical Hypothyroidism and the Very Low Birthweight Infant. *Thyroid* (2000) 10:693. doi: 10.1089/10507250050137770
- Kaluarachchi DC, Allen DB, Eickhoff JC, Dawes JT, Baker MW. Increased Congenital Hypothyroidism Detection in Preterm Infants With Serial Newborn Screening. J Pediatr (2019) 207:220. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.11.044
- Woo HC, Lizarda A, Tucker R, Mitchell ML, Vohr B, Oh W, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism With a Delayed Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone Elevation in Very Premature Infants: Incidence and Growth and Developmental Outcomes. J Pediatr (2011) 158:538. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.10.018
- Lazarus JH. Role of the Iodine Global Network in Elimination of Iodine Deficiency. *Recent Pat Endor Metab Immune Drug Discovery* (2017) 10:119– 22. doi: 10.2174/1872214811666170330152202
- Cao XY, Jiang XM, Dou ZH, Rakeman MA, Zhang ML, O'Donnell K, et al. Timing of Vulnerability of the Brain to Iodine Deficiency in Endemic Cretinism. N Engl J Med (1994) 331(26):1739-44. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM199412293312603
- Belfort MB, Pearce EN, Braverman LE, He X, Brown RS. Low Iodine Content in the Diets of Hospitalized Preterm Infants. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2012) 97:E632–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-3369
- Ares S, Escobar-Morreale HF, Quero J, Durán S, Presas MJ, Herruzo R, et al. Neonatal Hypothyroxinemia: Effects of Iodine Intake and Premature Birth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82:1704–12. doi: 10.1210/jcem.82.6.4019
- Thaker VV, Galler MF, Marshall AC, Almodovar MC, Hsu H-W, Addis CJ, et al. Hypothyroidism in Infants With Congenital Heart Disease Exposed to Excess Iodine. J Endocrin Soc (2017) 1:1067–78. doi: 10.1210/js.2017-00174
- 22. Hinton CF, Harris KB, Borgfeld L, Drummond-Borg M, Eaton R, Lorey F, et al. Trends Incidence Rates of Congenital Hypothyroidism Related to Select Demographic Factors: Data From the United States, California, Massachusetts, New York, and Texas. *Pediatrics* (2010) 125:Suppl 2:S37–47. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-1975D
- Corbetta C, Weber G, Cortinovis F, Calebrio D, Passoni A, Vigone MC, et al. A 7-Year Experience With Low Blood TSH Cutoff Levels for Neonatal Screening Reveals an Unsuspected Frequency of Congenital Hypothyroidism (CH). *Clin Endocrinol* (2009) 71:739–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03568.x
- Cavarzere P, Camilot M, Popa FI, Lauriola S, Teofoli F, Gaudino R, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism With Delayed TSH Elevation in Low-Birth-Weight Infants: Incidence, Diagnosis and Management. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 175:395–402. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-1233
- 25. van Trotsenburg AS, Stoupa A, Léger J, Rohrer T, Peters C, Fuggazzola L, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism: A 2020 Consensus Guidelines Update An ENDO-EUROPEAN REFERENCE NETWORK (ERN) Initiative Endorsed by the European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and the European Society for Endocrinology. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:387–419. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0333
- Naafs JC, Verkerk JC, Fliers E, van Trotsenburg ASP, Zwaveling-Soonawala N. Clinical and Genetic Characteristics of Dutch Children With Central Congenital Hypothyroidism, Early Detected by Neonatal Screening. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183:627–36. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0833
- Mitchell ML, Hsu H-W, Sahai I. And the Massachusetts Pediatric Endocrine Work Group. The Increased Incidence of Congenital Hypothyroidism: Fact or Fancy? *Clin Endocrinol* (2011) 75:806–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04128.x
- Srinivasan R, Harigopal S, Turner S, Cheetham T. Permanent and Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism in Preterm Infants. *Acta Paediatr* (2012) 101: e179–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2011.02536.x
- Vigone MC, Caiulo S, Di Fenna M, Ghirardello S, Corbetts C, Mosca F, et al. Evolution of Thyroid Function in Preterm Infants Detected by Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Pediatr (2014) 164:1296–302. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpeds.2013.12.048
- Hadeed AJ, Asay LD, Klein AH, Fisher DA. Significance of Transient Postnatal Hypothyroxinemia in Premature Infants With and Without Respiratory Distress Syndrome. *Pediatrics* (1981) 68:494.
- Mercado M, Szymonowicz W, Yu VY, Gold H. Symptomatic Hypothyroxinemia With Normal TSH Levels in Preterm Infants. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)* (1987) 26:343. doi: 10.1177/000992288702600704
- 32. Chowdhry P, Scanlon JW, Auerbach R, Abbassi V. Results of Controlled Double-Blind Study of Thyroid Replacement in Very Low-Birth-Weight Premature Infants With Hypothyroxinemia. *Pediatrics* (1984) 73:301.
- 33. Ng SM, Turner MA, Gamble C, Didi M, Victors S, Manning D, et al. An Explanatory Randomized Placebo Controlled Trial of Levothyroxine Supplementation for Babies Born <28 Weeks' Gestation: Results of the TIPIT Trial. *Trials* (2013) 14:211. doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-14-211
- 34. Valerio PG, van Wassenaer AG, de Vijlder JJ, Kok JH. A Randomized, Masked Study of Triiodothyronine Plus Thyroxine Administration in Preterm Infants Less Than 28 Weeks of Gestational Age: Hormonal and Clinical Effects. *Pediatr Res* (2004) 55:248. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000104153.72572.F5
- Osborn DA, Hunt RW. Prophylactic Postnatal Thyroid Hormones for Prevention of Morbidity and Mortality in Preterm Infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2007), CD005948. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005948.pub2
- 36. Reuss ML, Paneth N, Pinto-Martin JA, Lorenz JM, Susser M. The Relation of Transient Hypothyroxinemia in Preterm Infants to Neurologic Development At Two Years of Age. N Engl J Med (1996) 334:821. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM199603283341303
- Simic N, Asztalos EV, Rovet J. Impact of Neonatal Thyroid Hormone Insufficiency and Medical Morbidity on Infant Neurodevelopment and Attention Following Preterm Birth. *Thyroid* (2009) 19:395. doi: 10.1089/thy.2008.0282

- Simic N, Westall C, Astzalos EV, Rovet J. Visual Abilities at 6 Months in Preterm Infants: Impact of Thyroid Hormone Deficiency and Neonatal Medical Morbidity. *Thyroid* (2010) 20:309. doi: 10.1089/thy.2009.0128
- 39. Den Ouden AL, Kok JH, Verkerk PH, Brand R, Verloove-Vanhorick SP. The Relation Between Neonatal Thyroxine Levels and Neurodevelopmental Outcome at Age 5 and 9 Years in a National Cohort of Very Preterm and/ or Very Low Birth Weight Infants. *Pediatr Res* (1996) 39:142. doi: 10.1203/ 00006450-199601000-00021
- Tan LO, Tan MG, Poon WB. Lack of Association Between Hypothyroxinemia of Prematurity and Transient Thyroid Abnormalities With Adverse Long-Term Neurodevelopmental Outcome in Very Low Birth Weight Infants. *PloS One* (2019) 14:e0222018. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0222018
- 41. van Wassenaer AG, Kok JH, de Vijlder JJ, Briet JM, Smit BJ, Tamminga P, et al. Effects of Thyroxine Supplementation on Neurologic Development in Infants Born at Less Than 30 Weeks' Gestation. N Engl J Med (1997) 336:21. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199701023360104
- 42. Van Wassenaer AG, Kok JH, Briët JM, van Baer AL, De Vijlder JJ. Thyroid Function in Preterm Newborns; Is T4 Treatment Required in Infants < 27 Weeks' Gestational Age? *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (1997) 105 Suppl 4:12. doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1211925
- Briët JM, van Wassenaer AG, Dekker FW, de Vijlder JJ, van Baer A, Kok JH. Neonatal Thyroxine Supplementation in Very Preterm Children: Developmental Outcome Evaluated at Early School Age. *Pediatrics* (2001) 107:712. doi: 10.1542/peds.107.4.712
- 44. van Wassenaer AG, Westera J, Houtzager BA, Kok JH. Ten-Year Follow-Up of Children Born at <30 Weeks' Gestational Age Supplemented With Thyroxine in the Neonatal Period in A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Pediatrics* (2005) 116:e613. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-0876
- 45. van Wassenaer-Leemhuis A, Ares S, Golombek G, Kok J, Paneth N, Kase J, et al. Thyroid Hormone Supplementation in Preterm Infants Born Before 28 Weeks Gestational Age and Neurodevelopmental Outcome at Age 36 Weeks. *Thyroid* (2014) 24:1162–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2013.0618
- 46. Ng SM, Turner MA, Weindling M. Neurodevelopmental Outcomes at 42 Months After Thyroxine Supplementation in Infants Below 28 Weeks' Gestation: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Thyroid* (2020) 30:948. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0293
- Walsh V, Brown JVE, McGuire W. Iodine Supplementation for the Prevention of Mortality and Adverse Neurodevelopmental Outcomes in Preterm Infants. *Cochrane Database Systemic Rev* (2019) 2(2):CD005253. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005253.pub3

**Conflict of Interest:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 LaFranchi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Case Report: Functional Analysis and Neuropsychological Evaluation of Dyshormonogenetic Fetal Goiter in Siblings Caused by Novel Compound Hyterozygous TPO Gene Mutations

Tania Maria Barreto Rodrigues<sup>1</sup>, Marlon Messias da Conceição Silva<sup>2,3</sup>, Magali Maciel Freitas<sup>2</sup>, Zélia Maria Costa Duarte<sup>2</sup>, Vitória Sousa Frutuoso<sup>2</sup>, Mariana Teixeira Rodrigues<sup>2,3</sup> and Ileana Gabriela Sanchez Rubio<sup>2,3\*</sup>

#### Edited by:

**OPEN ACCESS** 

Ronald Cohen, University of Chicago, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Alexandra Dumitrescu, University of Chicago Medicine, United States Tania M. Ortiga-Carvalho, Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

> \*Correspondence: Ileana Gabriela Sanchez Rubio ileana.rubio@unifesp.br

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 15 March 2021 Accepted: 21 May 2021 Published: 18 June 2021

#### Citation:

Rodrigues TMB, Silva MMdC, Freitas MM, Duarte ZMC, Frutuoso VS, Rodrigues MT and Rubio IGS (2021) Case Report: Functional Analysis and Neuropsychological Evaluation of Dyshormonogenetic Fetal Goiter in Siblings Caused by Novel Compound Hyterozygous TPO Gene Mutations. Front. Endocrinol. 12:671659. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.671659 <sup>1</sup> Federal University of Juiz de Fora, Campus Governador Valadares, Governador Valadares, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Thyroid Molecular Science Laboratory, Department of Biological Sciences, Federal University of São Paulo, Federal University of São Paulo (UNIFESP), Diadema, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Structural and Functional Biology Program, Federal University of São Paulo, UNIFESP, São Paulo, Brazil

**Introduction:** It is rare for a euthyroid mother to carry a child with a fetal goiter. However, cases of congenital hypothyroidism (CH) caused by thyroid dyshormonogenesis have been reported. Even though gene mutations associated with fetal goiter have been reported in a few studies, the effects on intellectual development have not been investigated. This study aimed to characterize and investigate the underlying genetic mechanism of CH and neuropsychological development and growth of two siblings with CH-induced fetal goiters.

**Case report:** Two male siblings from a non-consanguineous marriage with CH and fetal goiter were diagnosed by ultrasonography at 32- and 26-weeks of gestation. This condition was confirmed by cordocentesis in the first pregnancy (TSH: 135 μIU/mI). The mother was euthyroid, and no intra-amniotic levothyroxine treatment was performed. Peripheral blood DNA was screened for TPO mutations. The new deletion p.Cys296Alafs\*21 and the p.Arg665Trp mutation, inherited from heterozygous parents, were identified in both patients. Functional analysis showed both mutations reduced the TPO enzyme activity and impaired the membrane localization. The p.Cys296Alafs\*21 mutation produces a protein product with a drastically reduced molecular weight. Additionally, a complete clinical and neuropsychological evaluation was also performed. The WISC IV test was employed to provide an overall measure of the siblings' cognitive and intellectual abilities. No growth retardation was detected in either child. In general, both children showed normal neuropsychological development; however, they exhibited slight reduction of Processing Speed Index scores, which are sensitive to neurological and

attentional factors and motor maturation activity. Notably, the younger sibling obtained significantly low scores in the Operational Memory Index, a measure of attention capacity and psychoneurological immaturity.

**Conclusion:** We described a new TPO compound heterozygosity that severely impaired the TPO activity and membrane localization leading to severe CH and fetal goiter. This is the first report showing the neuropsychological evaluation in patients with dyshormonogenetic fetal goiter. More studies are needed to understand the neurodevelopmental outcomes of neonates with CH-induced fetal goiters.

Keywords: fetal goiter, congenital hypothyroidism, thyroid peroxidase, mutations, neuropsychological evaluation, growth

## INTRODUCTION

Congenital hypothyroidism (CH) is the most prevalent (1:2,000– 1:4,000 live births) childhood endocrine disease and the most common cause of preventable intellectual disability (1). Most CH patients (80–85%) exhibit thyroid dysgenesis, which encompasses a spectrum of abnormalities, including agenesis (a complete absence of the thyroid gland), hypoplasia (a small gland with a typical location), and ectopy (an abnormally located gland) (2). In 10–15% of the cases, CH is caused by defects in the thyroid hormone biosynthesis or dyshormonogenesis (3). Mutations in thyroid peroxidase (TPO) (4), thyroglobulin (TG) (5), dual oxidase DUOX 1, DUOX maturation factor 1 (DUOXA1) (6), dual oxidase 2 (DUOX2) (7), DUOX maturation factor 2 (DUOXA2) (8), sodium iodide symporter (NIS) (9), and pendrin (SLC26A4) (10) have been associated with dyshormonogenesis.

Secondary to dyshormonogenesis, fetal goiters can also develop. These goiters are rarely large enough to be clinically detected at birth and even more challenging during intrauterine observation. However, advances in ultrasound technology have led to identifying many cases and may suggest fetal thyroid deficiency and hypothyroidism through peripheral gland hypervascularization and paradoxical increased fetal movement (11). It is important to point out that fetal goitrous hypothyroidism can also be caused by iodine deficiency (12), massive iodide exposure (13), and maternal hyperthyroidism therapy (14).

Up to now, mutations in TG, TPO, NIS, and DUOXA2 have been identified in few dyshormonogenetic fetal goiter patients (15–28) as shown in **Supplementary Table 1**. These mutations are usually transmitted in an autosomal recessive fashion; however, some studies have reported monoallelic mutations (29).

The effects of thyroid hormone and its deficit on children's psychomotor and neurological outcomes have been well-documented (30), but not in CH-induced fetal goiter patients. Before fetal thyroid hormone synthesis begins at approximately 11 weeks of gestation (WG), the fetus's brain is protected by the maternal thyroid hormone (31). After that point, fetal thyroid hormones are necessary for healthy development. A previous study screening neonates with CH caused by a total organification defect showed that their thyroid hormone levels were about 40–60% of normal levels and likely of maternal origin (32).

This study aimed to characterize and investigate the underlying molecular genetic mechanism for CH development and neuropsychological progression and growth of two siblings with CH-induced fetal goiters.

## **CASE REPORT**

## **Clinical Presentation**

The present study follows two pregnancies of an initially 32-yearold primigravida. During the first pregnancy, a routine ultrasound scan (USS) at 28 WG did not identify any polyhydramnios or other fetal abnormalities. However, the USS at 32 weeks detected a fetal goiter (Supplementary Figure 1). The mother was subsequently referred for endocrinological evaluation. The mother stated that she does not take medication and that she presented thyroid hyperplasia two years earlier. As shown in Table 1, subsequent cordocentesis confirmed fetal hypothyroidism (TSH: 135 µIU/mL; FT4: 0.57 ng/dL). At 34 WG, the fetus was delivered by cesarean without any complications due to spontaneous premature labor. The male newborn weighed 2.145 kg and had Apgar scores of ten at 1 and 5 min. The newborn presented weak suction and vomiting and remained in the intensive care unit for five days. Serum thyroid hormones were measured two days after birth, and hypothyroidism was confirmed. The neonate was subsequently treated with levothyroxine (LT4).

During the second pregnancy, the USS at 22 WG revealed no abnormalities. Like the first pregnancy, four weeks later (26 weeks), a fetal goiter was detected (**Supplementary Figure 1**). It was decided that no intervention would be administered at the time. Due to the progressive increase of the goiter volume, delivery was induced at 35 WG. The male child was delivered without complication and weighed 2.255 kg presenting Apgar scores of nine at 1 and 5 min. Two days after birth, congenital hypothyroidism was confirmed (TSH: 83.89  $\mu$ IU/mL), and LT4 treatment was initiated. Thyroid hormone status of the patients and parents and LT4 doses over time are presented in **Table 1**.

Both siblings and the family showed good adherence to LT4 treatment; however, the patients still have goiter detected by USS. They showed good clinical conditions and puberty stages according to Tanner (33). Considering the height and body

TABLE 1   Thyroid hormone status of Patients 1 and 2 and of their parents and LT4 dose over tim	TABLE 1	Thyroid hormone sta	tus of Patients 1	and 2 and of their	parents and LT4	dose over time.
---	---------	---------------------	-------------------	--------------------	-----------------	-----------------

	TSH μIU/mL (0.3–5.0)	FT4 ng/dL (0.8–2.0)	TG ng/mL (1.35–35)	anti-TPO IU/mL (<9)	LT4 µg/day
Patient 1: Fetal goiter de	etected at 32 WG; birth at 34 V	VG			
32 WG Cordocentesis	135.0	0.57	_	3	-
At birth*	_	0.94	_	<10	-
2 days after birth	28.36	1.07	_	<10	25
2 weeks after birth	3.11	1.44	26.59	_	25
7 months	24.41	0.925			50
1.1 years old	2.02	1.71			50
1.9 years old	1.33	2.22	_	_	50
2.4 years old	8.68	1.68			75
3.2 years old	0.35	2.47	_	_	75
5 years old	2.52	1.94	_	_	62.5
10 years old	3.52	1.42	_	_	88
14.9 years old	6.69	1.13	_	_	150
15.8 years old	1.18	1.29	_	_	150
16.6 years old	6.98	1.36	_	_	150
Patient 2: Fetal goiter de	etected at 26 WG; birth at 36 V	NG			
2 days after birth	83.89	1.02	_	_	25
4 days after birth	12.68	1.70	530.6#	_	25
3 months after birth	2.91	1.88	_	_	25
6 months after birth	2.54	1.78	_	_	25
9 months after birth	11.49	1.29			50
1 year old	0.02	2.51	_	_	37.5
5.2 years old	9.57	1.28	_	_	62.5
10 years old	8.80	1.06	_	_	75
10.3 years old	1.64	1.48	_	_	75
11 years old	1.41	1.18	_	_	75
11.8 years old	2.65	1.33	_	_	75
Mother <sup>&amp;</sup>	1.99	0.97	_	5	Ν
Mother <sup>#</sup>	0.93	1.10	7.91	1	Ν
Father	1.24	1.05	12.59	3	Ν

WG, weeks of gestation. \* Not enough material for TSH testing; N, not in use; <sup>&</sup> in the third trimester of the first pregnancy with anti Tg:1 IU/mL (ref <40). <sup>#</sup> after the second pregnancy.

mass indices, no growth retardation was observed according to World Health Organization (5-19 years old) (34) (Supplemental Figure 2), and there were no motor problems detected in either child during the medical follow-up. Currently, Patient 1 is 16 years old and in his second year of high school. He has a height of 175 cm and weight of 55.7 kg, Height/Age and BMI/Age z scores of 0.08 and -1.19, respectively, and bone age of 17 years. He takes 150 mcg of levothyroxine per day. Patient 2 is 11 years old. He is in elementary school. He is 148.5 cm tall and weighs 39 kg. His calculated z scores for Height/Age and BMI/Age are 0.17 and 0.16, respectively, and his bone age is 10 years. Patient 2 is also treated with levothyroxine (75 mcg/day). In May 2021, laboratory thyroid tests of the siblings' serum were TSH 6.98 µcIU/mL and 2.65 µcIU/mL (0.27-5.00) and FT4 (1.36 ng/dL and 1.33 ng/dL (0.75-2.00) for Patients 1 and 2, respectively. In Patient 1, a slight increase in TSH level was observed, with normal levels of FT4 (Table 1). It was then decided to maintain the levothyroxine dose and to repeat the tests in two months.

## Mutation Detection and Functional Assessment

The sequences analyses revealed that the genomic DNA of the two siblings contained three TPO mutations: p.Gln660Glu (C.1978C>G) and p.Arg665Trp (c.1993C>T) in exon 11 and a new deletion p.Cys296Alafs\*21 (c.886delT) in exon 8. Thep.Arg665Trp mutation was present in the mother's DNA,

and the p.Gln660Glu (4) and p.Cys296Alafs\*21 (35) mutations were found in the father's DNA (**Figure 1**). The p.Gln660Glu mutation is on the same allele as the deletion mutation; thus, it is unlikely to contribute to the disease. Thus, the presence of both the p.Arg665Trp and the p.Cys296Alafs\*21 mutations indicates compound heterozygosity in the siblings' DNA.

The pathogenicity of the p.Arg665Trp (Arg665Trp-TPO) and p.Cys296Alafs\*21 (delT886-TPO) mutations was evaluated in HEK293 cells. The delT886-TPO mutation alters the protein reading frame and introduces a new stop codon at residue 316, resulting in a 35 kDa protein product. In comparison, the Arg665Trp-TPO missense mutant and TPO-WT migrate at a molecular weight of 103 kDa (**Figure 2A**). We also measured the enzymatic activities of TPO-WT, Arg665Trp-TPO, and delT886-TPO. As shown in **Figure 2B**, the TPO activities of Arg665Trp-TPO and delT886-TPO are significantly lower than TPO-WT levels.

Next, we assessed TPO localization by immunofluorescence. Under cell permeabilizing conditions (**Figures 3A-D**), cytoplasmic TPO-specific immunostaining was observed in the wild-type and mutant TPO transfected cells. These results confirm TPO transfection and expression. Under nonpermeabilizing conditions (**Figures 3E-H**), TPO-WT was localized along the cell membrane. Notably, we observed reduced membrane staining in cells transfected with delT886-TPO and Arg665Trp-TPO, indicating that these mutant proteins



FIGURE 1 | TPO gene mutations. (A) p.Cys296Alafs\*21 (c.886deIT) in exon 8 (reverse sequence) and (B) p.Gin660Glu (C.1978C>G) in exon 11 and p.Arg665Trp (c.1993C>T) in exon 11 (reverse sequence); (C) Pedigrees of the family and THS values at diagnosis (\* cordocentesis). The p.Cys296Alafs\*21 (c.886deIT) and the p.Gin660Glu (C.1978C>G) mutation was detected in both patients (II.1 and II.2) and the father (I.1). The p.Arg665Trp (c.1993C>T) mutation was detected in both patients and the mother (I.2).



are not correctly inserted into the membrane (**Figures 3F, G**). It is also worth mentioning that no immunostaining was detected in cells transfected with empty pcDNA vector under either condition. The full methods are in the **Supplementary File**.

## **Neuropsychological Evaluation**

A clinical neuropsychologist evaluated the two brothers for attention (divided, sustained, and focused), cognitive flexibility, short- and long-term memory (verbal and visual), intellectual processes (reasoning, abstract thought, and critical thinking), motor functions (movements, laterality, and others), visual functions (perception, discrimination, and visuospatial and visuoconstructive organization), praxis, general intelligence, learning ability, and language (expressive, receptive and written). The children were also evaluated for the presence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). Herein, the fourth edition of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (WISC IV) test to assess the siblings' intelligence was used. These evaluations were performed at 11 years of age for Patient 1 and 6 years for Patient 2. A summary of these results is presented in **Table 2**. In general, the children exhibited behavior consistent with their age, sex, and education. Moreover, the evaluations showed that both boys had adequate age-related logical reasoning, conceptual verbal formation (abstract thinking), memory and verbal fluency, semantic knowledge, intellectual curiosity, and ability to deal with abstract symbols. Quantitative analyses of the WISC-IV results and comparisons of each patient with himself using the factorial indexes, which are considered more accurate measures of intelligence, showed that both patients exhibited lower Processing Speed Index (related to the



FIGURE 3 | Cellular localization of wild-type and mutant TPOs. Immunofluorescence, using anti-TPO RPE5379- (Abcam) and AlexaFluor 594 (Invitrogen), under permeabilized conditions, Panel (A) TPO-WT, Panel (B) delT668-TPO, Panel (C) Arg665Trp-TPO, and (D) pcDNA and impermeabilized conditions Panel (E) TPO-WT, Panel (F) delT668-TPO, Panel (G) Arg665Trp-TPO, and Panel (H) pcDNA transfected HEK293 cells. Images were acquired with a Leica TCS SP8 confocal microscope at 63× magnification.

**TABLE 2** | Summary of the neuropsychological evaluation results of the dyshormonogenetic fetal goiter patients using WISC-IV Tests.

Characteristics	Patient 1	Patient 2
Executive functions		
Abstraction and judgment	Above average	Low Average
Sustained attention/concentration	Average	Low Average
Alternate attention	High average	Below average
Selective attention	Average	Low Average
Verbal and non-verbal memory		
process		
Non-verbal (visual) memory	Below average	High average
Verbal memory	Above average	High average
Language		
Verbal comprehension, naming, and	Average	Average
vocabulary		
Verbal fluency	Average	Average
Constructive ability		
Visual reproduction	Below average	-
Praxia	Low average	Low average
Humor and behavior evaluation		
Stress	Normal	Positive
Hyperactivity-TDAH	Negative	Hyperactivity
		and impulsivity*
General intellectual operation (QI)	Normal	Normal

Scores were categorized as well above average, above high average, average, below average, or well below average compared to their age reference group at each assessment. \*To be confirmed in a future evaluation.

speed of mental processing and motor graph), and motor visual organization scores. Additionally, Patient 2 had a significantly lower Operational Memory Index (OMI), according to the WISC-IV. The OMI provides a measure of the child's attention. Due to its sensitivity, it has been utilized for detecting ADHD; however, to confirm the ADHD diagnosis, new evaluations are required between 7 and 12 years of age. Although Patient 2 is currently 11 years old, the parents refused consent for revaluation.

## DISCUSSION

Fetal goiter is a rare thyroid disorder with an incidence of about 1:40,000 live births. Despite being a perinatal complication with low incidence, it can cause airway obstruction and polyhydramnios and increase the fetus' risk of other morbidities and/or mortality (18, 36). This study investigated the genetic causes of CH and fetal goiter development and their impact on neurological functions. Herein, we identified mutations in the TPO gene of two brothers from a non-consanguineous marriage who exhibited fetal hypothyroidism and are currently undergoing LT4 treatment.

The high TSH and TG levels and the patients' fetal goiters led us to investigate TPO gene mutations by sequencing patient DNA. Herein, we identified three mutations in both patients. These mutations include p.Gln660Glu (4) and p.Cys296Alafs\*21 (a new deletion) inherited from the father, and p.Arg665Trp (35) inherited from the mother.

Studies have shown that TPO protein, an essential enzyme for thyroid hormone synthesis, is localized to the apical membrane of the thyrocyte (37). TPO activity depends on the proper conformation, cellular localization and an intact catalytic site (38). The new deletion, which introduces a stop codon at aminoacid 316 and produces a 35 kDa protein, exhibits significantly reduced TPO activity (Figure 2). The deletion results in the loss of the catalytic site (exons 8-10), the transmembrane domain (exon 15), and the extracellular domain (Supplementary Figure 2). The immunofluorescence experiments demonstrate that this mutant is localized in the cytoplasm and exhibits reduced membrane localization (Figure 3). It was previously reported that the TPO mutant p.Gln660Glu displays reduced activity and membrane localization (39). It is unlikely that the p.Gln660Glu mutation contributes to the disease since it is not present in the protein as it is located downstream of the truncating mutation p.Cys296Alafs\*. Thus, our results indicate compound heterozygosity involving

p.Cys296Alafs\*2 and p.Arg665Trp, mutations present in the paternal and maternal alleles, respectively.

It should be pointed out that the p.Arg665Trp mutation, previously identified in two patients with severe dyshormonogenesis, one with a history of neonatal goiter, was found to have reduced activity in the guaiacol oxidation assays and no membrane localization (35, 40). These results are consistent with the present study's data, showing that Arg665Trp-TPO exhibits drastically reduced enzymatic activity and plasma membrane localization when expressed in HEK-293 cells (**Figures 2** and **3**). In this sense, our results provide further evidence demonstrating the severity of the p.Arg665Trp mutation.

Fetal goiter is usually diagnosed during the second or third trimester (11), which coincides with the detection at 32 and 26 WG for Patients 1 and 2 in our study. This late manifestation is because the maternal thyroid hormone supports fetal development during the first trimester, with maternal T3 regulating neuronal proliferation and the onset of neuronal cerebral cortex migration (41). During the second trimester, the fetal thyroid hormones progressively contribute more to neurogenesis, neural migration, myelination, axonal growth, dendritic arborization, and glial differentiation. Finally, in the third trimester, maternal and fetal thyroid hormones are required for central nervous system maturation (42). It has been reported that maternal hypothyroidism negatively impacts the neuropsychological development of children (43), an outcome probably due to abnormal cortical development during the first trimester (44).

On the other hand, fetal hypothyroidism appears to affect cerebral areas later in development, influencing language, associative memory, auditory processing, attention, and executive processing (45). Additional evidence associating intrauterine brain damage with fetal hypothyroidism comes from children with severe CH due to agenesia or with a thyroid gland and very low neonatal FT4. These children face a higher risk for subtle irreversible neurological deficits despite early treatment after birth (46–48) and exhibit cognitive problems with memory, attention, and visuospatial processing that can persist into early adolescence (49). Furthermore, a summary of several studies demonstrated that children diagnosed with CH by neonatal screening and who received optimal therapy presented IQ reductions of about 0.5 SD (45).

In our study, the neuropsychological assessment indicated that in general these patients with fetal goiter exhibited a normal neuropsychological development, with some high or below average scores. For example, a deficit in working memory was identified in Patient 2. This type of deficit is typically related to the management of day-to-day information difficulties. Moreover, children with this deficit can have difficulties planning, ranking, establishing priorities, distinguishing importance, and engaging in activities requiring the manipulation of temporarily stored information. They usually need more time and put forth more effort to carry out tasks. In the school context, it is common to have difficulties in mathematics operations that involve multiple steps, remembering homework instructions and simultaneously processing multiple information sources (50). A decrease in the information processing index was observed in both patients, characterized by a slow visual motor function and diminishing perceptual-motor and attention functions. This index provides a measure of the ability to decode symbols and process new information. It is sensitive to neurological factors, motor maturation, and attentional factors. Thus, children with these deficits require more time to learn the same amount of information than children of their age and are more likely to be tired since additional effort is needed to perform tasks (50).

While it is easy to speculate that the siblings' reduced neurological skills are related to fetal hypothyroidism, it would be premature to make this conclusion. Moreover, prenatal fetal goiter treatment has been proposed to reduce goiter volume, prevent comorbidities, and provide adequate thyroid status at birth, but this therapy remains controversial. A recent study confirmed the feasibility of a conservative intrauterine LT4 treatment; however, the medications (LT4 and/or T3), recommended doses, and administration methods have not been defined. The authors state that prenatal treatment risks and benefits must be considered case by case (29). Notably, a 2020-2021 consensus updated the guidelines for the diagnosis and management of congenital hypothyroidism (CH) (51). They strongly recommended intraamniotic T4 injections in a euthyroid pregnant woman with large fetal goiter related to hydramnios and/or tracheal occlusion.

Considering the long-term medical follow-up, both siblings exhibited good clinical conditions and normal growth. They showed good adherence to LT4 treatment and adequate hormonal status along with the increase of the LT4 dose. Previous studies have also shown normal growth development of fetal goiter patients under adequate treatment (15, 21).

In conclusion, this study discovered a novel compound heterozygous mutation, including a previously unknown deletion in the TPO gene. This mutation led to severe impairment in TPO activity and membrane localization and appeared to be associated with severe intrauterine CH and fetal goiter. Under adequate treatment, the long-term follow-up showed a normal growth progression of both patients. This is also the first report investigating the neuropsychological factors in CH-induced fetal goiter patients. More studies are needed to state the neurodevelopmental outcomes of dyshormonogenetic fetal goiter.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/genbank/, BankIt2432519 human MW660360.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was approved by the UNIFESP Ethical Committee (CAAE 59240816.2.0000.5505). Written informed consent

was obtained from a parent of the patients for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TR was the endocrinologist that diagnosed the fetal goiter in both patients and performed the follow-up. MS performed the mutagenesis and most of the immunofluorescence images. MF performed the DNA sequencing of the patient's DNA. ZD performed the neuropsychological evaluation. VF performed the TPO activity evaluation. MR was responsible for the cell culture and transfection experiments. IR was the coordinator of the project. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from FAPESP 2014/24549-4, Sao Paulo State Research Foundation. This study was financed in

## REFERENCES

- Ford G, Lafranchi SH. Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism: A Worldwide View of Strategies. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 28:175–87. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2013.05.008
- Camargo RY, Kanamura CT, Friguglietti CU, Nogueira CR, Iorcansky S, Tincani AJ, et al. Histopathological Characterization and Whole Exome Sequencing of Ectopic Thyroid: Fetal Architecture in a Functional Ectopic Gland From Adult Patient. *Int J Endocrinol* (2018) 2018:4682876. doi: 10.1155/2018/4682876
- Maciel LMZ, Kimura ET, Nogueira CR, Mazeto GMFS, Magalhães PKR, Nascimento ML, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism: Recommendations of the Thyroid Department of the Brazilian Society of Endocrinology and Metabolism. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol (2013) 57:184–92. doi: 10.1590/ S0004-27302013000300004
- Nascimento AC, Guedes DR, Santos CS, Knobel M, Rubio IGS, Medeiros-Neto G. Thyroperoxidase Gene Mutations in Congenital Goitrous Hypothyroidism With Total and Partial Iodide Organification Defect. *Thyroid* (2003) 13:1145–51. doi: 10.1089/10507250360731550
- Rubio IGS, Medeiros-Neto G. Mutations of the Thyroglobulin Gene and its Relevance to Thyroid Disorders. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* (2009) 16:373–8. doi: 10.1097/MED.0b013e32832ff218
- 6. Hulur I, Hermanns P, Nestoris C, Heger S, Refetoff S, Pohlenz J, et al. A Single Copy of the Recently Identified Dual Oxidase Maturation Factor (DUOXA) 1 Gene Produces Only Mild Transient Hypothyroidism in a Patient With a Novel Biallelic DUOXA2 Mutation and Monoallelic DUOXA1 Deletion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96:841–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2321
- Moreno JC, Klootwijk W, van Toor H, Pinto G, D'Alessandro M, Lèger A, et al. Mutations in the Iodotyrosine Deiodinase Gene and Hypothyroidism. *N Engl J Med* (2008) 358:1811–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0706819
- Zamproni I, Grasberger H, Cortinovis F, Vigone MC, Chiumello G, Mora S, et al. Biallelic Inactivation of the Dual Oxidase Maturation Factor 2 (DUOXA2) Gene as a Novel Cause of Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93:605–10. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2020
- Nicola JP, Nazar M, Serrano-Nascimento C, Goulart-Silva F, Sobrero G, Testa G, et al. Iodide Transport Defect: Functional Characterization of a Novel Mutation in the Na+/I- Symporter 5'-Untranslated Region in a Patient With Congenital Hypothyroidism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96:1100–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0349

part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior – Brasil (CAPES) – Finance Code 001.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Marta Miyazawa and Dr. Rodrigo Tamura for kindly providing the HEK293 cells, Dr. Rodrigo Fortunato for supplying the pCDNA 3.1 plasmid containing the TPO-WT cDNA, Dr. Gisele Giannocco and Dr. Renato Mortara for the AlexaFluor 594 antibody and Wilson Segura, Elizabeth K. and Caroline Z. for acquiring the images in the multiuser laboratory confocal microscopy by INFAR (National Institute Pharmacology-SP) and in the confocal microscopy of the ICQAF–UNIFESP.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021. 671659/full#supplementary-material

- Kopp P. Mutations in the Pendred Syndrome (PDS/SLC26A) Gene: An Increasingly Complex Phenotypic Spectrum From Goiter to Thyroid Hypoplasia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2014) 99:67–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-4319
- 11. Huel C, Guibourdenche J, Vuillard E, Ouahba J, Piketty M, Oury JF, et al. Use of Ultrasound to Distinguish Between Fetal Hyperthyroidism and Hypothyroidism on Discovery of a Goiter. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* (2009) 33:412–20. doi: 10.1002/uog.6315
- Pearce EN. Effects of Iodine Deficiency in Pregnancy. J Trace Elem Med Biol (2012) 26:131–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2012.04.005
- Omoto A, Kurimoto C, Minagawa M, Shozu M. A Case of Fetal Goiter That Resolved Spontaneously After Birth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98:3910–1. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1066
- Iijima S. Current Knowledge About the In Utero and Peripartum Management of Fetal Goiter Associated With Maternal Graves' Disease. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol X* (2019) 3:100027. doi: 10.1016/j.eurox.2019.100027
- Caron P, Moya CM, Malet D, Gutnisky VJ, Chabardes B, Rivolta CM, et al. Compound Heterozygous Mutations in the Thyroglobulin Gene (1143delc and 6725G→a [R2223H]) Resulting in Fetal Goitrous Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2003) 88:3546–53. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021744
- Reynolds BC, Simpson JH, Macara L, Watt AJB, Kubba H, Donaldson MDC, et al. Goitrous Congenital Hypothyroidism in a Twin Pregnancy Causing Respiratory Obstruction at Birth: Implications for Management. Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr (2006) 95:1345–8. doi: 10.1080/08035250600711074
- Stoppa-Vaucher S, Francoeur D, Grignon A, Alos N, Pohlenz J, Hermanns P, et al. Non-Immune Goiter and Hypothyroidism in a 19-Week Fetus: A Plea for Conservative Treatment. J Pediatr (2010) 156:1026–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpeds.2010.01.018
- Vasudevan P, Powell C, Nicholas AK, Scudamore I, Greening J, Park S-M, et al. Intrauterine Death Following Intraamniotic Triiodothyronine and Thyroxine Therapy for Fetal Goitrous Hypothyroidism Associated With Polyhydramnios and Caused by a Thyroglobulin Mutation. *Endocrinol Diabetes Metab Case Rep* (2017) 2017:17–0040. doi: 10.1530/edm-17-0040
- Siffo S, Adrover E, Citterio CE, Miras MB, Balbi VA, Chiesa A, et al. Molecular Analysis of Thyroglobulin Mutations Found in Patients With Goiter and Hypothyroidism. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2018) 473:1–16. doi: 10.1016/ j.mce.2017.12.009
- 20. Stern E, Kassif E, Schoenmakers N, Gruber N. A Novel Mutation in the Thyroglobulin Gene Leading to Neonatal Goiter and Congenital Hypothyroidism in an Eritrean Infant. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol (2021). doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.galenos.2021.2020.0278

- Rubio IGS, Galrao AL, Pardo V, Knobel M, Possato RF, Camargo RRY, et al. A Molecular Analysis and Long-Term Follow-Up of Two Siblings With Severe Congenital Hypothyroidism Carrying the IVS30+1G<T Intronic Thyroglobulin Mutation. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol (2008) 52:1337–44. doi: 10.1590/S0004-27302008000800022
- 22. Börgel K, Pohlenz J, Holzgreve W, Bramswig JH. Intrauterine Therapy of Goitrous Hypothyroidism in a Boy With a New Compound Heterozygous Mutation (Y453D and C800R) in the Thyroid Peroxidase Gene. A Long-Term Follow-Up. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2005) 193:857–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.ajog.2005.01.060
- Simm D, Pfarr N, Pohlenz J, Prawitt D, Dörr HG. Two Novel Mutations in the Human Thyroid Peroxidase (TPO) Gene: Genetics and Clinical Findings in Four Children. Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr (2009) 98:1057–61. doi: 10.1111/ j.1651-2227.2009.01236.x
- Yapakç E, Kinik ST, Pohlenz J. Intrauterine Treatment of an Infant With Fetal Goitre. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2010) 23:651–2. doi: 10.1515/ JPEM.2010.23.7.651
- Figueiredo CM, Falcão I, Vilaverde J, Freitas J, Oliveira MJ, Godinho C, et al. Prenatal Diagnosis and Management of a Fetal Goiter Hypothyroidism Due to Dyshormonogenesis. *Case Rep Endocrinol* (2018) 2018:1–4. doi: 10.1155/ 2018/9564737
- Zdraveska N, Kocova M, Nicholas AK, Anastasovska V, Schoenmakers N. Genetics of Gland-in-situ or Hypoplastic Congenital Hypothyroidism in Macedonia. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2020) 11:1–10. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2020.00413
- Stoupa A, Al Hage Chehade G, Kariyawasam D, Tohier C, Bole-Feysot C, Nitschke P, et al. First Case of Fetal Goitrous Hypothyroidism Due to SLC5A5/NIS Mutations. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183:32805706. doi: 10.1530/ EJE-20-0255
- Tanase-Nakao K, Miyata I, Terauchi A, Saito M, Wada S, Hasegawa T, et al. Fetal Goitrous Hypothyroidism and Polyhydramnios in a Patient With Compound Heterozygous DUOXA2 Mutations. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2018) 90:132–7. doi: 10.1159/000491104
- Nemescu D, Tanasa I, Stoian D, Navolan D, Vinturache A. Conservative In Utero Treatment of Fetal Dyshormonogenetic Goiter With Levothyroxine, a Systematic Literature Review. *Exp Ther Med* (2020) 20(3):2434–8. doi: 10.3892/etm.2020.8794
- Prezioso G, Giannini C, Chiarelli F. Effect of Thyroid Hormones on Neurons and Neurodevelopment. Horm Res Paediatr (2018) 90:73–81. doi: 10.1159/000492129
- Szinnai G, Lacroix L, Carré A, Guimiot F, Talbot M, Martinovic J, et al. Sodium/Iodide Symporter (NIS) Gene Expression is the Limiting Step for the Onset of Thyroid Function in the Human Fetus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92:70–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1450
- Vulsma T, Gons MH, de Vijlder JJM. Maternal-Fetal Transfer of Thyroxine in Congenital Hypothyroidism Due to a Total Organification Defect or Thyroid Agenesis. N Engl J Med (1989) 321:13–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198907063210103
- Tanner J. Psysical Growth and Development. In: J Forjar, C Amell, editors. Textbook of Paediatrics. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. (1978) p. 249–303.
- WHO | World Health. AnthroPlus Manual for Personal Computers Manual: Software for Assessing Growth of the Word's Children and Adolescents. Geneva: WHO (2009).
- 35. Umeki K, Kotani T, Kawano JI, Suganuma T, Yamamoto I, Aratake Y, et al. Two Novel Missense Mutations in the Thyroid Peroxidase Gene, R665W and G771R, Result in a Localization Defect and Cause Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2002) 146:491–8. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1460491
- Blumenfeld YJ, Davis A, Milan K, Chueh J, Hudgins L, Barth RA, et al. Conservatively Managed Fetal Goiter: An Alternative to In Utero Therapy. *Fetal Diagn Ther* (2013) 34:184–7. doi: 10.1159/000353387
- Rousset B, Dupuy C, Miot F, Dumont J. *Thyroid Hormone Synthesis And Secretion*. South Dartmouth (MA): Endotext (2000–2015).
- Libert F, Ruel J, Ludgate M, Swillens S, Alexander N, Vassart G, et al. Thyroperoxidase, an Auto-Antigen With a Mosaic Structure Made of Nuclear and Mitochondrial Gene Modules. *EMBO J* (1987) 6:4193–6. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1987.tb02766.x
- Deladoëy J, Pfarr N, Vuissoz JM, Parma J, Vassart G, Biesterfeld S, et al. Pseudodominant Inheritance of Goitrous Congenital Hypothyroidism Caused

by TPO Mutations: Molecular and in Silico Studies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93:627-33. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2276

- Zhao D, Li Y, Shan Z, Teng W, Li J, Teng X. Functional Analysis of Thyroid Peroxidase Gene Mutations Resulting in Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2020) 93:499–507. doi: 10.1111/cen.14253
- Kester MHA, Martinez De Mena R, Obregon MJ, Marinkovic D, Howatson A, Visser TJ, et al. Iodothyronine Levels in the Human Developing Brain: Major Regulatory Roles of Iodothyronine Deiodinases in Different Areas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2004) 89:3117–28. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031832
- Williams GR. Neurodevelopmental and Neurophysiological Actions of Thyroid Hormone. J Neuroendocrinol (2008) 20:784–94. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2826.2008.01733.x
- Haddow JE, Palomaki GE, Allan WC, Williams JR, Knight GJ, Gagnon J, et al. Maternal Thyroid Deficiency During Pregnancy and Subsequent Neuropsychological Development of the Child. N Engl J Med (1999) 341:2015–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199908193410801
- 44. Rami A, Patel AJ, Rabié A. Thyroid Hormone and Development of the Rat Hippocampus: Morphological Alterations in Granule and Pyramidal Cells. *Neuroscience* (1986) 19:1217–26. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(86)90135-1
- Rovet JF. The Role of Thyroid Hormones for Brain Development and Cognitive Function. *Endocr Dev* (2014) 26:26–43. doi: 10.1159/000363153
- Rovet JF, Ehrlich RM, Sorbara DL. Neurodevelopment in Infants and Preschool Children With Congenital Hypothyroidism: Etiological and Treatment Factors Affecting Outcome. J Pediatr Psychol (1992) 17:187–213. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/17.2.187
- Kooistra L, Laane C, Vulsma T, Schellekens JMH, van der Meere JJ, Kalverboer AF. Motor and Cognitive Development in Children With Congenital Hypothyroidism: A Long-Term Evaluation of the Effects of Neonatal Treatment. J Pediatr (1994) 124:903–9. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(05)83178-6
- Glorieux J, Dussault J, Van Vliet G. Intellectual Development at Age 12 Years of Children With Congenital Hypothyroidism Diagnosed by Neonatal Screening. J Pediatr (1992) 121:581–4. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(05)81150-3
- Rovet JF, Ehrlich R. Psychoeducational Outcome in Children With Early-Treated Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Pediatrics* (2000) 105:515–22. doi: 10.1542/peds.105.3.515
- 50. Weiss L, Saklofske D, Prifitera A, Holdnack J. Wisc-Iv Advanced Clinical Interpretation. Cambridge: Academic Press (2006).
- 51. Van Trotsenburg P, Stoupa A, Léger J, Rohrer T, Peters C, Fugazzola L, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism: A 2020-2021 Consensus Guidelines Update - An Endo-European Reference Network Initiative Endorsed by the European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and the European Society for Endocrinology. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:387–419. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0333
- Perry RJ, Hollman AS, Wood AM, Donaldson MDC. Ultrasound of the Thyroid Gland in the Newborn: Normative Data. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed (2002) 87:209–11. doi: 10.1136/fn.87.3.F209
- Fortunato RS, De Souza ECL, Ameziane-el Hassani R, Boufraqech M, Weyemi U, Talbot M, et al. Functional Consequences of Dual Oxidase-Thyroperoxidase Interaction at the Plasma Membrane. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95:5403–11. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-1085
- 54. Narumi S, Fox LA, Fukudome K, Sakaguchi Z, Sugisawa C, Abe K, et al. Mild Thyroid Peroxidase Deficiency Caused by TPO Mutations With Residual Activity: Correlation Between Clinical Phenotypes and Enzymatic Activity. *Endocr J* (2017) 64:1087–97. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ17-0194

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Rodrigues, Silva, Freitas, Duarte, Frutuoso, Rodrigues and Rubio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Reveals Frequent Familial Origin and Oligogenism in Congenital Hypothyroidism With Dyshormonogenesis

Isabelle Oliver-Petit<sup>1</sup>, Thomas Edouard<sup>1,2</sup>, Virginie Jacques<sup>2,3</sup>, Marie Bournez<sup>4</sup>, Audrey Cartault<sup>1</sup>, Solange Grunenwald<sup>5</sup> and Frédérique Savagner<sup>2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Endocrine, Genetics, Bone Diseases, and Paediatric Gynecology Unit, Children's Hospital, CHU Toulouse,

Toulouse, France, <sup>2</sup> Inserm UMR 1048, Institute of Metabolic and Cardiovascular Diseases (I2MC), Toulouse, France, <sup>3</sup> Biochemistry and Genetic Laboratory, Federative Institute of Biology, CHU Toulouse, Toulouse, France, <sup>4</sup> Pediatric Unit,

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Juan Pablo Nicola, National University of Cordoba, Argentina

#### Reviewed by:

Urh Groselj, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia Cintia E. Citterio, CONICET Institute of Immunology, Genetics and Metabolism (INIGEM), Argentina

\*Correspondence:

Frédérique Savagner frederique.savagner@univ-tlse3.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 24 January 2021 Accepted: 31 May 2021 Published: 24 June 2021

#### Citation:

Oliver-Petit I, Edouard T, Jacques V, Bournez M, Cartault A, Grunenwald S and Savagner F (2021) Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Reveals Frequent Familial Origin and Oligogenism in Congenital Hypothyroidism With Dyshormonogenesis. Front. Endocrinol. 12:657913. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.657913 Metabolic Unit, CHU Larrey, Toulouse, France **Context:** Congenital hypothyroidism (CH) is related to dyshormonogenesis in 15% to 40% of the world population and associated with homozygous or heterozygous variants in

Hospital Le Bocage, CHU Dijon, Dijon, France, <sup>5</sup> Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, Cardio-Vascular and

the main genes of the hormone synthesis pathway. Emerging diagnostic tools, such as next-generation sequencing (NGS), have been used to efficiently explore panels of genes and identify complex mechanisms of pathogenesis.

**Objective:** We explored 19 candidate genes known to be causative for permanent or transient CH to evaluate the role of complex gene variations in CH phenotype.

**Patients, Design and Setting:** Using the NGS approach, we studied 65 newborns with thyroid dyshormonogenesis (TDH). New variants were assessed *in silico* for pathogenicity.

**Results:** Among the 65 infants, 56.9% presented a variant in one or more genes of the thyroid hormone synthesis axis. We identified homozygous or compound heterozygous variants in the *TG*, *DUOX2*, *TPO*, or *SLC5A5* genes in 10 infants and heterozygous variants in *DUOX2*, *TG*, *TPO*, and *TSHR* in 19 others. In seven cases, a heterozygous variant in the *TG* gene was the unique anomaly detected, but related to disturbed hormonal balance. Oligogenic variants were found in eight infants associated with severe CH and goiter in five of them.

**Conclusion:** The systematic exploration of genes involved in thyroid hormone synthesis by NGS in TDH showed high diagnostic relevance. Oligogenic inheritance could be related to phenotypic heterogeneity and a high frequency of goiter.

Keywords: high throughput molecular screening, familial origin, oligogenicity, congenital hypothyroidism, thyroid dyshormonogenesis

## INTRODUCTION

Congenital hypothyroidism (CH) is the most common inborn endocrine disorder detected at birth by mass biochemical newborn screening. Epidemiology for CH has recently changed with an increased incidence close to 1/2,600 in France, mainly related to an increase in CH with thyroid dyshormonogenesis (TDH) representing 37% to 49% of CH cases relative to regional origin (1-3). In the south of France, 47% of CH are due to TDH and 53% to thyroid dysgenesis (TD). Genetic exploration of CH has often been restricted to a small number of genes because of a cost and time-consuming process to explore them by Sanger technology. Apart from a monogenic pattern of inheritance, the role of oligogenicity in disease development remains poorly explored. Recent studies have used next-generation sequencing (NGS) technology for better genotyping of newborns with suspected CH (4-9). Despite differences in the methodological approach, all studies highlighted an increased proportion of familial origin single or multiple pathogenic variants leading to thyroid dyshormonogenesis.

In France, the nationwide neonatal screening program of CH, implemented since 1978, identifies without ethnic a priori assumptions all children with high TSH levels. They are explored in accordance with the European Society for Paediatric Endocrinology (ESPE) consensus by biology, ultrasonography, and scintigraphy to distinguish aetiologies between TD and TDH. Analysis of this large and multi-ethnic unselected population could specify the landscape of familial aetiology in TDH development while considering the frequency of transient CH. The present NGS study established a targeted thyroid gene panel in a subset of 65 children screened at birth and confirmed to have CH. The aim of our study was to explore the frequency of complex molecular mechanisms for TDH related to phenotypic heterogeneity. We focused on TDH due to its increased incidence in our region (+7.9% per year) compared to the stable incidence of TD.

## PATIENTS AND METHODS

## Patients

Sixty-five patients were included in the study (30 females and 35 males); all except one were issued from non-related families living in the Midi-Pyrenees' region (south west of France, 3 million inhabitants). In 10% (7/65), different ethnic origins were present (Turkish, Maghreb countries).

All patients had early hypothyroidism as defined by ESPE consensus guidelines for congenital hypothyroidism screened at birth (regional neonatal screening), confirmed at the age of 10 days, and explored by ultrasonography (10). Secondary to genetic sampling, scintigraphy was performed to confirm aetiologies and for three infants to redirect toward TD (F37 for ectopia and F6, F14 for hypoplasia). Ectopy is a rare event in our population, as only 16% of TD presented ectopia during the same period of this study. For F2 patient, radionuclide scintigraphy revealed severely reduced uptake by the thyroid gland suggesting

a functional defect of NIS. Based on serum FT4 levels, CH was defined as severe when FT4 was <5 pmol/L, moderate when FT4 was 5 to 10 pmol/L, and mild when FT4 was 10 to 15 pmol/L. TSH resistance was referred as FT4 in the normal range with a high level of TSH.

Infants were treated from diagnosis by levothyroxine  $(5-15 \mu g/kg/d)$  and re-evaluated after two or three years as proposed by consensus: 44 (67%, 44/65) were confirmed as persistent TDH; the 21 remaining infants had transient CH, but for seven of them, the biological profile showed persistent high levels of TSH and normal FT4. Relative to FT4 values, treatment was stopped for infants with transient CH. For 27 children (41.5%, 27/65), clinical goiter was suspected and confirmed by ultrasonography.

For all families except five (F22, F31, F33, F36, and F 37), samples were obtained from family members to check for inheritance and co-segregation with phenotype. Written informed consent for patients or relatives was obtained for NGS and/or Sanger analyses and data were included in a biocollection (number: DC-2015-2450).

## **DNA Extraction and Sequencing**

Genomic DNA was isolated from peripheral blood using the QIAamp DNA blood kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). A total of 10 ng of DNA per sample was used for library preparation, using the DNAprep with enrichment protocol (Illumina; San Diego, CA) and a custom NGS panel including in 19 thyroid-related genes (Supplemental Table 1). Sequencing was performed on the Nextseq550 platform (Illumina) using the Mid Output kit v2.5. For a sequence variant to be considered valuable, a sequencing coverage of 30× reads was used as a minimum requirement in the present study. Sequence data were processed using custom bioinformatic software and compared to NextGENe independent analysis (Softgenetics, State College, PA, USA) to align reads to the HG19 reference genome. Copy number variants (CNVs) were detected using the COV'COP tool (11) and confirmed by MLPA analysis (MRC-Holland, Amsterdam, Netherlands). All reported variants, described using the HGVS nomenclature, were explored using public and license databases, including HGMD professional, gnomAD, and ClinVar, as well as literature searches. Minor allele frequency <5% was considered. The majority of variants were rated according to the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG) guidelines (12) and VarSome ACMG implementation (http://varsome. com). For variants with no pathogenic reporting, we classified them based on allele frequency in corresponding ethnic population, cosegregation with thyroid balance within the upper limit (TSH value) for the carrier parent and nonpublished data. Amino acid predictions were performed using the MutationTaster (http://www.mutationtaster.org), SIFT (http://sift.jvci.org), and PolyPhen-2 (http://genetics.bwh. harvard.edu/pph2) software tools and additional supporting evidence for pathogenicity was stated for variants of uncertain significance (VUS). We considered variants as deleterious when concordant annotations by two of these software tools using different algorithms were present. For intronic variants close to the splicing site, we used the ESEFinder2.0 software tool.

Variants detected by the Illumina platform were confirmed by targeted Sanger sequencing on an ABIXL3500 apparatus using the BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing kit (Applied Biosystems; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc.).

The data for this study have been deposited in the European Nucleotide Archive (ENA) at EMBL-EBI under accession number PRJEB42793.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The statistical significance was assessed using the Mann-Whitney *U* test. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05. All analyses were performed using StatView, version 5.0 (SAS Institute, Gary, NC, USA).

## RESULTS

### **Spectrum of Genetic Variants**

Among the 65 children, 37 (56.9%) presented a constitutive variant from different ACMG classes: 3 (VUS), 4 (probably pathogenic), and 5 (pathogenic) in one or two genes of the thyroid hormone biosynthesis pathway, according to VarSome results and, for some variants, to our own pathogenicity evidence as referred in Patients and Methods section. Functional studies will ultimately be required to prove the pathogenicity of novel variants. We showed that for the majority of patients (78.4%; 29/ 37), variants belonging to classes 4 and 5 have been previously reported in databases and/or in the literature. Biallelic variants in TG, TPO, DUOX2, and SLC5A5 genes were found in 27% (10/37) of patients, whereas monoallelic variants in TSHR, TPO, DUOX2, and TG were identified in 51.3% (19/37). Oligogenism was identified for 21.6% (8/37) of the infants, mainly involving variants in the TG and TPO or DUOX2 genes, except for homozygotic twins (F32, DUOX2/TPO). Considering mono or biallelic variants in a unique gene independently of oligogenic inheritance (29/37), the TG gene was most commonly associated with TDH in our cohort (37.9%; 11/29), followed by a fairly equivalent percentage of variants in the TPO (24.1%; 7/29) and DUOX2 (20.7%; 6/29) genes. For TG, six variants (F1, F4, F24, F28, F31, and F33) led to truncated TG before or in the carboxyterminal acetyl cholinesterase-like domain, which is crucial for conformation and intracellular trafficking (13, 14).

According to ACMG class 3, VUS corresponded to monoallelic variants in the TG (F3, F4, F9, F13, and F29), TPO (F27), and DUOX2 (F9) genes. For F3 and F4, VUS in TG were associated with pathogenic TG variants. For F9, two VUS were associated (in TG and DUOX2) and related to neonatal goiter. The latest two VUS in the TG gene (F13, F29) were related to moderate CH in a 27-week premature girl without goiter (F13) and to mild CH in a child presenting with psychomotor delay (F29). Finally, for F27, the splicing variant was related to homozygous deletion of exon 17 of the TPO gene, confirmed by MLPA analysis (data not shown).

We did not detect any variants in the *DUOX1*, *DUOXA1*, and *GNAS1* genes, according to the low frequency of these events in familial TDH (15, 16). No pathogenic variants in other genes

(coding and non-coding regions) explored in our study and related to dysgenesis and dysthyroidism were identified.

Genotypical data and inheritance for the 37 children positive for ACMG classes 3 to 5 of the constitutive variants are shown in **Table 1**.

## **Phenotype-Genotype Correlation**

Among the 37 children presenting constitutive variants, 21/37 (55.5%) were male with an increased male/female sex ratio of 1.31 (21/16) compared to the global sex ratio of 1.18 (35/30) or to that of the NGS negative group of 1.15 (15/13). No extra-thyroidal phenotype has been noticed for all the children. Goiter was significantly associated with positive cases (56.7%, 21/37) compared to infants negative for variants but with proven CH, (14.2%, 4/28). Goiter was also significantly associated with homozygous, compound heterozygous and oligogenic variants regardless of the severity of CH (94% 17/18). Types of variants related to CH severity and goiter for the 37 infants are presented in **Figure 1**.

Pathogenic variants or VUS were associated with permanent TDH for 89.1% (33/37) and with transient hypothyroidism in 10.8% (4/37), all of the latter associated with *DUOX2* variants. For 75% of the *TSHR*-positive cases (F6, F14, F15, F34), no goiter was detected, but hypoplasia was noticed in two infants after scintigraphy. Two cases corresponded to the same heterozygous variant Arg450His with a difference in the biological spectrum from TSH resistance for F6 to severe hypothyroidism for F15.

Comparing patient phenotypes using the ESPE criteria for CH severity based on FT4 levels, biallelic and oligogenic variants were associated with severe CH (73.3%, 11/15) and goiter 90.9%, 10/11), while heterozygous variants in the *TG*, *TPO*, *DUOX2*, and *TSHR* genes were associated with infants presenting moderate and mild CH (63.2%, 12/19) with a low risk of goiter (25%, 3/12).

We also identified a new homozygous deletion in the TPO gene in one infant (F27) presenting moderate CH with goiter. Among the diverse splicing mRNA TPO variants already described, none were related to the unique absence of exon 17 (17). Even if the structure of TPO remains to be determined, a recent modelling study suggested that homozygous loss of the intracellular domain of this enzyme is responsible for cell trafficking and could impact the conformation of its active site (18).

Exploring for the role of heterozygous TG VUS in CH (F13 and F29), we showed that for F13 with CH in a 27-week premature girl, the mother presented with clinical adult-onset goiter and moderate hypothyroidism associated with the same heterozygous variant in the TG gene. For F29, the father of a boy with mild CH had a history of hypothyroidism and goiter with adult onset, related to the same VUS. Clinical and inheritance data for the 37 infants are shown in **Table 2**. Clinical and biological data for the 28 remaining infants without identified variant are listed in **Supplemental Table 2**.

## DISCUSSION

Early TDH diagnosis and treatment are essential for normal brain development and physical growth, but genetic and carrier

#### TABLE 1 | Genotypical data and inheritance for the 37 children diagnosed for TDH.

ID	Genes	exon/Intron	Nucleotide	Protein (zygosity)	dbSNP number	gnomAD	Pathogeny	Maternal	Paternal	SIFT	Polyphen-2	MutationTaster	Improved classification	Causative ACGM level	HGMD- First report
						MAF		Genotype	Genotype	score	score	prediction	according to ACGM guidelines		
													guideinies		
	DUOX2	E22	c.2895_2898del	p.Phe966Serfs*29 (Het)	rs530719719	0.002	P	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PP3+PP5	5	Moreno, 2002, N Engl J Med
	DUOX2	E22	c.2895_2898del	p.Phe966Serfs*29 (Het)	rs530719719	0.002	P P	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PP3+PP5	5	Moreno, 2002, N Engl J Med
	UOX2	E22	c.2895_2898del	p.Phe966Serfs*29 (Het)	rs530719719	0.002	LP	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PP3+PP5	4	Moreno, 2002, N Engl J Med
	UOX2/DUOX2 UOX2	E5 126	c.498C>A c.3515+5 G>T	p.Ser166Arg (Homo)	rs370438048 rs375943962	0.0001	LP I P	Het N/A	Het N/A	0	1	Disease-causing	PM1+PM2+PP3+PP4 PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	N/A N/A
	00X2 00X2	E20	c.2635G>A	p.? (Het) p.Glu879Lys (Het)	rs774556391	0.00	LP	N/A N/A	N/A	0	1	Disease-causing Disease-causing	PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5 PM1+PM2+PP3+PP5	4	Maruo, 2008, J Clin Endocrinol Metab
F32- D	DUOX2/TPO	E29 (DUOX2)	c.3799C>T	p.Arg126Trp (Het oligo)	rs752437461	0.00	LP	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	PM1+PM2+PP3+PP5	4	Wang, 2014, Clin Endocrinol
1		E8 (TPO)	c.1199T>A	p.Val400Asp (Het oligo)	N/A	N/A	LP	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	N/A
	DUOX2/TPO	E29 (DUOX2)	c.3799C>T	p.Arg126Trp (Het oligo)	rs752437461	0.00	LP	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	PM1+PM2+PP3+PP5	4	Wang, 2014, Clin Endocrinol
2 =2 SI	LC5A5/	E8 (TPO) E13	c.1199T>A c.1593C>G	p.Val400Asp (Het oligo) p.Tyr531* (Homo)	N/A rs121909177	N/A 0.00	LP P	WT Het	Het Het	0	1	Disease-causing Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5 PVS1+PM2+PP3+PP5	4	N/A Pohlenz, 1998, J Clin Invest
SI	LC5A5			,										-	
F13 T0		E21	c.4481C>T	p.Pro1494Leu (Het)	rs146498231	0.0008	VUS	Het	WT	0	0.75	Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PM3	3	Makretskaya, 2018, PLoS One
F16 70	G	130	c.5686+1G>A	p.? (Het)	rs374620255	0.00	Ρ	Het	WT	0	0.9	Disease-causing	PVS1+PM2+PP3	5	Hermanns, 2013, J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab
F18 <i>T</i> 0		E29	c.5485C>T	p.Arg1829Trp (Het)	rs148982115	0.0002	LP	WT	Het	0	0.9	Disease-causing	PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	N/A
=24 TC		E11	c.2787del	p.Lys929Asnfs*37 (Het)	N/A	N/A	LP	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PM2	4	N/A
F29 70	G	E44	c.7640T>A	p.Leu2547Gln (Het)	rs2979042	0.0001	VUS	WT	Het	0	0.95	Disease-causing	BP1+PP3+PP4+PP5	3	Nicholas, 2016, J Clin Endocrinol Metab
F31 70	G	E22	c.4588C>T	p.Arg1530* (Het)	rs121912646	0.0001	Р	N/A	N/A	0	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PM2+PP3+PP5	5	Targovnik, 1993, J Clin Endocrino Metab
F33 T0	'G	E30	c.5676G>A	p.Trp1892* (Het)	N/A	N/A	P	N/A	N/A	0	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PM2+PP3	5	N/A
10 TC	G/DUOX2	E9 (TG)	c.1958G>A	p.Gly653Asp (Het oligo)	rs2069548	0.010	LP	WT	Het	0	0.99	Disease-causing	PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	de Filippis, 2017, Hum Mol Gene
		E31 (DUOX2)	c.4156G>A	p.Gly1386Ser (Het oligo)	rs139584933	0.0001	LP	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	Tan, 2016, Horm metab Res
20 TC	G/DUOX2	E3 (TG)	c.199G>A	p.Gly67Ser (Het oligo)	rs116340633	0.010	P	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PP3+PP4+PP5	3	de Filippis, 2017, Hum Mol Gene
		E31 (DUOX2)	c.2895_2898del	p.Phe966Serfs*29 (Het oligo)	rs530719719	0.002	P	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PP3+PP5	5	Moreno, 2002, N Engl J Med
7 TC	G/DUOX2	E10 (TG)	c.2381G>T	p.Gly794Val (Het oligo)	rs1180105954	0.00	LP	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	PP1+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	N/A
		E20 (DUOX2)	c.2597T>G	p.Met866Arg (Het oligo)	rs200948626	0.0001	LP	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	PM1+PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	Muzza, 2013, J Clin Endocrinol Metab
=9 TC	G/DUOX2	E27 (TG)	c.5299_5301del	p.Asp1767del (Het oligo)	rs112749206	0.0003	VUS	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PP3+PP4+PP5	3	N/A
		E25 (DUOX2)	c.3367G>A	p.Ala1123Thr (Het oligo)	rs113632824	0.0001	VUS	WT	Het	0.09	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PP3+PP4+PP5	3	Kim, 2013, Int J Ped Endocrinol
	'G/TG 'G/TG	E47 E7	c.8131A>T c.886C>T	p.Lys2711* (Homo) p.Arg296* (Homo)	N/A rs121912648	N/A 0.0004	P P	Het Het	Het Het	0 0	0.99 1	Disease-causing Disease-causing	PVS1+PM2+PP3+PP5 PVS1+PM2+PP3+PP5	5 5	N/A Van de Graaf, 1999, J Clin
-3 T(	G/TG	E3	c.229G>A	p.Gly77Ser (Comp Het)	rs1422698837	0.0007	VUS	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PP3+PP4+PP5	3	Endocrinol Metab Van de Graaf, 1999, J Clin Endoc
		E41	c.7123G>A	p.Gly2375Arg (Comp Het)	rs137854434	0.0002	LP	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	Metab Van de Graaf, 1999, J Clin
=4 TC	G/TG	E3	c.229G>A	p.Gly77Ser (Comp Het)	rs1422698837	0.0007	VUS	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PP3+PP4+PP5	3	Endocrinol Metab Van de Graaf, 1999, J Clin
	avia	20	U.LLUGS/1	prodytroor (comprise)	101122000001	0.0001	100		1101	0		Diobabb baabii ig		0	Endocrinol Metab
		E4	c.416G>A	p.Trp139*(Comp Het)	rs141306917	0.0001	Ρ	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PM2+PP3+PP5	5	Hishinuma, 2006, J Clin Endocrir Metab
F23 T0	G/TPO	E9 (TG)	c.1958G>A	p.Gly653Asp (Het oligo)	rs2069548	0.015	IP	Het	WT	0	0.99	Disease-causing	PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	de Filippis, 2017, Hum Mol Gene
		E13 (TPO)	c.2386G>A	p.Asp796Asn (Het oligo)	rs773759871	0.00	P	WT	Het	õ	1	Disease-causing	PVS1+PM1+PM2+PM5 +PP3	5	N/A
8 70	G/TPO	E10 (TG)	c.2610G>T	p.Glu870His (Het oligo)	rs2229843	0.0042	LP	WT	Het	0	0.96	Polymorphism	PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	N/A
		E14 (TPO)	c.2513G>A	p.Cys838Tyr (Het oligo)	N/A	N/A	LP	Het	WT	õ	0.99	Disease-causing	PM1+PM2+PP3+PP4	4	N/A
22 TF	PO	E9	c.1399G>A	p.Val467Met (Het)	rs373267637	0.0002	LP	N/A	N/A	0.01	0.94	Polymorphism	PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	N/A
	PO	E9	c.1399G>A	p.Val467Met (Het)	rs373267637	0.0002	LP	WT	Het	0.01	0.94	Polymorphism	PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	N/A
	PO	E14	c.2422del	p.Cys808Alafs*24 (Het)	rs763662774	0.0001	P	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	FVS1+PM2+PP3+PP5	5	Bakker, 2000, J Clin Endocrinol Metab
-19 <i>TF</i>	PO/TPO	F11	c.1978C>G	p.Gln660Glu (Comp Het)	rs121908088	0.0002	Р	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PP3+PP5	5	Santos, 1999, Clin Endoc
10 11	10/110	E14	c.2395G>C	p.Glu799Gln(Comp Het)	N/A	N/A	LP	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PM1+PM2+PM5 +PP3	4	Bikker, 1995, Hum Mut
=26 TA	PO/TPO	E8	c.1197G>C	p.Ser398Thr (Homo)	N/A	N/A	P	Homo	WT	0	0.94	Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PM3+PP3+PP5	5	N/A
	PO/TPO PO/TPO	E0 E17	c.2749-	p.? (Homo)	N/A N/A	N/A N/A	VUS	Het	Het	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PP3+PP4+PP5	3	N/A N/A
-0E T		55	2_2802del	p App1201 vafa*00 // I====)		0.00	P	Hat	Hot	0	4	Diagona		F	Divolto 2002 Liver Mat
	'PO/TPO 'SHR	E5 E2	c.387del c.202C>T	p.Asn129Lysfs*80 (Homo) p.Pro68Ser (Het)	rs766399662 rs142063461	0.00 0.0004	P	Het Het	Het WT	0 0	1 1	Disease-causing Disease-causing	FVS1+PM2+PP3+PP5 BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	5 5	Rivolta, 2003, Hum Mut Tenenbaum-Rakover, 2009, J Cl
F15 <i>T</i> 3	SHR	E11	c.1349G>A	n Arad 50 His (Hot)	rs189261858	0.0003	Р	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	5	Endocrinol Metab Tenenbaum-Rakover, 2015, Thyr
	SHR SHR	E11	c.1349G>A c.1612G>A	p.Arg450His (Het) p.Ala538Thr (Het)	rs151264748	0.0003	IP	WT	Het	0	1	Disease-causing Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5 BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4	5	N/A
	SHR SHR	E11	c.1349G>A	p.Arg450His (Het)	rs189261858	0.0003	P	Het	WT	0	1	Disease-causing	BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4 BP1+PM2+PP3+PP4+PP5	4	Tenenbaum-Rakover, 2015, Thy
U 13			0.1349G>A	p.mg4ounis (nel)	12103201000	0.0003	11	net	VV I	U	I	Disease-Causing	ы I+FIVIZ+FF3+PP4+PP5	Ð	renenuaum-nakover, 2015, Thy

WT, wild type; homo, homozygous; Het, heterozygous; Comp Het: compound heterozygous; Het Oligo, oligogenism; P, pathogenic; LP, likely pathogenic; VUS, variant of uncertain significance; TG, thyroglobulin; TPO, thyroperoxidase; TSHR, TSH receptor; SLC5A5, sodium/iodide symporter (NIS); DUOX2, dual oxidase 2; N/A, not applicable.

Oliver-Petit et al.



FIGURE 1 | Phenotype/genotype correlation for the 37 patients according to severity of Congenital Hyperthyroidism (ESPE guidelines), NGS results and related to type and number of variants. \*p < 0.05.

identification encourage familial counselling and can allow for delaying the decision to treat for 3 years. Over the past two decades, the increased incidence of TDH associated with the high heterogeneity of its biological spectrum has been investigated. Relative to the technical limitations of direct sequencing for diagnosis, recent studies have demonstrated the efficiency of nextgeneration sequencing technology for CH screening (4, 6, 8, 19, 20). Our study exploring 65 patients identified by the French neonatal screening program in one reference centre showed that, for predominantly non-consanguineous families of different ethnic origins, familial TDH was frequent in France (56.9%). Irrespective of biological CH severity, we also observed that goiter was mainly associated with familial TDH (56.7%) compared to infants negative for ACMG variant classes 3 to 5, as a relevant clinical sign to ask for a genetic investigation. As previously described, we identified that homozygous variants in TG, TPO, and SLC5A5 and oligogenicity were associated with goiter and severe CH whereas monoallelic variants in TSHR, TG, DUOX2, and TPO were related to milder phenotypes (21, 22). Inactivating heterozygous TSHR variants were present in 10.8% (4/37 cases) of our TDH cases with a heterogeneous clinical presentation: CH severity was inconstant, especially for the hot spot variant Arg450His leading to both subclinical (F6) and severe CH (F15). These results were in accordance with previous recommendations for systematic molecular analysis of the TSHR gene for CH with TSH resistance presentation (23). Thus, genetic exploration of TDH should be now considered as necessary as that for thyroid dysgenesis after neonatal screening.

In our study, monoallelic *DUOX2* variants were as frequent as monoallelic *TPO* variants, but were also more frequently involved

through an oligogenic mechanism. *DUOX2* variants are associated with high phenotypic variability from transient to permanent CH and sometimes there is a difference in CH severity for the same variant (24). We observed the same variability from severe to mild or transient CH for infants in our study without a convincing hypothyroidism being found in the carrier parent. The presence of two DUOX isoforms could constitute an efficient redundant mechanism to maintain sufficient  $H_2O_2$  supply for iodide organification. Thus, transient CH could be related to the difference in thyroid hormone requirements from the neonatal period to adulthood with sufficient  $H_2O_2$  supply by DUOX1 only after the infantile period (5, 25, 26).

The contribution of oligogenic variants was frequent (21.6%) in our study, with diverse CH severity. Our results are consistent with the recent study of de Filippis and colleagues presenting frequent oligogenic inheritance (26.2%) in CH patients with either gland-in-situ or dysgenesis (6). In such cases, heterozygous variants in several genes can lead to cross-loss of enzyme activity (27, 28). Thus, monoallelic variants in the TG gene suggest that the oligogenic mechanism could be related to previous questionable CH cases with apparently unique heterozygous variants in the TG gene on direct sequencing (29). By exploring oligogenic inheritance, we showed that this mechanism was responsible for TDH with a significant association with severe CH and goiter. This oligogenic model could also explain differences in the penetrance and expressivity of CH in some families.

Our NGS design was able to detect CNV, intronic and proximal regulatory variants in the chromosomal region of the

#### TABLE 2 | Clinical and biological data for the 37 children diagnosed for TDH.

ID	Sex	Serum TSH (confirmation)	Serum FT4	Thyroid Evaluation	CH Severity	Zygosity	Gene	Permanent/ transient
F11	F	109	3.4	Goitre	Severe	Het	DUOX2	Transient
F12	F	92	12	Eutopic	Mild	Het	DUOX2	Transient
F21	Μ	74	15	Eutopic	Mild	Het	DUOX2	Transient
F30	Μ	>300	3.4	Goitre	Severe	Homo	DUOX2/DUOX2	Permanent
F36	F	76	13	Goitre	Mild	Het	DUOX2	Transient
F37	F	640	2.6	Ectopia	Severe	Het	DUOX2	Permanent
F32-	Μ	227	3.5	Goitre	Severe	Oligo	DUOX2/TPO	Permanent
1								
F32-	Μ	327	3.5	Goitre	Severe	Oligo	DUOX2/TPO	Permanent
2						-		
F2	Μ	>150	1.7	Goitre	Severe	Homo	SLC5A5/	Permanent
	_						SLC5A5	_
F13	F	12	9.1	Eutopic	Moderate	Het	TG	Permanent
F16	Μ	>100	4.4	Eutopic	Severe	Het	TG	Permanent
F18	Μ	12	7	Eutopic	Moderate	Het	TG	Permanent
F24	Μ	150	5.6	Goitre	Moderate	Het	TG	Permanent
F29	Μ	34	14.3	Eutopic	Mild	Het	TG	Permanent
F31	Μ	26	14.2	Eutopic	Mild	Het	TG	Permanent
F33	F	95	11.2	Eutopic	Mild	Het	TG	Permanent
F10	Μ	128	7	Goitre	Moderate	Oligo	TG/DUOX2	Permanent
F20	F	300	4.4	Goitre	Severe	Oligo	TG/DUOX2	Permanent
F7	Μ	13	15	Goitre	Mild	Oligo	TG/DUOX2	Permanent
F9	Μ	62	10	Goitre	Mild	Oligo	TG/DUOX2	Permanent
F1	F	>500	4.3	Goitre	Severe	Homo	TG/TG	Permanent
F28	Μ	>180	3.7	Goitre	Severe	Homo	TG/TG	Permanent
F3	Μ	N/A	8.6	Goitre	Moderate	HetComp	TG/TG	Permanent
F4	Μ	173	5.1	Goitre	Moderate	HetComp	TG/TG	Permanent
F23	Μ	>100	1.6	Goitre	Severe	Oligo	TG/TPO	Permanent
F8	F	700	1.2	Goitre	Severe	Oligo	TG/TPO	Permanent
F22	F	N/A	11.9	Eutopic	Mild	Het	TPO	Permanent
F25	F	29	13.6	Eutopic	Mild	Het	TPO	Permanent
F5	Μ	13	18.2	Eutopic	TSH	Het	TPO	Permanent
540	_	100		0.1	resistance		T00 (T00	
F19	F	>100	2	Goitre	Severe	HetComp	TPO/TPO	Permanent
F26	F	>150	2.9	Eutopic	Severe	Homo	TPO/TPO	Permanent
F27	F	N/A	8.7	Goitre	Moderate	Homo	TPO/TPO	Permanent
F35	M	24.2	12.6	Goitre	Mild	Homo	TPO/TPO	Permanent
F14	F	44	20.6	Нуро	TSH resistance	Het	TSHR	Permanent
F15	М	447	2.2	Eutopic	Severe	Het	TSHR	Permanent
F34	F	61	8.6	Goitre	Moderate	Het	TSHR	Permanent
F6	М	50	16.6	Нуро	TSH	Het	TSHR	Permanent
					resistance			

Severity of disease is defined on FT4 levels at the age of 10 days according to ESPE consensus criteria in mild, moderate or severe (respectively in clear, gray, or black); severe, < 5 pmol/L; moderate, 5–10 pmol/L; mild, 10–15 pmol/L. Serum TSH at confirmation, IU/ml; FT4, pmol/L.

Hom, homozygous; Het, heterozygous; HetComp, compound heterozygous; Oligo, oligogenism; TG, thyroglobulin; TPO, thyroperoxidase; TSHR, TSH receptor; SLC5A5, sodium/iodide symporter (NIS); DUOX2, dual oxidase 2; N/A, not applicable.

genes explored. None of these anomalies was detected in our families. This modern genetic testing has demonstrated that complex mechanisms can be frequently involved in the phenotypic heterogeneity of CH, even if the presence of additional variants on non-explored chromosomes or epigenetic regulation could not be excluded (30). We recommend increasing the diagnostic efficiency of CH by screening a large panel of genes involved in thyroid genesis, hormone synthesis and action from the TDH diagnosis. In accordance with recent recommendations from the ENDO-European Reference Network (30), we confirm that targeted-NGS or WES analyses for documented families should be used to improve CH diagnosis and treatment. Thus, except for the *DUOX2* heterozygous variant, infants with TDH and positive for deleterious variants did not need a diagnostic re-evaluation between two- and three-years age.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data for this study have been deposited in the European Nucleotide Archive (ENA) at EMBL-EBI under accession number PRJEB42793.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by DC-2015-2450 Biological Resource Center of Toulouse Hospital. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors provided contributions to study conception and design, acquisition and interpretation of data, and drafting the article. Most contributions in design of the study: IO-P and FS. Data collection: IO-P, TE, MB, SG and AC. Analysis of data: FS

## REFERENCES

- Oliver-Petit I, Lobinet E, Gennero I, Edouard T, Cartault A, Tauber M. Recent Incidence of Congenital Hypothyroidism in Midi-Pyrenees Region. Ann Endocrinol (2016) 76:317. doi: 10.1016/j.ando.2015.07.081
- Barry Y, Bonaldi C, Goulet V, Coutant R, Léger J, Paty A-C, et al. Increased Incidence of Congenital Hypothyroidism in France From 1982 to 2012: A Nationwide Multicenter Analysis. Ann Epidemiol (2016) 26:100–5.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.11.005
- Saba C, Guilmin-Crepon S, Zénaty D, Martinerie L, Paulsen A, Simon D, et al. Early Determinants of Thyroid Function Outcomes in Children With Congenital Hypothyroidism and a Normally Located Thyroid Gland: A Regional Cohort Study. *Thyroid* (2018) 28:959–67. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018. 0154
- Löf C, Patyra K, Kuulasmaa T, Vangipurapu J, Undeutsch H, Jaeschke H, et al. Detection of Novel Gene Variants Associated With Congenital Hypothyroidism in a Finnish Patient Cohort. *Thyroid* (2016) 26:1215–24. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0016
- Park K-J, Park H-K, Kim Y-J, Lee K-R, Park J-H, Park J-H, et al. Duox2 Mutations Are Frequently Associated With Congenital Hypothyroidism in the Korean Population. *Ann Lab Med* (2016) 36:145–53. doi: 10.3343/alm. 2016.36.2.145
- Filippis T, Gelmini G, Paraboschi E, Vigone MC, Frenna MD, Marelli F, et al. A Frequent Oligogenic Involvement in Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Hum Mol Genet* (2017) 26:2507–14. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddx145
- Nicholas AK, Serra EG, Cangul H, Alyaarubi S, Ullah I, Schoenmakers E, et al. Comprehensive Screening of Eight Known Causative Genes in Congenital Hypothyroidism With Gland-In-Situ. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101:4521–31. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-1879
- Fan X, Fu C, Shen Y, Li C, Luo S, Li Q, et al. Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis of Twelve Known Causative Genes in Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Clin Chim Acta* (2017) 468:76–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2017.02.009
- Peters C, Nicholas AK, Schoenmakers E, Lyons G, Langham S, Serra EG, et al. Duox2/Duoxa2 Mutations Frequently Cause Congenital Hypothyroidism That Evades Detection on Newborn Screening in the United Kingdom. *Thyroid* (2019) 29:790–801. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0587
- van Trotsenburg AS, Stoupa A, Léger J, Rohrer TR, Peters C, Fugazzola L, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism: A 2020 Consensus Guidelines Update An Endo-European REFERENCE NETWORK (ERN) Initiative Endorsed by the European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and the European Society for Endocrinology. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:387–419. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0333
- Derouault P, Chauzeix J, Rizzo D, Miressi F, Magdelaine C, Bourthoumieu S, et al. Covcopcan: An Efficient Tool to Detect Copy Number Variation From Amplicon Sequencing Data in Inherited Diseases and Cancer. *PloS Comput Biol* (2020) 16:e1007503. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007503
- 12. Richards S, Aziz N, Bale S, Bick D, Das S, Gastier-Foster J, et al. Standards and Guidelines for the Interpretation of Sequence Variants: A Joint Consensus Recommendation of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics

and VJ. Manuscript writing: IO-P and FS. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the European Intereg Poctefa Piprepred Project (2014-2020).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021. 657913/full#supplementary-material

and the Association for Molecular Pathology. *Genet Med* (2015) 17:405–24. doi: 10.1038/gim.2015.30

- Lee J, Di Jeso B, Arvan P. The Cholinesterase-Like Domain of Thyroglobulin Functions as an Intramolecular Chaperone. J Clin Invest (2008) 118:2950–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI35164
- Kanou Y, Hishinuma A, Tsunekawa K, Seki K, Mizuno Y, Fujisawa H, et al. Thyroglobulin Gene Mutations Producing Defective Intracellular Transport of Thyroglobulin Are Associated With Increased Thyroidal Type 2 Iodothyronine Deiodinase Activity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92:1451–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1242
- Hulur I, Hermanns P, Nestoris C, Heger S, Refetoff S, Pohlenz J, et al. A Single Copy of the Recently Identified Dual Oxidase Maturation Factor (Duoxa) 1 Gene Produces Only Mild Transient Hypothyroidism in a Patient With a Novel Biallelic DUOXA2 Mutation and Monoallelic Duoxa1 Deletion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96:E841–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2321
- Romanet P, Osei L, Netchine I, Pertuit M, Enjalbert A, Reynaud R, et al. Case Report of GNAS Epigenetic Defect Revealed by a Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Pediatrics* (2015) 135:e1079–83. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-2806
- Ferrand M, Le Fourn V, Franc J-L. Increasing Diversity of Human Thyroperoxidase Generated by Alternative Splicing. Characterized by Molecular Cloning of New Transcripts With Single- and Multispliced Mrnas. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:3793–800. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209513200
- Le SN, Porebski BT, McCoey J, Fodor J, Riley B, Godlewska M, et al. Modelling of Thyroid Peroxidase Reveals Insights Into Its Enzyme Function and Autoantigenicity. *PloS One* (2015) 10:e0142615. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142615
- Muzza M, Rabbiosi S, Vigone MC, Zamproni I, Cirello V, Maffini MA, et al. The Clinical and Molecular Characterization of Patients With Dyshormonogenic Congenital Hypothyroidism Reveals Specific Diagnostic Clues for DUOX2 Defects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2014) 99:E544–53. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-3618
- 20. Fu C, Wang J, Luo S, Yang Q, Li Q, Zheng H, et al. Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis of TSHR in 384 Chinese Subclinical Congenital Hypothyroidism (CH) and CH Patients. *Clin Chim Acta* (2016) 462:127–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2016.09.007
- Bakker B, Bikker H, Vulsma T, de Randamie JS, Wiedijk BM, De Vijlder JJ. Two Decades of Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism in The Netherlands: TPO Gene Mutations in Total Iodide Organification Defects (An Update). J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2000) 85:3708–12. doi: 10.1210/ jcem.85.10.6878
- Targovnik HM. Importance of Molecular Genetic Analysis in the Diagnosis and Classification of Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Endocrine* (2014) 45:163–4. doi: 10.1007/s12020-013-0075-z
- Persani L, Calebiro D, Cordella D, Weber G, Gelmini G, de Filippis T, et al. Genetics and Phenomics of Hypothyroidism Due to TSH Resistance. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) 322:72–82. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2010.01.008
- 24. Jiang H, Wu J, Ke S, Hu Y, Fei A, Zhen Y, et al. High Prevalence of DUOX2 Gene Mutations Among Children With Congenital Hypothyroidism in Central China. Eur J Med Genet (2016) 59:526–31. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejmg.2016.07.004

- De Deken X, Miot F. Duox Defects and Their Roles in Congenital Hypothyroidism. Methods Mol Biol (2019) 1982:667–93. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9424-3\_37
- Srichomkwun P, Takamatsu J, Nickerson DA, Bamshad MJ, Chong JX, Refetoff S. Duox2 Gene Mutation Manifesting as Resistance to Thyrotropin Phenotype. *Thyroid* (2017) 27:129–31. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0469
- Vockley J. Metabolism as a Complex Genetic Trait, a Systems Biology Approach: Implications for Inborn Errors of Metabolism and Clinical Diseases. J Inherit Metab Dis (2008) 31:619–29. doi: 10.1007/s10545-008-1005-8
- Sriphrapradang C, Tenenbaum-Rakover Y, Weiss M, Barkoff MS, Admoni O, Kawthar D, et al. The Coexistence of a Novel Inactivating Mutant Thyrotropin Receptor Allele With Two Thyroid Peroxidase Mutations: A Genotype-Phenotype Correlation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96:E1001–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0127
- Targovnik HM, Citterio CE, Rivolta CM. Thyroglobulin Gene Mutations in Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2011) 75:311–21. doi: 10.1159/000324882

 Fugazzola L, Cerutti N, Mannavola D, Vannucchi G, Fallini C, Persani L, et al. Monoallelic Expression of Mutant Thyroid Peroxidase Allele Causing Total Iodide Organification Defect. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2003) 88:3264–71. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021377

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Oliver-Petit, Edouard, Jacques, Bournez, Cartault, Grunenwald and Savagner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Congenital Hypothyroidism and the Deleterious Effects on Auditory Function and Language Skills: A Narrative Review

Caio Leônidas Oliveira Andrade<sup>1</sup>, Crésio de Aragão Dantas Alves<sup>2</sup> and Helton Estrela Ramos<sup>3,4,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Life Sciences, University of the State of Bahia, Salvador, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Medical School, Institute of Health Science-Federal University of Bahia, Salvador, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Post-Graduate Program in Medicine and Health, Medical School of Medicine, Federal University of Bahia, Salvador, Brazil, <sup>4</sup> Postgraduate Program in Interactive Processes of Organs and Systems, Health & Science Institute, Federal University of Bahia, Salvador, Brazil, <sup>5</sup> Bioregulation Department, Health and Science Institute, Federal University of Bahia, Salvador, Brazil

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Cintia E. Citterio, CONICET Institute of Immunology, Genetics and Metabolism (INIGEM), Argentina

#### Reviewed by:

Anoop Arunagiri, University of Michigan, United States Hannah Cooper, University College London, United Kingdom Rudolf Hoermann, Klinikum Lüdenscheid, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Helton Estrela Ramos ramoshelton@gmail.com orcid.org/0000-0002-2900-2099

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 24 February 2021 Accepted: 01 July 2021 Published: 10 August 2021

#### Citation:

Andrade CLO, Alves CAD and Ramos HE (2021) Congenital Hypothyroidism and the Deleterious Effects on Auditory Function and Language Skills: A Narrative Review. Front. Endocrinol. 12:671784. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.671784 Congenital hypothyroidism (CH) is an endocrine disease commonly found in newborns and is related to the absence or reduction of thyroid hormones (THs), which are essential for development since intrauterine life. Children with CH can develop hearing problems as THs are crucial for the auditory pathway's development and maturation. Sensory deprivations, especially in hearing disorders at early ages of development, can impair language skills, literacy, and behavioral, cognitive, social, and psychosocial development. In this review we describe clinical and molecular aspects linking CH and hearing loss.

Keywords: thyroid, congenital hypothyroidism, hearing loss, auditory system, hypothyroidism

## INTRODUCTION

The development of auditory pathways depends on the presence of adequate serum levels of thyroid hormones (TH) and their action on TH receptors (1-3). These hormones regulate proteins and enzymes responsible for the structural formation of the inner ear, being crucial for the proper performance of auditory function (4).

In fact, TH deficiency or TH defect action can cause severe changes in the development of the auditory system (2, 5). Clinical situations of reduction or absence of normal serum levels of TH, such as congenital hypothyroidism (CH), are frequently associated with hearing loss (6, 7). However, the incidence of hearing loss (HL) in individuals with CH is still uncertain, and it could affect ~20% of patients (8–10), occurring isolated or associated with vertigo and tinnitus (11).

It is well-known that when sensory deprivation events occur in the first months of life, a period considered critical for the maturation of biological functions, there is a high potential for subsequent

**Abbreviations:** CH, congenital hypothyroidism;  $T_4$ , Hormone thyroxine; hypothalamic TRH, Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone; NNSP, National Neonatal Screening Program; NS, Newborn screening; PAX8, Paired box gene 8; *SECISBP2*, Selenocysteine-insertion sequence binding protein 2;  $T_3$ , Triiodothyronine; TH, thyroid hormones; TSH, Thyroid Stimulating Hormone; TR, Thyroid hormone receptor; *THRα*, thyroid hormone receptor alpha; THRβ, Thyroid hormone receptor beta; TSHR, Thyroid Stimulating Hormone receptor; DIO2, Type 2 deiodinase; OHC, Outer hair cells.

significant delays in language, cognition, academic, emotional, and social development (12, 13). Therefore, the early detection and intervention of hearing problems, even in subclinical stages, allow individuals with auditory dysfunction to obtain sociolinguistic performances close to normal hearing (12, 14).

Given these facts and considering the scarcity of literature on the subject, the present study sought to achieve a narrative review on the probable dysfunctions of the auditory pathways connected to CH and TH deprivation in early neonatatal period, and its adverse impacts on social performance and language acquisition and development.

## **Clinical Aspects of Congenital**

CH is an endocrine disease commonly found in newborns (15) with a worldwide occurrence of approximately 1:2,000 to 1:4,000 live births. It mainly affects females in the proportion of roughly 2:1 (16). CH is a public health issue, which can be detected with newborn screening (NS). The lack of an early diagnosis and adequate treatment can result in neurological and motor development changes and irreversible mental retardation (17). The main objective of neonatal screening is to promote the detection of congenital diseases before the symptomatic phase, enabling early treatment (18). CH does not usually present symptoms at birth, or there are only subtle manifestations of the disease, making clinical diagnosis difficult (19). The neonatal screening program recommends a TSH cut-off level of 10 mUI/L (7, 20). Newborns with high TSH in the test are referred for evaluation and confirmation of the diagnosis (21). Confirmation of the diagnosis of CH is made with laboratory exams, showing TSH greater than 15 mUI/L and total or free  $T_4$  with normal or low values (7, 17).

CH is normally classified as permanent or transient, whose etiology is classified into primary, secondary, and tertiary. The permanent condition requires lifelong treatment, as the hormonal deficiency is persistent. On the other hand, transient CH regains typical TH production in the initial months or years of life. In permanent primary cases, thyroid dysgenesis (TD) corresponds to 85% of cases, whereas dyshormonogenesis (DH) represents 10 to 15% of cases (22). In secondary CH, the lesion is in the pituitary; and in the tertiary form, the dysfunction is in the hypothalamus. The last two cases are extremely rare. Central CH (secondary or tertiary) is commonly associated with other pituitary hormonal deficiencies (15, 17). The absence of stimuli from pituitary TSH (Thyroid Stimulating Hormone) or hypothalamic TRH (Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone) is the cause of deficient hormone production in the central CH (23).

The etiology and clinical phenotype of CH become essential in determining the severity, outcomes, and treatment of the disease, as patients may need therapy with higher doses and close monitoring, especially during early periods of life (24). THs are essential for adequate neurodevelopment since intrauterine life (25). Their absence leads to dysfunction of specific brain areas, affecting regions such as the posterior parietal, inferior temporal lobes, caudate nucleus, and hippocampus, which are responsible for, respectively, spatial location, object identification, attention, and memory (26, 27).

# Action of Thyroid Hormones on Auditory Function

THs play an essential role in developing the inner ear during the embryonic period (28). Since the fetal period, the  $T_3$  is essential for auditory development, when the embryo in the first trimester depends exclusively on maternal THs, beginning its hormonal synthesis in the second half of the gestational period (2, 3). Triiodothyronine ( $T_3$ ) is mediated by the thyroid hormone receptor (THR), whose action on cochlear sensory cells is caused by the differential expression of thyroid hormone receptor alpha (THR $\alpha$ ) and thyroid hormone receptor beta (THR $\beta$ ) (21).

In the rodent cochlea, THRs are expressed in the sensory epithelium and other tissues from mid-gestation into the postnatal period and function as transcription factors playing important roles in control target genes relevant for auditory development and function, and the abnormal regulation of genes controlled by THRs has been assumed to be the origin of neurosensory deafness associated with CH (29).

The *THR* $\alpha$  gene is widely expressed throughout the spiral organ of corti, while the *THR* $\beta$  gene has its expression prominently in the greater epithelial ridges of sensitive hair cells (5, 30, 31). This gene expression pattern points out that the spiral organ is a direct-action site for TH and explains the scientific evidence of morphological and functional abnormalities of the structures that form the cochlea in cases of hypothyroidism (28, 32–37). Indeed, the THRs' expression is timely coordinated in order to have a very precise signaling necessary for proper THR-dependent differentiation events, comprising complete inner sulcus, sensory epithelium, spiral ganglion, cochlea, and auditory nerve maturation (38).

**Table 1** summarizes mouse models of TH action or production defects. Actually, THR $\alpha$ 1 is considered nonessential for hearing, while defects on THR $\beta$ , in mice, present deafness linked to cochlear alterations. On animal models, THR $\beta$ -null mice show threshold elevations ranged from a few decibels to complete loss of auditory responsiveness. An isoformspecific importance ranking is observed, because only THR $\beta$ 1 signaling defect is associated with retardation in the expression of the fast-activating potassium conductance in inner hair cells, whereas deletion of the THR $\beta$ 2 isoform does not lead to anormal cochlear function (38).

Nonetheless, deletion of both THR $\beta$ 1 and THR $\alpha$ 1 produces exacerbated defects that simulate those provoked by hypothyroidism (38). In reality, human genetic alterations associated with loss of TR $\beta$  function, a condition named resistance to TH, also result in deafness (39).

The critical developmental time period of the middle and inner ears occurs in parallel to the natural elevation of TH serum plasma levels. Thyroxine  $(T_4)$ , liberated by the thyroid gland into the circulation, must be metabolically activated or inactivated by iodothyronine deiodinases, and 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine  $(T_3)$  is the main ligand of the THRs. Therefore, TH adequate intracellular levels are accomplished after action of deiodinase type 2 (D2) and deiodinase type 1 (DI) encoded by Dio2 and Dio1, respectively (29).

TABLE 1   Mouse models for understanding the relevance of genes involved in thyroid development, ho	ormone biosynthesis, and thyroid hormone action on hearing function.
---	--

Gene	Molecular mechanism	Thyroid phenotype	Hearing function
Pax8 <sup>-/-</sup>	Inactivation of the Pax8 gene	CH, Athyreosis	Deafness, degeneration of outer hair cells Deafness, sensorineural hearing loss
Tshr <sup>hyt/hyt</sup>	Autosomal recessive mutation in the TSHR gene	CH, Thyroid hypoplasia	Deaf-mutism, abnormality in the outer hair cell morphology
TRβ <sup>-/-</sup> TRβ <sup>tm1/tm1-</sup>	Inactivation of the $TR\beta$ gene $TR\beta$ gene point mutation reducing the affinity of TR	Resistance to thyroid hormone	Deafness, sensorineural hearing loss Deafness, sensorineural hearing loss Deafness
<i>TRα1<sup>-/-</sup>β<sup>-/-</sup></i> SECISBP2	to TH Compound $TR\alpha 1$ and $\beta$ genes Gene indirectly disrupt T3 signaling by inhibiting translation of deiodinases	Resistance to thyroid hormone	Deafness Hearing loss Otitis media
SLC26A4	Gene codifica o transportador de ânions Pendrin.	Goiter Pendred syndrome Defective organification of iodide in the thyroid gland	Non-syndromic deafness Sensorineural hearing loss Enlarged vestibular aqueduct in the inner
DIO 2 -/-	Deletion of Dio2		ear Deafness

PAX8, paired box gene 8; SECISBP2, selenocysteine-insertion sequence binding protein 2; TSHR, thyroid stimulating hormone receptor (TSHR); DIO2, type 2 deiodinase; THRα, thyroid hormone receptor alpha; THRβ, thyroid hormone receptor beta; CH, congenital hypothyroidism; SLC26A4, solute carrier family 26 member 4.

Other evidence that suggests strong influences of TH in the cochlea is related to the expression of the *SLC26a5* gene, which encodes the prestin protein. This protein is considered the outer hair cells (OHC) engine in the cochlear amplification process (40), which is reduced, immature, and with reduced distribution under hypothyroidism conditions (41–43). The gene expression encoding the K<sup>+</sup> channels, *KCNQ4*, responsible for the endolymphatic potential formation, has also been discussed in the literature. Therefore, it has been shown that these ion channels are significantly reduced and poorly distributed under conditions of thyroid hypofunction (44). **Figure 1** illustrates the molecular structures inherent in external hair cells, which are dependent on adequate serum levels for thyroid hormones in the body.

Hormone deficiency can cause reductions in  $\beta$ -tectorin protein in the tectorial membrane, which explains structural abnormalities of the tectorial membrane and cochlear function. The OHCs are susceptible to serum thyroid hormone levels (36). Thus, serum levels of thyroid hormones circulating in the bloodstream can affect cell differentiation, which reduces the amount of organelles in the cytoplasm (37). These changes may be accompanied by abnormalities of the afferent dendrites and delayed growth of the efferent terminals that make direct connections with the OHC (4).

In the case of neural and central structures, studies in animal models have shown abnormalities in myelination and reduction of axons in the anterior commissure and corpus callosum (36). There is also a reduction in the number of microtubules in the neural cytoplasm and an altered distribution of apical dendrites of the pyramidal neurons (37). Added to this, there are records of a decline in the deoxyglucose levels of the metabolism marker in regions such as the cochlear nucleus, superior olivary complex, nuclei of the lateral lemniscus, inferior colliculus, medial geniculate body, and auditory cortex. Therefore, it is possible to state that TH deficiency will significantly affect the auditory pathway (42).

## Consequences of CH on Auditory System

Hearing is one of the essential senses for human communication, and it is where the individual develops speech. In addition, it is through hearing that the process of acquisition and development of oral language occurs. The auditory system consists of a peripheral portion (outer, middle, and inner ears), which captures sounds and transforms them into electrical impulses, and a central portion (brain auditory pathways), responsible for the analysis and interpretation of what is heard (45). Any complication in one of these portions can result in hearing loss (46), compromising not only communication but also receptive and expressive language, literacy, school performance, and the child's psychosocial development (45).

The functionality of the thyroid gland is crucial for the development of the auditory system (1). THs are vital for auditory pathway morphogenesis and maturation (3), and the deficiency of these hormones jeopardizes the development of hearing (47). Therefore, CH can result in hearing loss (27), and even with early treatment, small hearing changes can be observed in individuals with CH (48). This happens due to the cochlea's susceptibility to metabolic disorders, resulting from its intense activity and low energy reserve (49). THs act in both systems (peripheral and central) in the auditory system, and they are responsible for forming key structures of the inner ear, such as the cochlear duct, organ of Corti, and tectorial membrane (50). Therefore, the shortage or lack of THs brings losses to these structures.

Audiological changes noted in CH patients are diverse. However, losses with sensorineural, bilateral, and symmetrical characteristics are often found, with degrees varying from mild to moderate (8, 9). Actually, the risk of hearing loss may be associated with the severity of CH (43). In the researched literature, hearing changes in CH are characterized as peripheral or central, of insidious occurrence, with impaired auditory abilities (cognitive functions related to hearing). These



skills are essential to the development of oral and written language and social-emotional progress. Additionally, they affect the individual in periods considered critical to developing global skills and full stage of experimentation and interaction with the environment, compromising the quality of life. In this context, when a hearing disorder is detected early, even during the neonatal period, early intervention through speech therapy and indication of hearing aids, if necessary, may be required and performed, preventing future harm to the child.

# Impact of Hearing Loss at Early Ages

In cases where TH deficiency occurs in early periods, as in CH, the risk of hearing loss in children is increased (8, 10). This data is significantly worrying when thinking about the harm that the reduction or absence of action of TH in the crucial periods of neurological development and maturation can bring. The central nervous system is one of the most affected (51), and it can alter the processing of the acoustic signal up to the cortex, causing

difficulties in auditory skills (52) that will result in problems with behavioral, language, and social difficulties.

The crucial periods for the development of children's hearing and oral language occur in early childhood. Nerve structures are already specialized in the brain of newborns with auditory cortical areas formed and ready to receive acoustic stimuli from the external environment. Consequently, the first contact with sounds is provided, instigating the mother tongue's acquisition and increasing the linguistic repertoire (53, 54). Hence, when newborns have alterations in their auditory pathways that limit them to having an adequate sound sensation during the first 3 years of life, their linguistic and social potential will be low and reduced (53, 54). In the absence or deficit of sound stimuli at critical times, without adequate intervention, the child may present vital educational, social, and emotional delays (12).

The literature also shows that some language deficits, fine motor skills, visuospatial processing, attention and memory, and hearing disorders can persist in patients with CH even with early treatment (47, 48). Even moderate or mild hearing loss can alter

the hearing perception of voiceless phonemes (55, 56), making the understanding of soft speech unintelligible, even in a quiet environment (57). As a result, phonological discrimination, phonological awareness, and phonological memory are compromised, consequently interfering in the learning processes of these children, directly affecting their quality of life and their families (58, 59).

## CONCLUSION

THs are essential for brain and intellectual development, as well as for peripheral and central auditory functions that extend from

### REFERENCES

- Sohmer H, Freeman S. The Importance of Thyroid Hormone for Auditory Development in the Fetus and Neonate. *Audiol Neurootol* (1996) 1(3):137–47. doi: 10.1159/000259194
- Ng L, Kelley MW, Forrest D. Making Sense With Thyroid Hormone–the Role of T3 in Auditory Development. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2013) 9(5):296–307. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2013.58
- de Andrade CLO, Machado GC, Fernandes LC, Albuquerque JM, Casais-e-Silva LL, Ramos HE, et al. Mechanisms Involved in Hearing Disorders of Thyroid Ontogeny: A Literature Review. Arch Endocrinol Metab (2017) 61: p.501–05. doi: 10.1590/2359-3997000000292
- Uziel A, Marot M, Rabie A. Corrective Effects of Thyroxine on Cochlear Abnormalities Induced by Congenital Hypothyroidism in the Rat. II. Electrophysiological Study. *Brain Res* (1985) 351(1):123-7. doi: 10.1016/ 0165-3806(85)90237-8
- Knipper M, Zinn C, Maier H, Praetorius M, Rohbock K, Köpschall I, et al. Thyroid Hormone Deficiency Before the Onset of Hearing Causes Irreversible Damage to Peripheral and Central Auditory Systems. *J Neurophysiol* (2000) 83(5):3101–12. doi: 10.1152/jn.2000.83.5.3101
- François M, Bonfils P, Leger J, Avan P, Czernichow P, Narcy P. Audiological Assessment of Eleven Congenital Hypothyroid Infants Before and After Treatment. *Acta Otolaryngol* (1993) 113:39–42. doi: 10.3109/00016489309135764
- Trotsenburg PV, Stoupa A, Lége J, Rohrer TR, Peters C, Fugazzola L, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism: A 2020-2021 Consensus Guidelines Update-An ENDO-European Reference Network Initiative Endorsed by the European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and the European Society for Endocrinology. *Thyroid* (2021) 31(3):387–419. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0333
- Debruyne F, Vanderschueren-Lodeweyckx M, Bastijns P. Hearing in Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Audiology* (1983) 22(4):404–9. doi: 10.3109/ 00206098309072800
- François MMD, Bonfils P, Leger J, Czernichow P, Narcy P. Role of Congenital Hypothyroidism in Hearing Loss in Children. J Pediatr (1994) 124(3):444–6. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(94)70373-6
- Rovet J, Walker W, Bliss B, Buchanan L, Ehrlich R. Long-Term Sequelae of Hearing Impairment in Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Pediatr (1996) 128 (6):776–83. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(96)70329-3
- Lichtenberger-Geslin L, Santos S, Hassani Y, Ecosse E, Van Den Abbeele T, Léger J. Factors Associated With Hearing Impairment in Patients With Congenital Hypothyroidism Treated Since the Neonatal Period: A National Population-Based Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(9):3644–52. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1645
- Stampa M. Aprendizagem E Desenvolvimento Das Habilidades Auditivas: Entendendo E Praticando Na Sala De Aula. Rio de Janeiro: WAK (2012). p. 128.
- Yoshinaga-Itano C, Sedey AL, Coulter DK, Mehl AL. Language of Early and Later Identified Children With Hearing Loss. *Pediatrics* (1998) 102(5):1161– 71. doi: 10.1542/peds.102.5.1161
- Colunga JCM, Méndez JCA, Villarreal JMC, Zapico MJA, Estrada CM, Álvarez LMF, et al. Despistage De La Hipoacusia Neonatal: Resultados Después De 3 Años De Iniciar Nuestro Programa. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp (2005) 55:55–8. doi: 10.1016/S0001-6519(05)78571-X

the fetal period to 2 years of age, a period considered critical for typical development. Therefore, CH can be considered a potential risk factor for changes in acoustic signals' processing mechanisms along the auditory pathway, which manifests itself as cognitive, language, and socioemotional delays.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CLOA: conception, writing. CA: Editing, review. HR: Conception, writing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- AmericanAcademyof Pediatrics (AAP), American Thyroid Association (ATA) and Lawson WilkinsPediatric Endocrine Society (LWPES). Update of Newborn Screening and Therapy for Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Pediatrics* (2006) 117(6):2290–303. doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-0915
- Eugène D, Djemli A, Van Vliet G. Sexual Dimorphism of Thyroid Function in Newborns With Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90(5):2696–700. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-2320
- Maciel LMZ, Kimura ET, Nogueira CR, Mazeto GMFS, Magalhães PKR, Nascimento ML, et al. Hipotireoidismo Congênito: Recomendações do Departamento De Tireoide Da Sociedade Brasileira De Endocrinologia E Metabologia. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metab (2013) 57(3):184–92. doi: 10.1590/ S0004-27302013000300004
- Ford G, LaFranchi SH. Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism: A Worldwide View of Strategies. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 28(2):175–87. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2013.05.008
- Alm J, Larsson A, Zetterström R. Congenital Hypothyroidism in Sweden Incidence and Age at Diagnosis. *Acta Paediatr Scand* (1978) 67(1):1–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1978.tb16268.x
- Nascimento ML. Situação Atual Da Triagem Neonatal Para Hipotireoidismo Congênito: Críticas E Perspectivas. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metab (2011) 55:528– 33. doi: 10.1590/S0004-27302011000800005
- Sap J, Muñoz A, Damm K, Goldberg Y, Ghysdael J, Leutz A, et al. The C-Erb-A Protein is a High-Affinity Receptor for Thyroid Hormone. *Nature* (1986) 324(6098):635–40. doi: 10.1038/324635a0
- Rastogi MV, Lafranchi SH. Congenital Hypothyroidism. Orphanet J Rare Dis (2010) 5(2):2–22. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-5-17
- Gupta V, Lee M. Central Hypothyroidism. Indian J Endocrinol Metab (2011) 15(Suppl2):S99–S106. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.83337
- Iranpour R, Hashemipour M, Amini M, Talaei SM, Kelishadi R, Hovsepian S, et al. [Tc]–99m Thyroid Scintigraphy in Congenital Hypothyroidism Screening Program. J Trop Pediatr (2006) 52(6):411–5. doi: 10.1093/tropej/ fml038
- Marti S, Alvarez M, Simoneau-Roy J, Leroux S, Van Vliet G, Robaey P. Effects of Early High–Dose Levothyroxine Treatment on. Auditory Brain. Event– Related Potentials at School Entry in. Children. with Congenital Hypothyroidism.. *Horm Res* (2006) 66(5):240–8. doi: 10.1159/000095069
- Maniquéz MO, Lilianette BN, Ximena WV. Evolución Neurológica Em Pacientes Com Hipotireoidismo Congênito Disgnosticado Por Rastreo Neonatal. *Rev Chil Pediatr* (2008) 69:56–9. doi: 10.4067/S0370-41061998000200002
- Rovet J. Long-Term Neuropsychological Sequelae of Early-Treated Congenital Hypothyroidism: Effects in Adolescence. *Acta Paediatr Suppl* (1999) 88 (432):88–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1999.tb01168.x
- Deol MS. The Role of Thyroxine in the Differentiation of the Organ of Corti. Acta Otolaryngol (1976) 81(5-6):429–35. doi: 10.3109/00016487609107497
- Ng L, Goodyear RJ, Woods CA, Schneider MJ, Diamond E, Richardson GP, et al. Hearing Loss and Retarded Cochlear Development in Mice Lacking Type 2 Iodothyronine Deiodinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) 101(10):3474–9. 10.1073/pnas.0307402101
- Bradley DJ, Towle HC, Young WS 3rd. Alpha and Beta Thyroid Hormone Receptor (TR) Gene Expression. During Auditory Neurogenesis: Evidence for

TRisoform-Specific Transcriptional Regulation In Vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1994) 91(2):439–43. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.2.439

- Lautermann J, ten Cate WJ. Postnatal Expression. Of the –Thyroid Hormone Receptor in. The Rat Cochlea. *Hear Res* (1997) 107(1-2):23–8. doi: 10.1016/ S0378-5955(97)00014-2
- O'Malley BW, Li D, Turner DS. Hearing Loss and Cochlear Abnormalities in the Congenital Hypothyroid (hyt/hyt) Mouse. *Hear Res* (1995) 88:181–9. doi: 10.1016/0378-5955(95)00111-G
- Uziel A, Pujol R, Legranda C, Legranda J. Cochlear Synaptogenesis in the Hypothyroid Rat. *Dev Brain Res* (1983) 7:295–301. doi: 10.1016/0165-3806 (83)90186-4
- Deol MS. An. Experimental Approach to the Understanding and Treatment of Hereditary Syndromes With Congenital Deafness and Hypothyroidism. J Med Genet (1973) 10:235–42. doi: 10.1136/jmg.10.3.235
- Uziel A, Gabrion J, Ohresser M, Legrand C. Effects of Hypothyroidism on the Structural Development of the Organ of Corti in the Rat. Acta Otolaryngologica (1981) 92:469–80. doi: 10.3109/00016488109133286
- Berbel P, Guadaño-Ferraz A, Angulo A, Ramón Cerezo J. Role of Thyroid Hormones in the Maturation of Interhemispheric Connections in Rats. *Behav Brain Res* (1994) 64:9–14. doi: 10.1016/0166-4328(94)90114-7
- Berbel P, Guadaño-Ferraz A, Martínez M, Quiles JA, Balboa R, Innocenti GM. Organization of Auditory Callosal Connections in Hypothyroid Adult Rats. *Eur J Neurosci* (1993) 5:1465–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.1993.tb00214.x
- Abel ED, Boers ME, Pazos-Moura C, Moura E, Kaulbach H, Zakaria M, et al. Divergent Roles for Thyroid Hormone Receptor Beta Isoforms in the Endocrine Axis and Auditory System. J Clin Invest (1999) 104(3):291–300. doi: 10.1172/JCI6397
- Dumitrescu AM, Refetoff S. Impaired Sensitivity to Thyroid Hormone: Defects of Transport, Metabolism and Action. K. R. Feingold, B. Anawalt, A Boyce, et al. editors. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc. (2000) Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279066/
- Zheng J, Shen W, He DZ, Long KB, Madison LD, Dallos P. Prestin. Is the Motor Protein. Of Cochlear Outer Hair Cells. *Nature* (2000) 405:149–55. doi: 10.1038/35012009
- Weber T, Zimmermann U, Winter H, Mack A, Köpschall T, Rohbock K, et al. Thyroid Hormone Is a Critical Determinant for the Regulation of the Cochlear Motor Protein Prestin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2002) 99:2901–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.052609899
- Dow-Edwards D, Crane AM, Rosloff B, Kennedy C, Sokoloff L. Local Cerebral Glucose Utilization in the Adult Cretinous Rat. *Brain Res* (1986) 373:139–45. 1986. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(86)90323-9
- 43. Bruno R, Aversa T, Catena M, Valenzise M, Lombardo F, De Luca F, et al. Even in the Era of Congenital Hypothyroidism Screening Mild and Subclinical Sensorineural Hearing Loss Remains a Relatively Common Complication of Severe Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Hearing Res* (2015) 327:43–7. doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2015.04.018
- 44. Winter H, Braig C, Zimmermann U, Geisler H, Fränzer J, Weber T, et al. Thyroid Hormone Receptors TRalpha1 and TRbeta Differentially Regulate Gene Expression. Of Kcnq4 and Prestin. During Final Differentiation. Of Outer Hair Cells. J Cell Sci (2006) 11914:2975–84. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03013
- 45. Bonaldi LV, Angelis MA, Smith RL. Anatomia Funcional do Sistema Vestibulococlear. In: S Frota, editor. Fundamentos De Fonoaudiologia: Audiologia, 2<sup>a</sup> ed. Rio de Janeiro: Guanabara Koogan (2003). p. 1–17.
- Correia RBF, Coelho JMS. Ações Em Saúde Auditiva Escolar No Município De Sobral-CE: Percepção De Fonoaudiólogos. *Rev Bras em Promoção da* Saúde (2012) 25(2):228–34. doi: 10.5020/18061230.2012.p228

- Rovet JF. Children With Congenital Hypothyroidism and Their Siblings: Do They Really Differ? *Pediatria* (2005) 115(1):52–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-1492
- Bellman SC, Davies A, Fuggle PW, Grant DB, Smith I. Mild Impairmentof Neuro-Otological Function in Early Treated Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Arch Dis Child* (1996) 74:215–8. doi: 10.1136/adc.74.3.215
- Azevedo MF. Emissões Otoacústicas. In: MS Figueiredo, editor. (Org.). Conhecimentos Essenciais Para Entender Bem Emissões Otoacústicas E BERA. São José dos Campos: Pulso (2003). p. 35–83.
- Sedin G, Bulankina AV, Dietmar Riedel D, Moser T. Maturation of Ribbon Synapses in. Hair Cells is Driven. by Thyroid Hormone. J Neurosci (2007) 27:3163–73. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3974-06.2007
- Williams GR. Neurodevelopmental and Neurophysiological Actions of Thyroid Hormone. J Neuroendocrinol (2008) 20:784–94. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2826.2008.01733.x
- Figueiredo L, Lima MA, Vaisman M. Alterações Na Audiometria De Tronco Encefálico Em Mulheres Adultas Com Hipotireoidismo Subclínico. São Paulo: Sociedade Brasileira de Otorrinolaringologia (2003) p. 542–7. doi: 10.1590/ S0034-72992003000400016
- 53. Russo ICP, Santos TMM. Audiologia Infantil. 4a Ed. São Paulo: Cortez (1994).
- 54. Northern JL, Downs MP. *Hearing in Children. 4 a Ed.* Philadelphia: Williams & Wilkins (1999).
- Tharpe AM, Bess F. Identification and Management of Children With Minimal Hearing Loss. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolatyngology (1991) 21:41–50. doi: 10.1016/0165-5876(91)90058-J
- 56. New ZelandGovernament. What is Mild Hearing Loss? (2014). Ministry of Health of New Zeland. Available at: https://www.nsu.govt.nz/system/files/ resources/mild-hearing-loss.pdf (Accessed Accesso em 17 de dez de 2020).
- Kaderavek JN, Pakulski LA. Minimal Hearing Loss Is Not Minimal. Teaching Exceptional Children. *Council Exceptional Children* (2002) 34:14–8. doi: 10.1177/004005990203400602
- Davis A, Reeve K, Hind S, Bamford J. Children With Mild and Unilateral Hearing Impairment. Proceedings of the Second International Conference: A Sound Foundation Through Early Amplification.Section V. Chapter 14. (2002) 174–86.
- Yoshinaga-Itano C, Johnson CC, Carpenter K, Brown AS. Outcomes of Children With Mild Bilateral Hearing Loss and Unilateral Hearing Loss. Semin Hearing (2008) 29:196–211. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1075826

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Andrade, Alves and Ramos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Update on Neonatal Isolated Hyperthyrotropinemia: A Systematic Review

#### Ana E. Chiesa and Mariana L. Tellechea\*

Centro de Investigaciones Endocrinológicas "Dr. César Bergadá", (CEDIE) CONICET – FEI – División de Endocrinología, Hospital de Niños Ricardo Gutiérrez, Buenos Aires, Argentina

The purpose of this paper was to systematically summarize the published literature on neonatal isolated hyperthyrotropinemia (HTT), with a focus on prevalence, L-T4 management, re-evaluation of thyroid function during infancy or childhood, etiology including genetic variation, thyroid imaging tests, and developmental outcome. Electronic and manual searches were conducted for relevant publications, and a total of 46 articles were included in this systematic review. The overall prevalence of neonatal HTT was estimated at 0.06%. The occurrence of abnormal imaging tests was found to be higher in the persistent than in the transient condition. A continuous spectrum of thyroid impairment severity can occur because of genetic factors, environmental factors, or a combination of the two. Excessive or insufficient iodine levels were found in 46% and 16% of infants, respectively. Thirty-five different genetic variants have been found in three genes in 37 patients with neonatal HTT of different ethnic backgrounds extracted from studies with variable design. In general, genetic variants reported in the TSHR gene, the most auspicious candidate gene for HTT, may explain the phenotype of the patients. Many practitioners elect to treat infants with HTT to prevent any possible adverse developmental effects. Most patients with thyroid abnormalities and/or carrying monoallelic or biallelic genetic variants have received L-T4 treatment. For all those neonates on treatment with L-T4, it is essential to ensure follow-up until 2 or 3 years of age and to conduct medically supervised trial-off therapy when warranted. TSH levels were found to be elevated following cessation of therapy in 44% of children. Withdrawal of treatment was judged as unsuccessful, and medication was restarted, in 78% of cases. Finally, data extracted from nine studies showed that none of the 94 included patients proved to have a poor developmental outcome (0/94). Among subjects presenting with normal cognitive performance, 82% of cases have received L-T4 therapy. Until now, the precise neurodevelopmental risks posed by mild disease remain uncertain.

## Keywords: newborn screening, levothyroxine, subclinical hypothyroidism, systematic review, neonatal hyperthyrotropinemia

Abbreviations: CH, congenital hypothyroidism; DUOX2, dual oxidase 2; HTT, hyperthyrotropinemia; NBS, newborn screening; SCH, subclinical hypothyroidism; SNV, single-nucleotide variant; TPO, thyroid peroxidase; TRAbs, TSHR (TSH receptor) antibodies.

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ari J. Wassner, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Ichiro Horie, Nagasaki University Hospital, Japan Gabriela Brenta, Dr. César Milstein Care Unit, Argentina

> \*Correspondence: Mariana L. Tellechea mtellechea@cedie.org.ar

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 17 December 2020 Accepted: 26 July 2021 Published: 18 August 2021

#### Citation:

Chiesa AE and Tellechea ML (2021) Update on Neonatal Isolated Hyperthyrotropinemia: A Systematic Review. Front. Endocrinol. 12:643307. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.643307

## INTRODUCTION

The state of mild elevated venous TSH (e.g.,  $\ge 6-20 \text{ mU/L}$ ) beyond 21 days of life with thyroid hormone concentrations within the normal range is termed or described as isolated hyperthyrotropinemia (HTT) or subclinical hypothyroidism (SCH) (1–3). The term SCH is more commonly used after infancy, when peripheral thyroid hormone levels are within the normal range but TSH is mildly elevated.

Before newborn screening (NBS) for congenital hypothyroidism (CH), most cases of mild CH and HTT remained unidentified due to their unapparent clinical course. Over a decade, the TSH cutoff value established by NBS programs has been adjusted downward, resulting in an increasing trend in the diagnosis of infants with mild CH and HTT in TSH-based NBS programs.

In general, it is difficult to obtain a true prevalence of the cases of neonatal isolated HTT for various reasons. First, certain studies do not report FT4 levels and confusion arises regarding the differentiation of mild CH from HTT, which might represent a continuum along a scale of thyroid dysfunction (4). Some studies do not distinguish between transient mild CH or borderline CH, and transient HTT, and describe all such cases as "transient TSH elevation" or transient hypothyroidism. Second, published studies have employed varying criteria for defining this condition: NBS programs have applied different TSH cutoff values, and studies have used initial (dried) whole blood spot TSH, first and second blood spot TSH levels, cord blood (dried or serum) TSH, or serum TSH (obtained at NBS or recall examination). Usually, the day of extraction is not the same for all NBS programs and the cutoff point is not adapted to the reality of time collection.

The criteria for assessing CH severity can be posed in terms of clinical, biochemical, and radiological features. Biochemically, CH severity can be judged as mild, moderate, or severe based on the serum FT4 concentration (<5, 5 to <10, and 10 to 15 pmol/L, respectively) (2). While in CH thyroid hormone levels are in general decreased, FT4 levels are, by definition, within the normal range in isolated HTT.

Neonatal isolated HTT can be transient or persistent. Transient neonatal HTT is usually defined as an abnormal transient elevation of neonatal serum TSH with normal T4 values. Transient neonatal HTT should be differentiated from false-positive NBS tests, defined as an abnormal screening test value, with normal results of serum tests taken immediately afterward (usually at 2 weeks of age). Most newborns suspected of CH because of elevated borderline neonatal TSH levels would have normal, or nearly normal, TSH, and normal FT4 after a few days, at the recall examination. Newborns with very short-lasting HTT should be classified as false-positive at NBS because the initial neonatal abnormalities can be attributed to a variety of transitory causes that have no significant adverse clinical consequences (5). Specimens collected in the first 24 to 48 h of life may lead to false-positive TSH elevations when using any screening test approach (1). During the first few hours of life, newborns experience a physiological increase in TSH levels in response to the environment, followed by a progressive decrease in its levels. The occurrence of high neonatal TSH (TSH  $\ge$  5 mU/L) decreases with the number of days from birth to sampling (6). It has been also demonstrated that the concentration of neonatal TSH decreases with age until it stabilizes at between 11 and 15 days of life (7).

Transient HTT has been mainly attributed to either iatrogenic iodine overload or iodine deficiency during fetal and early postnatal life (8). Transient mild CH and transient HTT are also usually proposed to be associated with maternal ingestion of goitrogenic substances which reach the fetus *via* placental transfer, or by maternal–fetal transfer of thyrotropin receptor (TSHR)-blocking antibodies, which are IgG immunoglobulins (8–10).

Neonatal HTT may also result from prematurity and/or low birth weight. TSH concentrations were found to be higher in small-for-gestational-age infants (11). A high incidence of HTT in premature neonates has also been reported, particularly in those small-for-gestational-age (12). Although the reason for the increased TSH levels is unknown, its origin could be multifactorial as many hypotheses have been proposed (11). TSH elevation in infants with Down syndrome is also highly prevalent during the neonatal period (3). A Turkey study has demonstrated HTT in 32 of the 80 newborns with Down syndrome (13).

Most reported cases of neonatal HTT occur as a transient form, while the persistent form is less well understood (14). Distinguishing between transient and persistent forms of HTT at the time of diagnosis is difficult and generally requires a large time frame (4). In general, the decisive consistent distinguishing factor between transitory and persistent forms of HTT is a reassessment of thyroid function at the time of treatment withdrawal, occurring in general after 2 or 3 years of age.

Finally, there is also controversy regarding the need for levothyroxine (L-T4) therapy in neonatal HTT (3). Many practitioners elect to "play safe" and treat infants with HTT to prevent any possible adverse developmental effects. Some studies have reported cases of mild CH or isolated HTT progressing to overt (more severe) hypothyroidism. As the developing brain has a critical dependence on thyroid hormone for the first 2 or 3 years of life, it is prudent to assure normal thyroid hormone levels during this period.

The purpose of this paper was to systematically review the published literature to compile—and, when possible, quantify— the existing data on neonatal HTT. Our aim has been primarily to address the following questions. First, how does the reported frequency of HTT vary depending on the mode of identification, and what other factors it depends on? Second, what is the most common cause of neonatal HTT? Third, what have we learned about management and clinical progression from follow-up and re-evaluation studies? Finally, is there any convincing evidence about the impact on cognitive development in these infants that supports L-T4 replacement therapy?

## METHODS

The literature search was done on studies up to August 8, 2020, on the PubMed database from the National Library of Medicine using the following keywords and terms: (congenital OR neonatal OR newborn) AND ("subclinical hypothyroidism" OR "compensated hypothyroidism" OR hyperthyrotropinemia OR hyperthyreotropinemia OR hyperthyrotrophinaemia OR hyperthyrotropinaemia). Searches were limited to studies on humans that were published in English. Eligible studies had no minimum number of participants and there were no country restrictions. All the studies that investigated the prevalence, L-T4 management, re-evaluation of thyroid function during infancy or childhood, etiology including genetic variation, thyroid imaging test results, bone maturation, and/or developmental outcome were considered in this study. Data on L-T4 therapy were carefully extracted from each study when available. Articles were screened using the following inclusion criteria: 1) must contain information on neonatal HTT, preferably with data on TSH and FT4 levels, and a clear phenotype can be inferred (it is possible to discriminate HTT from CH, especially from mild CH); and 2) HTT must have been diagnosed during the neonatal period or early infancy (1-3 months of age). For large cohorts, included subjects should have less than 1 year of age at diagnosis and on average no more than 3 months of age. Patients with increased serum TSH levels, evaluated at recall examination because of a positive NBS or for other reasons (e.g., a firstdegree relative of an index case), were included.

A formal variant classification was assigned according to the recommendations from the American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG). The variant interpretation was performed with Varsome (hg19) (15). Variants labeled as uncertain significance (VUS) according to Varsome were further revised and reclassified if necessary, according to functional studies and evidence from Variant Effect Predictor (VEP, Ensembl).

Cases presenting with mild CH or apparent low levels of T4/ FT4 were excluded. Cases positive at NBS with normal serum TSH at reexamination were excluded. Studies were also excluded when it was not possible to identify if participants had increased serum TSH at confirmation of diagnosis (exceptions were cases receiving L-T4 treatment, since it may be inferred that TSH levels were confirmed in serum). Excluded were also studies conducted on cohorts with maternal or neonatal disease (except for thyroid disease) or genetic syndromes (except for resistance to TSH); studies conducted entirely on premature, small-for-gestationalage, low birth weight, or Down syndrome subjects; studies reporting exclusively synonymous single nucleotide variants (SNVs) and common sequence variants ("genetic polymorphisms"); and review articles and studies reporting only *in vitro* experiments.

## RESULTS

## Literature Search and Case Inclusion

The PubMed search strategy resulted in 439 hits. Reviews and experimental papers were used to perform a further search, which revealed an additional 66 records. The initial screen was based on title, abstract, and occasional whole-text scan. After the in-depth screening, 170 relevant citations remained for further review. All these articles were thoroughly read and evaluated. Eligible studies were independently reviewed by two reviewers; 109 were consistently excluded by both authors, while 15 additional studies were excluded after discussion and agreement between reviewers. Nine studies including subjects positive at NBS with normal serum TSH at reexamination were excluded (**Table S1**). In those studies, reexamination was performed beyond 2 weeks of life (range 10–90 days), and therefore, it is not possible to address if serum TSH was elevated at 14 days of life and became normal shortly afterward. One study was excluded because of wide inclusion criteria, and five studies were excluded since increased TSH values detected at NBS were not further confirmed by serum analysis (**Table S1**). Finally, 46 citations were used to build the nine summary tables included in this systematic review (**Tables 1, 2** and **Tables S2–S8**). A flowchart of the article selection process is shown in **Figure 1**.

### The Changing Prevalence of Neonatal HTT

Nine studies reported on the prevalence of HTT in a total of 2,715,031 infants. The overall prevalence of HTT was estimated at 0.06% (1,551/2,715,031), but prevalence varied widely among studies (range 0.001%–0.1%, **Table 1**). The estimated prevalence of HTT in both Europe and East Asia is also 0.06% (**Table 1**). Finally, the computed HTT: CH ratio is 1.2:1 (1,532:1,288; data available from seven studies).

## Clues to the Etiology of Transient HTT

We examined the potential causes of transient HTT such as either iodine overload or iodine deficiency, maternal ingestion of goitrogenic substances, and maternal-fetal transfer of TSHRblocking antibodies.

Six studies comprising 77 subjects evaluated serum and/or urinary iodine concentration in neonatal HTT (**Table S2**). Cutoff values for determining abnormal iodine concentrations were not available in some studies; 46% (19/41) and 16% (8/50) of infants had increased and decreased iodine levels, respectively.

Placental transfer of maternal IgG antibodies against the thyroid TSHR is another putative cause of transient neonatal HTT. We found only five studies investigating the presence of anti-TSHR antibodies (TRAbs) and/or TSHR stimulatory antibodies in the mother and/or in the infant (**Table S3**). Information about maternal thyroid disease was also collected. Two studies have demonstrated the presence of TRAbs in cases of neonatal HTT (Azzopardi P 2010), or in the mothers of those infants (Evans C 2011), suggesting transplacental transfer of maternal antibodies (31, 32). Two additional studies have also reported transient HTT due to maternal autoimmune thyroid disease with the presence of anti-TSHR antibody activity in both maternal and infant serum (Tamaki H 1989, Schwingshandl J 1993) (33, 34).

No studies reporting on the association between neonatal HTT and maternal ingestion of goitrogenic substances were found in this systematic review of the literature.

## **Thyroid Imaging in Neonatal HTT**

Newborns with isolated HTT may have mild changes in thyroid morphology and/or genetic abnormalities. **Table S4** and **Figure 2** compile data of 304 subjects extracted from 28

#### **TABLE 1** | Prevalence of neonatal hyperthyrotropinemia.

ld	Country Period Con		Condition	Description	Prevalence (%)	HTT : CH	Patients receiving L-T4
Fu C. 2017 (16)	China	2009– 2016	HTT	Increased TSH (>10 mU/L) and normal FT4 at recall (days 7–28)	911/ 1,238,340 (0.07)	911:731	0/911
Kumorowicz-Czoch M. 2011 (17)	Poland	2000– 2006	HTT	Increased TSH (>9.1 mU/L) and normal FT4 at recall (day ${\sim}26)$	4/233,120 (0.002)	4:58	4/4, trial-off at ~4 years
Corbetta C. 2009 (18)	Italy	1999– 2005	HTT	Mildly increased TSH (5.0–9.9 mU/L) and normal/high FT4 at recall	578/629,042 (0.09)	578:435	0/578
Nishiyama S. 2004 (9)	Japan	2000– 2002	HTT	Mildly increased TSH (cutoff value na) and normal serum FT4 at recall	24/37,724 (0.06)	24:6	14/24
Tyfield L.A. 1991 (19)	England	1981– 1987	HTT	Increased TSH (>10 mU/L) and normal T4 at recall (day ${\sim}30)$	3/185,723 (0.002)	3:45	0/3
Miki K. 1989 (20)	Japan	1975– 1983	t-HTT	Increased TSH (>17 mU/L) at recall (2–8 wk) but normal at 2–9 mo, TH in the normal range, + other criteria	16/281,468 (0.006)	na	5/16, follow- up
Sava L. 1984 (21)	Italy	(30 mo)	t-HTT	Increased TSH (>8 mU/L) and normal T4 at recall (day ~32), but normal TSH at wk 3–6	11/7,953 (0.1)	11:4	0/11
Czernichow P. 1981 (22)	Belgium	1979– 1980	t-HTT	Increased TSH (>40 mU/L) and normal TH at recall (days 15–30), TSH decreases to normal after 5 mo	3/10,261 (0.03)	na	0/3
Miyai K. 1979 (23)	Japan	1975– 1978	t-HTT	Increased TSH (>12 mU/L) and normal TH at 2 mo, TSH decreases to normal after 7–9 mo	1/91,400 (0.001)	1:9	0/1
Summary estimates					1,551/ 2,715,031 (0.06)	1,532:1,288	23/1,551 (1.5%)

t-HTT, transient HTT; TH, thyroid hormones; mo, months; wk, weeks; na, not available.

#### TABLE 2 | Developmental outcome in neonatal hyperthyrotropinemia.

ld	Condition	Observations	N cases	L-T4	Test and/or assessment	Impaired develop- mental outcome	Age (years)*
Rovelli R. 2010 (24)	HTT	No preterm, asphyxia, or congenital disease	3	3/3	Mental development (Griffith's scale)	0/3	1–2
Demirel F. 2007 (25)	HTT	na	36	36/36	Denver developmental screening test	0/36	3
de Roux N. 1996 (26)	HTT	1/4 preterm	4	3/4	Intellectual development	0/4	na
Nishiyama S. 2004 (9)	HTT	Full-term	15	12/15	Psychomotor development	0/15	2
Tomita Y. 2003 (27)	p-HTT	GA 36–40 wk, BW 2,090– 3,580 g	14	14/14	Japanese Denver developmental screening test	1/14 (DS)	~3–6
Vigone M.C. 2005 (28)	p-HTT	na	1	1/1	Mental development (Griffith's scale)	0/1	4
Mizuno H. 2009 (29)	p-HTT	Full-term, BW 2,374–3,450 g	4	4/4	Intelligence quotient	0/4	6
Tyfield L.A. 1991 (19)	p-HTT	Uneventful pregnancy and neonatal period	3	0/3	Developmental status regarded by parents and pediatricians	0/3	5–6
Miki K. 1989 (20)	t-HTT	Full-term, normal BW	16	5/16	Psychomotor development (Tsumori and Isobe scale) or intelligence (Wechsler scale)	1**/16 (deafness)	2–7
Summary esti	mates		96	_	_	2/96	1–7

Data in column "L-T4" are expressed as a ratio of the number of LT4-treated patients to the total number of cases. Data in column "Impaired developmental outcome" are expressed as a ratio of the number of participants with "abnormal" results to the total number of cases.

p-HTT, persistent HTT; t-HTT, transient HTT; GA, gestational age; BW, birth weight; DS, Down syndrome; wk, weeks; na, not available.

\*Age at assessment.

\*\*Untreated patient (Miki K. 1989).

included studies (33 datasets) reporting thyroid imaging results. Thyroid morphology and/or function was more frequently assessed by ultrasonography and Technetium-99m (99m-Tc) scintigraphy and less commonly by radioiodine scan; 27% (83/ 304) of included subjects showed thyroid gland abnormalities. Of 83 subjects with abnormal results, 34% (28/83) showed enlarged thyroid gland or increased radionuclide uptake, while 65% (54/ 83) subjects showed anatomical abnormalities (hypoplasia, hemiagenesis, or ectopy), decreased radionuclide uptake, or no uptake.

As expected, the occurrence of thyroid abnormalities was found to be higher in the persistent form of HTT



(persistent: 19/81, 23% vs. transient: 2/51, 4%, **Table S4**); however, it should be also considered that persistent forms are more likely to be examined by thyroid imaging than transient conditions. Note that, for some datasets, detailed information related to conditions was not available (**Table S4**). On the other hand, among subjects with abnormal thyroid imaging tests, different frequencies of persistent and transient forms of neonatal HTT were found (persistent: 19/21 vs. transient: 2/ 21, **Figure 2**).

The number of patients with abnormal imaging tests receiving L-T4 therapy was estimated from datasets where information about L-T4 treatment was available. Interestingly, between those subjects with abnormal thyroid imaging tests, 77 of 88 (87.5%) patients have received L-T4 therapy (one dataset was excluded from computation because treatment information was not available, see **Table S4**).

Finally, the study of Nishiyama S 2004 (9) was included in this systematic review but not incorporated into **Table S4** for the reason that it is not possible to obtain the exact number of subjects having abnormal imaging tests. Thyroid volumes measured using ultrasonography were found to be increased with respect to normal controls in 15 infants with neonatal HTT.

# Insights Into Genetic Variation in Neonatal HTT

**Table S5** compiles 37 cases extracted from 18 studies reportinggenetic variants in neonatal HTT. Data were carefully extracted

from studies with variable designs. Information about thyroid imaging tests, phenotype later in life, family background (firstdegree relatives presenting with increased TSH levels), ethnicity, consanguinity, and study design was collected.

To date, genetic variation has been found in three genes in patients with isolated neonatal HTT (**Table S5**): *TSHR*, thyroperoxidase (*TPO*), and dual oxidase 2 (*DUOX2*). Overall, 35 different genetic variants have been found in 37 cases (**Table S5**).

Cases were found to be heterozygous, homozygous, or compound heterozygous. Biallelic carriers were more frequently reported than monoallelic (heterozygous) carriers (25 vs. 12 cases). Intriguingly, an Israeli group has reported a case of neonatal isolated HTT who required L-T4 therapy carrying two heterozygous missense variants in the *TSHR* gene and one heterozygous missense variant in the *TPO* gene (35).

Until now, 26 different *TSHR* sequence variants have been documented in 33 cases with neonatal-onset HTT (**Table S5**). Twenty-five SNVs, both missense and nonsense, as well as a deletion (frameshift mutation) in the coding sequence, have been identified in 33 patients of different ethnic backgrounds (**Table S5**). **Table S6** shows the interpretation of the *TSHR* sequence variants. Of those 25 SNVs, 20 were interpreted as pathogenic or likely pathogenic. T655\*(delAC) causes the formation of a nonsense codon leading to the production of a receptor that lacks the entire transmembrane domain 7 and the intracellular (C-terminal) tail. According to the variant interpretation from **Table S6**, it can be speculated that in almost all patients the phenotype may be



the proportion of patients with anatomical abnormalities (hypoplasia, hemiagenesis, or ectopic thyroid gland) or decreased radionuclide uptake or no uptake (in gray, N = 54), enlarged thyroid gland, or increased radionuclide uptake (in black, N = 28), or data not available (in white, N = 1). Panel (C) shows the percentages of persistent and transient conditions in subjects with normal or abnormal findings.

explained by the genotype. More specifically, 27 of 33 (82%) patients were carriers of (mono or biallelic) pathogenic (or "likely pathogenic") variants in the *TSHR* gene (**Figure 3**). In six cases (see **Table S4**), homozygous or heterozygous variants of uncertain significance could not account for pathogenicity.

Homozygous *TSHR* variants were found in nine cases, six Japanese patients carrying R450H, two members of consanguineous kindreds, and one subject born to consanguineous parents (**Table S5**).

Among all *TSHR* variants, R450H was most frequently reported. R450H was observed in Japan in 12 cases (6 compound heterozygous and 6 homozygous cases, **Table S5**).

Variants are distributed throughout the *TSHR* gene with no evident hot spot. As shown in **Table S6**, 54% of the reported sequence variants are distributed in the extracellular domain.

Although the number of studies reporting genetic studies is scarce, some conclusions can be drawn about the characteristics of subjects carrying *TSHR* sequence variants (**Table S5** and **Figure 3**). First, L-T4 therapy is frequently initiated during the

neonatal period in cases carrying monoallelic or biallelic variants. More specifically, L-T4 therapy was started in 97% of cases (29/33, in 3 cases information related to L-T4 treatment was not available). Second, thyroid imaging may not be correlated to genetic variation. Abnormal imaging tests were found only in 5 of 28 (18%) cases carrying sequence variants in the *TSHR* gene (in 5 cases information about thyroid imaging tests was missing). And third, mildly altered thyroid tests (slightly increased TSH and/or abnormal TRH test) are commonly (94%, 17/18) observed during childhood or adolescence in these patients (in 15 cases information was not available).

Genetic variation in *TPO* and *DUOX2*, key genes required for thyroid hormone synthesis, has been reported in neonatal HTT (**Table S5**). Kotani and colleagues described a partial iodide organification defect caused by likely pathogenic sequence variants in the *TPO* gene (36). *DUOX2* pathogenic sequence variants may also cause mild to moderate forms of hypothyroidism, including transient CH and transient HTT



(37). In this systematic review, six different *DUOX2* (missense, m

(37). In this systematic review, six different *DUOX2* (missense, nonsense, and frameshift) variants were found in infants with neonatal-onset HTT without goiter, consistent with resistance to TSH, rather than dyshormonogenesis (**Table S5**).

## Management: To Treat or Not to Treat?

**Table S7.1** compiles 10 follow-up studies (including 476 subjects) where some or all participants were treated with L-T4 and re-evaluation of thyroid function was performed after withdrawal of treatment, usually at  $\sim$ 2–3 years of age. Information about L-T4 discontinuation (before trial-off

medication) to prevent overtreatment and progression to overt hypothyroidism was collected when available. Data on thyroid status at re-evaluation and attempts of L-T4 withdrawal were also extracted, including information on successful and unsuccessful attempts.

More than half of the participants (60.5%, 288/476) were treated with L-T4 (**Table S7.1**). In general, treatment is started in infants with persistent mild TSH elevation and/or abnormal TRH test results.

During treatment, certain patients experienced elevated levels of thyroxine. In some cases, therapy was stopped, and patients

showed full recovery within the first year of life. Levothyroxine cessation before trial-off was reported in four studies, with an estimated overall percentage of L-T4 discontinuation of 11% (32/281, **Table S7.1**).

After the patient reached 2–3 years of age (range 1–6 years), L-T4 treatment was ceased to conduct thyroid function tests. In those cases where TSH levels were within the normal range, patients were followed up without L-T4 therapy. However, according to **Table S7.1**, TSH levels were found to be elevated following cessation of therapy in 101 of 229 cases (44%).

In general, all patients had a confirmatory trial-off levothyroxine; however, in certain infants, discontinuation was never tried, especially in patients having elevated TSH levels while receiving therapy. Overall, therapy withdrawal was not attempted in 17.5% of cases (40/229, **Table S7.1**).

A matter of debate is whether to reassume L-T4 treatment once blood TSH is mildly elevated following the withdrawal of treatment in childhood. There remains a role for clinical judgment in the management of these cases. A persistently abnormal TSH was not always used as a rule of thumb to resume medication. It has been reported cases of increased TSH but a normal response to TRH test where treatment was not restarted (Demirel F 2007) (25), and cases of increased TSH where patients were followed until normal TSH concentration was reestablished (Tomita Y 2003) (27). Withdrawal of treatment was judged as unsuccessful, and medication was restarted, in 78% of cases (60/77, 7 datasets).

Figure 4 shows a flowchart illustrating the approach to the management of neonatal HTT based on the reviewed literature.

# Clinical Evolution in Children With Neonatal-Onset HTT

Different cohort studies have been conducted to assess thyroid function progression in neonatal isolated HTT; however, most published studies are retrospective with low sample sizes. Overall, data collected from 14 studies (**Tables S6.1, 6.2**) indicate that the percentage of patients with persistent elevation of TSH levels during early childhood is not negligible (45%, 125/279).

# On the Topic of Growth Rate and Cognitive Development

Some studies have addressed the question of growth rate and cognitive development in children diagnosed during the neonatal period with HTT. In general, normal bone maturation was reported in all children. Data collected from nine studies showed that 2 of 74 (3%) cases with neonatal-onset HTT showed delayed bone age or ossification (**Table S8**). In contrast, evidence on an association between neonatal HTT and cognitive development is scarce and contradictory. We have compiled studies evaluating cognitive development. Data about perinatal outcomes (prematurity, birth weight, congenital disease, and related information) were extracted when available. Data collected from nine studies have shown that 2 out of 96 (2%) cases had abnormal cognitive outcomes during infancy or childhood (**Table 2**). However, after excluding two cases where the impairment of cognitive development would be related to

congenital defects (deafness, Down syndrome), none of the remaining 94 subjects showed adverse developmental outcomes (0/94). Among subjects with normal cognitive performance, 82% (77/94) of cases received L-T4 therapy. Results should however be interpreted with caution since some studies have not assessed cognitive and/or motor abilities throughout standardized scales, and detailed information about diagnostic tools was not always available (**Table 2**).

## DISCUSSION

The purpose of this paper was to systematically review the published literature to compile—and, when possible, quantify—the existing data on neonatal HTT. We have collected evidence extracted from 46 research articles in nine tables (**Tables 1**, **2** and **Tables S2–S8**). We aimed to address specific questions which are discussed below.

## How Does the Reported Frequency of HTT Vary Depending on the Mode of Identification, and What Other Factors Does It Depend on?

It has been demonstrated that several factors may affect the concentration of TSH, including maternal thyroid diseases and drugs, perinatal outcomes (including the type of delivery and birth conditions), and the methods and timing of TSH determination (38). Gender is a known factor influencing neonatal TSH level. The percentage of neonatal HTT is higher among male newborns, in contrast with the higher number of female newborns with CH in general (6, 16, 39, 40).

A proportion of transiently raised TSH may be attributable to analytical assay difficulties. A "maternal factor", by means of maternal IgG antibodies, has been repeatedly reported to interfere in some old radioimmunoassays of TSH (22, 41-45). There is also some variation in the prevalence between geographical areas and countries. The disparity in the reported prevalence may also be in part to population genetics and ethnicity. The risk of high neonatal isolated TSH has been previously shown to be dependent on maternal ethnicity (6). A cohort study conducted in Skopje, the capital of Macedonia, also reported ethnic differences in the incidence of high serum TSH levels in neonates (46). Probably, an underestimation of the prevalence of HTT may occur in countries where the thyroid NBS is practiced by measuring the total T4 level, which is expected to be within the normal range in HTT (8). Finally, there is some discussion about adapting the threshold according to the time of year (6). Seasonal aggregation has been described for recall rates in Iran, with recall occurring significantly more in winter than in other seasons (47, 48).

Because neonatal HTT is identified on the basis of the amount of a hormone that has a continuous distribution in the general population, prevalence estimates certainly should scale as the cutoff is decreased (49). Within an individual NBS program, undoubtedly, an increase in recall rates and prevalence of HTT is expected by lowering cutoffs. Through a systematic review of the literature, we attempted to understand the nature of the variation in the reported frequency of HTT. Given that definitions and



diagnostic criteria vary widely among NBS programs and studies, there are significant differences between the reported incidence rates of this condition, beyond the expected variation associated with different cutoff values (**Table 1**). Certainly, there is still some doubt about the value of detecting cases of neonatal HTT through NBS programs. Lain and collaborators have outlined the arguments both for and against lowering TSH cutoffs at NBS, along with a section focused on the economic implications (50). The whole purpose of populationbased biochemical screening is to identify medically actionable conditions, affected by treatment at a presymptomatic stage (51). While overt CH meets this goal, the evidence for neonatal HTT is vague, and whether mild abnormalities in thyroid function in the newborn have an impact on cognitive development remains controversial. Ultimately, NBS programs need to balance the goal of detecting such newborns versus the economic cost burden and parental anxiety. Accordingly, differing viewpoints are expected from a public health perspective and from the clinical pediatric endocrinologist.

Some actions can be taken to decrease the reexamination rate and the incidence of transient HTT. Iodine excess in babies is considered to be a factor that causes increases in recall rates and in the frequency of transient HTT, ultimately increasing screening costs (52). In this systematic review, excessive iodine levels were more frequently observed than insufficiency, and in general, maternal iodine availability acted as a disease modifier. Excessive and insufficient iodine levels were found in 46% and 16% of infants, respectively (Table S2). The fetus and newborn can be exposed to high maternal iodine concentrations either by crossing the placenta perinatally or by secretion of iodine into breast milk postnatally (9). To avoid excess consumption of iodine during gestation and lactation, pregnant women should be checked and advised for their iodine intake. Direct iodine overload in the newborn may be also caused by either disinfectant agents or contrast medium from practices performed during the perinatal period (9). The use of compounds without iodine for antisepsis should be recommended in the peripartum period (52). On the other hand, iodine insufficiency in pregnancy would be avoided with iodine supplements or iodized salt. Deficient maternal iodine values are associated with high TSH values. It has been demonstrated that women who give birth to infants with falsepositive results at NBS have lower iodine concentrations as compared with mothers who give birth to infants with normal cord blood TSH levels (53).

Among the etiologies for transient HTT, TSHR-blocking antibodies seem not to significantly increase the incidence rate. Different generations of competitive binding TRAb tests for the detection of TSHR-binding inhibitory immunoglobulin have been used in the serological diagnosis of thyroid disease, principally in Graves' disease. Of note, the TSHR stimulatory antibodies can only be detected by cell-based bioassays and should be differentiated from the TSHR-blocking antibodies (34). The presence of TSHRblocking antibodies is investigated by the measurement of TRAbs or thyrotrophin-binding inhibitor immunoglobulins. On the other hand, in vitro assays can demonstrate the presence of thyroidstimulation-blocking antibodies, serum immunoglobulins that had the ability to inhibit thyroid adenylate cyclase stimulation. The diagnosis of transient HTT should be suspected especially if the mother has autoimmune thyroid disease. In fact, a higher recall rate in NBS in infants of mothers with hypothyroidism and autoimmune thyroiditis has been reported, and most of them returned to normal during follow-up (45, 54). A family history of neonatal high thyrotropin with normal thyroid function which resolves spontaneously deserves the measurement of TSHR

antibodies. Although TSHR-blocking antibodies are a rare cause of transient HTT, autoimmune thyroid disease is quite prevalent in the general population.

Finally, exposure to antithyroid drugs would substantially contribute to the incidence rate of transient HTT, given the high prevalence of maternal hyperthyroidism; however, no studies reporting on the association between neonatal HTT and maternal ingestion of goitrogenic substances were found.

Identifying the mechanisms behind transient HTT would make it possible to discriminate at an early stage between the transient and the persistent forms and, thus, reduce medication and follow-up expenses.

## Is Genetic Variation the Most Common Causation or Origination of Persistent Neonatal HTT?

A continuous spectrum of thyroid impairment severity can occur because of either genetic or environmental factors, or both (5).

In this systematic review, 35 different genetic variants have been found in three candidate genes (**Table S5**). In the 37 included cases, biallelic carriers are more frequently described than monoallelic carriers of genetic variants.

Resistance to TSH is a genetic disease characterized by hyposensitivity to a biologically active TSH molecule. This definition excludes autoimmunity with TSHR-blocking antibodies mimicking the phenotype of resistance to TSH (55, 56). The phenotype is determined by the degree to which the function of the "mutant" TSH receptor is diminished (29). Affected individuals have elevated serum TSH in the absence of goiter, with the severity ranging from isolated HTT to severe CH (55). As expected, resistance to TSH is commonly caused by sequence variants in the *TSHR* gene (56).

Until now, 26 different *TSHR* sequence variants have been documented in 33 cases with neonatal-onset HTT (**Table S5**), half of them distributed in the extracellular domain (**Table S6**). The human *TSHR* gene encodes for a G-protein-coupled receptor with a classical seven-transmembrane domain interacting with G proteins and an extracellular domain. The TSHR extracellular domain is unusually large and encoded by exons 1 to 9 and part of exon 10 (both transmembrane and intracellular domains are encoded entirely by exon 10). Eighty-two percent of the cases were found to be carriers of pathogenic (or "likely pathogenic") variants in the *TSHR* gene (**Tables S5, S6**), and thus, genetic variants may explain the phenotype of the patients.

Different researchers have tried to elucidate the genetic variation that may be involved in the etiology of isolated neonatal HTT. Calaciura et al. have examined a cohort of children with neonatal HTT or false-positive results at NBS and found that 3 of 45 children were carriers of heterozygous variants in two candidate genes, *TPO* and *TSHR* (57). In another study, simple or compound *TSHR* heterozygous variants were detected in up to 30% (34/111) of children with SCH, half of whom were positive at NBS (17/34), with a high prevalence of first-degree family history for SCH (58).

Of note, some published studies were not able to detect genetic variation in candidate genes in cases with neonatal-onset HTT (10, 59–61). Worth mentioning, neonatal HTT may also be found in the

context of complex syndromes, like pseudohypoparathyroidism (8, 62–64). Nowadays, there is no estimate of the frequency of pathogenic variants in neonatal HTT.

Genetic approaches based on systematic sequencing and analysis of customized and well-designed panels of genes would further outline the etiology of isolated neonatal HTT. Such studies and long follow-up of patients are needed. Furthermore, the genetic analysis would also permit familial genetic counseling (65).

Before proceeding to molecular analysis or in areas where genetic studies are not available, it seems reasonable to corroborate TSH levels in first-degree relatives of newborns presenting with HTT. According to data in **Table S5**, it can be estimated that more than 50% (17/33) of the first-degree relatives of both biallelic and monoallelic carriers of genetic variants also show increased TSH values.

Since there are no estimates of the frequency of pathogenic variants in neonatal HTT, it is still unknown if the genetic variation is the most common causation of persistent neonatal-onset HTT.

Abnormal thyroid imaging tests were found only in 5 of 28 cases carrying sequence variants in the *TSHR* gene, so it can be speculated that thyroid abnormalities are a different etiology of neonatal HTT (**Table S5**). In this systematic review, the overall frequency of thyroid abnormalities in neonatal HTT was estimated at 27%; however, this percentage decreases to 11% (27/248) after excluding one outlier study (Oren A 2016, **Table S4**) (40).

## What Have We Learned About Management From Follow-Up Studies?

The last consensus about the biochemical criteria used in the decision to start treatment for CH suggests that if the serum TSH concentration is 6–20 mU/L beyond the age of 21 days in a healthy neonate with an FT4 concentration within the age-specific reference interval, either start L-T4 treatment immediately and retest, off-treatment, at a later stage, or withhold treatment but retest 1 to 2 weeks later (3). In this "gray area," treatment versus observation is based on clinical judgment due to lack of evidence in favor or against treatment. The management of infants with TSH elevations between 6 and 10 mU/L that persist after the first month of life is especially controversial (1).

It is not an easy decision to treat infants based on a single laboratory abnormality. Consistent with the mild nature of neonatal HTT, LT-4 treatment is started at an older age and at a lower dose compared with classic CH (40). The majority of neonates diagnosed with HTT have apparently normal thyroid glands, such that imaging studies do not help in the treatment decisions (66). Undertaking thyroid imaging diagnostic tests should not delay the decision on observation versus treatment beyond 4 weeks of age.

The available evidence is still insufficient to establish whether genetic analyses might represent a helpful diagnostic tool for a tailored management of patients with HTT, and whether it would allow discrimination between conditions that may require L-T4 therapy and follow-up. In any case, at present, genetic studies usually take more than a few weeks, and hence, such studies may not be helpful in treatment decision-making. It deserves mentioning that most patients with thyroid abnormalities (77/88, **Table S4**) and/or carrying monoallelic or biallelic genetic variants in the *TSHR* gene have received L-T4 treatment (29/33, **Table S5**).

Treatment should be introduced on an individual basis, in discussion with the family. The concerns and anxieties raised in the parents by both repeated examinations and treatment should be carefully considered (57). Withholding treatment and carefully monitoring thyroid function is a rational approach. **Table 1** shows that, in general, conservative management without any medical treatment is applied. Nonetheless, monitoring of thyroid function in infants presenting with HTT is certainly important as some studies have demonstrated cases of patients becoming biochemically hypothyroid, with low T4 and rising TSH levels, requiring treatment with L-T4 (14). Abnormal confirmatory TSH values should be followed up until 2 or 3 years of age, even in patients with an apparent properly adjusted set point for pituitary–thyroid feedback. Unfortunately, few NBS programs routinely follow up detected cases beyond the diagnosis.

After discussing the concern with the parents and paying close attention to avoid overtreatment, some physicians would decide to give L-T4 to infants to maintain both TSH and thyroid hormone levels within the normal range (57). A low dose of L-T4 for HTT infants with frequent monitoring after initiation of treatment seems reasonable. Some authors have reported elevated FT4 levels at some point during the treatment period, and occasionally, L-T4 treatment is stopped due to iatrogenic hyperthyroidism or thyrotoxicosis (8, 25, 67, 68). Therefore, in all those patients for whom L-T4 replacement therapy is started, it is imperative to ensure follow-up until 2 or 3 years of age and to conduct medically supervised trial-off therapy when warranted. This may reduce iatrogenic hyperthyroidism, medical costs, and parental anxiety associated with HTT management (8).

In **Figure 4**, we have presented the approach to the management of neonatal HTT based on the reviewed literature. A matter of concern is whether it is appropriate to resume L-T4 treatment if the TSH levels are slightly elevated following treatment withdrawal. Overall, withdrawal of treatment was judged as unsuccessful, and medication was restarted in 78% of the cases (**Table S7**). Because increased TSH levels seem to be almost always compensated and do not worsen over time, most pediatricians would take the decision to cease treatment and not to resume it despite the presence of SCH beyond 2 or 3 years of age. Children should remain under observation to ensure suitable levels of FT4 throughout childhood.

## Are There Factors Associated With Long-Term Clinical Evolution?

The prediction of the long-term evolution of these infants is still difficult. The evolution of thyroid function cannot be predicted by thyroid imaging tests. The occurrence of abnormal imaging tests was found to be higher in the persistent than in the transient form of HTT. However, the overall frequency of abnormal imaging tests in neonatal HTT is low (**Table S4**).

The clinical spectrum of thyroid dysfunction caused by sequence variants in the *TSHR* gene is wide. However, mildly

altered thyroid tests are commonly observed during childhood or adolescence in these patients (**Table S5**).

The variable phenotypic expression can be seen in cases with the same genotype. Mizuno et al. performed a clinical investigation of Japanese patients who had HTT as neonates, in whom a homozygous R450H sequence variant had been demonstrated. They found that although patients may not exhibit obvious hypothyroidism in infancy, resistance to TSH will become apparent with time (29). The elevation of circulating TSH would sometimes represent a compensatory mechanism in the presence of partial refractoriness to TSH action (69). Thyroid hormones are critical for growth and metabolic functions, and thyroid functional requirements increase in certain moments of life such as the neonatal period and puberty. It is always possible that more stringent environmental challenges, such as mild iodine deficiency, can stretch the limited resources of these subjects and manifest as overt hypothyroidism (35).

Follow-up is necessary to characterize a transient or persistent disorder. For children and adolescents who have had neonatal HTT, an overall frequency of SCH of 45% was estimated (**Table S7**).

The significance of SCH during childhood is still a matter of debate. This condition suggests a compensated state of primary thyroid failure requiring increased levels of TSH to maintain normal levels of thyroid hormones. Hashimoto's thyroiditis is by far the most common cause of SCH. However, in many cases, etiology cannot be identified. Idiopathic SCH has been described in children with neonatal isolated HTT.

Prospective studies with long-term close follow-up of children with neonatal-onset HTT are missing. An Italian group has reexamined a cohort of children with neonatal HTT or false-positive results at NBS. SCH was found in 28 of 44 children at the age of 2–3 years. SCH persisted in 14 of 44 (32%) children at an average age of 8 years; however, most of those children reversed to a normal thyroid function during advanced childhood (5). The reason for this normalization with increasing age is unknown. When environmental factors are auspicious, even partially impaired thyroid function may provide sufficient thyroid hormones, and the child will reach normal TSH values. The authors further suggest that these children might be prone to develop hypothyroidism if environmental conditions will become less favorable at a later stage (5).

## Is There Any Convincing Evidence About the Impact on Cognitive Development in These Children That Supports L-T4 Replacement Therapy?

The most interesting question that remains to be answered is undoubtedly whether L-T4 treatment improves the neurodevelopmental outcome. In general, studies have shown normal cognitive development in children with neonatal-onset HTT; nonetheless, conclusions are limited by small sample size, poor adjustment for confounding factors, or absence of clinic-based diagnostic tools.

Observational studies cannot demonstrate causality. As far as infants are concerned, further neurodevelopmental studies are required, including psycho-intellectual evaluation of treated versus untreated infants. While randomized controlled double-blind trials comparing thyroid hormone treatment and placebo (or observation only) on neurodevelopmental would be the best way to definitively answer the question about the benefit of treatment, those studies are unlikely to be performed for ethical reasons. Until now, the precise neurodevelopmental risks posed by mild disease remain uncertain.

As far as we know, this is the first systematic review on neonatal HTT. Within the limitations of this study, it should be mentioned that, in general, our estimations are derived from data extracted from heterogeneous studies. Between-study variability originates mainly from study design, inclusion criteria, and cutoff values for TSH. The most significant limitation found in the existing published data, as previously discussed, is the lack of consensus in definitions and differentiation between transient and persistent HTT.

According to the reviewed literature, HTT is present in neonates with an estimated incidence of 0.06%. Although it is still unknown which is the most common causation of persistent neonatal HTT, if any, infants suspected of persistent neonatal HTT should be closely followed up until 2 or 3 years of age. Long-term follow-up is also needed to detect moments in life when thyroid functional requirements increase, or environmental conditions become less advantageous. Here, it is tempting to consider whether the condition presenting with circulating TSH values fluctuating above the upper limit of the normal range should be termed as permanent HTT. Perhaps, a distinction should also be made between terms persistent and permanent.

It is not a simple decision to treat these infants. We have presented a flowchart for the management of neonatal HTT based on published literature. Although the optimal approach to this condition is still controversial, this systematic review should provide helpful guidance. Until now, the precise neurodevelopmental consequences caused by mild thyroid disease remain uncertain. Controlled studies are needed to determine whether the impact on cognitive outcome in these children supports L-T4 replacement therapy. Meanwhile, accurate assessment of developmental status, close follow-up of affected individuals, and a future systematic review on this specific topic will provide valuable information to improve disease management.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MT designed the study. MT and AC screened articles, determined eligibility, and performed data extraction. MT and AC drafted the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by ANPCyT (PID-2019-0007).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021.643307/ full#supplementary-material

## REFERENCES

- Rose SR, Brown RS, Foley T, Kaplowitz PB, Kaye CI, Sundararajan S, et al. Update of Newborn Screening and Therapy for Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Pediatrics* (2006) 117:2290–303. doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-0915
- Léger J, Olivieri A, Donaldson M, Torresani T, Krude H, Van Vliet G, et al. European Society for Paediatric Endocrinology Consensus Guidelines on Screening, Diagnosis, and Management of Congenital Hypothyroidism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99(2):363–84. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1891
- 3. Van Trotsenburg P, Stoupa A, Léger J, Rohrer T, Peters C, Fugazzola L, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism: A 2020-2021 Consensus Guidelines Update -An ENDO-European Reference Network Initiative Endorsed by the European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and the European Society for Endocrinology. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:387–419. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0333
- Parks JS, Lin M, Grosse SD, Hinton CF, Drummond-Borg M, Borgfeld L, et al. The Impact of Transient Hypothyroidism on the Increasing Rate of Congenital Hypothyroidism in the United States. *Pediatrics* (2010) 125 (Suppl 2):S54–63. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-1975F
- Leonardi D, Polizzotti N, Carta A, Gelsomino R, Sava L, Vigneri R, et al. Longitudinal Study of Thyroid Function in Children With Mild Hyperthyrotropinemia at Neonatal Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93:2679–85. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2007-2612
- Cortés-Castell E, Juste M, Palazón-Bru A, Goicoechea M, Gil-Guillén VF, Rizo-Baeza MM. Factors Associated With Moderate Neonatal Hyperthyrotropinemia. *PloS One* (2019) 14:1–9. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0220040
- Ramalho ARO, Ramalho RJR, Oliveira CRP, Santos EG, Oliveira MCP, Aguiar-Oliveira MH. Programa De Triagem Neonatal Para Hipotireoidismo Congênito No Nordeste do Brasil: Critérios Diagnósticos E Resultados. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol (2008) 52(4):617–27. doi: 10.1590/ S0004-27302008000400007
- Zung A, Tenenbaum-Rakover Y, Barkan S, Hanukoglu A, Hershkovitz E, Pinhas-Hamiel O, et al. Neonatal Hyperthyrotropinemia: Population Characteristics, Diagnosis, Management and Outcome After Cessation of Therapy. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2010) 72:264–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03634.x
- Nishiyama S, Mikeda T, Okada T, Nakamura K, Kotani T, Hishinuma A. Transient Hypothyroidism or Persistent Hyperthyrotropinemia in Neonates Born to Mothers With Excessive Iodine Intake. *Thyroid* (2004) 14:1077–83. doi: 10.1089/thy.2004.14.1077
- Köhler B, Schnabel D, Biebermann H, Gruters A. Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism and Hyperthyrotropinemia: Normal Thyroid Function and Physical Development at the Ages of 6-14 Years. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1996) 81:1563–7. doi: 10.1210/jcem.81.4.8636368
- Bosch-Giménez VM, Palazón-Bru A, Blasco-Barbero Á, Juste-Ruiz M, Rizo-Baeza MM, Cortés-Castell E. Multivariate Analysis of Thyrotropin in Preterm Newborns Based on Adequacy of Weight for Gestational Age. *Thyroid* (2017) 27:120–4. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0338
- Grob F, Gutiérrez M, Leguizamón L, Fabres J. Hyperthyrotropinemia is Common in Preterm Infants Who are Born Small for Gestational Age. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2020) 33:375–82. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2019-0461
- Sarici D, Akin M, Kurtoglu S, Gunes T, Ozturk M, Akcakus M. Thyroid Functions of Neonates With Down Syndrome. *Ital J Pediatr* (2012) 38:44. doi: 10.1186/1824-7288-38-44
- Cody D, Kumar Y, Ng SM, Didi M, Smith C. The Differing Outcomes of Hyperthyrotropinaemia. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2003) 16:375–8. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2003.16.3.375
- Kopanos C, Tsiolkas V, Kouris A, Chapple CE, Albarca Aguilera M, Meyer R, et al. VarSome: The Human Genomic Variant Search Engine. *Bioinformatics* (2019) 35:1978–80. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bty897
- Fu C, Luo S, Li Y, Li Q, Hu X, Li M, et al. The Incidence of Congenital Hypothyroidism (CH) in Guangxi, China and the Predictors of Permanent and Transient CH. *Endocr Connect* (2017) 6:926–34. doi: 10.1530/EC-17-0289
- Kumorowicz-Czoch M, Tylek-Lemanska D, Starzyk J. Thyroid Dysfunctions in Children Detected in Mass Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 24:141–5. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2011.080
- Corbetta C, Weber G, Cortinovis F, Calebiro D, Passoni A, Vigone MC, et al. A 7-Year Experience With Low Blood TSH Cutoff Levels for Neonatal

Screening Reveals an Unsuspected Frequency of Congenital Hypothyroidism (CH). *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2009) 71:739-45. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03568.x

- Tyfield LA, Abusrewil SSA, Jones SR, Savage DCL. Persistent Hyperthyrotropinaemia Since the Neonatal Period in Clinically Euthyroid Children. Eur J Pediatr (1991) 150:308–9. doi: 10.1007/BF01955927
- Miki K, Nose O, Miyai K, Yabuuchi H, Harada T. Transient Infantile Hyperthyrotrophinaemia. Arch Dis Child (1989) 64:1177–82. doi: 10.1136/ adc.64.8.1177
- Sava L, Delange F, Belfiore A, Purrello F, Vigneri R. Transient Impairment of Thyroid Function in Newborn From an Area of Endemic Goiter. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1984) 59:90–5. doi: 10.1210/jcem-59-1-90
- 22. Czernichow P, Vandalem JL, Hennen G. Transient Neonatal Hyperthyrotropinemia: A Factitious Syndrome Due to the Presence of Heterophilic Antibodies in the Plasma of Infants and Their Mothers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1981) 53:387–93. doi: 10.1210/jcem-53-2-387
- Miyai K, Amino N, Nishi K, Fujie T, Nakatant K, Nose O, et al. Transient Infantile Hyperthyrotropinaemia: Report of a Case. Arch Dis Child (1979) 54:965–7. doi: 10.1136/adc.54.12.965
- Rovelli R, Vigone MC, Giovanettoni C, Passoni A, Maina L, Corrias A, et al. Newborn of Mothers Affected by Autoimmune Thyroiditis: The Importance of Thyroid Function Monitoring in the First Months of Life. *Ital J Pediatr* (2010) 36:24. doi: 10.1186/1824-7288-36-24
- Demirel F, Bideci A, Çamurdan MO, Cinaz P. L-Thyroxin Treatment in Infants With Hyperthyrotropinaemia: 4-Year Experience. Int J Clin Pract (2007) 61:1333–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2006.00998.x
- De Roux N, Misrahi M, Brauner R, Houang M, Carel JC, Granier M, et al. Four Families With Loss of Function Mutations of the Thyrotropin Receptor. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1996) 81:4229–35. doi: 10.1210/jc.81.12.4229
- Tomita Y, Ishiguro H, Shinagawa T, Kubota C, Shinohara O. Persistence of Mild Hyperthyrotropinemia After Discontinuation of Three-Year Course of Low-Dose L-Thyroxine Therapy in Infants With Borderline Hypothyroidism. *Endocr J* (2003) 50:379–84. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.50.379
- Vigone MC, Fugazzola L, Zamproni I, Passoni A, Di Candia S, Chiumello G, et al. Persistent Mild Hypothyroidism Associated With Novel Sequence Variants of the DUOX2 Gene in Two Siblings. *Hum Mutat* (2005) 26:395. doi: 10.1002/humu.9372
- Mizuno H, Kanda K, Sugiyama Y, Imamine H, Ito T, Kato I, et al. Longitudinal Evaluation of Patients With a Homozygous R450H Mutation of the TSH Receptor Gene. *Horm Res* (2009) 71:318–23. doi: 10.1159/000223415
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 Statement: An Updated Guideline for Reporting Systematic Reviews. *BMJ* (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- Azzopardi P, Forrester M, Ehtisham S. Three Siblings With Self-Resolving Congenital Hyperthyrotropinaemia Secondary to Thyrotropin Receptor Blocking Antibodies. J Paediatr Child Health (2010) 46:439–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1754.2009.01687.x
- Evans C, Gregory JW, Barton J, Bidder C, Gibbs J, Pryce R, et al. Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism Due to Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone Receptor Blocking Antibodies: A Case Series. Ann Clin Biochem (2011) 48:386–90. doi: 10.1258/acb.2011.011007
- 33. Tamaki H, Amino N, Aozasa M, Mori M, Iwatani Y, Tachi J, et al. Effective Method for Prediction of Transient Hypothyroidism in Neonates Born to Mothers With Chronic Thyroiditis. Am J Perinatol (1989) 6:296–303. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-999597
- 34. Schwingshandl J, Donaghue K, Luttrell B, Cowell C, Ward P, Silink M. Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism Due to Maternal Thyrotrophin Binding Inhibiting Immunoglobulin. J Paediatr Child Health (1993) 29:315– 8. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1754.1993.tb00521.x
- 35. Sriphrapradang C, Tenenbaum-Rakover Y, Weiss M, Barkoff MS, Admoni O, Kawthar D, et al. The Coexistence of a Novel Inactivating Mutant Thyrotropin Receptor Allele With Two Thyroid Peroxidase Mutations: A Genotype-Phenotype Correlation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96:1001–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0127
- 36. Kotani T, Umeki K, Kawano JI, Suganuma T, Hishinuma A, Ieiri T. Harada S. Partial Iodide Organification Defect Caused by a Novel Mutation of the Thyroid Peroxidase Gene in Three Siblings. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2003) 59:198–206. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2003.01823.x
- Maruo Y, Nagasaki K, Matsui K, Mimura Y, Mori A, Fukami M, et al. Natural Course of Congenital Hypothyroidism by Dual Oxidase 2 Mutations From the Neonatal Period Through Puberty. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 174:453–63. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0959
- Trumpff C, Vandevijvere S, Moreno-Reyes R, Vanderpas J, Tafforeau J, Van Oyen H, et al. Neonatal Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone Level Is Influenced by Neonatal, Maternal, and Pregnancy Factors. *Nutr Res* (2015) 35:975–81. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2015.09.002
- Aguiar L, Garb J, Reiter E, Visintainer P, Singh R, Allen H, et al. Can One Predict Resolution of Neonatal Hyperthyrotropinemia? *J Pediatr* (2016) 174:71–77.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.04.011
- Oren A, Wang MK, Brnjac L, Mahmud FH, Palmert MR. Use of Tc-99 M Thyroid Scans in Borderline Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Clin Endocrinol* (Oxf) (2016) 84:438–44. doi: 10.1111/cen.12807
- Karlsson FA, Dahlberg PA, Alm J, Larsson A, Felding I. Maternal TSH-Receptor Antibodies and TSH Antibodies in Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism. Acta Paediatr Scand (1986) 75:756–61. doi: 10.1111/ j.1651-2227.1986.tb10286.x
- Jospe N, Berkovitz GD, Corcoran LE, Humphrey RL. Factitious Transient Neonatal Hyperthyrotropinemia. J Endocrinol Invest (1988) 11:129–32. doi: 10.1007/BF03350120
- 43. Gendrel D, Feinstein MC, Grenier J, Roger M, Ingrand J, Chaussain JL, et al. Falsely Elevated Serum Thyrotropin (TSH) in Newborn Infants: Transfer From Mothers to Infants of a Factor Interfering in the TSH Radioimmunoassay. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1981) 52:62–5. doi: 10.1210/jcem-52-1-62
- 44. Larsson A, Hedenborg G, Carlström A. PLACENTAL TRANSFER OF MATERNAL ANTI-RABBIT IGG CAUSING FALSELY ELEVATED TSH LEVELS IN NEONATES. Acta Pædiatr (1981) 70:699–703. doi: 10.1111/ j.1651-2227.1981.tb05771.x
- 45. Lazarus JH, John R, Ginsberg J, Hughes IA, Shewring G, Smith BR, et al. Transient Neonatal Hyperthyrotrophinaemia: A Serum Abnormality Due to Transplacentally Acquired Antibody to Thyroid Stimulating Hormone. Br Med J (1983) 286:592–4. doi: 10.1136/bmj.286.6365.592
- Anastasovska V, Kocova M. Ethnicity and Incidence of Congenital Hypothyroidism in the Capital of Macedonia. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2017) 30:405–9. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2016-0178
- Ordookhani A, Padyab M, Goldasteh A, Mirmiran P, Richter J, Azizi F. Seasonal Variation of Neonatal Transient Hyperthyrotropinemia in Tehran Province, 1998-2005. *Chronobiol Int* (2010) 27:1854–69. doi: 10.3109/ 07420528.2010.516046
- Aminzadeh M, Chomeili B, Riahi K, Dehdashtian M, Cheraghian B, Valavi E. Effect of Temperature Changes on the Occurrence of Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Med Screen (2010) 17:121–4. doi: 10.1258/jms.2010.010026
- Deladoëy J, Ruel J, Giguère Y, Van Vliet G. Is the Incidence of Congenital Hypothyroidism Really Increasing? A 20-Year Retrospective Population-Based Study in Québec. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96:2422–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1073
- Lain S, Trumpff C, Grosse SD, Olivieri A, Van Vliet G. Are Lower TSH Cutoffs in Neonatal Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism Warranted? *Eur J Endocrinol* (2017) 177:D1–12. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0107
- Wilson JM, Jungner YG. Principles and Practice of Mass Screening for Disease. Bol Oficina Sanit Panam (1968) 65(4):281–393.
- 52. Kutlu Yaman A, Demirel F, Ermiş B, Etem Pişkin I. Maternal and Neonatal Urinary Iodine Status and Its Effect on Neonatal TSH Levels in a Mildly Iodine-Deficient Area. *JCRPE J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol* (2013) 5:90–4. doi: 10.4274/Jcrpe.997
- Kung AWC, Lao TT, Low LCK, Pang RWC, Robinson JD. Iodine Insufficiency and Neonatal Hyperthyrotropinaemia in Hong Kong. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (1997) 46:315–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.1997.1310960.x
- Ozdemir H, Akman I, Coskun S, Demirel U, Turan S, Bereket A, et al. Maternal Thyroid Dysfunction and Neonatal Thyroid Problems. *Int J Endocrinol* (2013) 2013:987843. doi: 10.1155/2013/987843
- Grasberger H, Refetoff S. Resistance to Thyrotropin. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 31:183–94. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2017.03.004
- Persani L, Calebiro D, Cordella D, Weber G, Gelmini G, Libri D, et al. Genetics and Phenomics of Hypothyroidism Due to TSH Resistance. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) 322:72–82. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2010.01.008

- Calaciura F, Motta RM, Miscio G, Fichera G, Leonardi D, Carta A, et al. Subclinical Hypothyroidism in Early Childhood: A Frequent Outcome of Transient Neonatal Hyperthyrotropinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87:3209–14. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.7.8662
- Vigone MC, Di Frenna M, Guizzardi F, Gelmini G, de Filippis T, Mora S, et al. Mild TSH Resistance: Clinical and Hormonal Features in Childhood and Adulthood. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2017) 87:587–96. doi: 10.1111/cen.13387
- Grasberger H, Mimouni-Bloch A, Vantyghem MC, Van Vliet G, Abramowicz M, Metzger DL, et al. Autosomal Dominant Resistance to Thyrotropin as a Distinct Entity in Five Multigenerational Kindreds: Clinical Characterization and Exclusion of Candidate Loci. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2005) 90:4025–34. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0572
- Xie J, Pannain S, Pohlenz J, Weiss RE, Moltz K, Morlot M, et al. Resistance to Thyrotropin (TSH) in Three Families is Not Associated With Mutations in the TSH Receptor or TSH. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82:3933–40. doi: 10.1210/ jc.82.12.3933
- Satoh M, Aso K, Ogikubo S, Ogasawara A, Saji T. Genetic Analysis in Children With Transient Thyroid Dysfunction or Subclinical Hypothyroidism Detected on Neonatal Screening. *Clin Pediatr Endocrinol* (2009) 18:95–100. doi: 10.1297/cpe.18.95
- Yokoro S, Matsuo M, Ohtsuka T, Ohzeki T. Hyperthyrotropinemia in a Neonate With Normal Thyroid Hormone Levels: The Earliest Diagnostic Clue for Pseudohypoparathyroidism. *Neonatology* (1990) 58:69–72. doi: 10.1159/000243234
- 63. Kayemba-Kay's S, Tripon C, Heron A, Hindmarsh P. Pseudohypoparathyroidism Type 1a-Subclinical Hypothyroidism and Rapid Weight Gain as Early Clinical Signs: A Clinical Review of 10 Cases. *J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol* (2016) 8:432–8. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.2743
- Szinnai G, Léger J, Bauer AJ, Pearce EN, Ramos HE, Canalli MH, et al. Clinical Case Seminar in Pediatric Thyroid Disease. *Endocr Dev* (2014) 26:214–44. doi: 10.1159/000363166
- 65. Calebiro D, Gelmini G, Cordella D, Bonomi M, Winkler F, Biebermann H, et al. Frequent TSH Receptor Genetic Alterations With Variable Signaling Impairment in a Large Series of Children With Nonautoimmune Isolated Hyperthyrotropinemia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 97:156–60. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1938
- 66. Connelly KJ, Lafranchi SH. Detection of Neonates With Mild Congenital Hypothyroidism (Primary) or Isolated Hyperthyrotropinemia: An Increasingly Common Management Dilemma. *Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 9:263–71. doi: 10.1586/17446651.2014.897607
- Oren A, Wang MK, Brnjac L, Mahmud FH, Palmert MR. Mild Neonatal Hyperthyrotrophinaemia: 10-Year Experience Suggests the Condition is Increasingly Common But Often Transient. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2013) 79:832–7. doi: 10.1111/cen.12228
- Tolga Ü, Korcan D, Ayhan A, Atilla B, Ece B. The Role of Initial Clinical and Laboratory Findings in Infants With Hyperthyrotropinemia to Predict Transient or Permanent Hypothyroidism. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol (2013) 5:170–3. doi: 10.4274/Jcrpe.931
- Alberti L, Proverbio MC, Costagliola S, Romoli R, Boldrighini B, Vigone MC, et al. Germline Mutations of TSH Receptor Gene as Cause of Nonautoimmune Subclinical Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87:2549–55. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.6.8536

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chiesa and Tellechea. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Deficiency: From Pathophysiological Understanding to Therapy Development

Ferdy S. van Geest, Nilhan Gunhanlar, Stefan Groeneweg and W. Edward Visser\*

Academic Center For Thyroid Disease, Department of Internal Medicine, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands

Genetic defects in the thyroid hormone transporter monocarboxylate transporter 8 (MCT8) result in MCT8 deficiency. This disorder is characterized by a combination of severe intellectual and motor disability, caused by decreased cerebral thyroid hormone signalling, and a chronic thyrotoxic state in peripheral tissues, caused by exposure to elevated serum T3 concentrations. In particular, MCT8 plays a crucial role in the transport of thyroid hormone across the blood-brain-barrier. The life expectancy of patients with MCT8 deficiency is strongly impaired. Absence of head control and being underweight at a young age, which are considered proxies of the severity of the neurocognitive and peripheral phenotype, respectively, are associated with higher mortality rate. The thyroid hormone analogue triiodothyroacetic acid is able to effectively and safely ameliorate the peripheral thyrotoxicosis; its effect on the neurocognitive phenotype is currently under investigation. Other possible therapies are at a pre-clinical stage. This review provides an overview of the current understanding of the physiological role of MCT8 and the pathophysiology, key clinical characteristics and developing treatment options for MCT8 deficiency.

Keywords: MCT8 deficiency, monocarboxylate transporter 8, Allan-Herndon-Dudley syndrome (AHDS), thyroid hormone transport, thyroid hormone signaling

## INTRODUCTION

Throughout life, thyroid hormone plays an indispensable role in many processes in almost all tissues of the human body. During prenatal and early postnatal life, adequate thyroid hormone signalling is crucial for normal neurodevelopment (1). Furthermore, thyroid hormone regulates key metabolic processes (e.g. mitochondrial respiration) in various tissues, including the liver, kidneys and muscles (2, 3).

Thyroid hormone is the common name for both the prohormone thyroxine (T4), the major product of the thyroid, and the biologically active triiodothyronine (T3). Intracellular thyroid hormone signalling is governed by three major processes: 1) transport of thyroid hormone across the cell membrane, facilitated by specific thyroid hormone transporter proteins, 2) conversion of T4 into T3 or the inactive metabolite reverse (r)T3 and further degradation into other inactive thyroid hormone metabolites by deiodinating enzymes types 1-3 (DIO1-3), and 3) genomic action of T3

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ari J. Wassner, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Arturo Hernandez, Maine Medical Center, United States Anne H. Van Der Spek, Weill Cornell Medicine, United States

> \*Correspondence: W. Edward Visser w.e.visser@erasmusmc.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 11 June 2021 Accepted: 13 August 2021 Published: 01 September 2021

#### Citation:

van Geest FS, Gunhanlar N, Groeneweg S and Visser WE (2021) Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Deficiency: From Pathophysiological Understanding to Therapy Development. Front. Endocrinol. 12:723750. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.723750

73

upon binding to thyroid hormone receptor (TR)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  (4). Together, these mechanisms allow for a precise and tissuespecific regulation of intracellular thyroid hormone signalling. This is pivotal for proper development and function of many tissues and crucial for the overall homeostasis of the hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis (2, 3). Hence, alterations in any of these mechanisms can result in tissuespecific thyroid hormone signalling defects. In human, defects in all these mechanisms have been identified and such disorders generally impair cellular thyroid hormone signalling (5–12).

To date, the most specific thyroid hormone transporter identified is monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) 8, encoded by SLC16A2 on chromosome Xq13.2 (13). Pathogenic variants in this gene result in a clinical syndrome of severe intellectual and motor disability and increased serum T3 concentrations, leading to thyrotoxic symptoms in peripheral tissues, together known as MCT8 deficiency [also known as Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome (AHDS); OMIM number 300523] (8, 9, 14). Patients generally have poor head control, remain non-verbal, are wheelchair bound and severely underweight and often die at a young age (15). Since the identification of the first series of patients with MCT8 deficiency, many efforts have been undertaken to better understand this rare disorder and to develop potential therapeutic strategies (Figure 1). However, important pathophysiological questions remain unanswered to date and treatment options are limited.

## PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE OF MCT8

The *SLC16A2* gene comprises two transcriptional start sites, resulting either in an MCT8 protein of 613 amino acids (referred to as the 'long' isoform) or 539 amino acids (referred to as the 'short' isoform). Although the functional properties of

both isoforms are highly similar, the short isoform is generally considered physiologically relevant, since this is the only isoform identified in human tissue to date. In vitro overexpression studies have demonstrated a role for the extended N-terminus, specific to the long MCT8 isoform, in ubiquitin-dependent proteasomal degradation, thereby potentially regulating expression of MCT8 protein (16, 17). Yet, there is no definitive proof for the existence of a long MCT8 protein isoform under physiological conditions, which led to the recent change of the reference sequence from the long isoform (NM\_006517.3; NP\_006508.1) to the short isoform (NM\_006517.5; NP\_006508.2). It should be emphasized that most literature on MCT8 available to date used the long translational isoform to assign the position of variants. To avoid confusion amongst researchers and clinicians, we recently proposed to continue using the long isoform of MCT8 (counting from the first translational start site) in the nomenclature of SLC16A2 variants, according to the majority of variants described in literature (18, 19).

MCT8 is capable of mediating the flux of thyroid hormone across the cell membrane through facilitated diffusion, independent of pH or a Na<sup>+</sup> gradient (18). Major substrates of MCT8 are the iodothyronines T3 and T4; to a lesser extent, it is also capable to mediate transport of the inactive metabolites rT3 and 3,3diiodothyronine (3,3'-T2) (20). Both uptake and efflux of thyroid hormone across the cell membrane are facilitated by MCT8 (21). Interestingly, transport of thyroid hormone metabolites lacking the aNH2 group [e.g. 3,3',5-triiodothyroacetic acid (Triac) and 3,3',5,5'-tetraiodothyroacetic acid (Tetrac)] is not dependent on MCT8 (22, 23). Silychristin, a flavonolignan found in some traditional European and Asian medicinal compounds, is capable of specifically and effectively blocking MCT8-mediated thyroid hormone transport in different in vitro and ex vivo models (24, 25). Based on studies using the inhibitors bromsulphthalein (BSP) and desipramine, Jomura et al. suggest that MCT8 can be





involved in efflux of the anti-epileptic drug phenytoin across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (26). However, as these inhibitors are not MCT8-specific and with BSP being an inhibitor of the majority of thyroid hormone transporting organic anion transporter proteins (OATPs) (18), additional evidence is warranted to support this hypothesis.

MCT8 is ubiquitously expressed throughout the human body. Both MCT8 mRNA and protein are most prominently expressed in the liver, but are also found in significant quantities in the thyroid, kidneys, pituitary and brain (27). In particular, MCT8 is expressed in different neural cells, including subtypes of neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and tanycytes (28, 29). Expression of MCT8 in tanycytes may potentially play an important role in the negative feedback of HPT axis homeostasis (30). During all stages of intra-uterine development, MCT8 expression is observed in vascular structures within the foetal brain and, later in development, in their surrounding astrocytes (31). Moreover, MCT8 expression is observed in radial glial cells, leptomeningeal cells and blood vessels in the subarachnoid space of murine models (at 14 to 38 gestational weeks) (31). These findings are indicative of a prominent role for MCT8 at the BBB and, to a lesser extent, also at the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier (BCSFB), and underlie the current paradigm that MCT8 is crucial for thyroid hormone transport across the BBB in particular. Interestingly, recent detailed protein expression studies from Wilpert et al. on murine brain tissues demonstrated strong expression of MCT8 in the brain barriers and many subpopulations of neurons (including cortical and cerebellar neurons) at a young age (postnatal day 6, representative for the foetal phase in human), but a sharp decrease in MCT8 expression in neurons upon aging, whereas expression in the BBB and BCSFB did not change upon aging. In adult postmortem and fresh human brain tissues from 4 older individuals (50 - 82 years), a similar pattern of strong MCT8 expression in endothelial cells and minimal to no expression in neuronal tissues was found (32). Together, these findings indicate the presence of MCT8 in the majority of brain tissues during (prenatal) development, whereas its presence may be restricted to the brain barriers later in adult life. Yet, it is hitherto unknown how MCT8 functionally contributes to intracellular thyroid hormone homeostasis in different cell types at different developmental stages.

Despite its ubiquitous expression in human tissues other than brain (so called peripheral tissues), the physiological role of MCT8 in these tissues is less well-defined. Importantly, along with MCT8, various alternative thyroid hormone transporters are ubiquitously expressed throughout the peripheral tissues (members of the L-type amino acid transporter and OATP family, as well as Na+-taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide and the recently identified thyroid hormone transporter SLC17A4) (18). Hence, other peripheral tissues have a variable dependence on MCT8 for adequate thyroid hormone homeostasis (33, 34).

MCT8 is highly expressed on the basolateral side of follicular epithelial cells of the murine thyroid, as demonstrated by different *in situ* hybridization, immunohistochemistry and

immunoblot analyses (35, 36). Similar observations were made in the human thyroid (37).

## PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF MCT8 DEFICIENCY

The relevance of adequate MCT8-mediated thyroid hormone transport becomes apparent in patients harbouring mutations in the *SLC16A2* gene. Such mutations result in a phenotype of severe intellectual and motor disability and signs of peripheral thyrotoxicosis, including negative clinical sequelae as tachycardia and being severely underweight. As *SLC16A2* is located on the X chromosome, mostly men are affected; one female with MCT8 deficiency due to unfavourable X-inactivation has been described (38). A detailed description of the clinical characteristics of this disease is provided in section *Disease Characteristics* of this review.

Different animal models have been exploited to better understand the pathophysiology of MCT8 deficiency. The first animal model generated for these purposes was the Mct8 knockout (KO) mouse (39, 40). In mice, which are commonly studied to delineate tissue-specific intracellular thyroid hormone signalling processes, the expression pattern of MCT8 is largely comparable to the human situation (18). However, in contrast to the human BBB, the BBB of mice (and other rodents) coexpresses the T4-specific transporter Oatp1c1, enabling T4 transport into the brain and subsequent local conversion into T3 by Dio2 (41). This observation is highly relevant in studying cerebral thyroid hormone homeostasis, as murine models do not well resemble the human physiological situation. Although Mct8 KO mice well resemble the serum thyroid hormone fingerprint of patients with MCT8 deficiency, no overt neurological abnormalities were identified. Therefore, results obtained in rodent brains should be translated with caution to the human situation (42). Hence, Mct8 KO mice are generally considered to be an adequate model for the peripheral thyrotoxic state observed in patients with MCT8 deficiency, but should not be used when evaluating (treatment effects on) the neurocognitive phenotype (42). Subsequently, an Mct8/Oatp1c1 double KO (DKO) mouse model was generated, which indeed mimicked both the peripheral thyrotoxic as well as the neurocognitive phenotype of MCT8 deficiency. The latter was illustrated by pronounced locomotor abnormalities, altered Purkinje cell dendritogenesis, a reduction in cerebral T3 and T4 content to 10%, decreased cerebral expression of the thyroid hormone sensitive gene Hairless and reduced cerebral levels of myelin basic protein (MBP), indicating hypomyelination (41). More recent studies suggest that Mct8/Dio2 DKO mice may also mimic human MCT8 deficiency, as inactivation of Dio2 prevents the formation of sufficient intracerebral T3 concentrations even in presence of functional Oatp1c1 (43). In addition to murine models, zebrafish and chicken models are available and resemble parts of the phenotypic spectrum of MCT8 deficiency (44, 45).

The functional contribution of MCT8 in the BBB only became recently apparent when Vatine et al. successfully obtained MCT8 deficient vascular endothelial and neural cells from patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) (46). In these MCT8 deficient neural cells, reduced thyroid hormone uptake capacity was found. However, the ability of these MCT8 deficient iPSCs to differentiate to neural cells was grossly unaltered. This latter observation suggests that, despite the absence of functional MCT8, sufficient intracellular T3 concentrations are reached in these cells. Utilizing iPSCs to model the BBB demonstrated the relevance of MCT8 in this barrier, with transport of T3 across the modelled BBB being significantly reduced in absence of MCT8 (46). Defective MCT8 in specific neuronal populations or in neural stem cells from patient derived iPSCs was not studied. Complementary studies of Mayerl et al. on adult hippocampal neurogenesis in murine neural stem cells showed that this process is largely regulated by thyroid hormone signalling in a cellautonomous fashion, with MCT8 functioning as an important gate keeper (47). Upon both global deletion and adult neural stem cell-specific deletion of MCT8, differentiation of hippocampal neuroblasts was reduced. Similarly, recent studies of Vatine et al. demonstrated that oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs) are not able to generate myelinating oligodendrocytes in the context of reduced cerebral thyroid hormone signalling, as observed in MCT8 deficiency (29). It should be noted that these studies used different models representing different neural cell types and different stages of neuronal development, limiting direct comparison of their results. López-Espíndola et al. performed post-mortem studies on the cerebral cortex and cerebellum of a human foetus with MCT8 deficiency (30 gestation weeks) and an 11-year old patient with MCT8 deficiency (48). The foetal brain already showed delayed cortical and cerebellar development (including altered Purkinje cell dendritogenesis), hypomyelination (indicated by low levels of MBP) and impaired maturation of the axons, indicating that the brain suffers from a severe state of low thyroid hormone signalling during pregnancy. Similar features were identified in the brain of the 11-year old patient, thus excluding spontaneous recovery of the neural aberrations with increasing age. Cerebral cortex T3 and T4 concentrations were reduced by 50%. The observed features were in line with the features found in Mct8/ Oatp1c1 DKO mice (41). Interestingly, the reduction in cerebral thyroid hormone content was less prominent when compared to Mct8/Oatp1c1 DKO mice. This remarkable difference is currently not well understood; amongst other factors, differential expression of so far unidentified thyroid hormone transporters or other protecting mechanisms could underlie this observation. Together with the studies of Wilpert et al., these studies point towards a prominent role of MCT8 in the transport of thyroid hormone across the brain barriers, and the role of MCT8 in neural cells appears to vary between cell types and developmental stages.

Over the years, multiple hypotheses have been postulated on the pathophysiology of the distinct thyroid hormone fingerprint in MCT8 deficiency. It was first reasoned that, due to reduced cerebral T3 uptake, a progressive buildup of T3 in serum stimulates DIO1 activity in peripheral tissues, thus further aggravating the peripheral thyrotoxicosis by enhancing T4 to T3 conversion. In Mct8/Pax8 DKO and Pax8 KO mice, both being completely athyroid, injection of T3 resulted in similar serum T3 concentrations in both groups (35). In contrast, injection of T4 resulted in lower serum T4 concentrations in Mct8/Pax8 DKO mice compared to Pax8 KO mice, indicating increased deiodinase activity independent of the circulating T3 concentrations. Hence, a reduced cerebral thyroid hormone uptake does not explain the characteristic high T3:T4 ratio observed in MCT8 deficiency. As MCT8 is expressed in human tanycytes and thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH)expressing neurons (28, 49), it was hypothesized that MCT8 may have an important role in controlling the HPT axis, and in particular the negative feedback system. Moreover, the coexpression of MCT8 and DIO2 in folliculostellate cells of the human pituitary indicates that MCT8 might also control the HPT axis on pituitary level, with folliculostellate cells acting in a paracrine fashion (49). In Mct8 KO mice the thyroidal secretion of T4 is decreased, whereas increased release of T3 is observed (35, 36). It should be noted that the ratio of thyroidal T3 vs T4 secretion and intrathyroidal deiodinase activity are different between rodents and humans (50). Taken together, it is likely that MCT8 plays a role in thyroid hormone homeostasis at all levels of the HPT axis (Figure 2). This, however, does not completely explain the high serum T3:T4 ratio that is observed in all patients with MCT8 deficiency (see Disease Characteristics), as the increased peripheral thyroid hormone metabolism remains not well understood in this hypothesis.

A third hypothesis focusses on deiodinase activity in peripheral tissues. Dio1 has a role in rT3 clearance and converts the prohormone T4 into biologically active T3. Dio2 has an activating function by catalysing T4 to T3 conversion, whereas Dio3 primarily has a role in inactivation of thyroid hormone (conversion of T4 to rT3 and T3 to T2) (4). In the liver and kidneys of Mct8 KO mice, strongly increased activity of Dio1 was observed, whereas increased Dio2 activity was found in the brain, pituitary and skeletal muscles (39, 40). In these mice, increased liver T3 content and increased expression of Dio1 were observed, and resulted in clinical features of increased thyroid hormone signalling in the liver (e.g. decreased serum cholesterol concentrations), in line with observations made in patients with MCT8 deficiency (15, 39). By utilizing Mct8/Dio1 DKO mice, Liao et al. demonstrated that the alterations in Dio1 activity are primarily responsible for the high T3:T4 ratio in Mct8 KO mice (51). Interestingly, proximal tubule cells that normally express MCT8, showed increased Dio1 expression in the absence of MCT8. Moreover, upon peripheral injection of radiolabelled T3 and T4 in Mct8 KO mice, increased accumulation of radioactivity was observed in kidney, but not in liver homogenates (40). Also, liver-specific KO of Dio1 in Mct8 KO mice did not result in normalization of the circulating thyroid hormone levels, suggesting that the increased hepatic Dio1 expression is not causing the abnormal thyroid hormone levels (52). Together, these findings hint towards a crucial role for MCT8 in renal T4 efflux, thereby maintaining global thyroid hormone homeostasis (Figure 2). Based on these findings, it is currently hypothesized that, due to deficient MCT8-mediated



thyroid hormone excretion, T4 is trapped in the kidneys, which results in an upregulation of Dio1. Subsequent to this increased expression, T4 is rapidly conversed to T3 by Dio1 and released to the circulation by other transporters, resulting in increased serum T3 concentrations. However, further studies are warranted to confirm if, and decipher how the kidneys contribute to the distinct fingerprint of thyroid function tests in MCT8 deficiency.

## **DISEASE CHARACTERISTICS**

In 1944, Allan, Herndon and Dudley first described families with several members suffering from an X-linked form of neurodevelopmental delay, resulting in a lack of speech and impaired walking ability. Hence, it was coined Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome or AHDS (53). The underlying pathogenic mechanism of AHDS remained unclear up until 2004. Soon after the identification of MCT8 as a specific thyroid hormone transporter (13), the first patients with a mutation therein were identified, presenting a remarkably similar clinical phenotype as those males described by Allan, Herndon and Dudley (8, 9). In 2005, Schwartz et al. provided definite proof that the families originally described by Allan, Herndon and Dudley indeed carried mutations in MCT8 (14). Thus, the terms MCT8 deficiency and AHDS both comprise the same syndrome and are both commonly used in the field. With the current tendency to avoid eponyms, MCT8 deficiency is currently preferred to describe the disease.

Initial reports mainly focused on the neurodevelopmental phenotype, resulting from defective thyroid hormone transport into the brain. Over time, it was increasingly recognized that, in contrast to the brain, other tissues of the human body (hereafter called peripheral tissues) are in a chronic thyrotoxic state. Due to the abundance of alternative thyroid hormone transporters in peripheral tissues, these tissues adequately sense the high circulating T3 concentrations.

When studying the genetic basis of MCT8 deficiency, it is critical to discriminate deleterious mutations from benign (rare) variants (54). Approximately 150 different mutations in about 250 different families have been described in literature and a prevalence of 1:70,000 males has been suggested (15, 55). They can be classified in three major groups: large deletions resulting in an incomplete MCT8 protein, insertions/deletions/nonsense mutations resulting in a frameshift or premature truncation, and missense mutations resulting in a single amino acid change (18). Whereas the pathogenic character of the first two categories can be predicted with considerable certainty, not all missense variants impair MCT8 thyroid hormone transport function. Evaluation of residual thyroid hormone transport capacity of these variants in *in vitro* systems or patient-derived fibroblasts is therefore indispensable to confirm the pathogenic nature of identified variants (56-58). Recent studies suggested that Cterminal missense variants beyond amino acid residue Met574 (long isoform) are well-tolerated and likely to not results in a

phenotype (59). Additional studies are warranted to further delineate the relationship between the different mutations and the phenotypic variability.

In the years following its discovery, understanding of the phenotype of MCT8 deficiency largely relied on reports of individual cases and studies including small cohort of patients with MCT8 deficiency. With the number of identified patients strongly increasing with rising awareness amongst physicians in recent years, the opportunity arose to study larger cohorts of patients (15, 60). Following structured evaluation of two cohorts, better understanding of different aspects of MCT8 deficiency was obtained. The first cohort, described by Remerand et al., comprised of 24 patients in whom specifically the neurological features were further detailed (60). In line with previously reports, they showed that the neurocognitive phenotype of MCT8 deficiency comprises severe intellectual and motor disability. Hypotonia, spasticity and dystonia are key clinical features (observed in 100%, 71% and 75%, respectively). The majority of patients had poor head control, did not develop speech and did not attain the ability to sit or walk. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) depicted hypomyelination in the majority of patients (19 out of 24 patients) and global brain atrophy in approximately 50% of patients. Similar observations were made earlier, in 13 MRIscans of 6 patients (61). Moreover, detailed diffusion tensor imaging, available in three subjects, demonstrated a lack of definition in the anteroposteriorly directed association tracts, whereas the commissural white matter tracts (indicating the corpus callosum) and the corticospinal tracts appeared relatively normal. A recent review of the available literature suggested that MRI-scans of patients show gradual improvement of myelination throughout life, indicating a state of delayed myelination rather than hypomyelination (62). In contrast, post-mortem microscopic evaluation of the brain of an 11-year old patient demonstrated deficient myelination [also see Pathophysiology of MCT8 Deficiency (48)]. Strikingly, in the cohort of Remerand and colleagues, 8 out of 24 (33%) patients were able to walk, indicative of a less severe phenotype. This proportion was considerably higher than estimates based on available case reports and case series (18, 61), suggesting that patients with a relatively less severe phenotype were overrepresented in this cohort. Although Remerand et al. reported on thyroid function tests, the peripheral phenotype had not been further detailed.

Hence, the establishment of a larger cohort was warranted, in order to obtain more robust phenotypic data covering both the neurological and peripheral phenotype. In an international multicenter effort, Groeneweg et al., described the phenotypic characteristics of up to 151 patients with MCT8 deficiency (15). Similar observations of key clinical neurological symptoms were found as in the cohort of Remerand et al., albeit with a much lower proportion of patient who had developed walking abilities (4 out of 77 patients). Also, this study was the first to systematically collect quantitative data on the motor and cognitive abilities of patients with MCT8 deficiency, as assessed with the Gross Motor Function Measure-88 and Bayley Scales of Infant Development III. These abilities plateaued at a median developmental age of well below 12 months, whereas the median age of evaluation was 6.4 years.

Next to neurodevelopmental symptoms, this study was the first to provide large-scale data on the peripheral phenotype (15). Observed hallmark features were elevated serum T3 concentrations (present in 95% of patients), hypothyroxinaemia (present in 89% and 90% of patients for serum free T4 and total T4 concentrations, respectively), with serum thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) concentrations within the age-specific reference range in the majority (89%) of patients. Serum rT3 concentrations were low in 91% of patients, resulting in a high T3:rT3 ratio in all patients. No difference in serum T3 concentrations was observed in patients with severe vs less severe phenotype. In contrast, patients with a less severe phenotype showed significantly higher total T4 concentrations when compared to patients with a severe phenotype (although still below the reference interval). As a consequence, the T3:T4 ratio was lower in patients with a less severe phenotype. Importantly, of eight patients with T4-based neonatal screening data available, the majority of patients (88%) had total T4 concentrations below the 20<sup>th</sup> percentile (Figure 3A). None were identified through neonatal screening. Also, none would be identified as abnormal in TSH-based screening programs, which are commonly utilized (Figure 3B). Recent studies demonstrated that rT3 concentrations and T3/rT3 ratio might be suitable biomarkers in neonatal screening (63). As pregnancy and delivery are unremarkable in most cases (15) and treatment early in life can potentially improve the neurocognitive phenotype, early identification of patients with MCT8 deficiency through neonatal screening could be of large additive value.

As a consequence of the elevated serum T3 concentrations, clinical parameters and biochemical markers reflecting thyroid hormone action in peripheral tissues were altered. Being underweight was detected in 71% of patients and 84% of patients had hypotrophic musculature. Recurrent pulmonary infections were common, which might be related to the high incidence of impaired swallowing function (observed in 71% of patients) and increased susceptibility as a result of being



**FIGURE 3** | Neonatal screening in patients with MCT8 deficiency; total T4 (A) and TSH (B). Blue dots represent individual data points. Black bars indicate the mean  $\pm$  SD. Grey areas indicate reference intervals. This figure was published in Disease characteristics of MCT8 deficiency: an international, retrospective, multicentre cohort study, Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 8(7), S Groeneweg et al., Figures 3D and s9I, 594-605, Copyright Elsevier (2020).

underweight. Moreover, signs of cardiovascular dysfunction were commonly observed, including premature atrial contractions (PACs), resting tachycardia and elevated systolic blood pressure (in 76%, 31% and 53% of patients, respectively). Serum sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) concentrations, considered to be a marker of thyroid hormone signalling in the liver, were elevated compared to its age-specific reference intervals in 88% of patients.

Whereas life span had previously been reported to appear relatively normal (14), systematic large-scale phenotyping showed a strongly decreased life expectancy in patients with MCT8 deficiency, with a median survival of 35 years (15). Proxies of the severity of both the peripheral and neurocognitive phenotype (being underweight early in life (1-3 years of age) and absence of head control before the age of 1.5 years, respectively) were strongly associated to increased mortality risk at a young age, with approximately 50% of severely affected patients dying in childhood. Importantly, sudden death was reported as a common cause of death. The observed high prevalence of cardiovascular abnormalities may point to a cardiac origin. Key characteristics such as cardiovascular function and nutritional status had been rarely documented in literature. These characteristics are potential key determinants of early death. Such detailed quantitative natural history data may serve as a control cohort in the evaluation of future therapeutic interventions, with placebo-controlled studies deemed not feasible due to the rarity of MCT8 deficiency.

## DEVELOPMENT OF (POTENTIAL) THERAPIES

Currently, no therapeutic strategies are registered for MCT8 deficiency. The severity of this syndrome and its impact on quality of life of patients and their relatives, and the high mortality rate in infancy, warrant the need for adequate therapies. Since the description of the first patients with MCT8 deficiency, major research initiatives have been taken to design and develop therapies. This paragraph discusses the different treatment strategies that have been evaluated over time.

The ideal therapy should ameliorate or prevent the neurocognitive phenotype and should alleviate the peripheral thyrotoxicosis. It is generally accepted that putative beneficial effects on the neurocognitive phenotype are most prominent when treatment is commenced early in life, and are likely limited in older patients (analogous to congenital hypothyroidism). With symptoms of the peripheral phenotype linked to increased mortality risk at young age (15), therapies that can effectively and safely modulate the peripheral thyrotoxicosis should also be considered relevant, irrespective of their effects on neurocognitive outcomes.

Following the identification of the first patients with MCT8 deficiency and with hypothyroxinaemia being observed, patients were initially treated with oral T4 supplementation [(8, 9, 64–82), reviewed in (18)]. Upon treatment, the already elevated serum T3 concentrations further increased in a subset of patients, as a consequence of conversion of T4 to T3 in peripheral tissues.

In line with this increase in serum T3 concentrations, body weight and other markers of thyrotoxicosis even further deteriorated. Hence, treatment with T4 monotherapy appears to aggravate the peripheral thyrotoxic phenotype. As T4 is not able to enter the human brain without functional MCT8, no improvement of neurocognitive symptoms was observed. Therefore, it is generally accepted that postnatal treatment with T4 monotherapy is not recommended in MCT8 deficiency. Following these observations, it was hypothesized that by combining T4 with propylthiouracil (PTU), which inhibits DIO1 in peripheral tissues, the aggravation of the thyrotoxicosis could be overcome. This strategy has been reported in five patients [(55, 83-86), reviewed in (18)] and resulted in a decrease in serum T3 concentration and improvement of biochemical markers and clinical symptoms of the peripheral thyrotoxicosis (decrease in serum SHBG concentrations, increase in body weight, decrease in heart rate). Following the experiences with T4 monotherapy, no alterations in the neurocognitive phenotype were observed upon treatment. Interestingly, neurocognitive improvement was observed upon intra-uterine instillation of T4 in one mother pregnant of a foetus with MCT8 deficiency, followed by T4 + PTU combination therapy after birth (87). It remains unclear why prenatal treatment had a beneficial effect on neurocognition, whereas this is not the case for postnatal treatment (9, 78). This can possibly be explained by the timing of the intervention or differential expression of alternative thyroid hormone transporters in the prenatal brain. However, as PTU carries a high risk of severe adverse reactions (e.g. agranulocytosis and liver failure), the pros and cons of treatment with a combination of T4 and PTU should be carefully balanced, in particular in vulnerable patients such as patients with MCT8 deficiency (88). Recent studies found that intranasal thyroid hormone administration, theoretically bypassing the BBB, did not result in alterations in cerebral thyroid hormone content, but rather aggravated the peripheral thyrotoxicosis in Mct8 KO mice (89). Hence, following the conclusion of the authors, intranasal thyroid hormone administration is likely not a valid treatment option in patients with MCT8 deficiency. The efficacy of this therapy has not been formally tested in patients.

With classic (anti-)thyroid drugs not being effective in MCT8 deficiency, alternative treatment options were explored. Research initiatives have been focussing on compounds called thyroid hormone analogues, which are able to cross the cell membrane independent of MCT8, with intracellular effects and degradation similar to T3 (90). In Mct8 KO mice, the thyroid hormone analogue diiodothyropropionic acid (DITPA) was able to effectively normalize serum TSH concentrations and Dio1 expression in the liver, indicative of a decrease of the peripheral thyrotoxic state (91, 92). However, as Mct8 KO mice do not fully resemble the human cerebral pathophysiology of MCT8 deficiency, these studies were less suited to address the effect of DITPA on the neurocognitive phenotype. Following these preclinical studies, four patients (median age 25 months, range 8.5 -25 months) were treated with DITPA on compassionate use basis for a median time of 38.5 months (range 26 - 40 months) (85).

Upon treatment, serum T3 concentrations normalized and subsequent improvement of some markers of peripheral thyrotoxicosis, including body weight, was observed in some of the subjects. However, DITPA treatment did not result in improvements of the neurocognitive phenotypes in these patients, despite their relatively young age. After these reports, additional work showed that DITPA is able to cross the murine placenta independent of Mct8 (93). If similar observations are made for the human situation, this would classify DITPA as a potentially suitable compound for prenatal treatment of foetuses with MCT8 deficiency; this, however, remains to be elucidated. In zebrafish larvae lacking Mct8, DITPA was able to partially restore myelination six days after fertilization (94). Moreover, Lee et al. showed that DITPA restores myelination in oligodendrocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells, in which MCT8 was knocked down using short hairpin (sh)RNA technique (95). It should be noted that, despite its beneficial effects on the peripheral phenotype, DITPA is currently not commercially available.

Alongside DITPA, the therapeutic potential of the thyroid hormone analogue triiodothyroacetic acid (Triac) for MCT8 deficiency has extensively been studied. Triac is a naturally occurring thyroid hormone metabolite, which potently binds and activates the TRs and enters the cell independent of MCT8 (22). Following these observations, the efficacy of Triac was evaluated in Mct8/Oatp1c1 DKO mice. Importantly, a clear improvement in brain development was observed when mice were treated directly after birth (from postnatal day 1 to 12; dose 50 ng/g body weight), with complete restoration when high doses of Triac (400 ng/g body weight) were administered, as illustrated by normalization of cerebellar Purkinje cell dendritogenesis (calbindin immunoreactivity) and myelination (MBP immunoreactivity) (22). In line with these findings, Triac was able to completely rescue myelination in mct8<sup>-/-</sup> zebrafish larvae six days after fertilization, when brain damage has already occurred (94). An international phase II trial including 46 patients with a median age of 7.1 years demonstrated that Triac effectively reduces the high serum T3 concentrations and improved subsequent clinical and biochemical features of thyrotoxicosis, including body weight, heart rate, occurrence of PACs, SHBG and creatinine. In a subset of patients, treatment was extended up until 3 years and resulted in sustained beneficial effects on the peripheral phenotype. Except transient signs of increased thyrotoxicosis in a small subset of patients, no (severe) adverse events related to Triac were observed. Furthermore, a trend of improvement in neurodevelopment was observed in patients treated early in life (younger than four years at baseline) (96). Previous studies have demonstrated transplacental passage of Triac in women, also making Triac a suitable compound for prenatal treatment of foetuses with MCT8 deficiency (97).

In pursuit of the identification of thyromimetic molecules with a larger bioavailability in the brain, the thyroid hormone analogue sobetirome and its prodrug sob-AM2 have been studied in Mct8/Dio2 DKO mice (98). Although upon treatment serum T3 concentrations decreased, the effects of sobetirome and sob-AM2 on the peripheral phenotype and its safety profile remain unclear. In particular, upon sobetirome and sob-AM2 treatment, expression of T3-responsive genes did not alter in the liver and were increased in the heart, suggesting that these compounds may aggravate the peripheral thyrotoxic state. Cerebral *Hairless* expression levels were restored, indicative of a beneficial effect on cerebral thyroid hormone signalling. Additional evaluation of efficacy and safety is warranted before this drug can be used in a clinical setting.

Next to recovering thyroid hormone signalling *via* thyroid hormone analogues that enter the cell independent of MCT8, attempts to recover MCT8 function have been made. Gene therapy using adeno-associated virus 9 (AAV9) vector containing human MCT8 cDNA was able to increase cerebral thyroid hormone signalling in Mct8 KO mice (99). These effects were only observed after intravenous administration, but not after intracerebroventricular administration, which underlines the relevance of MCT8 at the BBB. Using a similar approach, Zada et al. showed that upregulation of the fusion protein Mct8tagRFP completely rescued hypomyelination in *mct8*<sup>-/-</sup> zebrafish larvae (94). The effects of these different forms of gene therapy on the peripheral thyrotoxic phenotype as well as their safety profiles are to be explored. Hence, clinical evaluation of these promising therapies is not yet applicable.

In addition, different chemical chaperones have been exploited to improve trafficking and stability of mutant MCT8, thus potentially increasing MCT8-mediated thyroid hormone transport across the cell membrane. Depending on the cell model, different effects have been found. In overexpression models of the p.F501del mutation, treatment with phenylbutyrate and dimethylsulfoxide enhanced residual MCT8 transport capacity (100, 101). In fibroblasts containing this mutation, considered the most representative *ex vivo* model, these effects were not observed (25). The effects of such molecules on the thyrotoxic and neurocognitive phenotype are unclear, as none of these compounds have been tested in animal models for MCT8 deficiency. As this potential therapy is only applicable for a subset of mutations, its role in clinical praxis will likely be limited.

# CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Since the first recognition of MCT8 deficiency, major discoveries have been made, helping to better understand this rare disorder. By utilizing different in vitro, ex vivo and in vivo models, it became clear that MCT8 particularly plays a crucial role at the BBB. Additional studies are warranted to fully understand the role of MCT8 within other parts of the brain. Results from recent deep-phenotyping re-emphasized the relevance of the peripheral phenotype in patients with MCT8 deficiency, as being underweight early in life as a proxy of the peripheral thyrotoxicosis, has been linked to increased mortality risk at a young age. These findings stress the importance of the thyrotoxic features as therapeutic target and thus the availability of treatment options that modulate the peripheral phenotype. The thyroid hormone analogue Triac, the only available safe treatment at this moment, is able to effectively and safely reduce the peripheral thyrotoxicosis in patients and might

improve the neurocognitive phenotype when treatment is initiated early in life.

Currently, a second international phase IIb trial studies the effect of Triac on neurocognitive outcomes in young patients (<30 months at baseline; NCT02396459). Another research initiative aims to treat women pregnant of a foetus with MCT8 deficiency with intra-uterine instillation of DITPA on compassionate use basis, in order to evaluate its effects on brain development when commenced early in life (NCT04143295). Aiming to gain a deeper understanding of the needs of patients and their parents and physicians, an international registry linked to the European Reference Network on Rare Endocrine Conditions centralizes knowledge on MCT8 deficiency (https://mct8registry.erasmusmc. nl/en/index.html). Together with other studies, these initiatives aim to provide additional insights in MCT8 deficiency and to decipher whether thyroid hormone analogues are able to modulate the neurocognitive phenotype when treatment is initiated early in life. With the availability of promising (prenatal) therapy, efforts should be made to detect MCT8 deficiency as early in life as

## REFERENCES

- Bernal J, Guadano-Ferraz A, Morte B. Thyroid Hormone Transporters– Functions and Clinical Implications. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2015) 11(7):406– 17. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2015.66
- Mullur R, Liu YY, Brent GA. Thyroid Hormone Regulation of Metabolism. *Physiol Rev* (2014) 94(2):355–82. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00030.2013
- Yen PM. Physiological and Molecular Basis of Thyroid Hormone Action. *Physiol Rev* (2001) 81(3):1097–142. doi: 10.1152/physrev.2001.81.3.1097
- Bianco AC, Dumitrescu A, Gereben B, Ribeiro MO, Fonseca TL, Fernandes GW, et al. Paradigms of Dynamic Control of Thyroid Hormone Signaling. *Endocr Rev* (2019) 40(4):1000–47. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00275
- Bochukova E, Schoenmakers N, Agostini M, Schoenmakers E, Rajanayagam O, Keogh JM, et al. A Mutation in the Thyroid Hormone Receptor Alpha Gene. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(3):243–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1110296
- van Mullem A, van Heerebeek R, Chrysis D, Visser E, Medici M, Andrikoula M, et al. Clinical Phenotype and Mutant Tralpha1. N Engl J Med (2012) 366 (15):1451–3. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1113940
- Refetoff S, DeWind LT, DeGroot LJ. Familial Syndrome Combining Deaf-Mutism, Stuppled Epiphyses, Goiter and Abnormally High PBI: Possible Target Organ Refractoriness to Thyroid Hormone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1967) 27(2):279–94. doi: 10.1210/jcem-27-2-279
- Friesema EC, Grueters A, Biebermann H, Krude H, von Moers A, Reeser M, et al. Association Between Mutations in a Thyroid Hormone Transporter and Severe X-Linked Psychomotor Retardation. *Lancet* (2004) 364 (9443):1435–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17226-7
- Dumitrescu AM, Liao XH, Best TB, Brockmann K, Refetoff S. A Novel Syndrome Combining Thyroid and Neurological Abnormalities Is Associated With Mutations in a Monocarboxylate Transporter Gene. *Am J Hum Genet* (2004) 74(1):168–75. doi: 10.1086/380999
- Stromme P, Groeneweg S, Lima de Souza EC, Zevenbergen C, Torgersbraten A, Holmgren A, et al. Mutated Thyroid Hormone Transporter OATP1C1 Associates With Severe Brain Hypometabolism and Juvenile Neurodegeneration. *Thyroid* (2018) 28(11):1406–15. doi: 10.1089/thy. 2018.0595
- Dumitrescu AM, Liao XH, Abdullah MS, Lado-Abeal J, Majed FA, Moeller LC, et al. Mutations in SECISBP2 Result in Abnormal Thyroid Hormone Metabolism. Nat Genet (2005) 37(11):1247–52. doi: 10.1038/ng1654
- Franca MM, German A, Fernandes GW, Liao XH, Bianco AC, Refetoff S, et al. Human Type 1 Iodothyronine Deiodinase (Dio1) Mutations Cause Abnormal Thyroid Hormone Metabolism. *Thyroid* (2021) 31(2):202–7. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0253

possible. This goal could potentially be achieved by redefining neonatal screening programs. Given the rarity and complexity of MCT8 deficiency, international collaboration amongst researchers is warranted to attain these goals.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FSvG, NG, SG, and WEV reviewed available literature and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

The authors acknowledge funding support by the Sherman Foundation (WEV), Eurostars (E11337; WEV) and Erasmus MC fellowship (WEV).

- Friesema EC, Ganguly S, Abdalla A, Manning Fox JE, Halestrap AP, Visser TJ. Identification of Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 as a Specific Thyroid Hormone Transporter. J Biol Chem (2003) 278(41):40128–35. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M300909200
- Schwartz CE, May MM, Carpenter NJ, Rogers RC, Martin J, Bialer MG, et al. Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome and the Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 (MCT8) Gene. Am J Hum Genet (2005) 77(1):41–53. doi: 10.1086/431313
- Groeneweg S, van Geest FS, Abaci A, Alcantud A, Ambegaonkar GP, Armour CM, et al. Disease Characteristics of MCT8 Deficiency: An International, Retrospective, Multicentre Cohort Study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2020) 8(7):594–605. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30153-4
- Zwanziger D, Schmidt M, Fischer J, Kleinau G, Braun D, Schweizer U, et al. The Long N-Terminus of the Human Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Is a Target of Ubiquitin-Dependent Proteasomal Degradation Which Regulates Protein Expression and Oligomerization Capacity. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2016) 434:278–87. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2016.05.017
- Groeneweg S, van den Berge A, Lima de Souza EC, Meima ME, Peeters RP, Visser WE. Insights Into the Mechanism of MCT8 Oligomerization. *J Endocr Soc* (2020) 4(8):bvaa080. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvaa080
- Groeneweg S, van Geest FS, Peeters RP, Heuer H, Visser WE. Thyroid Hormone Transporters. *Endocr Rev* (2020) 41(2):bnz008. doi: 10.1210/ endrev/bnz008
- Braun D, Schweizer U. Thyroid Hormone Transport and Transporters. Vitam Horm (2018) 106:19–44. doi: 10.1016/bs.vh.2017.04.005
- Groeneweg S, Kersseboom S, van den Berge A, Dolcetta-Capuzzo A, van Geest FS, van Heerebeek REA, et al. *In Vitro* Characterization of Human, Mouse, and Zebrafish MCT8 Orthologues. *Thyroid* (2019) 29(10):1499–510. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0009
- Friesema EC, Jansen J, Jachtenberg JW, Visser WE, Kester MH, Visser TJ. Effective Cellular Uptake and Efflux of Thyroid Hormone by Human Monocarboxylate Transporter 10. *Mol Endocrinol* (2008) 22(6):1357–69. doi: 10.1210/me.2007-0112
- Kersseboom S, Horn S, Visser WE, Chen J, Friesema EC, Vaurs-Barriere C, et al. *In Vitro* and Mouse Studies Supporting Therapeutic Utility of Triiodothyroacetic Acid in MCT8 Deficiency. *Mol Endocrinol* (2014) 28 (12):1961–70. doi: 10.1210/me.2014-1135
- Horn S, Kersseboom S, Mayerl S, Muller J, Groba C, Trajkovic-Arsic M, et al. Tetrac can Replace Thyroid Hormone During Brain Development in Mouse Mutants Deficient in the Thyroid Hormone Transporter Mct8. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154(2):968–79. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1628
- 24. Johannes J, Jayarama-Naidu R, Meyer F, Wirth EK, Schweizer U, Schomburg L, et al. Silychristin, A Flavonolignan Derived From the Milk Thistle,

Is a Potent Inhibitor of the Thyroid Hormone Transporter MCT8. *Endocrinology* (2016) 157(4):1694–701. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-1933

- Groeneweg S, van den Berge A, Meima ME, Peeters RP, Visser TJ, Visser WE. Effects of Chemical Chaperones on Thyroid Hormone Transport by MCT8 Mutants in Patient-Derived Fibroblasts. *Endocrinology* (2018) 159 (3):1290–302. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-00846
- 26. Jomura R, Akanuma SI, Bauer B, Yoshida Y, Kubo Y, Hosoya KI. Participation of Monocarboxylate Transporter 8, But Not P-Glycoprotein, in Carrier-Mediated Cerebral Elimination of Phenytoin Across the Blood-Brain Barrier. *Pharm Res* (2021) 38(1):113–25. doi: 10.1007/s11095-021-03003-1
- Nishimura M, Naito S. Tissue-Specific Mrna Expression Profiles of Human Solute Carrier Transporter Superfamilies. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* (2008) 23(1):22–44. doi: 10.2133/dmpk.23.22
- Alkemade A, Friesema EC, Unmehopa UA, Fabriek BO, Kuiper GG, Leonard JL, et al. Neuroanatomical Pathways for Thyroid Hormone Feedback in the Human Hypothalamus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90(7):4322–34. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-2567
- 29. Vatine GD, Shelest O, Barriga BK, Ofan R, Rabinski T, Mattis VB, et al. Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cell Maturation Is Dependent on Dual Function of MCT8 in the Transport of Thyroid Hormone Across Brain Barriers and the Plasma Membrane. *Glia* (2021) 69(9):2146–59. doi: 10.1002/glia.24014
- Fliers E, Alkemade A, Wiersinga WM, Swaab DF. Hypothalamic Thyroid Hormone Feedback in Health and Disease. *Prog Brain Res* (2006) 153:189– 207. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06)53011-0
- 31. Lopez-Espindola D, Garcia-Aldea A, Gomez de la Riva I, Rodriguez-Garcia AM, Salvatore D, Visser TJ, et al. Thyroid Hormone Availability in the Human Fetal Brain: Novel Entry Pathways and Role of Radial Glia. *Brain Struct Funct* (2019) 224(6):2103–19. doi: 10.1007/s00429-019-01896-8
- 32. Wilpert NM, Krueger M, Opitz R, Sebinger D, Paisdzior S, Mages B, et al. Spatiotemporal Changes of Cerebral Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Expression. *Thyroid* (2020) 30(9):1366–83. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0544
- Leitch VD, Di Cosmo C, Liao XH, O'Boy S, Galliford TM, Evans H, et al. An Essential Physiological Role for MCT8 in Bone in Male Mice. *Endocrinology* (2017) 158(9):3055–66. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-00399
- 34. Di Cosmo C, Liao XH, Ye H, Ferrara AM, Weiss RE, Refetoff S, et al. Mct8-Deficient Mice Have Increased Energy Expenditure and Reduced Fat Mass That Is Abrogated by Normalization of Serum T3 Levels. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154(12):4885–95. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1150
- Trajkovic-Arsic M, Muller J, Darras VM, Groba C, Lee S, Weih D, et al. Impact of Monocarboxylate Transporter-8 Deficiency on the Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Thyroid Axis in Mice. *Endocrinology* (2010) 151 (10):5053-62. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-0593
- Di Cosmo C, Liao XH, Dumitrescu AM, Philp NJ, Weiss RE, Refetoff S. Mice Deficient in MCT8 Reveal a Mechanism Regulating Thyroid Hormone Secretion. J Clin Invest (2010) 120(9):3377–88. doi: 10.1172/JCI42113
- Friesema EC, Jansen J, Heuer H, Trajkovic M, Bauer K, Visser TJ. Mechanisms of Disease: Psychomotor Retardation and High T3 Levels Caused by Mutations in Monocarboxylate Transporter 8. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab (2006) 2(9):512–23. doi: 10.1038/ncpendmet0262
- Frints SG, Lenzner S, Bauters M, Jensen LR, Van Esch H, des Portes V, et al. MCT8 Mutation Analysis and Identification of the First Female With Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome Due to Loss of MCT8 Expression. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2008) 16(9):1029–37. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2008.66
- Dumitrescu AM, Liao XH, Weiss RE, Millen K, Refetoff S. Tissue-Specific Thyroid Hormone Deprivation and Excess in Monocarboxylate Transporter (Mct) 8-Deficient Mice. *Endocrinology* (2006) 147(9):4036–43. doi: 10.1210/ en.2006-0390
- Trajkovic M, Visser TJ, Mittag J, Horn S, Lukas J, Darras VM, et al. Abnormal Thyroid Hormone Metabolism in Mice Lacking the Monocarboxylate Transporter 8. J Clin Invest (2007) 117(3):627–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI28253
- Mayerl S, Muller J, Bauer R, Richert S, Kassmann CM, Darras VM, et al. Transporters MCT8 and OATP1C1 Maintain Murine Brain Thyroid Hormone Homeostasis. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(5):1987–99. doi: 10.1172/JCI70324
- Visser WE, Heuer H, Visser TJ. Triiodothyroacetic Acid Treatment in MCT8 Deficiency: A Word of Nuance. *Thyroid* (2016) 26(5):615–7. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0191

- Barez-Lopez S, Grijota-Martinez C, Auso E, Fernandez-de Frutos M, Montero-Pedrazuela A, Guadano-Ferraz A. Adult Mice Lacking Mct8 and Dio2 Proteins Present Alterations in Peripheral Thyroid Hormone Levels and Severe Brain and Motor Skill Impairments. *Thyroid* (2019) 29(11):1669– 82. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0068
- Vatine GD, Zada D, Lerer-Goldshtein T, Tovin A, Malkinson G, Yaniv K, et al. Zebrafish as a Model for Monocarboxyl Transporter 8-Deficiency. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288(1):169–80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.413831
- 45. Vancamp P, Deprez MA, Remmerie M, Darras VM. Deficiency of the Thyroid Hormone Transporter Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 in Neural Progenitors Impairs Cellular Processes Crucial for Early Corticogenesis. *J Neurosci* (2017) 37(48):11616–31. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1917-17.2017
- 46. Vatine GD, Al-Ahmad A, Barriga BK, Svendsen S, Salim A, Garcia L, et al. Modeling Psychomotor Retardation Using Ipscs From MCT8-Deficient Patients Indicates a Prominent Role for the Blood-Brain Barrier. *Cell Stem Cell* (2017) 20(6):831–43.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.04.002
- Mayerl S, Heuer H, Ffrench-Constant C. Hippocampal Neurogenesis Requires Cell-Autonomous Thyroid Hormone Signaling. *Stem Cell Rep* (2020) 14(5):845–60. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2020.03.014
- Lopez-Espindola D, Morales-Bastos C, Grijota-Martinez C, Liao XH, Lev D, Sugo E, et al. Mutations of the Thyroid Hormone Transporter MCT8 Cause Prenatal Brain Damage and Persistent Hypomyelination. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2014) 99(12):E2799–804. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2162
- Fliers E, Unmehopa UA, Alkemade A. Functional Neuroanatomy of Thyroid Hormone Feedback in the Human Hypothalamus and Pituitary Gland. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2006) 251(1-2):1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.mce. 2006.03.042
- Bianco AC, Salvatore D, Gereben B, Berry MJ, Larsen PR. Biochemistry, Cellular and Molecular Biology, and Physiological Roles of the Iodothyronine Selenodeiodinases. *Endocr Rev* (2002) 23(1):38–89. doi: 10.1210/edrv.23.1.0455
- Liao XH, Di Cosmo C, Dumitrescu AM, Hernandez A, Van Sande J, St Germain DL, et al. Distinct Roles of Deiodinases on the Phenotype of Mct8 Defect: A Comparison of Eight Different Mouse Genotypes. *Endocrinology* (2011) 152(3):1180–91. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-0900
- 52. Wirth EK, Rijntjes E, Meyer F, Kohrle J, Schweizer U. High T3, Low T4 Serum Levels in Mct8 Deficiency Are Not Caused by Increased Hepatic Conversion Through Type I Deiodinase. *Eur Thyroid J* (2015) 4(Suppl 1):87–91. doi: 10.1159/000381021
- Allan W, Herndon CN, Dudley FC. Some Examples of the Inheritance of Mental Deficiency: Apparently Sex-Linked Idiocy and Microcephaly. Am J Ment Defic (1944) 48:325–34.
- Fu J, Korwutthikulrangsri M, Ramos-Platt L, Pierson TM, Liao XH, Refetoff S, et al. Sorting Variants of Unknown Significance Identified by Whole Exome Sequencing: Genetic and Laboratory Investigations of Two Novel MCT8 Variants. *Thyroid* (2020) 30(3):463–5. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0703
- 55. Visser WE, Vrijmoeth P, Visser FE, Arts WF, van Toor H, Visser TJ. Identification, Functional Analysis, Prevalence and Treatment of Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 (MCT8) Mutations in a Cohort of Adult Patients With Mental Retardation. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2013) 78(2):310– 5. doi: 10.1111/cen.12023
- Jansen J, Friesema EC, Kester MH, Schwartz CE, Visser TJ. Genotype-Phenotype Relationship in Patients With Mutations in Thyroid Hormone Transporter MCT8. *Endocrinology* (2008) 149(5):2184–90. doi: 10.1210/ en.2007-1475
- Visser WE, Jansen J, Friesema EC, Kester MH, Mancilla E, Lundgren J, et al. Novel Pathogenic Mechanism Suggested by *Ex Vivo* Analysis of MCT8 (SLC16A2) Mutations. *Hum Mutat* (2009) 30(1):29–38. doi: 10.1002/ humu.20808
- Capri Y, Friesema EC, Kersseboom S, Touraine R, Monnier A, Eymard-Pierre E, et al. Relevance of Different Cellular Models in Determining the Effects of Mutations on SLC16A2/MCT8 Thyroid Hormone Transporter Function and Genotype-Phenotype Correlation. *Hum Mutat* (2013) 34 (7):1018–25. doi: 10.1002/humu.22331
- van Geest FS, Meima ME, Stuurman KE, Wolf NI, van der Knaap MS, Lorea CF, et al. Clinical and Functional Consequences of C-Terminal Variants in MCT8: A Case Series. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106(2):539–53. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa795

- Remerand G, Boespflug-Tanguy O, Tonduti D, Touraine R, Rodriguez D, Curie A, et al. Expanding the Phenotypic Spectrum of Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome in Patients With SLC16A2 Mutations. *Dev Med Child Neurol* (2019) 61(12):1439–47. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14332
- Matheus MG, Lehman RK, Bonilha L, Holden KR. Redefining the Pediatric Phenotype of X-Linked Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 (MCT8) Deficiency: Implications for Diagnosis and Therapies. J Child Neurol (2015) 30 (12):1664–8. doi: 10.1177/0883073815578524
- 62. Vancamp P, Demeneix BA, Remaud S. Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Deficiency: Delayed or Permanent Hypomyelination? *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*) (2020) 11:283. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00283
- 63. Iwayama H, Kakita H, Iwasa M, Adachi S, Takano K, Kikuchi M, et al. Measurement of Reverse T3 Level and the T3 to Reverse T3 Ratio in Dried Blood Spot Samples at Birth may Facilitate Early Detection of Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Deficiency. *Thyroid* (2021). doi: 10.1210/ jendso/bvab048.1998
- 64. Biebermann H, Ambrugger P, Tarnow P, von Moers A, Schweizer U, Grueters A. Extended Clinical Phenotype, Endocrine Investigations and Functional Studies of a Loss-of-Function Mutation A150V in the Thyroid Hormone Specific Transporter MCT8. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2005) 153(3):359– 66. doi: 10.1530/eje.1.01980
- Choi JH, Cho JH, Kim JH, Yoo EG, Kim GH, Yoo HW. Variable Clinical Characteristics and Molecular Spectrum of Patients With Syndromes of Reduced Sensitivity to Thyroid Hormone: Genetic Defects in the THRB and SLC16A2 Genes. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2018) 90(5):283–90. doi: 10.1159/ 000493468
- Kim JH, Kim YM, Yum MS, Choi JH, Lee BH, Kim GH, et al. Clinical and Endocrine Features of Two Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome Patients With Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Mutations. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2015) 83 (4):288–92. doi: 10.1159/000371466
- Shimojima K, Maruyama K, Kikuchi M, Imai A, Inoue K, Yamamoto T. Novel SLC16A2 Mutations in Patients With Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome. *Intractable Rare Dis Res* (2016) 5(3):214–7. doi: 10.5582/ irdr.2016.01051
- Fuchs O, Pfarr N, Pohlenz J, Schmidt H. Elevated Serum Triiodothyronine and Intellectual and Motor Disability With Paroxysmal Dyskinesia Caused by a Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Gene Mutation. *Dev Med Child Neurol* (2009) 51(3):240–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2008.03125.x
- Novara F, Groeneweg S, Freri E, Estienne M, Reho P, Matricardi S, et al. Clinical and Molecular Characteristics of SLC16A2 (MCT8) Mutations in Three Families With the Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome. *Hum Mutat* (2017) 38(3):260–4. doi: 10.1002/humu.23140
- Ngu L. Developmental Delay and Abnormal Thyroid Function Test in Two Siblings Caused by a Novel Mutation in SLC16A2 Gene Affecting a Thyroid Hormone Specific Transporter (MCT8): First Report From Malaysia. In: 35th Malaysian Paediatrics Association Congress. Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia, 27–30 June (2013).
- 71. Philips AK, Siren A, Avela K, Somer M, Peippo M, Ahvenainen M, et al. X-Exome Sequencing in Finnish Families With Intellectual Disability–Four Novel Mutations and Two Novel Syndromic Phenotypes. *Orphanet J Rare Dis* (2014) 9:49. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-9-49
- Anik A, Kersseboom S, Demir K, Catli G, Yis U, Bober E, et al. Psychomotor Retardation Caused by a Defective Thyroid Hormone Transporter: Report of Two Families With Different MCT8 Mutations. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2014) 82(4):261–71. doi: 10.1159/000365191
- Ugrasbul FA HH. A Patient Presenting With Central Hypothyroidism, Developmental Delay and Poor Head Control. Should We Be Checking T3 Levels? *Horm Res* (2009) 72(Suppl 1):458–9.
- Papadimitriou A, Dumitrescu AM, Papavasiliou A, Fretzayas A, Nicolaidou P, Refetoff S. A Novel Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Gene Mutation as a Cause of Severe Neonatal Hypotonia and Developmental Delay. *Pediatrics* (2008) 121(1):e199–202. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-1247
- 75. Kakinuma H, Itoh M, Takahashi H. A Novel Mutation in the Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Gene in a Boy With Putamen Lesions and Low Free T4 Levels in Cerebrospinal Fluid. *J Pediatr* (2005) 147(4):552– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2005.05.012
- 76. Levenson A, Tan WH, Huang SA. Diagnostic Dilemma: A 3-Year Old Boy With Global Developmental Delay, Truncal Hypotonia, Peripheral

Hypertonia, and Central Hypothyroidism. In: 95th Annual Meeting of the Endocrine Society. San Francisco, CA, June 15–18 (2013).

- 77. Herzovich V, Vaiani E, Marino R, Dratler G, Lazzati JM, Tilitzky S, et al. Unexpected Peripheral Markers of Thyroid Function in a Patient With a Novel Mutation of the MCT8 Thyroid Hormone Transporter Gene. *Horm Res* (2007) 67(1):1–6. doi: 10.1159/000095805
- Crushell E, Reardon W. Elevated TSH Levels in a Mentally Retarded Boy. Eur J Pediatr (2010) 169(5):573–5. doi: 10.1007/s00431-009-1075-0
- Namba N, Etani Y, Kitaoka T, Nakamoto Y, Nakacho M, Bessho K, et al. Clinical Phenotype and Endocrinological Investigations in a Patient With a Mutation in the MCT8 Thyroid Hormone Transporter. *Eur J Pediatr* (2008) 167(7):785–91. doi: 10.1007/s00431-007-0589-6
- Garcia-de Teresa B, Gonzalez-Del Angel A, Reyna-Fabian ME, Ruiz-Reyes Mde L, Calzada-Leon R, Perez-Enriquez B, et al. Deletion of Exon 1 of the SLC16A2 Gene: A Common Occurrence in Patients With Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome. *Thyroid* (2015) 25(3):361–7. doi: 10.1089/thy.2014. 0284
- Zung A, Visser TJ, Uitterlinden AG, Rivadeneira F, Friesema EC. A Child With a Deletion in the Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Gene: 7-Year Follow-Up and Effects of Thyroid Hormone Treatment. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2011) 165(5):823–30. doi: 10.1530/EJE-11-0358
- Filho HC, Marui S, Manna TD, Brust ES, Radonsky V, Kuperman H, et al. Novel Mutation in MCT8 Gene in a Brazilian Boy With Thyroid Hormone Resistance and Severe Neurologic Abnormalities. *Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol* (2011) 55(1):60–6. doi: 10.1590/S0004-27302011000100008
- Wemeau JL, Pigeyre M, Proust-Lemoine E, d'Herbomez M, Gottrand F, Jansen J, et al. Beneficial Effects of Propylthiouracil Plus L-Thyroxine Treatment in a Patient With a Mutation in MCT8. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93(6):2084–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2719
- 84. Gika AD, Siddiqui A, Hulse AJ, Edward S, Fallon P, McEntagart ME, et al. White Matter Abnormalities and Dystonic Motor Disorder Associated With Mutations in the SLC16A2 Gene. *Dev Med Child Neurol* (2010) 52(5):475– 82. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2009.03471.x
- Verge CF, Konrad D, Cohen M, Di Cosmo C, Dumitrescu AM, Marcinkowski T, et al. Diiodothyropropionic Acid (DITPA) in the Treatment of MCT8 Deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2012) 97 (12):4515–23. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-2556
- Fu J, Refetoff S, Dumitrescu AM. Inherited Defects of Thyroid Hormone-Cell-Membrane Transport: Review of Recent Findings. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* (2013) 20(5):434–40. doi: 10.1097/01.med.0000 432531.03233.ad
- Refetoff S, Pappa T, Williams MK, Matheus MG, Liao XH, Hansen K, et al. Prenatal Treatment of Thyroid Hormone Cell Membrane Transport Defect Caused by MCT8 Gene Mutation. *Thyroid* (2020) 31(5):713–20. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0306
- Rivkees SA, Mattison DR. Ending Propylthiouracil-Induced Liver Failure in Children. N Engl J Med (2009) 360(15):1574–5. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc0809750
- Grijota-Martinez C, Barez-Lopez S, Auso E, Refetoff S, Frey WH2nd, Guadano-Ferraz A. Intranasal Delivery of Thyroid Hormones in MCT8 Deficiency. *PloS One* (2020) 15(7):e0236113. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0236113
- Groeneweg S, Peeters RP, Visser TJ, Visser WE. Therapeutic Applications of Thyroid Hormone Analogues in Resistance to Thyroid Hormone (RTH) Syndromes. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2017) 458:82–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.mce.2017.02.029
- Di Cosmo C, Liao XH, Dumitrescu AM, Weiss RE, Refetoff S. A Thyroid Hormone Analog With Reduced Dependence on the Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 for Tissue Transport. *Endocrinology* (2009) 150(9):4450–8. doi: 10.1210/en.2009-0209
- Ferrara AM, Liao XH, Ye H, Weiss RE, Dumitrescu AM, Refetoff S. The Thyroid Hormone Analog DITPA Ameliorates Metabolic Parameters of Male Mice With Mct8 Deficiency. *Endocrinology* (2015) 156(11):3889–94. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-1234
- Ferrara AM, Liao XH, Gil-Ibanez P, Bernal J, Weiss RE, Dumitrescu AM, et al. Placenta Passage of the Thyroid Hormone Analog DITPA to Male Wild-Type and Mct8-Deficient Mice. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155(10):4088– 93. doi: 10.1210/en.2014-1085

- 94. Zada D, Tovin A, Lerer-Goldshtein T, Appelbaum L. Pharmacological Treatment and BBB-Targeted Genetic Therapy for MCT8-Dependent Hypomyelination in Zebrafish. *Dis Model Mech* (2016) 9(11):1339–48. doi: 10.1242/dmm.027227
- 95. Lee JY, Kim MJ, Deliyanti D, Azari MF, Rossello F, Costin A, et al. Overcoming Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 (MCT8)-Deficiency to Promote Human Oligodendrocyte Differentiation and Myelination. *EBioMedicine* (2017) 25:122–35. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.10.016
- 96. Groeneweg S, Peeters RP, Moran C, Stoupa A, Auriol F, Tonduti D, et al. Effectiveness and Safety of the Tri-Iodothyronine Analogue Triac in Children and Adults With MCT8 Deficiency: An International, Single-Arm, Open-Label, Phase 2 Trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2019) 7 (9):695–706. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30155-X
- Cortelazzi D, Morpurgo PS, Zamperini P, Fisher DA, Beck-Peccoz P, Wu SY. Maternal Compound W Serial Measurements for the Management of Fetal Hypothyroidsm. *Eur J Endocrinol* (1999) 141(6):570–8. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1410570
- Barez-Lopez S, Hartley MD, Grijota-Martinez C, Scanlan TS, Guadano-Ferraz A. Sobetirome and Its Amide Prodrug Sob-AM2 Exert Thyromimetic Actions in Mct8-Deficient Brain. *Thyroid* (2018) 28(9):1211–20. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0008
- 99. Iwayama H, Liao XH, Braun L, Barez-Lopez S, Kaspar B, Weiss RE, et al. Adeno Associated Virus 9-Based Gene Therapy Delivers a Functional Monocarboxylate Transporter 8, Improving Thyroid Hormone Availability to the Brain of Mct8-Deficient Mice. *Thyroid* (2016) 26(9):1311–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0060
- 100. Braun D, Schweizer U. The Chemical Chaperone Phenylbutyrate Rescues MCT8 Mutations Associated With Milder Phenotypes in Patients With

Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome. *Endocrinology* (2017) 158(3):678–91. doi: 10.1210/en.2016-1530

101. Braun D, Schweizer U. Efficient Activation of Pathogenic Deltaphe501 Mutation in Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 by Chemical and Pharmacological Chaperones. *Endocrinology* (2015) 156(12):4720–30. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-1393

**Conflict of Interest:** The Erasmus Medical Centre (Rotterdam, Netherlands), which employs FSvG, NG, SG, and WEV receives royalties from Rare Thyroid Therapeutics (the manufacturer of Triac), dependent on commercialisation. None of the authors will benefit personally from any royalties. None of the authors have personal disclosures relevant to this work.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 van Geest, Gunhanlar, Groeneweg and Visser. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Diagnosis and Management of Central Congenital Hypothyroidism**

Peter Lauffer<sup>1†</sup>, Nitash Zwaveling-Soonawala<sup>1†</sup>, Jolanda C. Naafs<sup>1</sup>, Anita Boelen<sup>2</sup> and A. S. Paul van Trotsenburg<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Emma Children's Hospital, Amsterdam University Medical Centers (UMC), Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup> Endocrine Laboratory, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ari J. Wassner, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Satoshi Narumi, National Center for Child Health and Development (NCCHD), Japan Tomonobu Hasegawa, Keio University, Japan Paul Hofman, The University of Auckland, New Zealand

#### \*Correspondence:

A. S. Paul van Trotsenburg a.s.vantrotsenburg@ amsterdamumc.nl

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 26 March 2021 Accepted: 13 July 2021 Published: 09 September 2021

#### Citation:

Lauffer P, Zwaveling-Soonawala N, Naafs JC, Boelen A and van Trotsenburg AS (2021) Diagnosis and Management of Central Congenital Hypothyroidism. Front. Endocrinol. 12:686317. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.686317 Central congenital hypothyroidism (CH) is defined as thyroid hormone (TH) deficiency at birth due to insufficient stimulation by the pituitary of the thyroid gland. The incidence of central CH is currently estimated at around 1:13,000. Central CH may occur in isolation, but in the majority of cases (60%) it is part of combined pituitary hormone deficiencies (CPHD). In recent years several novel genetic causes of isolated central CH have been discovered (*IGSF1, TBL1X, IRS4*), and up to 90% of isolated central CH cases can be genetically explained. For CPHD the etiology usually remains unknown, although pituitary stalk interruption syndrome does seem to be the most common anatomic pituitary malformation associated with CPHD. Recent studies have shown that central CH is a more severe condition than previously thought, and that early detection and treatment leads to good neurodevelopmental outcome. However, in the neonatal period the clinical diagnosis is often missed despite hospital admission because of feeding problems, hypoglycemia and prolonged jaundice. This review provides an update on the etiology and prognosis of central CH, and a practical approach to diagnosis and management of this intriguing condition.

Keywords: central congenital hypothyroidism, isolated central congenital hypothyroidism, combined pituitary hormone deficiencies, etiology, diagnosis, management, pituitary stalk interruption syndrome

## INTRODUCTION

Congenital hypothyroidism (CH) is defined as thyroid hormone (TH) deficiency at birth, either due to defective thyroid gland development or function (primary or thyroidal CH), or due to insufficient stimulation by the pituitary of an otherwise normal thyroid gland (central CH) (1). Central CH is often accompanied by other pituitary hormone deficiencies (combined pituitary hormone deficiency, CPHD), but can also be an isolated condition. Because TH deficiency early in life is harmful to brain growth and development, and difficult to recognize shortly after birth, newborn screening (NBS) programs for CH have been implemented in many countries worldwide since the 1970s. These programs enable early detection and treatment of CH, and successfully prevent brain damage and subsequent mental retardation (2).

The first NBS programs for CH were total thyroxine (T4)-based, combined with, or followed by thyrotropin (thyroid stimulating hormone, TSH) measurement (T4+TSH and T4-reflex TSH, respectively). Although the main objective of these programs was detection of primary CH, they also

detected central CH (2). In T4-based NBS, primary CH is suspected when T4 is low in combination with an elevated TSH concentration, and suspicion of central CH arises when T4 is low in combination with a normal TSH concentration. Unfortunately, fairly common but innocent thyroxine-binding globulin (TBG) deficiency also causes a low total T4 in combination with a normal TSH, resulting in a substantial number of false-positive referrals (3, 4). Therefore, many NBS programs switched to, or started with a TSH-based approach which only detects primary CH (5). In support of this, the general notion was that central CH is a rare and often mild condition, and that most neonates with central CH as part of CPHD are diagnosed clinically shortly after birth.

Nowadays only a few NBS programs aim at detection of both forms of CH: several state or regional programs in Italy, Japan, Spain and the USA, and the national programs of Israel and The Netherlands (2, 6–12). **Table 1** shows the characteristics of these programs. In Japan, the number of "false-positives" was reduced by measuring free T4 (FT4) and TSH. In The Netherlands a TBG measurement was added to the existing T4-reflex TSH approach (11, 13, 14) resulting in a three-step process in which T4 is measured in all newborns, and TSH and TBG in those with a T4 concentration belonging to the lowest 20% and 5%, respectively.

Since the start of NBS, the incidence of central CH in the Netherlands has steadily increased from 1:106,304 in the late 1970s/ early 1980s to approximately 1:16,404 in the last two decades (15, 16). Recently, van Iersel et al. showed that between 2001 and 2011 29 children with probable central CH as part of CPHD were missed by the Dutch NBS program over a 10-year period. This would raise the Dutch incidence from 1:16,404 to around 1:13,000, consistent with data from Japan (7, 17).

During the past years the assumption that central CH is usually a mild condition has been refuted. Zwaveling-Soonawala et al. found that, based on initial FT4 concentration, more than half of all newborns with central CH have moderate to severe disease (18).

The same applies to the notion that most neonates with central CH as part of CPHD are diagnosed clinically shortly after birth. In a recent study on clinical characteristics of Dutch central CH patients Naafs et al. reported that most neonates with central CH as part of CPHD were only diagnosed after notification of an abnormal NBS result, even though many patients were hospitalized in the first weeks of life for feeding problems, hypoglycemia or (prolonged) jaundice (19). This review provides an update on the etiology and prognosis of central CH, and a practical approach to diagnosis and management of this intriguing condition.

## PHYSIOLOGY AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

# Normal Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Thyroid Function

The thyroid hormones T4 (the prohormone) and triiodothyronine (T3; the active hormone) are produced and secreted by the thyroid gland in a molar ratio of about 11 to 1 (20). In serum, T4 and T3 are mostly bound to transporting proteins TBG, albumin and transthyretin; only a small part circulates as unbound free T4 and T3 (FT4 and FT3, respectively) (21).

TH enters target tissue cells by crossing the cell membrane facilitated by specific TH transporters. The intracellular amount of T3 depends on circulating T3, but a number of target tissues regulate their own optimal T3 content by enzymatically activating T4 into T3 by deiodinase types 1 and 2 (DIO1 and 2), or by converting T4 into the inactive TH reverse T3 (rT3) by deiodinase type 3 (DIO3); DIO3 also inactivates T3 into T2 (20). T3 exerts its action by binding to the thyroid hormone receptor alpha or beta (TR $\alpha$  or TR $\beta$ ).

TH production is regulated by the hypothalamus-pituitarythyroid (HPT)-axis, a classic endocrine negative feedback system. Depending on the amount of circulating TH the hypothalamus and pituitary adjust thyroid function by

Country	NBS approach	Period after birth during which NBS is performed	T4, FT4 or T4/TBG ratio referral rules	Reference
Italy (regional program)	T4+TSH simultaneously	3-5 days of life	Referral if T4 <40 nmol/L	(6)
Japan (regional program)	FT4+TSH simultaneously	4-6 days of life	Referral if FT4 <0.5 ng/dL; second heel prick if FT4 <1.0 ng/dL, then referral if FT4 <1.0 ng/dL	(7)
Spain (regional program)	T4+TSH simultaneously	At 48 hours of life	Referral if T4 <6 μg/dL	(8)
USA (various regional/state programs)	Diverse approaches: T4+TSH simultaneously, T4-reflex TSH and TSH-reflex T4	Diverse periods ranging from first week to first month of life	Diverse approaches	(9)
USA (Northwest Regional NBS Program)	T4-reflex TSH	First NBS 1-2 days of life, second NBS 10-14 days of life	Referral if T4 <10 <sup>th</sup> percentile	(4)
Israel (national program)	T4-reflex TSH	48-72 hours of life	Referral if T4 <10 <sup>th</sup> percentile	(10)
The Netherlands (national program)	T4-reflex TSH-reflex TBG	4-7 days of life	Referral if T4 $\leq$ -3 SD and TBG >40 nmol/L; if T4 <-1.6 SD, then TBG measurement; referral if T4/TBG ratio $\leq$ 17 in 1^{st} and 2^{nd} NBS result	(11, 12)

Frontiers in Endocrinology | www.frontiersin.org

secreting more or less thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH) and TSH, respectively, and thereby to maintain a stable serum TH/FT4 concentration (22). In healthy individuals TSH and FT4 concentrations show small variability while interindividual variability is large, as judged from the wide laboratory reference intervals. This suggests that each individual has their own specific HPT-axis set-point.

## Central vs. Primary Hypothyroidism and Their Biochemical Characteristics

Hypothyroidism is defined as inadequate TH production causing TH deficiency at the target tissue level.

Primary hypothyroidism is caused by a defective thyroid gland and is characterized by a serum FT4 concentration below, and a TSH concentration above the reference interval. In subclinical (primary) hypothyroidism the serum FT4 concentration is still within the reference interval.

In central hypothyroidism the cause of the inadequate TH production is at the level of the hypothalamus or pituitary. In this scenario, decreased TH secretion is caused by quantitative or qualitative TSH deficiency (1). Biochemically, central hypothyroidism is defined as a FT4 concentration below the reference interval in combination with a normal, low, or slightly elevated TSH. The slightly elevated TSH concentrations observed in central hypothyroidism are partly explained by intact immunoactivity, but decreased bioactivity (23). Central hypothyroidism can be congenital or acquired (e.g., pituitary dysfunction after brain irradiation or trauma). While central CH may occur in isolation (TSH deficiency only), it is more often accompanied by other pituitary hormone deficiencies (combined pituitary hormone deficiency, CPHD (1).

In acquired central hypothyroidism, TH secretion can be reduced, while serum FT4 is still within the reference interval. This is explained by the abovementioned interindividual differences in HPT axis' set-point. This state is referred to as subclinical central hypothyroidism (24).

While diagnosing primary hypothyroidism is based on the finding of a clearly elevated TSH concentration, diagnosing central hypothyroidism relies on correct interpretation of FT4 concentration using age-specific reference intervals to recognize when FT4 is too low. However, the individual set-point may complicate correct interpretation. For example, while an FT4 concentration in the lower range of the reference interval may be normal for most individuals it does not necessarily exclude central hypothyroidism, especially in individuals with a set-point in the higher range. Yet, in many instances central hypothyroidism may be a rather straightforward diagnosis, when serum FT4 is clearly below the reference range, signs or symptoms of hypothyroidism are present and the medical history is suggestive for hypothalamic or pituitary damage or disease. This is often the case in acquired forms of central hypothyroidism, but also in congenital central hypothyroidism as part of CPHD (1).

Diagnosis is further complicated when clear signs or symptoms are absent and the medical history is uninformative, as can be the case with newborns with an abnormal NBS result suggestive for central CH; then a FT4 concentration around the lower limit of the reference interval may pose a diagnostic dilemma (by definition, 2.5% of healthy individuals have an FT4 below the reference interval).

In recent years knowledge about the etiology of central CH has increased significantly. With a combination of diagnostics, like basal and dynamic endocrine investigation, genetic testing and high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) an increasing percentage of previously uncertain diagnoses can be confirmed.

In the next section, the various causes of isolated central CH and CH as part of CPHD are discussed in detail.

## **ETIOLOGY**

## **Isolated Central CH**

Currently, five genes related to isolated central CH have been identified. Molecular analyses of Mendelian forms in the 1980s and 1990s allowed recognition of pathogenic variants of the TSHB and TRHR genes, associated with TSH deficiency. Implementation of next-generation sequencing-based genetic testing in cohorts of central CH patients has significantly increased our knowledge of the etiology and clinical spectrum of isolated central CH. Recently, three other genes were implicated in isolated central CH: IGSF1, TBL1X and IRS4 (18, 19, 25, 26). These relatively common forms of isolated central CH are X-linked, so most patients are boys. Cases of females with a mild central hypothyroidism phenotype carrying a monoallelic pathogenic variant of these X-linked genes have been described. Isolated central CH is a monogenic disorder in all known cases. In a recent study, a high percentage of cases of isolated central CH could be explained by pathogenic variants in the five aforementioned genes (19). However, a number of cases remained unexplained, suggesting currently unrecognized pathogenic variants in other genes or perhaps a polygenic etiology. In patients with isolated central CH, structural hypothalamic-pituitary (HP) abnormalities have not been found. Severe neonatal health problems are rare. Older, seemingly asymptomatic patients have been detected through familial segregation analyses of probands with isolated central CH, stressing the rather mild character of some subtypes.

## TSHB

TSHB (OMIM #188540) was the first gene associated with isolated central CH. It encodes the beta subunit of TSH, which belongs to the family of glycoprotein hormones. The alpha subunit of TSH (encoded by *GCA*) is common to the pituitary and placental glycoprotein hormones TSH, luteinizing hormone and follicle stimulating hormone (LH&FSH) and human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), while the TSH beta subunit grants biological specificity to TSH. The first patients with isolated central CH due to *TSHB* pathogenic variants carried the homozygous c.145G>A p.(Gly49Arg) variant (NM\_000549.4) (27). This variant affects the evolutionarily conserved CAGYC region (residues 47-51), which is important for normal folding and TSH- $\alpha$ /TSH- $\beta$  dimerization. The phenotype, consisting of

quantitative TSH deficiency associated with mostly severe hypothyroidism, segregated in an autosomal recessive pattern. Later, patients were identified with different variants associated with qualitative TSH deficiencies characterized by measurable immunoreactive TSH without biological activity due to abolishment of signaling-specific domains but preserved TSH assay epitopes (28).

Given the substantial number of false-positives due to TBG deficiency in many T4-based NBS programs, it was stated that identification of heterozygous carriers of *TSHB* variants was preferable over T4-based NBS (29). Indeed, *TSHB* variants appear to be a very rare cause of isolated central CH (19), and the prevailing c.373del p.(Cys125Valfs\*10) (NM\_000549.4) variant was linked to a founder effect. However, the effectiveness of this approach has never been proven. Late diagnosed patients present with severe neurological deficits, while early treatment secures normal development (30). A meta-analysis of all recorded pre-treatment FT4 values underlines the severity of hypothyroidism due to biallelic *TSHB* variants (**Figure 1**).

#### TRHR

Not long after the discovery of pathogenic *TSHB* variants in isolated central CH, patients with biallelic pathogenic *TRHR* (OMIM #188545) variants were identified (32). *TRHR* encodes

the TRH receptor, which is mainly expressed in thyrotrophs and lactotrophs. TRH is transported from the hypothalamus to the pituitary through the portal system to stimulate TSH and prolactin secretion. A logical assumption would be that beside *TSHB* and *TRHR* also the *TRH* (OMIM #613879) gene (encoding TRH) might be implicated in isolated central CH. Until now pathogenic variants of *TRH* have not been associated with central hypothyroidism in humans, but *Trh* knock-out mice have been generated (33).

Although a biallelic defective *TSHB* leads to severe hypothyroidism, this is not the case in defective *TRHR* (**Figure 1**). Different pathogenic variants underlie differences in TRH resistance (34, 35). Interestingly, even complete TRH resistance does not abolish TSHB and prolactin expression (35), an important insight into the molecular control of the HPT axis. The phenotype of moderate to mild central CH segregates in an autosomal recessive inheritance pattern, and may remain asymptomatic. However, treatment of asymptomatic patients is reported to improve their quality of life (QoL) (35). Heterozygous carriers of pathogenic *TRHR* variants with a mild effect on TRH resistance may have an elevated serum TSH; on the other hand, isolated TSH elevation instead of central hypothyroidism has been reported in homozygous carriers (34).





88

### IGSF1

The first patients with a recessive X-linked isolated central CH phenotype were reported in 2012 (36). Pathogenic variants in the immunoglobulin superfamily member 1 gene (*IGSF1*, OMIM #300137) were identified in 11 families. Until now, more than 40 pathogenic *IGSF1* variants have been described, and it is the most prevalent cause of moderate to mild isolated central CH in males and females (19).

In addition to central CH, IGSF1 deficiency in males leads to a heterogeneous phenotype, including macroorchidism, delayed pubertal testosterone rise (but a normal timing of testicular growth) and in some cases other pituitary hormone deficiencies, namely low serum prolactin and growth hormone (GH) deficiency (in childhood) (**Table 2**) (37, 38). Peculiarly, adult males exhibit increased growth hormone secretion, and as a result acromegaloid features (39). While IGSF1 deficiency segregates in a recessive X-linked pattern, females carrying a pathogenic variant present with varying FT4 concentrations, ranging from moderately reduced to normal (**Figure 1**). Other characteristics include delayed menarche, low prolactin and increased BMI. X-inactivation was studied in heterozygous female carriers to determine the cause of the observed female phenotypic heterogeneity; however, no correlation was established (37).

IGSF1 is expressed at high levels in testes and the pituitary, specifically in thyrotrophs, somatotrophs and lactotrophs (36). Its precise function within the context of the pituitary hormone axes and testicular function is still unknown (40). *Igsf1* knock-out mice have central hypothyroidism, decreased pituitary TRH receptor 1 mRNA expression and impaired responsiveness to TRH compared to healthy littermates (36, 41). This supports a role for impaired TRH action in the pathogenesis of the central CH. While mouse models have successfully recapitulated the IGSF1 deficiency central hypothyroidism phenotype (36, 41), they lack the testicular enlargement phenotype (42). Although macroorchidism may results from IGSF1 loss-of-function in testes (43), other *Igsf1* knock-out animal models need to be explored in order to further elucidate its underlying pathophysiological mechanism.

#### TBL1X

More recently the fourth molecular cause of isolated central CH was discovered. The first patients with a pathogenic variant in

transducing-beta-like 1 gene (*TBL1X*; OMIM #300196) were identified in 2016 (44). An X-linked recessive inheritance pattern associated with an incomplete penetrance was observed. The phenotype consists of moderate to mild central hypothyroidism in hemizygous males, and mild central hypothyroidism to euthyroidism in heterozygous females (**Figure 1**). Again, X-inactivation studies could not explain phenotypic heterogeneity in females (44).

TBL1X mRNA is expressed in multiple tissues, including the pituitary and hypothalamus (44), and the TBL1X protein is an essential subunit of the nuclear receptor corepressors (CoRs) silencing mediator of retinoid and thyroid hormone receptors (SMRT) and nuclear receptor co-repressor1 (NCoR1). CoRs associate with unliganded thyroid hormone receptors (TRs) in order to repress transcription of genes that are positively regulated by T3. T3 binding results in the release of the corepressors and recruitment of coactivators leading to increased gene transcription. However, genes involved in the negative feedback regulation of the HPT-axis like TSHB and TRH are negatively regulated by T3 which means that their transcription is increased in the absence of T3. It was shown that the c.1145\_1147del p.(Asn382del), c.1246A>T p.(Asn416Tyr) and c.1526A>G p.(Tyr509Cys) (NM\_005647.3) variants resulted in reduced stimulation of TSHB and TRH promoters in a hypothalamic cell line (45, 46). Consequently, this may alter HPT-axis functioning to the point that the hypothalamus and pituitary are resistant to low TH levels, with a possible negative shift of the FT4 set-point.

Furthermore, some patients exhibit hearing thresholds lower than age-specific reference intervals, unrelated to pre-treatment serum FT4 levels (44, 47). It was suggested that due to TBL1X and subsequently NCoR-SMRT dysfunction there is differential expression of T3-regulated genes involved in ear development, such as pendrin (47). Similarly, the homologous gene *TBL1Y* is implicated in X-linked hearing loss (48).

An important question concerning the severity of the central hypothyroidism phenotype remains. It is not precisely known what the effect of *TBL1X* variants is on target tissue TH action. In light of this issue, patients with pathogenic *TBL1X* variants have normal TSH and FT4 responses to exogenous TRH administration, hinting at functional integrity of the pituitary.

TABLE 2	Summary of key	/ findings in the five	genetic causes of isolated	central congenital hypothyroidism.

Gene	Selected key findings	TRH test results
TSHB	Males and females (biallelic pathogenic variants): mostly severe hypothyroidism, TSH deficiency (quantitative or qualitative)	Severely reduced/absent TSH response, normal prolactin (PRL) response
TRHR	Males and females (biallelic pathogenic variants): moderate to mild hypothyroidism, elevated TSH Males and females (carriers): recurrent TSH elevation	Normal or absent TSH and PRL responses
IGSF1	Males (hemizygous pathogenic variant): moderate to mild hypothyroidism, macroorchidism, delayed pubertal testosterone rise, low prolactin, increased BMI and fat percentage, growth hormone deficiency (childhood), acromegaloid facies (adulthood) Females (heterozygous pathogenic variant): low-normal FT4 values to mild hypothyroidism, delayed menarche, low prolactin, increased BMI and fat percentage, acromegaloid facies (adulthood)	Normal or reduced TSH response, normal or reduced/absent PRL response
TBL1X	Males (hemizygous pathogenic variant): moderate to mild hypothyroidism, hearing deficits Females (heterozygous pathogenic variant): low-normal FT4 values to mild hypothyroidism	Normal TSH response, normal PRL response
IRS4	Males (hemizygous pathogenic variant): mild hypothyroidism Females (heterozygous pathogenic variant): low-normal FT4 values	Reduced TSH response, normal or slightly reduced PRL response

Also, patients that were identified at an older age have presented in seemingly asymptomatic states with normal intellectual development (44). A mouse model with a disturbed liver specific NCoR-TR binding showed upregulation of positive TH target genes in the presence of T3 (49). Accordingly, mice with global expression of this NCoR variant had biochemical features associated with central hypothyroidism, but normal growth and increased energy expenditure (50). Low TH and normal TSH concentrations in these mice may be an adaptive HPT-axis response to increased target tissue TH sensitivity. Deleterious *TBL1X* variants could have the same effect on transcription of positive TH target genes, but this has yet to be proven in animal studies.

Reported *TBL1X* variants mainly involve the WD40 domain (**Figure 2**), necessary for protein-protein and protein-chromatin interactions in the context of NCoR-SMRT action (44, 46, 47). In the first report on loss-of-function variants in *TBL1X*, families

were identified with missense variants in the WD40 domain (44). Later, the phenotype of a boy with a *de novo* nonsense variant in the WD40 domain was described (47). The boy had central hypothyroidism and sensorineural hearing deficits like the previously identified patients, but also other signs that could be linked to NCoR-SMRT dysfunction, including attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), learning difficulties, fecal incontinence and Chiari malformation type I. More patients with premature termination codon variants need to be identified before its relation to these symptoms can be established. A phenotypic spectrum of TBL1X deficiency due to variable degrees of NCoR-SMRT dysfunction seems plausible.

#### IRS4

The most recently discovered genetic cause of isolated central CH was reported in 2018 (51). Five male probands from unrelated families with pathogenic variants in the insulin



receptor substrate-4 gene (*IRS4*) (OMIM #300904) had a phenotype consisting of solely X-linked central hypothyroidism and an abnormal TSH response to exogenous TRH. One patient had mild TSH elevation aside from low FT4. Females carrying a heterozygous pathogenic variant had low-normal to normal FT4 concentrations (**Figure 1**). All reported variants are premature termination codon variants. No other reports on the further phenotypic delineation have emerged since the first report, however additional patients have been identified (19).

IRS4 is expressed in hypothalamic nuclei, pituitary gland, ovaries, uterus, the thyroid gland and digestive tract among others (51, 52). IRS4 encodes for the adaptor protein IRS4, which belongs to the family of IRS proteins. IRS1 and IRS2 have a widely distributed expression but limited shared amino acid sequence with IRS4 (53). IRS3 is a pseudogene in humans, and IRS5 and IRS6 have a more specific expression pattern, in liver and kidney, and skeletal muscle, respectively. Based on phylogeny studies, it was postulated that the amino acid sequence of IRS4 accelerated in early mammalian development, thus having distinct, but also overlapping functions compared with the other IRS proteins (53). IRS4 functions as an interface between hormone receptors with tyrosine or serine/threonine kinase activity (for example the insulin receptor, IGF1 receptor, FGF receptor 1, and BMP receptor 2), and signaling molecules with an SH2 domain (54, 55). Upon ligand activation of tyrosine or serine/threonine kinase receptors, intracellular sites are phosphorylated. IRS4 interacts with these phosphorylated sites, which results in phosphorylation of tyrosine or serine/threonine phosphorylation motifs. SH2 domain-containing proteins are then recruited and activated (54). Downstream signaling pathways of IRS4 include the MAPK cascade and the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway (56).

The pathophysiological mechanism of IRS4 pathogenic variants has not been elucidated yet. Several mouse models have failed to recapitulate the phenotype (51, 57, 58), possibly due to redundancy and overlapping functions of IRS proteins (53, 58-60). It was suggested that the central hypothyroidism phenotype is linked to leptin receptor (LEPR) dysfunction. Fasting signals are conveyed to hypothalamus through leptin/LEPR signaling, modulating TRH expression (61, 62). Since IRS4 is implicated in leptin/LEPR signaling (63), IRS4 loss-of-function hypothetically diminishes TRH expression. Indeed, fasted subjects (an example of subjects with reduced leptin signaling) have similar TSH secretion patterns and TRH test results as patients with central hypothyroidism due to IRS4 loss-of-function (51). However, patients with leptin deficiency and leptin resistance invariably present with central hypothyroidism, and have a different TSH secretion pattern in response to exogenous TRH than patients with IRS4 loss-offunction. Moreover, patients with IRS4 dysfunction have blunted TSH responses to exogenous TRH, hinting at a defect at the level of the pituitary. The precise functions of IRS4 in the pituitary remain unclear. A pathophysiological mechanism of central hypothyroidism due to IRS4 dysfunction incorporating pituitary TRH resistance or defective TSH transcription/post-translational modification is conceivable.

 Table 2 shows the key findings in the five genetic causes of isolated central CH. Figure 2 shows schematic representations of

the five genes implicated in isolated central CH with known pathogenic variants. **Supplementary Table 1** shows all reported pathogenic isolated central CH variants.

## Central CH as Part of CPHD

Besides occurring in isolation central CH may be part of CPHD. During embryonic brain development complex cascades of signaling molecules and transcription factors influence midline brain structure formation, including HP development. The anterior pituitary lobe derives from oral ectoderm and consists of five specialized cell types, secreting six hormones: thyrotrophs producing TSH, somatotrophs producing GH, corticotrophs producing adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), gonadotrophs producing LH and FSH, and lactotrophs producing prolactin. The posterior pituitary lobe derives from neural ectoderm and stores and secretes the hypothalamic produced hormones vasopressin and oxytocin. The anterior pituitary cell types receive input from hypothalamic hormones via the hypophyseal portal blood vessels in the pituitary stalk. The posterior pituitary has a neural connection with the hypothalamus by way of the hypothalamic-neurohypophyseal tract in the pituitary stalk (64).

CPHD is characterized by a very broad genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity with variable penetrance. In addition, CPHD not only seems to be of monogenic but also of di- and oligogenic origin. Defects in one or more genes involved in midline brain formation result in a variety of malformations. Genetic defects in factors involved in early embryonic brain development result in the most severe midline brain anomalies, while defects in transcription factors involved in the final steps of pituitary cellular differentiation cause milder CPHD without structural pituitary malformation (*POU1F1*, *PROP1*).

We divide CPHD into three main categories: 1) CPHD without pituitary malformation, 2) CPHD with isolated pituitary malformation, and 3) syndromic CPHD with pituitary and extra-pituitary malformations. The combination of pituitary hormone deficiencies and the severity are very variable. Overall GH deficiency is the most common endocrine deficit in CPHD, followed by central CH.

## CPHD Without Pituitary Malformation *POU1F1*

*POU1F1* (previously known as *PIT1*) (OMIM #173110) was the first gene to be identified in CPHD patients. It is a pituitary-specific transcription factor expressed in the anterior pituitary, relatively late during pituitary development. It is responsible for differentiation of somatotroph, lactotroph and thyrotroph cells. In 1992 the first homozygous nonsense variant of *POU1F1* was identified in a CPHD patient from consanguineous parents (65).

Since this first description 38 pathogenic variants have been reported. Most are associated with an autosomal recessive inheritance pattern although a few autosomal dominant variants have been described. CPHD consists of TSH, GH and prolactin deficiency with normal gonadotroph and corticotroph axes. Patients often present at a very young age with growth retardation due to severe GH deficiency. Presentation of central CH is variable. Most patients have TSH deficiency early on, but it may also occur later in childhood (66). Also cases with normal TSH have been reported. Neuroimaging usually shows a normal or hypoplastic anterior pituitary lobe, with a normal posterior lobe and pituitary stalk. *POU1F1* pathogenic variants are found in approximately 2.6% of non-familial CPHD cases, and in up to 21.6% in familial CPHD cases (67).

#### PROP1

In 1998 the first four families with CPHD due to homozygous and compound heterozygous PROP1 (OMIM #601538) variants were described. Today, PROP1 is the most frequent genetic cause of CPHD with a eutopic posterior pituitary (68). PROP1 is a transcription factor involved in differentiation of somatotroph, lactotroph, gonadotroph and thyrotroph lineages. CPHD consist of GH, prolactin and TSH deficiency, in addition to variable deficiency in LH&FSH and ACTH. Most affected individuals present with growth failure in infancy or early childhood due to severe GH deficiency. Central CH is usually mild and present later in infancy or childhood. ACTH deficiency occurs later on with a reported mean age at diagnosis of 25.3 years (range 7.4-67 years) (68). Most patients have a small or normal anterior pituitary with a normal pituitary stalk and posterior pituitary. Some cases of enlarged anterior pituitary gland during childhood have been described with subsequent involution over time. PROP1 pathogenic variants are found in approximately 11% of CPHD patients with a frequency of up to 50% in familial cases and 7% in sporadic cases.

#### Isolated Pituitary Stalk Interruption Syndrome

The most common isolated pituitary malformation is referred to as pituitary stalk interruption syndrome (PSIS), and consists of a classic triad of interrupted or absent pituitary stalk, ectopic posterior pituitary and anterior pituitary hypoplasia or aplasia (Figure 3). It was first described in 1987 in a series of ten patients with "idiopathic pituitary dwarfism" showing an ectopic pituitary lobe and transection of the pituitary stalk upon magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (69). Since then, there have been many reports on PSIS and a broad clinical, radiological and genetic heterogeneity has become apparent (70-72). The classic triad may not always be complete, but cardinal features include either interrupted/absent pituitary stalk or ectopic posterior pituitary. The position of the posterior pituitary varies and may be at the hypothalamic base along the pituitary stalk, or even in the normal position within the sella turcica. PSIS is considered a midline brain malformation and regarded to be at the mild end of the holoprosencephaly spectrum. PSIS most often occurs in isolation but it may also be associated with extrapituitary malformations, mainly affecting brain, eye and craniofacial structures. The clinical phenotype of PSIS consists of anterior pituitary hormone deficiencies in variable combinations with normal posterior pituitary function. The normal posterior pituitary function reflects an intact neural hypothalamic-posterior pituitary connection while the hypothalamic-anterior pituitary connection, through the pituitary stalk, is disrupted.

Patients with PSIS may present immediately after birth with classic signs of hypopituitarism such as hypoglycemia, prolonged

jaundice, undescended testes/micro-penis. Most often, however, patients present later on in childhood with poor growth. In a twenty-year cohort of 154 Dutch central CH patients detected by neonatal screening 39% (60/154) had isolated central CH and 61% (94/154) had CPHD. Of these 94 CPHD patients, 85% (80/94) had isolated PSIS and 15% (14/154) had syndromic PSIS (19). This makes isolated PSIS the most frequent diagnosis in central CH patients detected by the Dutch neonatal screening. In addition to central CH, 96% of the patients had GH deficiency, 86% ACTH deficiency and 74% LH&FSH deficiency. Posterior pituitary function was normal in all patients. The Dutch cohort consists of a specific subset of PSIS patients who all have central CH and therefore does not represent the whole spectrum of PSIS. Bar et al. reported on clinically detected PSIS patients including ten patients with a neonatal diagnosis and 47 patients diagnosed after presentation for growth retardation at a mean age of four years. Central CH was present in 80% of these patients (72). PSIS is also encountered in patients with isolated GH deficiency and this may be regarded the mildest phenotype of PSIS. However, in patients with an initial diagnosis of isolated GH deficiency, GH treatment frequently leads to a marked decrease in serum FT4 and thereby unmasks the diagnosis of central CH. In these patients with unmasked central CH after GH treatment, MRI usually reveals PSIS (17). Pituitary hormone deficiencies in PSIS are not always present at birth and may evolve throughout life, which is especially the case for ACTH deficiency. Therefore, long-term monitoring for development of additional anterior hormone deficiencies advised. In line with this all patients with apparently isolated GH deficiency should have close monitoring of FT4 levels under treatment and undergo pituitary MRI (73). See also the section on treatment and follow-up.



FIGURE 3 | Example of pituitary stalk interruption syndrome. T1-weighted MRI of a two-year-old boy with pituitary stalk interruption syndrome.
(A) "Bright white spot" of ectopic posterior pituitary positioned at the hypothalamic base. (B) Hypoplastic anterior pituitary in the sella turcica. A thin pituitary stalk is visible between (A, B).

Compared to isolated forms of central CH due to IGSF1, TBL1X and IRS4 variants, FT4 concentrations in PSIS patients are usually lower and classify as moderate severe hypothyroidism (18). TSH concentrations in central CH due to PSIS are usually normal to slightly elevated. In the Dutch cohort of isolated PSIS patients the highest TSH measured was 12.9 mIUl/L (74). Mildly elevated TSH in PSIS is probably due to the absence of normal TRH stimulation leading to impaired TSH glycosylation and resulting in decreased bioactivity of circulating TSH. Since TSH values in isolated central CH cases are reported to be in the lownormal range, a mildly raised TSH concentration is suggestive of PSIS. Although the value of TRH-testing in the diagnosis of central CH is debated, in the Dutch cohort almost all PSIS patients had a delayed TSH rise (19). Ultimately MRI is the key to a definitive PSIS diagnosis. The posterior pituitary has a marked hyperintensity upon T1-weighted images making it recognizable as the "bright white spot" (Figure 3). While an ectopic position of the bright white spot is indicative of PSIS, absence of the bright white spot is found in up to 10 per cent of healthy individuals. In addition, the posterior pituitary hyperintensity may not be visible before the age of 2 months (75).

Monogenic causes of isolated PSIS are extremely rare and it has been suggested that, due to the low yield, genetic testing in non-familiar isolated PSIS cases is not indicated. Recent studies using next generation sequencing techniques have identified a few monogenic causes of isolated PSIS involving *CDON* (OMIM #608707), *GPR161* (OMIM #612250) and *GLI2* (OMIM #165230) genes (76–78). These genes are all involved in the Sonic Hedgehog signaling (SHH) pathway emphasizing the important role of this pathway in midline brain development. Rather than a monogenic etiology, there is growing evidence for a digenic or polygenic etiology for isolated PSIS (76, 79, 80). PSIS seems to result from a combination of defects in various genes in the Wnt, Notch and Sonic Hedgehog pathways involved in midline brain development (71, 81).

## Syndromic CPHD

In syndromic forms of CPHD, pituitary insufficiency is accompanied by other cerebral and extra-cerebral abnormalities. Cerebral structures often include midline brain, eye, inner ear and craniofacial structures. Midline brain malformations may consist of holoprosencephaly, septo-optic dysplasia (SOD), absent corpus callosum, cerebellar malformations, Arnold Chiari malformation and also PSIS (syndromic PSIS). Cleft lip or palate and dental malformations such as single central incisor are examples of craniofacial malformations. Extra-cerebral structures that may be involved are heart, urinary tract, gastro-intestinal tract and axial skeleton.

Obvious birth defects, neurological and developmental problems will usually lead to an early diagnosis of syndromic CPHD. The yield of genetic testing is low with a genetic abnormality found in only 5-10% of sporadic cases. With an incidence of 1 in 10,000 live births SOD is one of the more common syndromic forms of CPHD consisting of two of the three features: optic nerve hypoplasia, midline forebrain abnormalities and pituitary hypoplasia. Hypopituitarism is reported in around two thirds of SOD patients with variable severity. *HESX1* (OMIM #601802), *SOX2* (OMIM #184429), *SOX3* (OMIM #313430) and *OTX2* (OMIM #600037) gene defects have been implicated in the etiology of SOD, although genetic defects are only found in up to 10% of SOD cases (64). Although SOD is one of the more common syndromic forms of CPHD, the frequency of central CH among patients with this condition is not known. It has been reported that approximately 62% to 80% of patients with SOD have hypopituitarism, with GH deficiency being the most common abnormality, but data on central CH are lacking (82, 83).

## DIAGNOSIS

# How Do Patients With Central CH Present?

As mentioned earlier, the incidence of central CH has increased about six-to eightfold in the past few decades. This probably reflects improved detection by NBS early in life and careful registration of affected children, rather than a true increase in incidence over time (2).

In countries that do not screen for central CH, affected children may be diagnosed clinically in the first weeks to months of life because of signs and symptoms of TH deficiency (see paragraph 4.2.2). When not clinically diagnosed early in life, these children may present later on with developmental delay (resulting from TH deficiency  $\pm$  neonatal hypoglycemia), poor growth (GH deficiency) and delayed puberty (LH&FSH deficiency).

Since serum T4 concentrations in premature born infants are low these children are not screened for central CH, as this would result in a large number of false positive results. In the Dutch NBS program, for premature born children (gestational age  $\leq$ 36 weeks and birth weight  $\leq$ 2500 grams) only the TSH concentration is taken into account. Thereby primary CH is detected, but central CH is missed (11, 16).

In countries, states or regions with NBS for central CH many affected newborns are asymptomatic or only mildly symptomatic at presentation. Most children with central CH detected by NBS in the Netherlands have CPHD (around 60%) (19).Therefore, the benefit of early detection, diagnosis and treatment of central CH is prevention of possible neurological sequelae of TH deficiency or hypoglycemia due to GH deficiency and ACTH deficiency.

In order to allow early treatment of affected newborns and to avoid unnecessary treatment of false positives, *appropriate* and *rapid* diagnostics should be offered to all referred newborns.

## Diagnostics in Case of Suspected Central CH

**Figure 4** shows a proposed diagnostic algorithm to be used in newborns/neonates suspected of central CH. This algorithm is used in the Netherlands, and although it is designed for use after an abnormal NBS result suggestive for central CH – low total or free T4 in combination with normal TSH –, the algorithm can also be used when central CH (isolated or as part of CPHD) is suspected on clinical grounds early in life.

#### Medical History and Physical Examination

The medical history and physical examination should focus on signs and symptoms of TH deficiency, and deficiencies of pituitary hormones other than TSH. In the first weeks to months of life TH deficiency may cause feeding problems, drowsiness, (prolonged) jaundice, large tongue, umbilical hernia, and open large anterior fontanelle. Central CH as part of CPHD may also present with hypoglycemia (due to ACTH  $\pm$  GH deficiency), sepsis-like illness (ACTH deficiency), undescended testes/micro-penis (boys; LH&FSH deficiency), elevated liver enzymes (ACTH deficiency), and midline defects associated with CPHD.

In addition, attention should be paid to the presence of conditions associated with transient low total and free T4 concentrations, like transient hypothyroxinemia of prematurity (THOP), non-thyroidal illness (NTI; also known as sick euthyroid syndrome), use of FT4 lowering medication and transient central CH due to maternal Graves' disease. The latter condition may be a reason for temporary levothyroxine (LT4) treatment (84–86).

#### **Initial Diagnostics**

In case of an abnormal NBS result, the initial step is confirmation of a low serum FT4 in combination with normal a TSH by (venous) blood collection. Optionally, TBG can be measured to test for TBG deficiency as cause of low NBS total T4 (2, 11). In the first two to three weeks of the neonatal period the lower limit of the FT4 reference interval lies considerably higher than later on; the same applies to the upper limit of the TSH reference interval (31, 87). This should be kept in mind when interpreting the measured FT4 and TSH concentrations. It may be necessary to perform additional diagnostics to confirm/rule out THOP, NTI and maternal Graves' disease (**Figure 4**).

## **Diagnostics and Interpretation**

Signs and symptoms of TH deficiency or of pituitary hormone deficiencies other than TSH are highly suggestive of the diagnoses isolated central CH or central CH as part of CPHD. The same applies to persistently low serum FT4 concentrations with normal TSH in the absence of aforementioned transient conditions. Additional support for the diagnosis central CH can be obtained by diagnosing one or more other pituitary deficiencies, finding variants in genes causing isolated central CH, or finding structural HP abnormalities associated with CPHD, like PSIS.

Management of children diagnosed with CPHD differs significantly from those with isolated central CH. Not only with respect to additional risks, but also regarding supplementary diagnostics and treatment. For instance, ACTH  $\pm$  GH deficiency may cause hypoglycemia and warrant glucose monitoring. In case of ACTH deficiency, it is important to first start hydrocortisone treatment should be started before LT4, since LT4 treatment may provoke a potentially lifethreatening adrenal crisis in patients with untreated ACTH deficiency. It is therefore important to test for ACTH deficiency early on (1, 88). In our experience, this can be done by monitoring for hypoglycemia and by performing a low dose (LD, 1  $\mu$ g) ACTH test (89). This may require a short hospital admission. If supplemented by (rapid) genetic testing for gene variants causing isolated central CH (which can be omitted if there is convincing evidence of additional pituitary hormone deficiencies, for instance a clearly abnormal LD ACTH test [that was technically well-executed]), there are three possible outcomes/scenarios:

- A) abnormal LD ACTH test result;
- B) normal LD ACTH test result but no pathogenic gene variant found;
- C) normal LD ACTH test result and pathogenic variant in *TSHB*, *TRHR*, *IGSF1*, *TBL1X* or *IRS4*.

## MANAGEMENT

An abnormal LD ACTH test (scenario A) points to central CH as part of CPHD. In that case LT4 treatment should be preceded by hydrocortisone supplementation. In case of a borderline LD ACTH test result, consider prescribing hydrocortisone only during illness, or other forms of severe stress. LD ACTH testing is an error-prone procedure; requiring dilution of synthetic ACTH and my lead to a false abnormal test result. When doubting the reliability of the LD ACTH test result, consider rapid genetic testing for causes of isolated central CH. The finding of a pathogenic variant in one of the five isolated central CH genes will prevent unnecessary hydrocortisone treatment and additional diagnostics.

When the LD ACTH test result is normal, LT4 treatment can be started safely. Finding a pathogenic variant in *TSHB*, *TRHR*, *IGSF1*, *TBL1X* or *IRS4* (scenario C), confirms the diagnosis isolated central CH. Parents can be counseled on possible associated (future) health problems, like a small chance of partial GH deficiency and later on GH excess, delayed puberty and macroorchidism in IGSF1 deficiency syndrome, or hearing loss due to *TBL1X* loss-of-function (37, 44).

In scenario B – a normal LD ACTH test, but no pathogenic variant found -, the diagnosis can be either central CH as part of CPHD or (genetically unexplained) isolated central CH. In this scenario LT4 treatment can be started but as long as CPHD is not ruled out children should be followed-up as possible CPHD (scenario A and B). The diagnosis CPHD can be (further) substantiated by performing an MRI of the HP region and finding PSIS. MRI can be delayed if anesthesia is undesirable. A TRH test may be helpful in differentiating between central CH as part of CPHD and isolated central CH (90). A delayed TSH rise suggests central CH as part of CPHD, a normal rise but low peak value suggests isolated central CH (19, 90). A TRH test, however, should be performed before the start of LT4 treatment. Since ACTH deficiency may develop later on the importance of periodic testing for central adrenal insufficiency cannot be stressed enough.

In accordance with the recently updated CH consensus guidelines, treatment of central CH consists of once daily administration of LT4 (orally; tablets or liquid preparation) (91).



**FIGURE 4** | Proposed diagnostics after an abnormal newborn screening result suggestive for central congenital hypothyroidism. <sup>1</sup> suspicion of THOP: re-measure FT4 and TSH at term age, suspicion of NTI: measure (F)T3 ± rT3, re-measure FT4 and TSH at recovery; suspicion of transient central CH due to maternal Graves' disease: measure TSHRAb and maternal thyroid function, and start thyroxine treatment when the newborn's FT4 is too low. ACTH, adrenocorticotropic hormone; CH, congenital hypothyroidism; CPHD, combined pituitary hormone deficiency; FT4, free thyroxine; FSH, follicle stimulating hormone; GH, growth hormone; HC, hydrocortisone; HP, hypothalamic-pituitary; IGF-1, insulin-like growth factor 1; IGFBP3, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3; LD, low dose; LH, luteinizing hormone; LT4, levothyroxine; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; NBS, newborn screening; NT1, non-thyroidal illness; rT3, reverse triiodothyronine; T4, thyroxine; TBG, thyroxine binding globulin; TH, thyroid hormone; THOP, transient hypothyroxinemia of prematurity; TRH, thyrotropin releasing hormone; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone; TSHRAb, TSH receptor antibodies. **(A–C)** refer to three scenarios of different outcomes of the work-up of central CH (see the *Management* section).

In severe central CH (serum FT4 before treatment <5 pmol/L), the LT4 starting dose should be at least 10 µg/kg per day, in order to rapidly bring FT4 within the age-specific reference interval. To reduce the risk of overtreatment, a lower starting dose (5-10  $\mu$ g/kg per day) can be used in milder forms. The (biochemical) long-term aim of LT4 treatment is to bring and keep serum FT4 in the upper half of the age-specific reference interval. Although randomized clinical trials testing this approach in children are lacking, data from adult studies support this approach (92, 93). The biggest difference between treatment of primary and central CH is in treatment monitoring, with serum FT4 (instead of TSH) being the most important parameter. If TSH prior to treatment was low, subsequent TSH measurements can be omitted. With regard to treatment monitoring, clinical and biochemical follow-up is similar to primary CH. The first evaluation should be scheduled one to two weeks after the start of treatment. Subsequent evaluations should take place every two weeks until normalization of serum FT4. Thereafter, the frequency can be lowered to once every one to three months until the age of 12 months, every two to four months during the second and third years of life, and every three to six months thereafter. Blood collection for serum FT4 measurement should be performed before, or at least four hours after the last (daily) LT4 administration (91). When under- or overtreatment is suspected, measurement of TSH, and free or total T3 may be helpful. Undertreatment should be considered when FT4 is around the lower limit of the reference interval, particularly if TSH >1.0 mIU/L. Overtreatment should be considered when FT4 is around or above the upper limit of the reference interval, and accompanied by clinical signs of thyrotoxicosis or a high (F)T3 concentration (1).

As already mentioned, in a study on the clinical characteristics of 92 Dutch children with central CH early detected by neonatal screening (57 as part of CPHD, 35 isolated disease), Naafs et al. found that 86% of the patients with CPHD also had ACTH deficiency, and that 96% and 74% had GH and LH&FSH deficiency, respectively (19). Most cases of ACTH deficiency (35 of 49) were diagnosed in the neonatal period, but nine cases between the ages of two months and one year, and the remaining five cases between the ages of one and 14 years. GH deficiency was diagnosed at a mean age of 1.3 years (range age 21 days to 9.2 years), and LH&FSH deficiency both in the first months of life and around the age of 12.8 years.

The implications of these findings are that all children diagnosed with central CH as part of CPHD, and all children without a genetically confirmed diagnosis of isolated central CH should be followed-up and monitored for the emergence of LH&FSH deficiency, GH deficiency and, evolving ACTH deficiency.

## PROGNOSIS

Since the start of NBS for CH the neurodevelopmental prognosis of early detected and treated children with primary CH has improved dramatically (91). In 1980, Klein reported a mean IQ of 76 observed in over 800 patients with primary CH clinically diagnosed before the era of NBS (94). More recently, in a systematic literature search and review, Grosse et al. identified four population-based studies conducted in high income countries and found a somewhat higher mean IQ of 85 among children with clinically diagnosed primary CH prior to the introduction of NBS; 8-28% of these children were classified as having intellectual disability (defined as an IQ <70) (95).

In contrast, the latest long-term follow-up studies in patients with primary CH show that when LT4 treatment is started before the (mean) age of 10 days with a starting dose of at least  $10 \,\mu$ g/kg per day, affected children have a neurodevelopmental outcome similar to that of unaffected siblings in the second decade of life (91, 96, 97). Although randomized clinical trials have not been conducted, the results of these studies indicate that early detection and adequate LT4 treatment of newborns with primary CH prevents brain damage and developmental delay.

Comparable outcome data of children with central CH are scarce. In a recent systematic review with meta-analysis of individual patient data, Naafs et al. identified six studies of reasonable quality on neurodevelopmental outcome in patients treated for central CH from which data of only 30 patients (27 with central CH as part of CPHD) was sufficient for analysis. While mean full scale intelligence quotient (FSIQ) was normal in these 30 patients (97; 95% confidence interval (CI) 88-105), 27% had a FSIQ below 85 ( $\geq$ 1 SD below norm score), and 10% below 70 ( $\geq$ 2 SD below norm score). Since in half of the studies the age at start of treatment was not available reliable conclusions could not be drawn (98). Subsequently, Naafs et al. performed a study on cognitive and motor outcome in a large cohort of Dutch patients with early-detected central CH (26). In this crosssectional study, FSIQ was measured in 52 patients with CPHD and 35 patients with isolated central CH born between 1995 and 2015, with 52 unaffected siblings as controls. Secondary outcomes were intelligence tests' subscales and motor function. Mean FSIQ was 90.7 (95% CI 86.4-95.0) in CPHD patients and 98.2 (95% CI 93.0-103.5) in isolated central CH patients. CPHD patients had lower FSIQs than siblings (mean difference -7.9 points, 95% CI -13.4 to -2.5), but FSIQs of isolated central CH patients and siblings were similar. Processing speed was lower in both patient groups than in siblings; motor difficulties occurred significantly more often in patients (33%) versus siblings (5%; p=0.004).

These data suggest that early detection and TH treatment of newborns with isolated central CH results in a normal IQ later in life, like in patients with early detected and treated primary CH. The approximately 0.8 SD lower IQ in patients with CPHD may be explained by ACTH and GH deficiency (present in 88% and 96% of patients, respectively), resulting in neonatal hypoglycemia (documented in 55% of patients; mean lowest glucose level 1.2  $\pm$  0.8 mmol/L). Just like in primary CH, the lower processing speed and the more frequent occurrence of motor difficulties in isolated central CH and in CPDH patients may be related to pre- and early postnatal TH deficiency (26).

Naafs et al. also studied health-related QoL in the same cohort of patients with early-detected central CH and their unaffected siblings (99). Patients  $\geq 8$  years old filled in self-reports, and parents of patients aged three to 18 years old filled in parent-reports of the Pediatric Quality of Life inventory (PedsQL<sup>TM</sup>) and

the PedsQL Multidimensional Fatigue Scale. Patients with isolated central CH (n=35) and siblings showed similar scores on all subscales, both in the self-reports and parent-reports. Self-reported sores of CPHD patients (n=53) were also similar to those of siblings. However, parent-reported total HRQoL and fatigue scores of CPHD patients were significantly lower than those of siblings. This indicates a perceived difference in perception between patients and their parents.

Despite these positive and promising results, the remaining question is whether early detection and treatment of children with central CH really improves their neurodevelopmental outcome and, if so, how much. Although a few studies not included in the systematic review by Naafs et al. suggest that it does (100, 101), this question can only be answered by conducting neurodevelopmental outcome studies in patients with late-detected central CH. Since isolated CH may not be clinically detected at all, such studies may have to focus on patients with CPHD due to PSIS, which was present in 88% of the patients evaluated by Naafs et al. (19) Given the rarity of this disorder this can only be achieved by international collaboration for instance in the form of an international patient registry.

## CONCLUSIONS

Based on data from T4- and FT4-based NBS programs that detect central CH, its incidence is currently estimated at around 1:13,000. Approximately 60% of affected children have central CH as part of CPHD, the others have isolated central CH

## REFERENCES

- Persani L, Brabant G, Dattani M, Bonomi M, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Fliers E, et al. 2018 European Thyroid Association (Eta) Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Management of Central Hypothyroidism. *Eur Thyroid J* (2018) 7 (5):225–37. doi: 10.1159/000491388
- Ford G, LaFranchi SH. Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism: A Worldwide View of Strategies. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 28(2):175–87. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2013.05.008
- LaFranchi SH, Murphey WH, Foley TP Jr, Larsen PR, Buist NR. Neonatal Hypothyroidism Detected by the Northwest Regional Screening Program. *Pediatrics* (1979) 63(2):180–91.
- Connelly KJ, Pierce MJ, Hanna C, LaFranchi SH. Detecting Congenital Central Hypothyroidism by Newborn Screening: Difficulty in Distinguishing From Congenital Thyroxine-Binding Globulin Deficiency. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2017) 88(5):331–8. doi: 10.1159/000479367
- LaFranchi SH. Newborn Screening Strategies for Congenital Hypothyroidism: An Update. J Inherit Metab Dis (2010) 33(Suppl 2): S225-33. doi: 10.1007/s10545-010-9062-1
- Zamboni G, Zaffanello M, Rigon F, Radetti G, Gaudino R, Tato L. Diagnostic Effectiveness of Simultaneous Thyroxine and Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone Screening Measurements. *Thirteen Years' Experience Northeast Ital Screening Programme J Med Screen* (2004) 11 (1):8–10. doi: 10.1177/096914130301100103
- Fujiwara F, Fujikura K, Okuhara K, Tsubaki J, Fukushi M, Fujita K, et al. Central Congenital Hypothyroidism Detected by Neonatal Screening in Sapporo, Japan (2000-2004): It's Prevalence and Clinical Characteristics. *Clin Pediatr Endocrinol* (2008) 17(3):65–9. doi: 10.1297/cpe.17.65
- 8. Grau G, Fernández M, Artola E, Sarasua A, Lizarralde E, Pintos C, et al. Diagnosis of Central Congenital Hypothyroidism and Multiple Pituitary

( $\approx$ 40%). Most CPHD cases are due to isolated PSIS, a condition of which the etiopathogenesis is still not well understood. In contrast, up to 90% of cases of isolated central CH can be explained by pathogenic variants in *TSHB*, *TRHR*, *IGSF1*, *TBL1X* or *IRS4*.

In the last few years, it has been shown that central CH is a more severe condition than was previously thought, and that in the neonatal period the clinical diagnosis is often missed despite hospital admission because of feeding problems, hypoglycemia and prolonged jaundice. However, with early detection by NBS quickly followed by the right diagnostics and treatment children with central CH, both isolated and CPHD, have an excellent neurodevelopmental prognosis, comparable to unaffected siblings.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NZ-S and ASPvT drafted the manuscript. PL and JCN retrieved data for **Figure 1** and **Supplemental Table 2**. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version. ASPvT supervised the whole process.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021. 686317/full#supplementary-material

Deficiencies Through a Neonatal Screening Program. Hormone Research in Paediatrics. Vienna, Austria: European Society for Paediatric Endocrinology (2019).

- Kilberg MJ, Rasooly IR, LaFranchi SH, Bauer AJ, Hawkes CP. Newborn Screening in the US may Miss Mild Persistent Hypothyroidism. J Pediatr (2018) 192:204–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.09.003
- Tenenbaum-Rakover Y, Almashanu S, Hess O, Admoni O, Hag-Dahood Mahameed A, Schwartz N, et al. Long-Term Outcome of Loss-of-Function Mutations in Thyrotropin Receptor Gene. *Thyroid* (2015) 25(3):292–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2014.0311
- Kempers MJ, Lanting CI, van Heijst AF, van Trotsenburg AS, Wiedijk BM, de Vijlder JJ, et al. Neonatal Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism Based on Thyroxine, Thyrotropin, and Thyroxine-Binding Globulin Measurement: Potentials and Pitfalls. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91(9):3370–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0058
- Stroek K, Heijboer AC, Bouva MJ, van der Ploeg CPB, Heijnen MA, Weijman G, et al. Critical Evaluation of the Newborn Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism in the Netherlands. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183(3):265–73. doi: 10.1530/EJE-19-1048
- Asakura Y, Tachibana K, Adachi M, Suwa S, Yamagami Y. Hypothalamo-Pituitary Hypothyroidism Detected by Neonatal Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism Using Measurement of Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone and Thyroxine. *Acta Paediatr* (2002) 91(2):172–7. doi: 10.1080/ 080352502317285171
- Adachi M, Soneda A, Asakura Y, Muroya K, Yamagami Y, Hirahara F. Mass Screening of Newborns for Congenital Hypothyroidism of Central Origin by Free Thyroxine Measurement of Blood Samples on Filter Paper. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2012) 166(5):829–38. doi: 10.1530/EJE-11-0653
- Hanna CE, Krainz PL, Skeels MR, Miyahira RS, Sesser DE, LaFranchi SH. Detection of Congenital Hypopituitary Hypothyroidism: Ten-Year

Experience in the Northwest Regional Screening Program. J Pediatr (1986) 109(6):959-64. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(86)80276-1

- 16. Lanting CI, van Tijn DA, Loeber JG, Vulsma T, de Vijlder JJ, Verkerk PH. Clinical Effectiveness and Cost-Effectiveness of the Use of the Thyroxine/ Thyroxine-Binding Globulin Ratio to Detect Congenital Hypothyroidism of Thyroidal and Central Origin in a Neonatal Screening Program. *Pediatrics* (2005) 116(1):168–73. doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-2162
- van Iersel L, van Santen HM, Zandwijken GRJ, Zwaveling-Soonawala N, Hokken-Koelega ACS, van Trotsenburg ASP. Low FT4 Concentrations Around the Start of Recombinant Human Growth Hormone Treatment: Predictor of Congenital Structural Hypothalamic-Pituitary Abnormalities? *Horm Res Paediatr* (2018) 89(2):98–107. doi: 10.1159/000486033
- Zwaveling-Soonawala N, van Trotsenburg AS, Verkerk PH. The Severity of Congenital Hypothyroidism of Central Origin Should Not Be Underestimated. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(2):E297–300. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2871
- Naafs JC, Verkerk PH, Fliers E, van Trotsenburg ASP, Zwaveling-Soonawala N. Clinical and Genetic Characteristics of Dutch Children With Central Congenital Hypothyroidism, Early Detected by Neonatal Screening. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183(6):627–36. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0833
- Bianco AC, Kim BW. Intracellular Pathways of Iodothyronine Metabolism/ Implications of Deiodination for Thyroid Hormone Action. In: Braverman LE, Cooper DS, Kopp PA, editors. Werner & Ingbar's The Thyroid: A Fundamental and Clinical Text, 11 ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (LWW (2021).
- Halsall D, Moran C. Thyroid Hormone Transport Proteins. In: Braverman LE, Cooper DS, Kopp PA, editors. Werner & Ingbar's The Thyroid: A Fundamental and Clinical Text, 11 ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (LWW) (2021).
- 22. Cohen RN, Hollenberg AN, Wondisford FE. Chemistry and Biosynthesis of Thyrotropin. In: Braverman LE, Cooper DS, Kopp PA, editors. Werner & Ingbar's The Thyroid: A Fundamental and Clinical Text, 11 ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (LWW) (2021).
- Faglia G, Bitensky L, Pinchera A, Ferrari C, Paracchi A, Beck-Peccoz P, et al. Thyrotropin Secretion in Patients With Central Hypothyroidism: Evidence for Reduced Biological Activity of Immunoreactive Thyrotropin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1979) 48(6):989–98. doi: 10.1210/jcem-48-6-989
- Doin FC, Rosa-Borges M, Martins MR, Moises VA, Abucham J. Diagnosis of Subclinical Central Hypothyroidism in Patients With Hypothalamic-Pituitary Disease by Doppler Echocardiography. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2012) 166(4):631–40. doi: 10.1530/EJE-11-0907
- Zwaveling-Soonawala N, Naafs JC, Verkerk PH, van Trotsenburg ASP. Mortality in Children With Early-Detected Congenital Central Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2018) 103(8):3078-82. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-00629
- Naafs JC, Marchal JP, Fliers E, Verkerk PH, Luijten MAJ, Boelen A, et al. Cognitive and Motor Outcome in Patients With Early-Detected Central Congenital Hypothyroidism Compared With Siblings. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106(3):e1231–9. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa901
- Hayashizaki Y, Hiraoka Y, Endo Y, Miyai K, Matsubara K. Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone (TSH) Deficiency Caused by a Single Base Substitution in the CAGYC Region of the Beta-Subunit. *EMBO J* (1989) 8 (8):2291–6. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1989.tb08355.x
- Medeiros-Neto G, Herodotou DT, Rajan S, Kommareddi S, de Lacerda L, Sandrini R, et al. A Circulating, Biologically Inactive Thyrotropin Caused by a Mutation in the Beta Subunit Gene. *J Clin Invest* (1996) 97(5):1250–6. doi: 10.1172/JCI118540
- Brumm H, Pfeufer A, Biebermann H, Schnabel D, Deiss D, Gruters A. Congenital Central Hypothyroidism Due to Homozygous Thyrotropin Beta 313 Delta T Mutation is Caused by a Founder Effect. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87(10):4811–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020297
- Nicholas AK, Jaleel S, Lyons G, Schoenmakers E, Dattani MT, Crowne E, et al. Molecular Spectrum of TSHbeta Subunit Gene Defects in Central Hypothyroidism in the UK and Ireland. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2017) 86 (3):410–8. doi: 10.1111/cen.13149
- 31. Naafs JC, Heinen CA, Zwaveling-Soonawala N, van der Schoor SRD, van Tellingen V, Heijboer AC, et al. Age-Specific Reference Intervals for Plasma Free Thyroxine and Thyrotropin in Term Neonates During the First Two Weeks of Life. *Thyroid* (2020) 30(8):1106–11. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0779

- 32. Collu R, Tang J, Castagne J, Lagace G, Masson N, Huot C, et al. A Novel Mechanism for Isolated Central Hypothyroidism: Inactivating Mutations in the Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Receptor Gene. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82(5):1561–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.82.5.1561
- 33. Yamada M, Saga Y, Shibusawa N, Hirato J, Murakami M, Iwasaki T, et al. Tertiary Hypothyroidism and Hyperglycemia in Mice With Targeted Disruption of the Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1997) 94(20):10862–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.20.10862
- 34. Garcia M, Gonzalez de Buitrago J, Jimenez-Roses M, Pardo L, Hinkle PM, Moreno JC. Central Hypothyroidism Due to a TRHR Mutation Causing Impaired Ligand Affinity and Transactivation of Gq. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 102(7):2433–42. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-3977
- Bonomi M, Busnelli M, Beck-Peccoz P, Costanzo D, Antonica F, Dolci C, et al. A Family With Complete Resistance to Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone. N Engl J Med (2009) 360(7):731–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc0808557
- Sun Y, Bak B, Schoenmakers N, van Trotsenburg AS, Oostdijk W, Voshol P, et al. Loss-of-Function Mutations in IGSF1 Cause an X-Linked Syndrome of Central Hypothyroidism and Testicular Enlargement. *Nat Genet* (2012) 44 (12):1375–81. doi: 10.1038/ng.2453
- Joustra SD, Schoenmakers N, Persani L, Campi I, Bonomi M, Radetti G, et al. The IGSF1 Deficiency Syndrome: Characteristics of Male and Female Patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98(12):4942–52. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2743
- Joustra SD, Heinen CA, Schoenmakers N, Bonomi M, Ballieux BE, Turgeon MO, et al. Igsf1 Deficiency: Lessons From an Extensive Case Series and Recommendations for Clinical Management. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101(4):1627–36. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-3880
- Joustra SD, Roelfsema F, van Trotsenburg ASP, Schneider HJ, Kosilek RP, Kroon HM, et al. Igsf1 Deficiency Results in Human and Murine Somatotrope Neurosecretory Hyperfunction. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105(3):e70-84. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgz093
- Bernard DJ, Smith CL, Brule E. A Tale of Two Proteins: Betaglycan, IGSF1, and the Continuing Search for the Inhibin B Receptor. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 31(1):37–45. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2019.08.014
- Turgeon MO, Silander TL, Doycheva D, Liao XH, Rigden M, Ongaro L, et al. Trh Action Is Impaired in Pituitaries of Male Igsf1-Deficient Mice. Endocrinology (2017) 158(4):815–30. doi: 10.1210/en.2016-1788
- Brûlé E, Heinen CA, Smith CL, Schang G, Li Y, Zhou X, et al. Igsf1 Does Not Regulate Spermatogenesis or Modify Fsh Synthesis in Response to Inhibins or Activins. J Endocrine Soc (2021) 5(4):bvab023. doi: 10.1210/jendso/ bvab023
- Bernard DJ, Brule E, Smith CL, Joustra SD, Wit JM. From Consternation to Revelation: Discovery of a Role for IGSF1 in Pituitary Control of Thyroid Function. J Endocr Soc (2018) 2(3):220–31. doi: 10.1210/js.2017-00478
- Heinen CA, Losekoot M, Sun Y, Watson PJ, Fairall L, Joustra SD, et al. Mutations in TBL1X Are Associated With Central Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101(12):4564–73. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-2531
- 45. Takamizawa T, Satoh T, Miyamoto T, Nakajima Y, Ishizuka T, Tomaru T, et al. Transducin Beta-Like 1, X-linked and Nuclear Receptor Co-Repressor Cooperatively Augment the Ligand-Independent Stimulation of TRH and TSHbeta Gene Promoters by Thyroid Hormone Receptors. *Endocr J* (2018) 65(8):805–13. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ17-0384
- 46. Sugisawa C, Takamizawa T, Abe K, Hasegawa T, Shiga K, Sugawara H, et al. Genetics of Congenital Isolated TSH Deficiency: Mutation Screening of the Known Causative Genes and a Literature Review. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2019) 104(12):6229–37. doi: 10.1210/jc.2019-00657
- 47. Garcia M, Barreda-Bonis AC, Jimenez P, Rabanal I, Ortiz A, Vallespin E, et al. Central Hypothyroidism and Novel Clinical Phenotypes in Hemizygous Truncation of TBL1X. J Endocr Soc (2019) 3(1):119–28. doi: 10.1210/js.2018-00144
- Di Stazio M, Collesi C, Vozzi D, Liu W, Myers M, Morgan A, et al. TBL1Y: A New Gene Involved in Syndromic Hearing Loss. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2019) 27 (3):466–74. doi: 10.1038/s41431-018-0282-4
- Astapova I, Lee LJ, Morales C, Tauber S, Bilban M, Hollenberg AN. The Nuclear Corepressor, NCoR, Regulates Thyroid Hormone Action In Vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2008) 105(49):19544–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0804604105
- 50. Astapova I, Vella KR, Ramadoss P, Holtz KA, Rodwin BA, Liao XH, et al. The Nuclear Receptor Corepressor (NcoR) Controls Thyroid Hormone

Sensitivity and the Set Point of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Thyroid Axis. *Mol Endocrinol* (2011) 25(2):212–24. doi: 10.1210/me.2010-0462

- Heinen CA, de Vries EM, Alders M, Bikker H, Zwaveling-Soonawala N, van den Akker ELT, et al. Mutations in IRS4 Are Associated With Central Hypothyroidism. J Med Genet (2018) 55(10):693–700. doi: 10.1136/ jmedgenet-2017-105113
- Fantin VR, Lavan BE, Wang Q, Jenkins NA, Gilbert DJ, Copeland NG, et al. Cloning, Tissue Expression, and Chromosomal Location of the Mouse Insulin Receptor Substrate 4 Gene. *Endocrinology* (1999) 140(3):1329–37. doi: 10.1210/endo.140.3.6578
- Al-Salam A, Irwin DM. Evolution of the Vertebrate Insulin Receptor Substrate (Irs) Gene Family. BMC Evol Biol (2017) 17(1):148. doi: 10.1186/s12862-017-0994-z
- Giovannone B, Scaldaferri ML, Federici M, Porzio O, Lauro D, Fusco A, et al. Insulin Receptor Substrate (IRS) Transduction System: Distinct and Overlapping Signaling Potential. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2000) 16(6):434–41. doi: 10.1002/ 1520-7560(2000)9999999999:::AID-DMRR159>3.0.CO;2-8
- Dorpholz G, Murgai A, Jatzlau J, Horbelt D, Belverdi MP, Heroven C, et al. IRS4, A Novel Modulator of BMP/Smad and Akt Signaling During Early Muscle Differentiation. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):8778. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-08676-6
- Mardilovich K, Pankratz SL, Shaw LM. Expression and Function of the Insulin Receptor Substrate Proteins in Cancer. *Cell Commun Signal* (2009) 7:14. doi: 10.1186/1478-811X-7-14
- Fantin VR, Wang Q, Lienhard GE, Keller SR. Mice Lacking Insulin Receptor Substrate 4 Exhibit Mild Defects in Growth, Reproduction, and Glucose Homeostasis. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2000) 278(1):E127–33. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.2000.278.1.E127
- Sadagurski M, Dong XC, Myers MG Jr, White MF. Irs2 and Irs4 Synergize in non-LepRb Neurons to Control Energy Balance and Glucose Homeostasis. *Mol Metab* (2014) 3(1):55–63. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2013.10.004
- Tsuruzoe K, Emkey R, Kriauciunas KM, Ueki K, Kahn CR. Insulin Receptor Substrate 3 (IRS-3) and IRS-4 Impair IRS-1- and IRS-2-mediated Signaling. *Mol Cell Biol* (2001) 21(1):26–38. doi: 10.1128/MCB.21.1.26-38.2001
- Taguchi A, Wartschow LM, White MF. Brain IRS2 Signaling Coordinates Life Span and Nutrient Homeostasis. *Science* (2007) 317(5836):369–72. doi: 10.1126/science.1142179
- Nillni EA, Vaslet C, Harris M, Hollenberg A, Bjorbak C, Flier JS. Leptin Regulates Prothyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Biosynthesis Evidence Direct Indirect Pathways. J Biol Chem (2000) 275(46):36124–33. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M003549200
- 62. Joseph-Bravo P, Jaimes-Hoy L, Uribe RM, Charli JL. 60 YEARS of NEUROENDOCRINOLOGY: TRH, the First Hypophysiotropic Releasing Hormone Isolated: Control of the Pituitary-Thyroid Axis. J Endocrinol (2015) 227(3):X3. doi: 10.1530/JOE-15-0124e
- Wauman J, De Smet AS, Catteeuw D, Belsham D, Tavernier J. Insulin Receptor Substrate 4 Couples the Leptin Receptor to Multiple Signaling Pathways. *Mol Endocrinol* (2008) 22(4):965–77. doi: 10.1210/me.2007-0414
- 64. Gregory LC, Dattani MT. The Molecular Basis of Congenital Hypopituitarism and Related Disorders. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105(6):e2103–20. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgz184
- 65. Tatsumi K, Miyai K, Notomi T, Kaibe K, Amino N, Mizuno Y, et al. Cretinism With Combined Hormone Deficiency Caused by a Mutation in the PIT1 Gene. *Nat Genet* (1992) 1(1):56–8. doi: 10.1038/ng0492-56
- 66. Turton JP, Reynaud R, Mehta A, Torpiano J, Saveanu A, Woods KS, et al. Novel Mutations Within the POU1F1 Gene Associated With Variable Combined Pituitary Hormone Deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90(8):4762–70. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0570
- 67. De Rienzo F, Mellone S, Bellone S, Babu D, Fusco I, Prodam F, et al. Frequency of Genetic Defects in Combined Pituitary Hormone Deficiency: A Systematic Review and Analysis of a Multicentre Italian Cohort. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2015) 83(6):849–60. doi: 10.1111/cen.12849
- Correa FA, Nakaguma M, Madeira JLO, Nishi MY, Abrao MG, Jorge AAL, et al. Combined Pituitary Hormone Deficiency Caused by PROP1 Mutations: Update 20 Years Post-Discovery. Arch Endocrinol Metab (2019) 63(2):167-74. doi: 10.20945/2359-3997000000139
- 69. Fujisawa I, Kikuchi K, Nishimura K, Togashi K, Itoh K, Noma S, et al. Transection of the Pituitary Stalk: Development of an Ectopic Posterior Lobe

Assessed With MR Imaging. Radiology (1987) 165(2):487-9. doi: 10.1148/ radiology.165.2.3659371

- Brauner R, Bignon-Topalovic J, Bashamboo A, McElreavey K. Pituitary Stalk Interruption Syndrome Is Characterized by Genetic Heterogeneity. *PloS One* (2020) 15(12):e0242358. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0242358
- Vergier J, Castinetti F, Saveanu A, Girard N, Brue T, Reynaud R. Diagnosis OF Endocrine DISEASE: Pituitary Stalk Interruption Syndrome: Etiology and Clinical Manifestations. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2019) 181(5):R199–209. doi: 10.1530/EJE-19-0168
- Bar C, Zadro C, Diene G, Oliver I, Pienkowski C, Jouret B, et al. Pituitary Stalk Interruption Syndrome From Infancy to Adulthood: Clinical, Hormonal, and Radiological Assessment According to the Initial Presentation. *PloS One* (2015) 10(11):e0142354. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142354
- Cerbone M, Dattani MT. Progression From Isolated Growth Hormone Deficiency to Combined Pituitary Hormone Deficiency. *Growth Horm IGF Res* (2017) 37:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2017.10.005
- 74. Zwaveling-Soonawala N, van Trotsenburg ASP, Verkerk PH. TSH and FT4 Concentrations in Congenital Central Hypothyroidism and Mild Congenital Thyroidal Hypothyroidism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 103(4):1342–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-01577
- Di Iorgi N, Allegri AE, Napoli F, Bertelli E, Olivieri I, Rossi A, et al. The Use of Neuroimaging for Assessing Disorders of Pituitary Development. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2012) 76(2):161–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04238.x
- Bashamboo A, Bignon-Topalovic J, Rouba H, McElreavey K, Brauner R. A Nonsense Mutation in the Hedgehog Receptor CDON Associated With Pituitary Stalk Interruption Syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101 (1):12–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2995
- 77. Karaca E, Buyukkaya R, Pehlivan D, Charng WL, Yaykasli KO, Bayram Y, et al. Whole-Exome Sequencing Identifies Homozygous GPR161 Mutation in a Family With Pituitary Stalk Interruption Syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(1):E140–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1984
- Franca MM, Jorge AA, Carvalho LR, Costalonga EF, Vasques GA, Leite CC, et al. Novel Heterozygous Nonsense GLI2 Mutations in Patients With Hypopituitarism and Ectopic Posterior Pituitary Lobe Without Holoprosencephaly. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95(11):E384–91. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-1050
- McCormack SE, Li D, Kim YJ, Lee JY, Kim SH, Rapaport R, et al. Digenic Inheritance of PROKR2 and WDR11 Mutations in Pituitary Stalk Interruption Syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 102(7):2501–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-00332
- Zwaveling-Soonawala N, Alders M, Jongejan A, Kovacic L, Duijkers FA, Maas SM, et al. Clues for Polygenic Inheritance of Pituitary Stalk Interruption Syndrome From Exome Sequencing in 20 Patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2018) 103(2):415–28. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-01660
- Fang Q, George AS, Brinkmeier ML, Mortensen AH, Gergics P, Cheung LY, et al. Genetics of Combined Pituitary Hormone Deficiency: Roadmap Into the Genome Era. *Endocr Rev* (2016) 37(6):636–75. doi: 10.1210/er.2016-1101
- Webb EA, Dattani MT. Septo-Optic Dysplasia. Eur J Hum Genet (2010) 18 (4):393–7. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2009.125
- Bosch IAL, Katugampola H, Dattani MT. Congenital Hypopituitarism During the Neonatal Period: Epidemiology, Pathogenesis, Therapeutic Options, and Outcome. *Front Pediatr* (2020) 8:600962. doi: 10.3389/ fped.2020.600962
- 84. van Trotsenburg ASP. Management of Neonates Born to Mothers With Thyroid Dysfunction, and Points for Attention During Pregnancy. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 34(4):101437. doi: 10.1016/j.beem. 2020.101437
- Kempers MJ, van Tijn DA, van Trotsenburg AS, de Vijlder JJ, Wiedijk BM, Vulsma T. Central Congenital Hypothyroidism Due to Gestational Hyperthyroidism: Detection Where Prevention Failed. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2003) 88(12):5851–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030665
- 86. Kempers MJ, van Trotsenburg AS, van Rijn RR, Smets AM, Smit BJ, de Vijlder JJ, et al. Loss of Integrity of Thyroid Morphology and Function in Children Born to Mothers With Inadequately Treated Graves' Disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92(8):2984–91. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-2042
- Heinen CA. Genetic Causes and Neonatal Diagnosis of Congenital Isolated Central Hypothyroidism. Amsterdan (2018). Available at: https://dare.uva. nl/search?identifier=f539c775-5f73-41c5-a519-e7283464c428

- Yagasaki H, Kobayashi K, Nemoto A, Naito A, Sugita K, Ohyama K. Late-Onset Circulatory Dysfunction After Thyroid Hormone Treatment in an Extremely Low Birth Weight Infant. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2010) 23(1-2):153–8. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2010.23.1-2.153
- Kazlauskaite R, Evans AT, Villabona CV, Abdu TA, Ambrosi B, Atkinson AB, et al. Corticotropin Tests for Hypothalamic-Pituitary- Adrenal Insufficiency: A Metaanalysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93 (11):4245-53. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0710
- van Tijn DA, de Vijlder JJ, Vulsma T. Role of the Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone Stimulation Test in Diagnosis of Congenital Central Hypothyroidism in Infants. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93(2):410–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-2656
- 91. van Trotsenburg P, Stoupa A, Leger J, Rohrer T, Peters C, Fugazzola L, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism: A 2020-2021 Consensus Guidelines Update-An Endo-European Reference Network Initiative Endorsed by the European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and the European Society for Endocrinology. *Thyroid* (2021) 31(3):387–419. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0333
- 92. Slawik M, Klawitter B, Meiser E, Schories M, Zwermann O, Borm K, et al. Thyroid Hormone Replacement for Central Hypothyroidism: A Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing Two Doses of Thyroxine (T4) With a Combination of T4 and Triiodothyronine. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92(11):4115–22. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-0297
- 93. Koulouri O, Auldin MA, Agarwal R, Kieffer V, Robertson C, Falconer Smith J, et al. Diagnosis and Treatment of Hypothyroidism in TSH Deficiency Compared to Primary Thyroid Disease: Pituitary Patients Are at Risk of Under-Replacement With Levothyroxine. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2011) 74 (6):744–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.03984.x
- Klein RZ. History of Congenital Hypothyroidism. In: Burrow GN, Dussault JH, editors. *Neonatal Thyroid Screening*. New York: Raven Press (1980). p. 51–9.
- Grosse SD, Van Vliet G. Prevention of Intellectual Disability Through Screening for Congenital Hypothyroidism: How Much and At What Level? Arch Dis Child (2011) 96(4):374–9. doi: 10.1136/adc.2010.190280
- 96. Albert BB, Heather N, Derraik JG, Cutfield WS, Wouldes T, Tregurtha S, et al. Neurodevelopmental and Body Composition Outcomes in Children With Congenital Hypothyroidism Treated With High-Dose Initial Replacement and Close Monitoring. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98 (9):3663–70. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1903

- Aleksander PE, Bruckner-Spieler M, Stoehr AM, Lankes E, Kuhnen P, Schnabel D, et al. Mean High-Dose L-Thyroxine Treatment Is Efficient and Safe to Achieve a Normal IQ in Young Adult Patients With Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2018) 103(4):1459–69. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-01937
- Naafs JC, Vendrig LM, Limpens J, van der Lee HJ, Duijnhoven RG, Marchal JP, et al. Cognitive Outcome in Congenital Central Hypothyroidism: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis of Individual Patient Data. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 182(3):351–61. doi: 10.1530/EJE-19-0874
- Naafs JC, Marchal JP, Verkerk PH, Fliers E, van Trotsenburg AS, Zwaveling-Soonawala N. Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients With Early-Detected Central Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021). doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab209
- Nebesio TD, McKenna MP, Nabhan ZM, Eugster EA. Newborn Screening Results in Children With Central Hypothyroidism. J Pediatr (2010) 156 (6):990–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.12.011
- 101. Brown K, Rodgers J, Johnstone H, Adams W, Clarke M, Gibson M, et al. Abnormal Cognitive Function in Treated Congenital Hypopituitarism. Arch Dis Child (2004) 89(9):827–30. doi: 10.1136/adc.2003.029116

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Lauffer, Zwaveling-Soonawala, Naafs, Boelen and van Trotsenburg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Thyroid Gene Mutations in Pregnant and Breastfeeding Women Diagnosed With Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism: Implications for the Offspring's Health

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Cintia E. Citterio, Institute of Immunology, Genetics and Metabolism (INIGEM) (CONICET), Argentina

#### Reviewed by:

Xavier De Deken, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium Frederique Savagner, U1048 Institut des Maladies Métaboliques et Cardiovasculaires (INSERM), France Yi Wang, China Medical University, China

> \*Correspondence: Claudia A. Riedel claudia.riedel@unab.cl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 10 March 2021 Accepted: 13 September 2021 Published: 14 October 2021

#### Citation:

Opazo MC, Rivera JC, Gonzalez PA, Bueno SM, Kalergis AM and Riedel CA (2021) Thyroid Gene Mutations in Pregnant and Breastfeeding Women Diagnosed With Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism: Implications for the Offspring's Health. Front. Endocrinol. 12:679002. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.679002 Alexis M. Kalergis<sup>3,4</sup> and Claudia A. Riedel<sup>1\*</sup>
<sup>1</sup> Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy, Facultad de Ciencias de la Vida, Departamento de Ciencias
Biológicas, Universidad Andres Bello, Santiago, Chile.<sup>2</sup> Instituto de Ciencias Naturales, Facultad de Medicina Veterinar

Maria C. Opazo<sup>1,2</sup>, Juan Carlos Rivera<sup>1</sup>, Pablo A. Gonzalez<sup>3</sup>, Susan M. Bueno<sup>3</sup>,

Biológicas, Universidad Andres Bello, Santiago, Chile, <sup>2</sup> Instituto de Ciencias Naturales, Facultad de Medicina Veterinaria y Agronomía, Universidad de las Américas, Santiago, Chile, <sup>3</sup> Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy, Departamento de Genética Molecular y Microbiología, Facultad de Ciencias Biológicas, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile, <sup>4</sup> Departamento de Endocrinología, Facultad de Medicina, Escuela de Medicina, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Santiago, Chile

Fetus and infants require appropriate thyroid hormone levels and iodine during pregnancy and lactation. Nature endorses the mother to supply thyroid hormones to the fetus and iodine to the lactating infant. Genetic variations on thyroid proteins that cause dyshormonogenic congenital hypothyroidism could in pregnant and breastfeeding women impair the delivery of thyroid hormones and iodine to the offspring. The review discusses maternal genetic variations in thyroid proteins that, in the context of pregnancy and/or breastfeeding, could trigger thyroid hormone deficiency or iodide transport defect that will affect the proper development of the offspring.

Keywords: offspring, pregnancy, breastfeeding, iodine, thyroid hormones, congenital hypothyroid women, genetic counseling

## INTRODUCTION

Pregnancy and lactation are challenging physiological periods due to the mother supplies thyroid hormones and iodine to the fetus and infant, respectively. Given that, there is an increase on iodine and thyroid hormone requirements, a proper iodine status and thyroid hormone levels in pregnant and breastfeeding women must be guaranteed (1). Unfortunately, iodine insufficiency and thyroid hormone (TH) deficiency are frequent in pregnancy and breastfeeding (2). The statistics showed that 2.5% of pregnant and breastfeeding women consume insufficient iodine in their diet (3) and the prevalence of hypothyroidism is about 2%–3% in pregnant women (4). The progeny gestated and/or lactated under iodine deficiency or thyroid hormone deficiency, like hypothyroidism or hypothyroxinemia, is at higher risk of suffering irreversible cognitive impairment like attentional deficit, low intelligent quotient, and intellectual disability (5). Women carrying thyroid gene variations could be more sensitive to suffer thyroid hormone deficiency and/or iodide transport defect (ITD) during lactation.

Special attention are those women that were diagnosed at birth with transient congenital hypothyroidism (TCH). TCH is a temporary deficiency of thyroid hormones identified after birth (6). TCH has several different causes like endemic iodine deficiency, iodine excess, maternal antithyroid medication, maternal antibodies, and genetics. This review will focus on thyroid gene variations that will risk the pregnant or lactating women to suffer thyroid hormone deficiency or ITD during pregnancy and/or lactation (7, 8). We will review these thyroid gene variations reported in the literature that caused dyshormonogenic TCH. The point of this review is to provide awareness to scientists and physicians to prevent thyroid hormone deficiency and ITD during pregnancy and lactation in those women diagnosed with dyshormonogenic TCH. These maternal genetic mutations on thyroid proteins could irreversibly damage the appropriate development of the offspring.

## FUNCTIONAL MATERNAL THYROID PROTEINS ARE NEEDED FOR FETUS DEVELOPMENT

In the first 5 months of pregnancy, the maternal thyroid gland will be challenged to supply THs to the fetus, especially  $T_4$  (9, 10). Thus,

the mother will synthesize THs for her own needs and the fetus (Figure 1) (11, 12). This new scenery causes physiological stress to the maternal thyroid gland. To overcome this challenge, the pregnant woman should increase her daily iodine intake to 250  $\mu$ g/day. The thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) and the human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) will stimulate the maternal thyroid gland to produce T<sub>4</sub> and T<sub>3</sub> during the first trimester of pregnancy (13, 14). The hCG shares structural features with TSH (15). hCG and TSH will increase iodine uptake and thyroid hormone synthesis by binding to the TSH receptor (16). TSH and hCG will stimulate maternal thyroid gland growth and the expression of thyroid proteins like Na<sup>+</sup>/I<sup>-</sup> symporter (NIS), pendrin (PDS), thyroglobulin (TG), thyroid peroxidase (TPO), dual oxidase 2 (DUOX2), and dual oxidase maturation factor 2 (DUOXA2) (17). The expression of NIS at the basolateral membrane of the thyrocyte will increase the uptake of iodide from the blood into the thyrocyte. Iodide will diffuse through the cytoplasm to the apical side of the thyrocyte, where transporters like PDS, anoctamin-1 (ANO1), and SLA26A7 will transport it to the colloid (18). The thyrocytes also express the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) (18). CFTR transports chloride, and more studies are required to evaluate whether CFTR transports iodide. At the colloid, iodide will be oxidized and incorporated in the tyrosyl residues of TG by TPO (18). The organification of TG requires



FIGURE 1 | Pregnant woman diagnosed with transient congenital hypothyroidism due to mutations in thyroid proteins could develop thyroid hormone deficiency and impaired the offspring's development. The drawing shows a thyroid cell of a pregnant woman and the principal thyroid proteins involved in thyroid hormone deficiency hormonogenesis. Proteins with red asterisk have been associated in the literature with thyroid dyshormonogenesis in transient congenital hypothyroid patients. Among these proteins are DUOX2, DUOXA2, DUOXA1, DUOXA1, TPO, NIS, and SLCA27 (see red asterisk). The maternal thyroid gland must synthesize thyroid hormones for mother and the fetus. The high demand for thyroid hormone synthesis in pregnancy could stress the thyroid gland especially in women carrying genetic variations on thyroid proteins and that were diagnosed with transient congenital hypothyroidism (TCH). These women diagnosed with TCH (carrying monogenic mutations in DUOX2 or DUOXA2 or digenic mutations in DUOX2 and DUOXA1 or mutations in TPO or NIS) that were euthyroid before pregnancy could develop thyroid hormone deficiency like hypothyroidism or hypothyroxinemia during pregnancy. Both hypothyroxinemia and hypothyroidism are thyroid hormone deficiency conditions that risk the proper fetus development and have deleterious consequences in the offspring.

hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) which is supplied by dual oxidase system (DUOX). It has been described that two DUOX enzymes (DUOX1 and DUOX2) and their respective maturation factors (DUOXA1 and DUOXA2). These maturations factors reside at the endoplasmic reticulum, and they are essential for DUOX function (Figure 1). hCG and TSH will stimulate the endocytosis of iodinated TG. In the endo-lysosomes, TG will be digested by proteolytic enzymes like lysosomal dipeptidase, glutamate carboxypeptidase, and cathepsins B, K, L, and S releasing T<sub>3</sub> and T<sub>4</sub>. THs will efflux the thyroid cell to the blood stream mainly by transporters like monocarboxylate transporter (MCT8) (19). It has been reported that certain genetic variations in thyroid proteins affects the function of the thyroid gland (20-22). There are mutations in thyroid genes that cause thyroid dyshormonogenesis, which is responsible for 10%-15% of congenital hypothyroidism (CH) (23). Newborns diagnosed with CH must be treated immediately with T<sub>4</sub> to avoid neurological damage (23). Moreover, the etiology of CH should be determined by measurement of serum T<sub>3</sub>, T<sub>4</sub>, TSH, and TG and thyroid ultrasonography, thyroid scintigraphy, and perchlorate discharge test should be performed (23, 24). These biochemical and clinical analyses will reveal if the infant suffers transient congenital hypothyroidism (TCH) or permanent congenital hypothyroidism (PCH) (24). Those patients that have PCH will be kept for life with T<sub>4</sub> treatment. Instead, thyroid function will be reassessed to those patients diagnosed with TCH at 3 years of age. If their thyroid function has been normalized, the T4 treatment will stop. This situation occurs for patients with TCH given that by progressing in age they require less thyroid hormone production related to their weight and the thyroid gland will be able to overcome the demands (23-26). Moreno et al. emphasize that it is crucial for those women that have been diagnosed with TCH due to monoallelic or biallelic mutations on thyroid proteins to be followed up during pregnancy for the risk of suffering hypothyroidism in this period and therefore will affect the appropriate development of the fetus (23, 27). Thyroid hormone synthesis can be impaired in pregnant women diagnosed at birth with TCH. Even though they were euthyroid before pregnancy, they could fall back in thyroid hormone deficiency due to expressing variants of thyroid protein that are in some degree functionally impaired (28). The thyroid gland of these women during pregnancy could be at risk of dyshormonogenesis endangering the proper development of the fetus. The recommendation of the Endo-European reference network (ERN) that patients with TCH should receive genetic testing to identify mutations causing thyroid dyshormonogenesis is of importance (23, 24). In the next section, the mutations in thyroid proteins that have been described to cause TCH will be discussed.

## VARIATIONS IN MATERNAL THYROID GENES THAT COULD IMPAIR THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE FETUS

It has been described in the literature that variations on thyroid proteins like NIS, DUOX2, DUOXA2, TPO and Tg are

responsible for TCH. In this section we briefly discuss the relevance of of these proteins variations in TCH women when they reached pregnancy. The NIS mutants could induce ITD causing TCH or PCH (29). However, the severity and the onset of the disease phenotype will depend on the type of NIS mutation, if it is monoallelic or biallelic, the period of life, and iodide ingestion (30, 31). Therefore, physicians should prevent thyroid hormone deficiency in pregnant women diagnosed with TCH carrying NIS mutations (Figure 1). There are other transporters expressed in the thyroid cells like PDS, ANO-1, SLC26A7, and CFTR (32-34). PDS, ANO-1, and SLC26A7 are localized at the apical side of the thyrocyte, and their physiological role have been associated with iodide efflux into the colloid (35). Mutations on SLC26A4 that encodes PDS has been associated with Pendred syndrome, characterized by congenital bilateral sensorineural hearing loss and in childhood can appear diffuse or multinodular goiter (36). Most of the patients with Pendred syndrome are euthyroid; however, their thyroid function can be impaired if they are exposed to low iodine intake (37). ANO-1 and CFTR variants have not been associated with TCH. A study performed in Saudi Arabia, by using whole-exome sequencing (WES) described mutations in SLC26A7 that could be responsible in part for CH (38). Another thyroid protein variants that have been reported to be responsible for TCH are monoallelic and biallelic mutations of DUOX2 (27, 39, 40). DUOX2 is a transmembrane protein localized at the apical side of the cell, and it belongs to (NADPH)-oxidase family whose function is involved in  $H_2O_2$  generation (Figure 1).  $H_2O_2$  is required for thyroid hormone synthesis specifically for iodide organification in tyrosyl residues of TG by TPO (Figure 1) (35). The prevalence of DUOX2 mutations is highly variable in the population. From 2019, approximately 105 DUOX2 mutations are described. Some of them were in-frame deletions, missense, nonsense, splice site, and frameshift mutations (41, 42). Moreover, mutations in the gene DUOXA2 were also reported in TCH patients (43). DUOXA2 is an endoplasmic reticulum transmembrane protein that helps DUOX2 mature through the ER and translocate to the plasma membrane (44). Zamproni et al. found a biallelic mutation in the DUOXA2 gene that leads to a partial iodide organification defect (45) and Liu et al. found a monoallelic missense mutation in DUOXA2 that causes mild TCH (46). Besides, DUOX2 and DUOXA2 thyrocytes also express DUOX1 and DUOXA1. DUOX1 has 83% protein sequence homology with DUOX2; however, its expression is lesser than DUOX2 and its function in the thyroid gland is not clear yet as DUOX1 mutations do not cause CH (47). Aycan et al. described two patients with severe CH that have biallelic mutations in DUOX2 and DUOX1, suggesting that DUOX1 can replace the function of DUOX2 when this enzyme is not available (48). DUOXA1 in similar fashion as DUOXA2 helps DUOX1 to mature through the ER and mutations in DUOXA1 has not been associated yet with CH (47). The possible implication of DUOX1 and DUOXA1 in CH is under intense debate, as the related mutations were reported to be always associated with DUOX2 or DUOXA2 mutants which are the principal proteins involved in the thyroid H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-generating system. Interestingly, Wang et al.

sequence 16 genes related with CH by next-generation sequence (NGS) in 377 CH patients and found patients with biallelic mutations in DUOX2 and DUOXA1, suggesting that DUOX1 and DUOXA1 could also play a role in thyroid hormone synthesis (49). TPO is responsible for iodide organification and the coupling of tyrosyl residues, essential steps in thyroid hormone synthesis (50). Thus, the expression of TPO variants will severely affect thyroid hormone synthesis (37). In fact, it has been reported that TPO biallelic mutations caused PCH (51). Another study, performed in 243 Russian patients also showed an increased number of variants identified in thyroid dyshormonogenesis-associated genes mostly of the variants found in the TPO gene (52). It has been shown that certain patients with monoallelic mutations in TPO could develop PCH (53, 54), mild hypothyroidism (55), and TCH (56). It has been reported that there are 229 mutations in TG, the precursor of thyroid hormones (57). Some of them occur as biallelic or monoallelic and some are found inherited as monogenic or polygenic (57). A targeted NGS study performed in 19 patients mostly from France with CH due to dyshormonogenesis showed that TG was a site with the higher number of identified mutations followed by DUOXA2 (58). Interestingly, mutations in TG cause euthyroidism to mild or severe CH (57). Variants in iodotyrosine deiodinase (IYD) cause dyshormonogenic PCH, and there are no monoallelic mutations associated to TCH (57). Molecular biology techniques, like NGS and WES will help to understand the genetic component of CH. These molecular techniques like NGS and WES will provide data to fill the complex analysis of gene panels aiming to understand the mechanisms underlying disease development (59). Genetic counseling is recommended for women previously diagnosed with TCH to prevent thyroid hormone deficiency during gestation, and it is highly recommendable to follow thyroid function during pregnancy.

## PROPER IODIDE NUTRITION IS AN ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENT FOR INFANT THYROID HORMONE SYNTHESIS

Neonates and lactating infants require thyroid hormones for proper physical and neurological development. Even though there are traces of maternal thyroid hormones in the milk, the main source of these hormones for the infant derives from their own thyroid gland (60, 61). Thus, neonates and infants are required to ingest iodine for thyroid hormone synthesis (25). The iodine demand for the newborn is higher than an adult if we ponder their weight (62). Newborns, until 5 months of age need 15 µg/kg/day of iodine, and infants are required 90 µg/day of iodine (63). The newborn thyroid gland has a small iodine reserve close to 100 µg. Therefore, by considering their high demand for this micronutrient, the infants should have a daily intake of iodine (64). Breast milk is an excellent source of iodine; however, its content can vary from 5.4 to 2.170 µg/L (26, 65). Physiologically, iodine content in breast milk will depend mainly on the mother's iodine consumption being influenced by

iodization programs (25, 40). According to the WHO/UNICEF and the International Council for Control of Iodine Deficiency Disorders (ICCIDD), the recommended iodine intake for lactating women is 250 µg/day to ensure 100-150 µg of iodine/ dl in the breast milk (26). Iodine is accumulated into the mother's milk in the form of iodide, and this transport is mediated by NIS that is expressed in the mammary gland physiologically only during lactation (Figure 2) (67). NIS transports iodide against its electrochemical gradient from the blood into lactocytes, and its expression is regulated by oxytocin and prolactin (67). Other transporters like CFTR and ANO-1, that efflux iodide at the thyrocyte, are also expressed in the mammary gland (68, 69). Prolactin also regulates the expression of PDS, an apical thyroid iodide transporter, in lactocytes during lactation (70). The role of these transporters in iodide transport in the mammary gland must yet be elucidated. Iodide inside the lactocytes is oxidized and incorporated into casein by a lactoperoxidase (LPO), forming iodocasein molecules (Figure 2). These iodocasein molecules are aggregated inside micelles and will be secreted into breast milk (Figure 2) (71). The concentration of iodide in breast milk depends on environmental and genetic factors. Women living in regions with insufficient iodine intake are at risk of iodine deficiency during lactation (72). Among the environmental factors are the mother's diet and the ingestion of thiocyanate and perchlorate (73-75). Perchlorate and thiocyanate are NIS inhibitors of iodide transport (29, 76, 77). Perchlorate is a competitive inhibitor of iodide; Llorente-Esteban et al. showed that the tiny perchlorate addition increases NIS K<sub>m</sub> for iodide impairing thyroid hormone synthesis (78). Thiocyanate is a potent NIS inhibitor, and it has been described as a noncompetitive inhibitor (76, 79, 80). Therefore, the presence of these molecules in the mother's diet will reduce the iodide uptake in lactocytes, diminish the concentration of iodide in breast milk, and reduce thyroid hormone synthesis in the infants affecting their development (81). Concerning genetic factors, particular attention should be taken with congenital hypothyroid women because they can carry NIS or LPO variants that impair the accumulation of iodide in breast milk during lactation. In the next section, NIS variants will be discussed.

# NIS VARIANTS THAT AFFECT IODIDE CONCENTRATION IN BREAST MILK

NIS is the principal molecule responsible for iodide uptake in the mammary gland playing a pivotal role in iodide concentration in breast milk (67, 82) (**Figure 2**). Eighteen NIS mutations have been reported in the *Slc5a5*, the gene that encodes for *NIS* (30, 83, 84). The type of mutations in *Slc5a5* includes nonsense, alternative splicing, frameshift, deletion, and missense, and they are responsible for causing ITD (20). ITD occurs as autosomal recessive disorder that results in CH (29). It has been reported that the severity and the onset of the CH varies and depends on the type of NIS mutation and iodide ingestion (30, 31). An important issue to consider is the situation of



**FIGURE 2** | NIS and LPO are essential proteins for iodide accumulation in breast milk. The infant synthesizes its own thyroid hormones. For that, the mother should consume enough iodine to supply her baby with this micronutrient through the breast milk. The Na<sup>+</sup>/l<sup>-</sup> symporter (NIS) at the intestine will transport iodide into the blood NIS expressed at the lactocytes will transport iodide from the blood to inside these cells. NIS in the lactocytes is located at the basal membrane. The iodide inside the lactocyte is incorporated into casein by the action of lactoperoxidase (LPO). Iodocasein molecules will be aggregate inside micelles. The micelles will fuse with the apical membrane to release their content by exocytosis to breast milk. Woman diagnosed with congenital hypothyroidism (CH) carrying NIS mutation (like T354P) accumulated low iodide in the milk even though she was under levothyroxine (LT<sub>4</sub>) treatment. Thus, women carrying NIS mutants that caused congenital hypothyroidism besides T<sub>4</sub> treatment should receive iodide supplementation (66). Mutations in proteins with red asterisk have been associated in the literature with low iodide in breast milk as it is for NIS (see red asterisk). Even though, LPO is an essential enzyme for iodide presence in the milk, there are no reports in the literature indicating that mutations in LPO affects iodide content in breast milk.

breastfeeding women diagnosed with CH bearing NIS mutation and treated with levothyroxine  $(LT_4)$  (84). Even though  $LT_4$  will protect the mother from suffering hypothyroidism, their lactating offspring will not receive enough iodide, given that NIS is the only iodide transporter described in the mammary gland so far. PDS is also expressed at the mammary gland, its expression is stimulated by prolactin; however, PDS mutations affecting iodine content in breast milk has not been described (85). Regarding the NIS variants, there is only one report by Mizokami et al., showing ITD at the mammary gland during lactation (66). Mizokami et al. reported the case of a woman diagnosed with CH that received LT<sub>4</sub> treatment (150 µg/day of  $LT_4$ ) and had low levels of iodide in her breast milk (54 µg/L) (66). Iodine supplementation was given to the mother to reach the minimum level of 90 µg/L of iodide in milk. This amount was accepted as sufficient to fulfill the newborn iodine necessities (66). The breastfeeding woman carried a missense variation in the slc5a5 gene previously described by Fujiwara et al. This variant has a cytosine instead of adenosine in codon 354, leading to an exchange of threonine for proline (T354P) in NIS protein (86). NIS T354 mutant has lost function and is highly prevalent in the Japanese population (87). Regarding LPO, an important enzyme for iodide accumulation in breast milk, there are no specific mutations described yet in this protein that affects iodide content in breast milk.

# DISCUSSION AND CONCLUDING REMARKS

It is well established that patients born with PCH should be immediately treated with LT4 for life. However, those patients with TCH will stop LT<sub>4</sub> treatment at a certain age when their thyroid function normalizes and present normal TSH and  $fT_4$ , in fact most TCH patients are euthyroid at adulthood. Besides that, genetic counseling is highly recommended especially for women. Genetic counseling will allow to identify the mutations that are responsible for thyroid dyshormonogenesis. As we discussed in this review, proper maternal thyroid function in pregnancy is essential for appropriate fetus development. The requirement for thyroid function during pregnancy is higher in pregnant women than for nonpregnant women. Pregnancy requires increasing iodine consumption and the demand for functional thyroid proteins. The identification of mutations in thyroid proteins will help physicians to protect the women during pregnancy to suffer hypothyroidism or hypothyroxinemia. Women carrying genetic mutations on DUOX2, DUOXA2, TPO, or NIS gene, they must receive prophylactic LT<sub>4</sub> treatment during pregnancy due to the higher probability to develop thyroid hormone deficiency during this period. The relevance of NIS mutants surpasses pregnancy, given they are also significant for infant development during breastfeeding. If the CH woman carries

mutations of NIS protein, besides T<sub>4</sub> treatment, she must receive prophylactic iodine supplementation during breastfeeding. Given that T4 treatment will only rescue the mother from hypothyroidism and not his/her lactating infant for thyroid hormone deficiency, medical doctors should care to supply the mother with enough iodide. One approach was described by Mizokami et al. The authors administered iodide to the lactating woman that carries NIS T354P mutation and follows the measurement of breast milk iodine concentration (BMIC) (66). This action restored the normal levels of iodide and protected the neonate from suffering the health consequences of hypothyroidism (66, 85). There are certain NIS variants that cause severe CH, and in these cases, mother supplementation with iodide will not rescue the lactating infant. In these cases, it will be highly recommendable to directly supplement the baby by giving him/her iodine through baby formula (63). Baby formula should have 10-60 µg of iodine/100 kcal or 5-75 µg of iodine/100 kcal according to the regulations of the Commission of European communities (88) and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), respectively (89).

Genetic counseling is essential for CH women to determine if they will need iodide supplementation during breastfeeding to ensure the proper development of their infant. LPO mutants had not yet been described in the literature, and they have not even been related to low iodide levels in breast milk. Based on the physiological relevance of iodide for the infant's proper development, we highly recommend measuring its content in breast milk.

## CONCLUSIONS

The concluding remark of this mini review is to highly recommend women that have been diagnosed with dyshormonogenic CH to counsel for genetic study before pregnancy, aiming to determine which thyroid gene/s is or are mutated. By using this strategy, medical doctors could design the prophylactic treatment by giving the patient  $LT_4$  and/or iodide. This information will protect the offspring during gestation and breastfeeding from cognitive

## REFERENCES

- Leung AM, Pearce EN, Braverman LE. Iodine Nutrition in Pregnancy and Lactation. *Endocrinol Metab Clinics North Am* (2011) 40(4):765–77. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2011.08.001
- Smith A, Eccles-Smith J, D'Emden M, Lust K. Thyroid Disorders in Pregnancy and Postpartum. Aust Prescriber (2017) 40(6):214–9. doi: 10.18773/austprescr.2017.075
- Moini J, Pereira K, Samsam M. Chapter 5 Hypothyroidism. In: *Epidemiology* of Thyroid Disorders. Elsevier (2020). p. 89–120. Available at: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128185001000050.
- Mahadik K, Choudhary P, Roy PK. Study of Thyroid Function in Pregnancy, Its Feto-Maternal Outcome; a Prospective Observational Study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth (2020) 20(1):769. doi: 10.1186/s12884-020-03448-z
- Zimmermann MB. Iodine Deficiency. Endocr Rev (2009) 30(4):376–408. doi: 10.1210/er.2009-0011
- Bhavani. Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism. Indian J Endocrinol Metab (2011) 15(6):117. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.83345

impairment. The mother is the only source of thyroid hormones at the early pregnancy and the source of iodide during breastfeeding. Women diagnosed with TCH who bear mutations in DUOX2, DUOXA2, TPO, TG, SLC26A7, or NIS genes and are euthyroid before pregnancy should be prophylactic treated with LT<sub>4</sub> during pregnancy, aiming to have appropriate thyroid hormone level for the development of the fetus. Although women who carry mutations for NIS are treated with LT<sub>4</sub> during lactation, they must increase the consumption of iodide, and BMCI should be monitored. The fact that there is only a single report in the literature associating that a lactating woman carrying a NIS mutant should receive iodine supplementation during lactation to protect the development of the lactating infant, increases the alarm for gynecologist and endocrinologist to evaluate for NIS variations in women diagnosed with TID. Moreover, it is necessary to encourage NGS and WES analyses in patients diagnosed with TCH due to dyshormonogenesis. These techniques will unveil the complexity of thyroid genes that are required for the proper function of thyroid gland for the human health protection.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MO and CR worked: All authors have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## **FUNDING**

This work was supported by FONDECYT 11180739 (MO), 1191300 (CR), Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy (P09/016-F and ICN09\_016) (MO, CR), and Nucleus project DI-03-19/N 303 (CR and MO).

- Moreno J, Visser T. New Phenotypes in Thyroid Dyshormonogenesis: Hypothyroidism Due to DUOX2 Mutations. *Endocrine Dev* (2007) 10:99– 117. doi: 10.1159/000106822
- Alexander EK, Pearce EN, Brent GA, Brown RS, Chen H, Dosiou C, et al. Guidelines of the American Thyroid Association for the Diagnosis and Management of Thyroid Disease During Pregnancy and the Postpartum. *Thyroid* (2017) 27(3):315–89. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0457
- 9. Lazarus JH. Thyroid Disease in Pregnancy and Childhood. *Minerva* Endocrinologica (2005) 30(2):71–87.
- de Escobar GM, Obregón MJ, del Rey FE. Iodine Deficiency and Brain Development in the First Half of Pregnancy. *Public Health Nutr* (2007) 10 (12A):1554–70. doi: 10.1017/S1368980007360928
- Delitala AP, Capobianco G, Cherchi PL, Dessole S, Delitala G. Thyroid Function and Thyroid Disorders During Pregnancy: A Review and Care Pathway. Arch Gynecology Obstetrics (2019) 299(2):327–38. doi: 10.1007/ s00404-018-5018-8
- Burrow GN, Fisher DA, Larsen PR. Maternal and Fetal Thyroid Function. N Engl J Med (1994) 331(16):1072-8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM 199410203311608

- Di Renzo GC, Fonseca E, Gratacos E, Hassan S, Kurtser M, Malone F, et al. Good Clinical Practice Advice: Thyroid and Pregnancy. *Int J Gynecology Obstetrics* (2019) 144(3):347–51. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12745
- de Escobar GM, Ares S, Berbel P, Obregón MJ, del Rey FE. The Changing Role of Maternal Thyroid Hormone in Fetal Brain Development. Semin Perinatology (2008) 32(6):380–6. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2008.09.002
- Salmeen KE, Block-Kurbisch IJ. Thyroid Physiology During Pregnancy, Postpartum, and Lactation. In: Kovacs CS, Deal C, editors. *Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Endocrinology: Physiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Management*. Academic Press (2019). p. 53–60.
- Kraiem Z, Sadeh O, Blithe DL, Nisula BC. Human Chorionic Gonadotropin Stimulates Thyroid Hormone Secretion, Iodide Uptake, Organification, and Adenosine 3', 5'-Monophosphate Formation in Cultured Human Thyrocytes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1994) 79(2):595–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem.79.2.8045981
- Alemu A, Terefe B, Abebe M, Biadgo B. Thyroid Hormone Dysfunction During Pregnancy: A Review. *Int J Reprod BioMed* (2016) 14(11):677–86. doi: 10.29252/ijrm.14.11.677
- Fong P. Thyroid Iodide Efflux: A Team Effort? J Physiol (2011) 589(24):5929– 39. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.218594
- Citterio CE, Targovnik H, Arvan P. The Role of Thyroglobulin in Thyroid Hormonogenesis. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2019) 15(6):323–38. doi: 10.1038/ s41574-019-0184-8
- Targovnik HM, Citterio CE, Rivolta CM. Iodide Handling Disorders (NIS, TPO, TG, IYD). Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 31(2):195–212. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2017.03.006
- Park S, Chatterjee VK. Genetics of Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Med Genet (2005) 42(5):379–89. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2004.024158
- Stoupa A, Kariyawasam D, Muzza M, de Filippis T, Fugazzola F, Polak M, et al. New Genetics in Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Endocrine* (2021) 71 (3):696–705. doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02646-9
- Kwak MJ. Clinical Genetics of Defects in Thyroid Hormone Synthesis. Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2018) 23(4):169–75. doi: 10.6065/apem.2018.23.4.169
- 24. van Trotsenburg AS, Stoupa A, Léger J, Rohrer TR, Peters C, Fugazzola L, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism: A 2020 Consensus Guidelines Update An ENDO-EUROPEAN REFERENCE NETWORK (ERN) Initiative Endorsed by the European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and the European Society for Endocrinology. *Thyroid* (2020) 31(3):387–419. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0333
- Dror DK, Allen LH. Iodine in Humanmilk: A Systematic Review. Adv Nutr (2018) 9(suppl\_1):347S-57S. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmy020
- Azizi F, Smyth P. Breastfeeding and Maternal and Infant Iodine Nutrition. *Clin Endocrinol* (2009) 70(5):803–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2008.03442.x
- Moreno JC, Bikker H, Kempers MJE, van Trotsenburg ASP, Baas F, de Vijlder JJM, et al. Inactivating Mutations in the Gene for Thyroid Oxidase 2 (THOX2) and Congenital Hypothyroidism. N Engl J Med (2002) 347(2):95–102. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa012752
- Schoenmakers N. Genetic Causes of Congenital Hypothyroidism. In: Huhtaniemi I, Martini L editors. *Encyclopedia of Endocrine Diseases* (*Second Edition*). Academic Press (2018). p. 296–312. Available at: https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128012383653369.
- Ravera S, Reyna-Neyra A, Ferrandino G, Amzel LM, Carrasco N. The Sodium/Iodide Symporter (NIS): Molecular Physiology and Preclinical and Clinical Applications. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2017) 79:261–89. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-physiol-022516-034125
- Nicola JP, Martin M. Congenital Iodide Transport Defect: Recent Advances and Future Perspectives. J Clin Mol Endocrinol (2016) 1(2):1–6. doi: 10.21767/ 2572-5432.10009
- Szinnai G, Kosugi S, Derrien C, Lucidarme N, David V, Czernichow P, et al. Extending the Clinical Heterogeneity of Iodide Transport Defect (ITD): A Novel Mutation R124H of the Sodium/Iodide Symporter Gene and Review of Genotype-Phenotype Correlations in ITD. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91 (4):1199–204. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-1832
- Devuyst O, Golstein PE, Sanches MV, Piontek K, Wilson PD, Guggino WB, et al. Expression of CFTR in Human and Bovine Thyroid Epithelium. *Am J Physiol* (1997) 272(4 Pt 1):C1299–308. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.1997.272.4.C1299
- 33. Iosco C, Cosentino C, Sirna L, Romano R, Cursano S, Mongia A, et al. Anoctamin 1 Is Apically Expressed on Thyroid Follicular Cells and Contributes to ATP- and Calcium-Activated Iodide Efflux. *Cell Physiol*

biochemistry: Int J Exp Cell Physiology Biochemistry Pharmacol (2014) 34 (3):966-80. doi: 10.1159/000366313

- Wémeau J-L, Kopp P. Pendred Syndrome. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 31(2):213–24. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2017.04.011
- Carvalho DP, Dupuy C. Thyroid Hormone Biosynthesis and Release. Mol Cell Endocrinol (2017) 458:6–15. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2017.01.038
- Everett L, Glaser B, Beck J, Idol J, Buchs A, Heyman M, et al. Pendred Syndrome Is Caused by Mutations in a Putative Sulphate Transporter Gene (PDS). *Nat Genet* (1997) 17(4):411–22. doi: 10.1038/ng1297-411
- Grasberger H, Refetoff S. Genetic Causes of Congenital Hypothyroidism Due to Dyshormonogenesis. *Curr Opin Pediatr* (2011) 23(4):421–8. doi: 10.1097/ MOP.0b013e32834726a4
- Zou M, Alzahrani AS, Al-Odaib A, Alqahtani MA, Babiker O, Al-Rijjal RA, et al. Molecular Analysis of Congenital Hypothyroidism in Saudi Arabia: SLC26A7 Mutation Is a Novel Defect in Thyroid Dyshormonogenesis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2018) 103(5):1889–98. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-02202
- 39. Maruo Y, Takahashi H, Soeda I, Nishikura N, Matsui K, Ota Y, et al. Transient Congenital Hypothyroidism Caused by Biallelic Mutations of the Dual Oxidase 2 Gene in Japanese Patients Detected by a Neonatal Screening Program. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93(11):4261–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0856
- Zheng Z, Yang L, Sun C, Wu J, Luo F, Zhou W, et al. Genotype and Phenotype Correlation in a Cohort of Chinese Congenital Hypothyroidism Patients With DUOX2 Mutations. *Ann Trans Med* (2020) 8(24):1649–9. doi: 10.21037/atm-20-7165
- De Deken X, Miot F. DUOX Defects and Their Roles in Congenital Hypothyroidism. In: *Methods in Molecular Biology*, vol. 1982. Clifton, N.J.: Humana Press Inc (2019). p. 667–93. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9424-3\_37
- 42. Liu S, Han W, Zang Y, Zang H, Wang F, Jiang P, et al. Identification of Two Missense Mutations in DUOX1 (P.R1307Q) and DUOXA1 (P.R56W) That Can Cause Congenital Hypothyroidism Through Impairing H2O2 Generation. Front Endocrinol (2019) 10:526. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00526
- 43. Sugisawa C, Higuchi S, Takagi M, Hasegawa Y, Taniyama M, Abe K, et al. Homozygous DUOXA2 Mutation (P.Tyr138\*) in a Girl With Congenital Hypothyroidism and Her Apparently Unaffected Brother: Case Report and Review of the Literature. *Endocrine J* (2017) 64(8):807–12. doi: 10.1507/ endocrj.EJ16-0564
- Grasberger H, Refetoff S. Identification of the Maturation Factor for Dual Oxidase: Evolution of an Eukaryotic Operon Equivalent. J Biol Chem (2006) 281(27):18269–72. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C600095200
- 45. Zamproni I, Grasberger H, Cortinovis F, Vigone MC, Chiumello G, Mora S, et al. Biallelic Inactivation of the Dual Oxidase Maturation Factor 2 (DUOXA2) Gene as a Novel Cause of Congenital Hypothyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93(2):605–10. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2020
- 46. Liu S, Liu L, Niu X, Lu D, Xia H, Yan S. A Novel Missense Mutation (I26M) in DUOXA2 Causing Congenital Goiter Hypothyroidism Impairs Nadph Oxidase Activity But Not Protein Expression. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(4):1225–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-3964
- Grasberger H. Defects of Thyroidal Hydrogen Peroxide Generation in Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) 322(1–2):99–106. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2010.01.029
- Aycan Z, Cangul H, Muzza M, Bas VN, Fugazzola L, Chatterjee VK, et al. Digenic DUOX1 and DUOX2 Mutations in Cases With Congenital Hypothyroidism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 102(9):3085–90. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-00529
- Wang F, Zang Y, Li M, Liu W, Wang Y, Yu X, et al. DUOX2 and DUOXA2 Variants Confer Susceptibility to Thyroid Dysgenesis and Gland-In-Situ With Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Front Endocrinol* (2020) 0:237. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2020.00237
- Dunn JT, Dunn AD. Update on Intrathyroidal Iodine Metabolism. *Thyroid: Off J Am Thyroid Assoc* (2001) 11(5):407–14. doi: 10.1089/105072501300176363
- Abramowicz MJ, Targovnik HM, Varela V, Cochaux P, Krawiec L, Pisarev MA, et al. Identification of a Mutation in the Coding Sequence of the Human Thyroid Peroxidase Gene Causing Congenital Goiter. *J Clin Invest* (1992) 90 (4):1200–4. doi: 10.1172/JCI115981
- Makretskaya N, Bezlepkina O, Kolodkina A, Kiyaev A, Vasilyev EV, Petrov V, et al. High Frequency of Mutations in "Dyshormonogenesis Genes" in Severe Congenital Hypothyroidism. *PloS One* (2018) 13(9):e0204323. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0204323

- 53. Neves S, Mezalira P, Dias V, Chagas A, Viana M, Targovnik H, et al. Monoallelic Thyroid Peroxidase Gene Mutation in a Patient With Congenital Hypothyroidism With Total Iodide Organification Defect. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol (2010) 54(8):732–7. doi: 10.1590/S0004-27302010000800012
- Fugazzola L, Cerutti N, Mannavola D, Vannucchi G, Fallini C, Persani L, et al. Monoallelic Expression of Mutant Thyroid Peroxidase Allele Causing Total Iodide Organification Defect. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2003) 88(7):3264–71. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021377
- 55. Narumi S, Fox LA, Fukudome K, Sakaguchi Z, Sugisawa C, Abe K, et al. Mild Thyroid Peroxidase Deficiency Caused by TPO Mutations With Residual Activity: Correlation Between Clinical Phenotypes and Enzymatic Activity. *Endocrine J* (2017) 64(11):1087–97. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ17-0194
- Huang M, Lu X, Dong G, Li J, Chen C, Yu Q, et al. Analysis of Mutation Spectra of 28 Pathogenic Genes Associated With Congenital Hypothyroidism in the Chinese Han Population. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 0:815. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2021.695426
- Citterio CE, Rivolta CM, Targovnik HM. Structure and Genetic Variants of Thyroglobulin: Pathophysiological Implications. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2021) 528:111227. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2021.111227
- 58. Stoupa A, Chehade GAH, Chaabane R, Kariyawasam D, Szinnai G, Hanein S, et al. High Diagnostic Yield of Targeted Next-Generation Sequencing in a Cohort of Patients With Congenital Hypothyroidism Due to Dyshormonogenesis. *Front Endocrinol* (2020) 11:545339. doi: 10.3389/FENDO.2020.545339
- Oliver-Petit I, Edouard T, Jacques V, Bournez M, Cartault A, Grunenwald S, et al. Next-Generation Sequencing Analysis Reveals Frequent Familial Origin and Oligogenism in Congenital Hypothyroidism With Dyshormonogenesis. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 0:722. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.657913
- Ramezani Tehrani F, Nazarpour S, Behboudi-Gandevani S. Isolated Maternal Hypothyroxinemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes: A Systematic Review. J Gynecology Obstetrics Hum Reprod (2021) 50(7):102057. doi: 10.1016/ j.jogoh.2020.102057
- Raymond J, LaFranchi SH. Fetal and Neonatal Thyroid Function: Review and Summary of Significant New Findings. *Curr Opin Endocrinology Diabetes Obes* (2010) 17(1):1–7. doi: 10.1097/MED.0b013e328333b0b2
- Ares S, Quero J, Morreale de Escobar G. Neonatal Iodine Deficiency: Clinical Aspects. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2005) 18(SUPPL. 1):1257–64. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2005.18.S1.1257
- Ghirri P, Lunardi S, Boldrini A. Iodine Supplementation in the Newborn. Nutrients (2014) 6(1):382–90. doi: 10.3390/nu6010382
- Ahad F, Ganie SA. Iodine, Iodine Metabolism and Iodine Deficiency Disorders Revisited. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 14(1):13–7.
- Dorea JG. Iodine Nutrition and Breast Feeding. J Trace Elements Med Biol (2002) 16(4):207–20. doi: 10.1016/S0946-672X(02)80047-5
- Mizokami T, Fukata S, Hishinuma A, Kogai T, Hamada K, Maruta T, et al. Iodide Transport Defect and Breast Milk Iodine. *Eur Thyroid J* (2016) 5 (2):145–8. doi: 10.1159/000446496
- Tazebay UH, Wapnir IL, Levy O, Dohan O, Zuckier LS, Zhao QH, et al. The Mammary Gland Iodide Transporter is Expressed During Lactation and in Breast Cancer. Nat Med (2000) 6(8):871–8. doi: 10.1038/78630
- Ferrera L, Caputo A. Galietta LJ V. TMEM16A Protein: A New Identity for Ca (2+)-Dependent Cl<sup>-</sup> Channels. *Physiol (Bethesda Md.)* (2010) 25(6):357–63. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00030.2010
- Poole VL, McCabe CJ. Iodide Transport and Breast Cancer. J Endocrinol (2015) 227(1):R1–R12. doi: 10.1530/JOE-15-0234
- Rillema JA, Hill MA. Prolactin Regulation of the Pendrin-Iodide Transporter in the Mammary Gland. *Am J Physiology-Endocrinology Metab* (2003) 284(1): E25–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00383.2002
- Aceves C, Anguiano B, Delgado G. Is Iodine a Gatekeeper of the Integrity of the Mammary Gland? *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* (2005) 10(2):189–96. doi: 10.1007/s10911-005-5401-5
- Zibadi S, Watson RR, Preedy VR. Handbook of Dietary and Nutritional Aspects of Human Breast Milk. In: *Human Health Handbooks no. 5*. Wageningen Academic Publishers (2013). p. 856.
- 73. Semba RD, Delange F. Iodine in Human Milk: Perspectives for Infant Health. *Nutr Rev* (2001) 59(8 Pt 1):269–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2001.tb05512.x

- Etling N, Padovani E, Fouque F, Tato L. First-Month Variations in Total Iodine Content of Human Breast Milks. *Early Hum Dev* (1986) 13(1):81–5. doi: 10.1016/0378-3782(86)90101-5
- Delshad H, Azizi F. Iodine Nutrition in Pregnant and Breastfeeding Women: Sufficiency, Deficiency, and Supplementation. *Hormones* (2019) 19(2):179–86. doi: 10.1007/s42000-019-00160-2
- Wollman SH. Nature of the Inhibition by Thiocyanate of the Iodide Concentrating Mechanism of the Thyroid Gland. Am J Physiol (1956) 186 (3):453–9. doi: 10.1152/ajplegacy.1956.186.3.453
- Gaitan E. Goitrogens, Environmental. In: Martini L, editor. *Encyclopedia of Endocrine Diseases*. Elsevier (2004). p. 286–94. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B0124755704005461.
- Llorente-Esteban A, Manville RW, Reyna-Neyra A, Abbott GW, Amzel LM, Carrasco N. Allosteric Regulation of Mammalian Na+/I– Symporter Activity by Perchlorate. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2020) 27(6):533–9. doi: 10.1038/s41594-020-0417-5
- Saito K, Yamamoto K, Takai T, Yoshida S. Inhibition of Iodide Accumulation by Perchlorate and Thiocyanate in a Model of the Thyroid Iodide Transport System. Acta Endocrinologica (1983) 104(4):456–61. doi: 10.1530/ acta.0.1040456
- Vanderpas J. GOITROGENS AND ANTITHYROID COMPOUNDS. In: Caballero B, editor. *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition (Second Edition)*. Academic Press (2003). p. 2949–57. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B012227055X005666.
- Kirk AB, Martinelango PK, Tian K, Dutta A, Smith EE, Dasgupta PK, et al. Perchlorate and Iodide in Dairy and Breast Milk. *Environ Sci Technol* (2005) 7):2011–7. doi: 10.1021/es048118t
- De La Vieja A, Dohan O, Levy O, Carrasco N. Molecular Analysis of the Sodium/ Iodide Symporter: Impact on Thyroid and Extrathyroid Pathophysiology. *Physiol Rev* (2000) 80(3):1083–105. doi: 10.1152/ physrev.2000.80.3.1083
- Martín M, Geysels RC, Peyret V, Barquero CEB, Masini-Repiso AM, Nicola JP. Implications of Na+/I- Symporter Transport to the Plasma Membrane for Thyroid Hormonogenesis and Radioiodide Therapy. J Endocrine Soc (2019) 3 (1):222–34. doi: 10.1210/js.2018-00100
- Martín M, Bernal Barquero CE, Geysels RC, Papendieck P, Peyret V, Masini-Repiso AM, et al. Novel Sodium/Iodide Symporter Compound Heterozygous Pathogenic Variants Causing Dyshormonogenic Congenital Hypothyroidism. *Thyroid: Off J Am Thyroid Assoc* (2019) 29(7):1023–6. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2019.0046
- Golan Y, Assaraf YG. Genetic and Physiological Factors Affecting Human Milk Production and Composition. *Nutrients* (2020) 12(5):1500. doi: 10.3390/ nu12051500
- Fujiwara H, Tatsumi KI, Miki K, Harada T, Miyai K, Takai SI, et al. Congenital Hypothyroidism Caused by a Mutation in the Na+/I - Symporter. *Nat Genet* (1997) 16:124–5. doi: 10.1038/ng0697-124
- Kosugi S, Sato Y, Matsuda A, Ohyama Y, Fujieda K, Inomata H, et al. High Prevalence of T354P Sodium/Iodide Symporter Gene Mutation in Japanese Patients With Iodide Transport Defect Who Have Heterogeneous Clinical Pictures 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1998) 83(11):4123–9. doi: 10.1210/ jcem.83.11.5229
- Ares S, Quero J, Duran S, Presas MJ, Herruzo R, Morreale de Escobar G. Iodine Content of Infant Formulas and Iodine Intake of Premature Babies: High Risk of Iodine Deficiency. *Arch Dis Childhood* (1994) 71(3 Fetal & Neonatal):F184–91. doi: 10.1136/fn.71.3.f184
- Trumbo PR. FDA Regulations Regarding Iodine Addition to Foods and Labeling of Foods Containing Added Iodine. Am J Clin Nutr (2016) 104 (Suppl 3):864S–7S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.110338

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Opazo, Rivera, Gonzalez, Bueno, Kalergis and Riedel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution

License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

